## **ISTANBUL TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY ★ GRADUATE SCHOOL**

## EFFECTS OF NOVEL FOOD PROCESSING TECHNIQUES ON BIOACCESSIBILITY AND TRANSEPITHELIAL TRANSPORT OF CRANBERRYBUSH POLYPHENOLS

Ph.D. THESIS Gülay ÖZKAN

**Department of Food Engineering** 

**Food Engineering Programme** 

AUGUST 2021



## **ISTANBUL TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY ★ GRADUATE SCHOOL**

### EFFECTS OF NOVEL FOOD PROCESSING TECHNIQUES ON BIOACCESSIBILITY AND TRANSEPITHELIAL TRANSPORT OF CRANBERRYBUSH POLYPHENOLS

Ph.D. THESIS

Gülay ÖZKAN (506142507)

**Department of Food Engineering** 

**Food Engineering Programme** 

Thesis Advisor: Prof. Dr. Esra ÇAPANOĞLU GÜVEN

AUGUST 2021



# <u>İSTANBUL TEKNİK ÜNİVERSİTESİ ★ LİSANSÜSTÜ EĞİTİM ENSTİTÜSÜ</u>

## YENİ GIDA İŞLEME TEKNİKLERİNİN GİLABURUDA BULUNAN POLİFENOLLERİN BİYOERİŞİLEBİLİRLİĞİ VE BAĞIRSAK TAŞINIMLARI ÜZERİNDEKİ ETKİLERİ

DOKTORA TEZİ

Gülay ÖZKAN (506142507)

Gıda Mühendisliği Anabilim Dalı

Gıda Mühendisliği Programı

Tez Danışmanı: Prof. Dr. Esra ÇAPANOĞLU GÜVEN

**AĞUSTOS 2021** 



Gülay Özkan, a Ph.D. student of İTU Graduate School student ID 506142507, successfully defended the thesis/dissertation entitled "EFFECTS OF NOVEL FOOD PROCESSING TECHNIQUES ON BIOACCESSIBILITY AND TRANSEPITHELIAL TRANSPORT OF CRANBERRYBUSH POLYPHENOLS", which she prepared after fulfilling the requirements specified in the associated legislations, before the jury whose signatures are below.

· •		
I hegig	Advisor	٠
1 110313	11011301	٠

**Prof. Dr. Esra ÇAPANOĞLU GÜVEN** ...... Istanbul Technical University

Jury Members :	Assoc. Prof. Dr. Funda KARBANCIOĞLU GÜLER	
	Istanbul Technical University	

**Prof. Dr. Gülsün EVRENDİLEK** Bolu Abant Izzet Baysal University

.....

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Aslı CAN KARAÇA ...... Istanbul Technical University

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Senem KAMİLOĞLU BEŞTEPE ...... Uludağ University

Date of Submission : 17 July 2021 Date of Defense : 6 August 2021





To my family,



#### FOREWORD

Firstly, I would like to express my special thanks and sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Prof. Dr. Esra ÇAPANOĞLU GÜVEN, whom I have worked since the beginning of my Ph.D and who helped me in countless areas of life. It has been an honor to be her Ph.D. student and assistant. Her unique enthusiasm towards science and research is always motivational for me. Without the precious encouragement of my supervisor, it would not be possible to complete this research.

This Ph.D. thesis was conducted partly at Istanbul Technical University, Turkey, partly at Leibniz University Hannover, Germany and partly at Salerno University, Italy. So, I would like to express my special gratitude to Prof. Dr. Tuba ESATBEYOGLU from Germany and Prof. Dr. Iolanda DE MARCO from Italy, who have supervised me during my research period at abroad and providing me an opportunity to join their team. Additionally, I would like to state sincere thanks to Dr. Paola FRANCO, who guided me in supercritical fluids laboratory and Dr. Tina KOSTKA, who guided me in the cell culture laboratory due to their precious support.

This thesis was financially supported by The Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey with 2214-A-International Research Fellowship Programme for PhD students (application number 1059B141800479) and by the Istanbul Technical University, Scientific Research Projects Unit (Project ID number: 41359).

I gratefully acknowledge Prof. Dr. Stefan TOEPFL and Prof. Dr. Kemal AGANOVIC for providing me an opportunity to use of high pressure processing and pulsed electric field devices; and specially to M.Sc. Anna-Sophie STÜBLER for her precious guidance at German Institute of Food Technologies.

I would also like to express my gratefulness to Prof. Dr. Gülsün EVRENDİLEK, who provided me non-thermal food processing devices in Bolu Abant İzzet Baysal University, Turkey.

I would also like to thank to administrative and technical staff as well as labmates; Seçil AYDIN and Dennis KRYGER of Leibniz University Hannover. I also would like to express my sincere gratitude to Dr. Gerald DRÄGER, who helped me for LC-MS analysis.

Moreover, I thank to all labmates and researchers of Istanbul Technical University, Food Engineering Department.

It is my pleasure to express my special thanks to my fellows Zahide KIRBAŞ, Merve YAVUZ DÜZGÜN, Deniz TURAN KUNTER and Betül PEKDEMİR AKBAŞ, who were always there for me and supported me when I was dealing with troubles. It is very lovely to have you beside me. In addition, I am very grateful to Isabelle GEHRET for her hospitality and moral support during my laboratory works in Germany.

Last but not the least, I would like to thank my family: my parents Ümmügül and Salim ÖZKAN, my sister and brother in law Tülay and Mecit ÇAĞLAR, my lovely nephews Ömer Doruk ÇAĞLAR and Alperen Hasan ÇAĞLAR for their unconditional love and support throughout my education and life. I am truly thankful for having all of you in my life.

August 2021

Gülay ÖZKAN (Food Engineer, M.Sc.)



## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

## <u>Page</u>

FOREWORD ix
TABLE OF CONTENTS
ABBREVIATIONSxv
SYMBOLSxix
LIST OF TABLESxxi
LIST OF FIGURES xxiii
SUMMARYxxv
ÖZETxxix
1. INTRODUCTION1
2. LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 Effect of Novel Food Processing Technologies on Beverage Antioxidants3
2.1.1 Novel non-thermal technologies
2.1.1.1 Effect of HPP on beverage antioxidants
2.1.1.2 Effect of PEF on beverage antioxidants
2.1.1.3 Effect of ultrasound on beverage antioxidants
2.1.2 Novel thermal technologies
2.1.2.1 Effect of ohmic heating on beverage antioxidants
2.1.2.2 Effect of microwave heating on beverage antioxidants
2.1.2.3 Effect of infrared heating on beverage antioxidants
2.2 A Review of Microencapsulation Methods for Food Antioxidants: Principles,
advantages, drawbacks and applications
2.2.1 Physical methods
2.2.1.1 Spray drying
2.2.1.2 Lyophilization
2.2.1.3 Supercritical Fluids Based Techniques
2.2.1.4 Solvent Evaporation
2.2.2 Physico-chemical methods
2.2.2.1 Coacervation
2.2.2.2 Liposomes
2.2.2.3 Ionic Gelation
2.2.3 Chemical methods
2.2.3.1 Interfacial polymerization
2.2.3.3 Molecular inclusion complexation
2.3 Effects of Encapsulation on the Bioaccessibility and Bioavailability of
Phenolic Compounds
2.3.1 Overview of phenolic compounds bioaccessibility/bioavailability63
2.3.2 Improving the bioaccessibility of phenolic compounds by means of
encapsulation
2.3.3 Intestinal transport mechanisms and effective factors on phenolic
compounds bioavailability70

2.3.4 Improving the bioavailability of phenolic compounds by means	of
encapsulation	
2.3.5 Potential risk of a higher phenolic bioavailability	
2.4 Interactions of Phenolics with Food Matrix: In Vitro and In Vivo App	proaches85
2.4.1 Phenolic – Carbohydrate Interactions	
2.4.2 Phenolic – Lipid Interactions	
2.4.3 Phenolic – Protein Interactions	92
2.4.4 Others	96
<b>3. RETENTION OF POLYPHENOLS AND VITAMIN C IN</b>	
CRANBERRYBUSH PURÉE ( <i>VIBURNUM OPULUS</i> ) BY	MEANS
OF NON-THERMAL TREATMENTS	
3.1 Abstract	
3.2 Introduction	
3.3 Materials and Methods	101
3.3.1 Chemicals	101
3.3.2 Preparation of cranberrybush purée	101
3.3.3 High pressure processing (HPP)	
3.3.4 Pulsed electric field (PEF) treatment	
3.3.5 Conductivity, pH and total soluble solids measurements	
3.3.6 Determination of vitamin C content by HPLC with fluorescence	detection
3.3.7 Determination of polyphenol oxidase (PPO) activity	
3.3.8 Extraction of polyphenols	104
3.3.9 Identification of polyphenols by UPLC-QTOF-MS/MS	104
3.3.10 Quantification of chlorogenic acid using UPLC-UV	
3.3.11 Spectrophotometric assays	
3.3.12 Statistical analysis	
3.4 Results and Discussion	
3.4.1 Physicochemical properties	
3.4.2 PPO activity	
3.4.3 Vitamin C content	110
3.4.4 Bioactive compounds	111
3.4.5 Antioxidant capacity	
3.5 Conclusion	
4. EFFECTS OF FOOD MATRIX AND NON-THERMAL PROCESS	ING ON
BIOACCESSIBILITY AND TRANSPORT DYNAMICS O	F
<b>CRANBERRYBUSH (VIBURNUM OPULUS) POLYPHEN</b>	<b>NOLS IN</b>
A COMBINED IN VITRO DIGESTION/CACO-2 CELL C	ULTURE
MODEL	119
4.1 Abstract	119
4.2 Introduction	
4.3 Materials and Methods	
4.3.1 Chemicals	
4.3.2 Preparation of cranberrybush purée and cranberrybush juice-bas	ed
beverages	
4.3.3 Processing technologies	
4.3.4 <i>In vitro</i> simulated gastrointestinal digestion	
4.3.5 Determination of total phenolics and antioxidant capacity	
4.3.6 Bioaccessibility calculations	
4.3.7 Cell culture	

4.3.8 Cytotoxicity test	.126
4.3.9 Transport experiment	.127
4.3.10 Identification and quantification of chlorogenic acid by UPLC-QTOF	7_
MS/MS	.127
4.3.11 Statistical analysis	.128
4.4 Results and Discussion	.128
4.4.1 Retention of the bioactives during in vitro gastrointestinal digestion	.128
4.4.1.1 Effects of food processing	.128
4.4.1.2 Effects of food matrix	.131
4.4.2 Caco-2 cytotoxicity	.136
4.4.3 Transport experiments	.137
4.4.3.1 Effects of food processing.	.138
4 4 3 2 Effects of food matrix	141
4.5 Conclusion	.142
5 PVP/FLAVONOID COPRECIPITATION BY SUPERCRITICAL	
ANTISOLVENT PROCESS	.145
5 1 Abstract	145
5.2 Introduction	145
5.3 Materials Methods and Procedure	149
5.3.1 Materials	149
5.3.2 SAS annaratus and procedure	149
5.3.2 SAS apparates and procedure	150
5.4 Results	152
5.4 1 Proliminary experiments	153
5.4.2 Effect of the solvent	155
5.4.2 Effect of overall concentration of solutes	157
5.4.4 Effect of DVD/flevencid ratio	150
5.4.4 Effect of PVP/flavonoid fatio	150
5.5 Characterization	162
5.6 Discussion	.103
5./ CONCLUSION	.105
6. COMBINING IN VITRO DIGESTION/CACO-2 CELL CULTURE MOD	DEL:
EVALUATION OF THE SUPERCRITICAL ANTISOLVENT	TO
PROCESS AND FOOD MODELS ON ANTIOXIDANT EFFEC	18,
BIOACCESSIBILITY AND TRANSPORT DYNAMICS OF	1/8
FLAVUNUL-LUADED MICKUPARTICLES	.10/
6.1 Abstract	.16/
6.2 Introduction	.16/
6.3 Materials and Methods	.168
6.3.1 Materials	.168
6.3.2 Food models.	.169
6.3.3 <i>In vitro</i> simulated gastrointestinal digestion	.169
6.3.4 Antioxidant capacity during <i>in vitro</i> digestion	.170
6.3.5 <i>In vitro</i> bioaccessibility calculations	.170
6.3.6 Cell culture	.171
6.3.7 Cytotoxicity test	.171
6.3.8 Transport experiment in CaCo-2 cells	.172
6.3.9 Identification and quantification of flavonoids by UPLC	.172
6.3.10 Statistical analysis	.173
6.4 Results and Discussion	.173
6.4.1 <i>In vitro</i> bioaccessibility of bioactives	.173

6.4.2 Changes in the <i>in vitro</i> antioxidant capacity during digestion	175
6.4.3 Determination of the cytotoxicity in Caco-2 cells	. 177
6.4.4 Transport experiments	. 177
6.5 Conclusion	. 180
7. GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	. 183
7.1 Status and Main Outcomes of This Thesis	. 183
7.1.1 Fate of the polyphenols after application of novel non-thermal food	
processing techniques	. 183
7.1.2 Effects of encapsulation on the food phenolics	. 185
7.1.3 Interactions of phenolics and food matrix	. 187
REFERENCES	. 189
CURRICULUM VITAE	243

# ABBREVIATIONS

5-DN	: 5-demethylnobiletin
ABTS	: 2,2-azinobis(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid diammonium salt)
Al	: Aluminum
ANOVA	: Analysis of variance
Ba	: Barium
Ca	: Calcium
Caco-2	: Human colorectal adenocarcinoma cell line
CO <sub>2</sub>	: Carbon dioxide
CUPRAC	: Cupric ion reducing antioxidant capacity
СҮР	: Cytochrome P450 monooxygenases
DAD	: Diode Array Detector
DE	: Dextrose equivalent
DMEM	: Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium
DMPD	: N, N-dimethyl-p-phenylenediamine dihydrochloride
DMSO	: Dimethyl sulfoxide
DPPH	: 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl
DSC	: Differential scanning calorimeter
DSMZ	: German Collection of Microorganisms and Cell Cultures
EC	: Ethyl cellulose
EDTA	: Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EE	: Entrapment efficiency
EGCG	: (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate
EPR	: Electron Paramagnetic Resonance
ESI	: Electrospray ionization
ЕТ	: Electron Transfer
EtOH	: Ethanol
FA	: Folic acid
FBS	: Fetal Bovine Serum
FC	: Flavonoid compound
FDA	: Food and Drug Administration

FESEM	: Field Emission Scanning Electron Microscope
FIR	: Far infrared
FRAP	: Ferric ion Reducing Antioxidant Power
GAE	: Gallic Acid Equivalent
GI	: Gastrointestinal digestion
HAT	: Hydrogen atom transfer
HBSS	: Hank's Balanced Salt Solution
HCA	: (-)-hydroxycitric acid
HDPAF	: High Degree of Polymerisation Agave Fructans
HepG2	: Human liver carcinoma cell line
HIPE	: High Internal Phase Emulsions
HMF	: Hydroxymethylfurfural
HPAF	: High Performance Agave Fructans
HPLC	: High Performance Liquid Chromatography
HPP	: High Pressure Processing
HT-29	: Human colorectal adenocarcinoma cell line
HTST	: High-Temperature Short Time
JA	: Juice+almond milk blend
JM	: Juice+bovine milk blend
JW	: Juice+water blend
LC	: Liquid Chromatography
LDH	: Lactate Dehydrogenase Leakage
LDL	: Low-density lipoprotein
LDPE	: Low density polyethhylene pouches
LPIC	: Lipid peroxidation
МСТ	: Medium chain triglycerides
MS	: Mass Spectrometry
NEAA	: Non-essential amino acids
O/W	: Oil-in-water emulsion
ORAC	: Oxygen Radical Absorbance Capacity
РАН	: Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbones
PBS	: Phosphate Buffered Saline
Pc	: Critical point of pressure
PEF	: Pulsed Electric Field
PGSS	: Particles from Gas Saturated Solutions

PID	: Proportional-integral-derivative
PMF	: Polymethoxylated flavonoids
PPO	: Polyphenol oxidase activity
PSD	: Particle size distribution
PVP	: Polyvinylpyrrolidone
Q	: Quercetin
QE	: Quercetin Equivalent
Q-PVP	: Quercetin-polyvinylpyrrolidone
QTOF	: Quadrupole Time of Flight
R	: Rutin
RA	: Residual activity
RESS	: Rapid Expansion of Supercritical Solutions
RH	: Relative humidity
ROS	: Reactive Oxygen Species
R-PVP	: Rutin-polyvinylpyrrolidone
SAS	: Supercritical Anti Solvent precipitation
SC-CO <sub>2</sub>	: Supercritical carbon dioxide
SGF	: Simulated gastric fluid
SIF	: Simulated intestinal fluid
SRB	: Sulforhodamine B
TAC	: Total Anthocyanin Content
Tc	: Critical point of temperature
TCA	: Trichloroacatate
ТЕ	: Trolox <sup>®</sup> Equivalent
TEAC	: Trolox <sup>®</sup> Equivalent Antioxidant Capacity
TEER	: Transepithelial electrical resistance
TFC	: Total Flavonoid Content
TIM-1	: In vitro dynamic digestion model
TPC	: Total Phenolic Content
Trolox®	: 6-hydroxy-2,5,7,8-tetramethylchroman-2-carboxylic acid
TSSC	: Total soluble solids content
UHT	: Ultrahigh-Temperature
UPLC	: Ultra High Performance Liquid Chromatography
VCEAC	: Vitamin C equivalent antioxidant capacity
W/O/W	: Water-in-oil-in-water emulsion

XRD	: X-ray	diffraction

- **α-TOC** : α-tocopherol
- **β-CD** : β-cyclodextrin



## SYMBOLS

В	: magnetic flux density
С	: capacitance
Ср	: specific heat capacity
D	: electric flux density
Е	: electric field
Н	: magnetic field
Hz	: Hertz
J	: Joule
J	: total current density
k	: thermal conductivity
1	: pathlength
m	: milli (10 <sup>-3</sup> )
n	: nano (10 <sup>-9</sup> )
n	: number of pulses
р	: probability (statistical analysis)
Pa	: Pascal
Pr	: function of dielectric constant
<b>R</b> <sup>2</sup>	: correlation coefficient (statistical analysis)
U	: voltage
V	: Volt
W	: Watt
Wspec	: specific energy intake
β	: beta (in β-carotene)
δ	: dielectric loss angle
3	: molar extinction coefficient
ε'	: dielectric constant
ε″	: dielectric loss factor
θ	: angle of incidence
μ	: micro (10 <sup>-6</sup> )
ρ	: density

# $\rho_e$ : total charge density



### LIST OF TABLES

## Page

Table 2.1 : Effects of novel non-thermal food processing techniques on the
antioxidant capacities of food products
Table 2.2 : Effects of novel thermal food processing techniques on the bioactive
compounds <b>20</b>
Table 2.3 : Effects of microencapsulation techniques on the food antioxidants.    35
Table 2.4 : Effects of different lipid-based encapsulation techniques on the
bioaccessibility of selected phenolic compounds
Table 2.5 : Effects of lipid-based encapsulation techniques on the <i>in vitro</i>
bioavailability of phenolic compounds
Table 2.6 : Effects of lipid-based encapsulation techniques on the in vivo
bioavailability of phenolic compounds
Table 2.7 : Studies on dietary fiber – phenolic interactions
Table 2.8 : Studies on lipid – phenolic interactions
Table 2.9 : Studies on protein – phenolic interactions.
Table 2.10 : Studies on phenolic - phenolic and phenolic - vitamin interactions97
Table 4.1 : Apical and basolateral side recovery and transport efficiency of
chlorogenic acid from cranberrybush purée and juice samples144
Table 5.1 : Summary of SAS experiments (IP: irregular particles; C: crystals; MP:
microparticles; cMP: coalescing microparticles; cSMP: coalescing sub-
microparticles)
Table 5.2 : Summary of SAS experiments (IP: Changes in the total antioxidant)
capacity of quercetin/rutin and SAS-processed samples*
<b>Table 6.1 :</b> Changes in the antioxidant activities of the samples during GI digestion <sup>*</sup> .
Table 6.2 : Apical and basolateral side recovery and transport efficiency of
bioactives in free and microparticle forms
1



## LIST OF FIGURES

## Page

Figure 4.4 : Total antioxidant capacity after in vitro digestion of 100 mL
cranberrybush juice mixed with water (JW), bovine milk (JM) or almond
milk (JA)
Figure 5.1 : Structural formulas of the flavonoids: (a) quercetin; (b) rutin146
<b>Figure 5.2 :</b> Schematic representation of the SAS plant. V1: CO <sub>2</sub> supply; V2: liquid
solution supply; RB: refrigerating bath; P1, P2: pumps; P: precipitation
vessel; MV: micrometric valve; M: manometer; LS: liquid separator;
BPV: back-pressure valve; R: rotameter150
<b>Figure 5.3 :</b> FESEM image of single compounds precipitated at 9.0 MPa, 40 °C: (a)
PVP processed at 40 mg/mL <sub>DMSO</sub> ; (b) quercetin processed at 20
mg/mL <sub>DMSO</sub> ; (c) rutin processed at 20 mg/mL <sub>DMSO</sub> 154
<b>Figure 5.4 :</b> FESEM images of PVP/quercetin 20/1 w/w particles precipitated at 9.0
MPa and 40 °C using ethanol as the organic solvent. Effect of overall
concentration: (a) 20 mg/mL <sub>EtOH</sub> ; (b) 40 mg/mL <sub>EtOH</sub> 155
Figure 5.5 : FESEM images of PVP/rutin 20/1 w/w particles precipitated at 9.0 MPa
and 40 °C. Effect of organic solvent and of overall concentration: (a) 20
$mg/mL_{EtOH}$ ; (b) 20 $mg/mL_{DMSO}$ ; (c) 30 $mg/mL_{DMSO}$ ; (d) 40 $mg/mL_{DMSO}$ .
<b>Figure 5.6:</b> FESEM images of PVP/quercetin 20/1 w/w particles precipitated at 9.0
MPa and 40 °C. Effect of overall concentration: (a) $20 \text{ mg/mL}_{DMSO}$ ; (b)
30 mg/mL <sub>DMSO</sub> ; (c) 40 mg/ mL <sub>DMSO</sub> <b>157</b> _Toc71754002
Figure 5.7 : Volumetric cumulative PSDs of PVP/flavonoid particles 20/1
precipitated from DMSO at 90 bar and 40 °C at different overall
concentrations; (a) quercetin; (b) rutin
Figure 5.8 : DSC thermograms of unprocessed PVP and flavonoids, SAS processed
PVP/FC composites: (a) quercetin; (b) rutin160
Figure 5.9 : XRD patterns for unprocessed FC and PVP, SAS processed FC and
PVP, SAS processed PVP/FC precipitated using EtOH and DMSO as the
organic solvents: (a) quercetin; (b) rutin
Figure 5.10 : Dissolution profiles in PBS at 37 °C and pH 7.4: (a) quercetin; (b)
rutin
Figure 6.1 : The bioaccessibility of unprocessed and SAS processed quercetin or
rutin using PVP in two different food stimulants

### EFFECTS OF NOVEL FOOD PROCESSING TECHNIQUES ON BIOACCESSIBILITY AND TRANSEPITHELIAL TRANSPORT OF CRANBERRYBUSH POLYPHENOLS

#### SUMMARY

Phenolic compounds, which are present in a wide variety of foods such as fruits, vegetables, flowers and leaf of plants, exhibit a variety of beneficial effects including antimicrobial, antioxidant, antidiabetic, diuretic, hypoglycemic, cough reliever, antiinflammatory and antiviral activities as well as prevention of cardiovascular, pancreas, liver and kidney diseases. However, most of the polyphenols have poor water solubility, chemical instability in gastrointestinal tract and, thus, a reduced bioavailability. Therefore, a wide variety of attempts have been investigated to improve the solubility, stability, bioaccessibility and bioavailability of phenolic compounds.

Considering the above, a research framework to study the effects of novel processing techniques on the antioxidant capacity, bioaccessibility and bioavailability of cranberrybush polyphenols has been developed. The objectives of this Ph.D. thesis were (i) to determine the effects of novel non-thermal food processing on cranberrybush polyphenols and vitamin C; (ii) to investigate the effects of non-thermal food processing and food matrix on bioaccessibility and transepithelial transportation of bioactive compounds, in particular chlorogenic acid, from cranberrybush (*Viburnum opulus*) using combined *in vitro* gastrointestinal digestion/Caco-2 cell culture model; (iii) to obtain an effective Supercritical Anti-Solvent (SAS) coprecipitation of quercetin or rutin with polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP), enhancing the dissolution rate, and, therefore, improving the bioavailability of these natural antioxidant compounds; (iv) to determine the effects of SAS processing and food models on the antioxidant capacity, bioaccessibility and transport dynamics of flavonol-loaded microparticles by using combined *in vitro* gastrointestinal digestion/Caco-2 cell culture model.

To achieve these goals, four different experiments (*Chapters 3-6*) were conducted. Firstly, effects of high pressure processing (HPP) and pulsed electric field (PEF) treatments on physicochemical properties, bioactive compounds, antioxidant capacities and polyphenol oxidase activities of cranberrybush purée samples were evaluated (*Chapter 3*). Following that, non-thermal treated cranberrybush purée samples as well as cranberrybush juice/water, bovine or almond milk blends were subjected to combined *in vitro* gastrointestinal digestion/Caco-2 cell culture (*Chapter* 4). In line with the outcomes of previous chapter, in order to increase the bioavailability of some phenolic compounds that could not be absorbed across the gut epithelium after transport experiments with cranberrybush samples, the micronization of two flavonoids, quercetin and rutin, and their coprecipitation with PVP were studied by using SAS processing to increase their solubility and enhance their stability during gastrointestinal tract (*Chapter 5*). Finally, SAS-processed flavonoids in different simulated food models were exposed to combined *in vitro* gastrointestinal digestion/Caco-2 cell culture in order to investigate their transport dynamics (*Chapter* 6).

In *Chapter 1*, research framework and objectives of this Ph.D. thesis are introduced. Following that, in *Chapter 2*, comprehensive reviews on the antioxidant properties, bioaccessibility and bioavailability of polyphenols are presented, with a specific focus on the application of novel processing techniques. Initially, a critical evaluation of the effects of novel non-thermal food processing technologies on the beverage antioxidants have been provided. Then, the studies about microencapsulation methods for food antioxidants regarding principles, advantages, drawbacks and applications have been reviewed. Afterwards, effects of encapsulation on the bioaccessibility and bioavailability of phenolic compounds were discussed. Lastly, *in vitro* and *in vivo* approaches on interactions of phenolics with food matrix were described.

In Chapter 3, the effects of high pressure processing (HPP; 200-600 MPa for 5 or 15 min) and pulsed electric field treatment (PEF; 3 kV/cm, 5-15 kJ/kg) on physicochemical properties (conductivity, pH and total soluble solids content), bioactive compounds (vitamin C, total phenolic, total flavonoid, total anthocyanin and chlorogenic acid contents), antioxidant capacities (DPPH and CUPRAC assays) and polyphenol oxidase activity of cranberrybush purée samples were evaluated. Results showed that conductivity increased significantly after PEF (15 kJ/kg) treatment. PEF and HPP treatments resulted with a better retention of bioactive compounds (increase in the total phenolic content in the range of  $\sim 4 - 11\%$  and  $\sim 10 - 14\%$  and total flavonoid content in the range of  $\sim 1 - 5\%$  and  $\sim 6 - 8\%$  after HPP and PEF, respectively) and antioxidant capacity compared to untreated sample. HPP reduced residual enzyme activity of PPO comparatively better than PEF. Besides, cranberrybush polyphenols were identified along with their detected accurate mass. molecular formula, error in ppm (between the mass found and the accurate mass < 10ppm) of each phytochemical, as well as the MS/MS fragment ions. UPLC-QTOF-MS/MS analysis of cranberrybush led to the identification of flavan-3-ols (catechin, epicatechin, epi(catechin) hexoside), proanthocyanidins (procyanidin dimer, procyanidin trimer, procyanidin dimer monoglycoside), flavonols (quercetin, quercetin-deoxyhexose, quercetin-3-O-glucoside, quercetin pentoside hexoside, rutin, isorhamnetin-3-O-rutinoside), flavone (diosmetin-rhamnosylglucoside), phenolic acids (caffeic acid, chlorogenic acid, coumaric acid, p-coumaroyl-quinic acid) as well as anthocyanins (cyanidin-3-glucoside, cyanidin-3-rutinoside and cyanidin-3-xylosylrutinoside). In conclusion, high retention of bioactive compounds was achieved, with a potential extraction of vitamin C, phenolics, flavonoids and anthocyanins in cranberrybush purées after HPP and PEF treatments at selected processing intensities.

In *Chapter 4*, effects of food matrix and non-thermal food processing on bioaccessibility and transport dynamics of cranberrybush phenolics, in particular chlorogenic acid, in a combined *in vitro* gastrointestinal digestion/Caco-2 cell culture model were studied. Results showed that PEF treatment at 15 kJ/kg specific energy input resulted in a higher recovery of total flavonoid content (TFC; increase of 3.9%  $\pm$  1.1%, *p* < 0.0001), chlorogenic acid content (increase of 29.9%  $\pm$  5.9%, *p* < 0.001) and antioxidant capacity after gastrointestinal digestion. The present study also demonstrates that untreated and treated samples display comparable transport across the epithelial cell layer. Besides, addition of milk matrix have a positive effect on the stability and transportation of chlorogenic acid. JM increased the transport efficiency

of chlorogenic acid by  $3.5\% \pm 0.8\%$  (p < 0.0001), while JA increased the transport of chlorogenic acid by  $3.3\% \pm 0.5\%$  (p < 0.001) in comparison with JW blend. The *in vitro* gastrointestinal digestion/Caco-2 cell culture method applied in this chapter was used in the succeeding chapter (*Chapter 6*).

In Chapter 5, micronization of two flavonoids, quercetin and rutin, and their coprecipitation with polyvinylpyrrolidone were studied by using the SAS process. In particular, optimum conditions in terms of operating pressure, type of the solvent, total solute concentration and polymer/active ratio for the formation of spherical composite microparticles were determined. Morphology, mean size and size distribution of the particles were analyzed and discussed. The effectiveness of the process was also verified through entrapment efficiency and dissolution tests. Overall, amorphous microparticles were produced with total solute concentrations greater than 20 mg/mL. Furthermore, release studies confirmed the improvement of the flavonoids dissolution rates: 10 and 3.19 times faster dissolution rates were achieved with PVP/quercetin and PVP/rutin microparticles rather than those of unprocessed quercetin and rutin, respectively. Besides, the high entrapment efficiencies, up to 99.8%, were achieved for quercetin and rutin coprecipitates by using DMSO, which was the solvent chosen to coprecipitate the flavonoid compounds with PVP by the SAS process. Consequently, the characteristics of the powders could allow to use of these quercetin and rutin loaded microparticles in pharmaceutical and nutraceutical applications due to their high antioxidant and anticancer benefits for, in which the flavonoid compounds have high stability and bioavailability.

In *Chapter 6*, effects of SAS processing on bioaccessibility and transportation of quercetin and rutin were investigated by using a recognized combined gastrointestinal digestion/cell-based assay. Moreover, aqueous hydrophilic and acidic conditions were simulated to analyze food-related factors that could have an impact on the transport of these compounds across the gut epithelium. SAS processing improved the recovery of the quercetin (94 and 13 times in hydrophilic and acidic conditions, respectively) and rutin (7 and 2 times in hydrophilic and acidic conditions, respectively) after *in vitro* digestion. Besides, transepithelial transportation of PVP/quercetin and PVP/rutin microparticles were found to be much higher rather than unprocessed quercetin and rutin.

Finally, in *Chapter 7*, based on the outcomes of the previous chapters, the general discussions and conclusions on the antioxidant properties, bioaccessibility and bioavailability of polyphenols were presented. The status and main outcomes of this thesis were discussed under the headings of fate of the polyphenols after application of novel non-thermal food processing techniques, effects of encapsulation on the food phenolics and interactions of phenolics and food matrix. During the discussion on the effects of encapsulation, advantages and drawbacks of these techniques, their impacts on the antioxidant properties, bioaccessibility and bioavailability of phenolic substances were discussed. Besides, while referring to the interactions with food matrix, special attention has been paid to comparison of the different *in vitro* and *in vivo* digestion models.



### YENİ GIDA İŞLEME TEKNİKLERİNİN GİLABURUDA BULUNAN POLİFENOLLERİN BİYOERİŞİLEBİLİRLİĞİ VE BAĞIRSAK TAŞINIMLARI ÜZERİNDEKİ ETKİLERİ

### ÖZET

Bitkilerin meyve, sebze, çiçek ve yaprakları gibi çeşitli gıdalarda bulunan fenolik bileşikler, antimikrobiyal, antioksidan, antidiyabetik, idrar söktürücü, hipoglisemik, öksürük kesici, antiinflamatuar ve antiviral aktiviteler ile kardiyovasküler, pankreas, karaciğer ve böbrek hastalıklarının önlenmesi gibi gibi pek çok faydalı etkiye sahiptir. Bununla birlikte, polifenollerin çoğunun sudaki çözünürlüğünün zayıf olması ve gastrointestinal sistemde kimyasal olarak kararsız olmaları dolayısıyla oldukça düşük bir biyoyararlılığa sahiptir. Bu nedenle, fenolik bileşiklerin çözünürlüğünü, kararlılığını, biyo-erişilebilirliğini ve biyoyararlılığını iyileştirmek için çok çeşitli yöntemler geliştirilmiştir.

Yukarıdakiler dikkate alınarak, yeni gıda işleme tekniklerinin gilaburuda bulunan polifenollerin antioksidan kapasitesi, biyoerişilebilirliği ve biyoyararlılığı üzerindeki etkilerini çalışmak amacıyla bir araştırma çerçevesi oluşturulmuştur. Bu doktora tezinin hedefleri (i) yeni ısısal olmayan gıda işleme tekniklerinin gilaburuda bulunan polifenoller ve C vitamini üzerindeki etkilerini tespit etmek; (ii) ısısal olmayan gıda işleme yöntemleri ile gıda matrisinin gilaburuda bulunan biyoaktif bileşenlerin, özellikle klorojenik asidin, biyoerişilebilirliği ile bağırsak taşınımı üzerindeki etkilerini *in vitro* mide-bağırsak sindirim/Caco-2 hücre kültürü emilim modelini kullanarak araştırmak; (iii) polivinilpirolidon (PVP) ile kuersetin veya rutinin kopresipitasyonu amacıyla Süperkritik Anti-Solvent (SAS) yönteminin optimum işlem parametrelerini belirlemek; (iv) SAS işlemi ile farklı gıda koşullarının, flavonol (kuersetin ya da rutin) yüklü mikroparçacıkların antioksidan özellikleri, biyoerişilebilirliği ile bağırsak taşınımı üzerindeki etkilerini kombine *in vitro* mide-bağırsak taşınımı üzerindeki etkilerini antioksidan özellikleri, biyoerişilebilirliği ile bağırsak taşınımı antioksidan özellikleri, biyoerişilebilirliği ile bağırsak taşınımı üzerindeki etkilerini kombine *in vitro* mide-bağırsak taşınımı üzerindeki etkilerini kombine *in vitro* mide-bağırsak taşınımı üzerindeki etkilerini kombine *in vitro* mide-bağırsak taşınımı üzerindeki etkilerini kombine *in vitro* mide-bağırsak sindirim/Caco-2 hücre kültürü emilim modelini kullanarak araştırmaktır.

Yukarıdaki hedeflere ulaşmak için dört farklı deneysel çalışma (Bölüm 3-6) yapılmıştır. Öncelikle farklı yüksek hidrostatik basınç (HPP) ve vurgulu elektrik alan (PEF) uygulamalarının gilaburu püresinin fizikokimyasal özellikleri, biyoaktif bileşikleri, antioksidan kapasitesi ve polifenol oksidaz aktivitesi üzerindeki etkileri değerlendirilmiştir (Bölüm 3). Bunu takiben, ısısal olmayan yöntemler ile işlenmiş gilaburu püresi örnekleri ile gilaburu suyu/su, süt veya badem sütü karışımları hazırlanarak *in vitro* mide-bağırsak sindirim ve emilim çalışmaları gerçekleştirilmiştir (Bölüm 4). Bir önceki bölümde gilaburu örnekleri ile yapılan emilim çalışmalarından elde edilen sonuçlar doğrultusunda, bağırsak epitelinden absorbe edilemeyen bazı fenolik bileşiklerin biyoyararlılıklarını arttırmak amacıyla, bir sonraki aşamada, iki flavonoidin, quercetin ve rutin, SAS yöntemi kullanılarak mikronizasyonu ve PVP ile birlikte kopresipitasyonu çalışılmıştır (Bölüm 5). Son olarak, SAS ile işlenmiş flavonoidler farklı gıda modellerinde *in vitro* mide-bağırsak sindirim/Caco-2 hücre kültürü emilimine tabi tutulmuştur (Bölüm 6). *İlk bölümde* bu doktora tezinin araştırma çerçevesi ve hedefleri tanıtılmıştır. Bunu takiben *ikinci bölümde* yeni işleme tekniklerinin polifenollerin antioksidan özellikleri, biyoerişilebilirlikleri ve biyoyaralılıkları üzerindeki etkilerine ilişkin kapsamlı bir derleme sunulmuştur. Başlangıç olarak, yeni gıda işleme teknolojilerinden ve bu teknolojilerin içeceklerde bulunan biyoaktif bileşenlerin antioksidan özellikleri üzerindeki etkilerinden bahsedilmiştir. Sonrasında gıdalarda bulunan antioksidan maddelerin mikroenkapsülasyonu amacıyla kullanılan yöntemlerin prensipleri, avantajları, dezavantajları ve uygulamaları ile ilgili çalışmalar derlenmiştir. Daha sonra, enkapsülasyon işleminin fenolik bileşenlerin biyoerişelebilirliği ve biyoyararlılığı üzerindeki etkileri ele alınmıştır. Son olarak, fenolik madde – gıda matrisi etkileşimleri üzerine gerçekleştirilmiş *in vitro* ve *in vivo* yaklaşımlar anlatılmıştır.

Üçüncü bölümde HPP (200-600 MPa/5-15 dk) ve PEF (3 kV/cm, 5-15 kJ/kg) uygulamalarının gilaburu püresinin fizikokimyasal özellikleri (iletkenlik, pH ve toplam suda cözünür madde miktarı), biyoaktif madde miktarı (C vitamini, toplam fenolik, toplam flavonoid, toplam antosiyanin ve klorojenik asit içerikleri), antioksidan kapasitesi (DPPH ve CUPRAC) ve polifenol oksidaz aktivitesi üzerindeki etkileri değerlendirilmiştir. Sonuçlar PEF (15 kJ/kg) uygulamasından sonra iletkenliğin önemli ölçüde arttığını göstermiştir. Ayrıca, PEF ve HPP uygulamaları ile islem görmemis numuneye kıyasla sırasıyla toplam fenolik madde miktarında  $\sim$ %4 -11 ve  $\sim$ %10 – 14 ve toplam flavonoid madde miktarında ise  $\sim$ %1-5 ve  $\sim$ %6-8 aralığında artış tespit edilmiştir. PPO inaktivasyonu üzerinde HPP uygulamasının, PEF uvgulamasına kıvasla daha etkin olduğu belirlenmistir. Bunların vanı sıra, gilaburuda bulunan polifenoller, her bir fitokimyasalın kütlesi, molekül formülü, ppm düzevindeki hataları (bulunan kütle ile doğru kütle arasında fark <10 ppm) ve MS/MS fragment ivonları ile birlikte tanımlanmıştır. UPLC – OTOF – MS/MS analiz sonuclarına göre gilaburuda tespit edilen polifenoller şunlardır: flavan-3-oller (kateşin, epi(kateşin) heksosid), proantosiyanidinler (prosiyanidin dimer, epikatesin, prosiyanidin trimer, prosiyanidin dimer monoglikosit), flavonoller (kuersetin, kersetin-deoksiheksoz, kuersetin-3-O-glukozit, kuersetin pentosid heksosid, rutin, izorhamnetin-3-O-rutinosid), flavon (diosmetin-ramnosilglukosit), fenolik asitler (kafeik asit, klorojenik asit, kumarik asit, p-kumaroil-kuinik asit) ve antosiyaninler (siyanidin-3-glukozit, siyanidin-3-rutinosid ve siyanidin-3-ksilosil-rutinosid). Sonuç olarak, bu bölümde sunulan deneysel çalışma sonuçları seçilen işlem koşullarında HPP ve PEF uygulamalarının, gilaburuda bulunan biyoaktif bilesiklerin miktarında artıs ya da yüksek oranda korunma sağlandığını göstermektedir.

Dördüncü bölümde gıda işleme yöntemleri ile gıda matrisinin gilaburu örneklerinde bulunan biyoaktif bileşenlerin, özellikle klorojenik asidin, biyoerişilebilirliği ile bağırsak taşınımı üzerindeki etkilerini incelemek amacıyla *in vitro* mide-bağırsak sindirim/Caco-2 hücre kültürü emilim modeli kullanılmıştır. Elde edilen sonuçlar, 15 kJ/kg spesifik enerji girdisi ile PEF işleminin, gastrointestinal sindirim sonrası toplam flavonoid içeriği (TFC; %3.9 ± 1.1% artış, p < 0.0001), klorojenik asit içeriği (%29.9 ± 5.9% artış, p < 0.001) ve antioksidan aktivitede daha yüksek bir kazanımla sonuçlandığını göstermiştir. Ayrıca, gilaburu suyuna sığır sütü ilavesi, *in vitro* midebağırsak sindirim sonrası toplam fenolik ve toplam flavonoid madde miktarları ile birlikte antioksidan kapasiteyi de olumlu yönde etkilemiştir. Sonuç olarak bu bölümde sunulan deneysel çalışma sonuçlarına göre, işlem görmüş gilaburu örneklerinde bulunan klorojenik asit ile herhangi bir işleme maruz bırakılmamış gilaburu

örneklerindeki klorojenik asidin bağırsaktan taşınımlarının benzer olduğu; ortama süt ilavesinin ise ilgili fenolik asidin mide-bağırsak sistemindeki kararlılığı ve bağırsaktan geçişi üzerinde olumlu etkileri olduğu tespit edilmiştir. Bu bölümde uygulanan *in vitro* mide-bağırsak sindirim/Caco-2 hücre kültürü sindirim modeli daha sonra *altıncı bölümde* de kullanılmıştır.

Besinci bölümde SAS yöntemi kullanılarak kuersetin ve rutinin mikronizasyonu ve PVP ile birlikte kopresipitasyonu üzerine çalışılmıştır. Bu amaçla, mikro boyutta parçacık eldesi için sistem basıncı, çözücü tipi, toplam çözünür madde konsantrasyonu ve polimer/aktif oranı gibi işlem parametreleri için optimum koşullar belirlenmiştir. Ardından, elde edilen partiküllerin morfolojisi, ortalama partikül boyutu ve boyut dağılımları analiz edilmiştir. SAS yönteminin etkinliği ayrıca enkapsülasyon verimi ve suda cözünürlük testleri ile doğrulanmıştır. Genel olarak, 20 mg/mL'den daha yüksek toplam çözünen madde konsantrasyonlarında ve yüksek polimer/flavonoid oranlarında amorf yapıda mikroparçacıkların eldesi mümkün olmuştur. Ayrıca, ürünlerin sudaki cözünürlerini incelemek amacıyla salınım calısması gerceklestirilmis ve SAS islemine tabi tutulan kuersetin ve rutinin suda çözünme oranlarının islem görmemiş kuersetin ve rutine göre sırasıyla 10 ve 3,19 kat arttığı tespit edilmiştir. Bunların yanı sıra, cözücü olarak DMSO kullanılarak elde edilen PVP/flavonoid mikroparçacıklar için %99,8'e varan enkapsülasyon verimi elde edilmiştir. Sonuç olarak, SAS uygulaması ile elde edilen flavonoid yüklü mikroparçacıkların karakteristik özellikleri, farmasötik ve gıda alanlarında, oldukça güçlü antioksidan potansiyele, yüksek kararlılığa ve biyoyararlılığa sahip takviyelerin üretilmesine olanak sağlamaktadır.

*Altıncı bölümde* SAS yönteminin flavonoidlerin (kuersetin ve rutin) biyoerişilebilirliği ile bağırsak taşınımı üzerindeki etkilerini incelemek amacıyla *in vitro* mide-bağırsak sindirim/Caco-2 hücre kültürü emilim modeli kullanılmıştır. Dahası, gıda ile ilgili faktörlerin bu bileşiklerin bağırsak epitelinden taşınması üzerindeki etkilerini değerlendirmek amacıyla hidrofilik ve asidik koşullar taklit edilmiştir. Elde edilen sonuçlara göre, SAS uygulamasının, kuersetin (sırasıyla hidrofilik ve asidik koşullarda 7 ve 2 kat) biyoerişilebilirliği oldukça yüksek oranda arttırdığı bulunmuştur. Ayrıca SAS uygulaması ile bu flavonoidlerin bağırsak taşınımları da olumlu etkilenmiştir.

Son olarak, yedinci bölümde, önceki bölümlerde elde edilen veriler dikkate alınarak polifenollerin antioksidan özellikleri, biyoerişilebilirliği ve biyoyararlılığı ile ilgili genel bir tartışma, sonuçlar ve gelecekteki araştırmalar için tavsiyeler verilmiştir. Bu tezden elde edilen sonuçlar yeni gıda işleme yöntemlerinin gıdalarda bulunan fenolik bileşenler üzerine etkisi, enkapsülasyon yöntemlerinin fenolik bileşenler üzerindeki etkileri ile fenolik bileşenlerin gıda matrisi ile etkilişimi başlıkları altında ele alınmıştır. Enkapsülasyon yöntemlerinin fenolik bileşenler üzerindeki etkileri tartışılırken enkapsülasyon işleminde dikkat edilmesi gereken faktörler, enkapsülasyon yöntemlerinin avantaj ve dezavantajları ile bu yöntemlerin fenolik bileşenlerin gizerindeki etkileri dizerindeki etkileri biyoerişilebilirlikleri ve biyoyararlılıkları üzerindeki etkileri konularına değinilmiştir. Fenolik bileşenlerin sindirilebilirliği üzerinde gıda kaynaklı faktörlerin etkileri tartışılırken ise farklı *in vitro* ve *in vivo* sindirim modellerinden bahsedilmiştir.



#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

While the positive relation between nutrition and health become more and more pronounced, this forces the development of "superfoods" over the last years (Tichy et al., 2020). Epidemiological studies have shown that the potential beneficial effects of these kind of food products are attributed to the presence of bioactive compounds, in particular polyphenols. Phenolic substances are plant secondary metabolites which have several benefits to human health through antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, anticancer, anti-obesity, antiviral, antibacterial, antiaging and/or antiallergenic activities (Bao et al., 2019). However, the bioactive compounds in some fruits and vegetables may be lost during handling after harvest, processing, and storage. In this sense, novel nonthermal food processing technologies such as high pressure processing and pulsed electric field applications have been started to become widespread.

Furthermore, the biofunctional properties and possible beneficial effects of the polyphenols largely depends on their bioaccessibility and bioavailability (Parada and Aguilera, 2007). It is a fact that most of the phenolic substances possess low levels of solubility, stability, bioavailability and target tissue specificity in the body (Wang et al., 2014) depending on their molecular and physicochemical characteristics (Jafari and McClements, 2017). Overall, it is essential to develop a new approach to enhance the bioaccessibility and bioavailability of bioactive ingredients, including the incorporation them within micro-/nanoparticle delivery systems (Yang et al., 2008).

There are different methods used to examine the correlation between diet and health. However, *in vitro* models have been widely used to investigate human digestive tract rather than *in vivo* (human or animal) models owing to ethical issues. *In vitro* digestion methods are used to simulate the physiological conditions of the upper gastrointestinal tract (oral, gastric and small intestinal phases) (Brodkorb et al., 2019); thus provide some perception about the digestibility of controlled release systems and bioavailability of functional compounds (Alminger et al., 2014). Besides, in order to investigate the absorption efficiency and/or the transport through an epithelial membrane of phenolic compounds, intestinal epithelial cells like the human colon adenocarcinoma cell line have been used (Sun et al., 2008; Gamboa and Leong, 2013).

Considering the above, a research framework to study the antioxidant capacity, bioaccessibility and bioavailability of cranberrybush polyphenols has been developed. Below are the major objectives of this Ph.D. thesis:

1. To evaluate the retention of polyphenols and vitamin C in cranberrybush purée (*Viburnum opulus*) by means of non-thermal treatments (*Chapter 3*)

2. To investigate the effects of food matrix and non-thermal processing on the bioaccessibility and transport dynamics of cranberrybush (*Viburnum opulus*) polyphenols in a combined *in vitro* digestion/Caco-2 cell culture model (*Chapter 4*)

3. To study micronization of two flavonoids, quercetin and rutin, and their coprecipitation with polyvinylpyrrolidone by using supercritical antisolvent process (*Chapter 5*)

4. To investigate the effects of supercritical antisolvent process and simulated hydrophilic and acidic food conditions on antioxidant capacity, bioaccessibility and transport dynamics of quercetin and rutin by combining *in vitro* digestion/Caco-2 cell culture model (*Chapter 6*)
#### 2. LITERATURE REVIEW<sup>1</sup>

#### 2.1 Effect of Novel Food Processing Technologies on Beverage Antioxidants

Over the past few decades, the role of dietary antioxidants such as polyphenols, carotenoids, and vitamins C and E has gained increased interest, especially associated with their numerous health beneficial effects including anticancer, antiinflammatory, antibacterial, antiviral, cardioprotective, and neuroprotective properties (Galano et al., 2016). Accordingly, the determination of antioxidant activity/capacity of food products is of great importance. However, the antioxidant compounds in some fruits and vegetables can be lost during handling after harvest, processing, and storage. It is a fact that plant-based foods are exposed to processing to increase shelf life and edibility while maintaining the sensory and nutritional properties as well as to ensure microbial safety. In this sense, novel nonthermal food processing technologies including high pressure processing (HPP), pulsed electric field (PEF), and ultrasound; novel thermal food processing technologies including microwave, ohmic, and infrared heating have been started to become widespread. HPP as a nonthermal processing is generally operated between 100 and 1000 MPa pressure and from -20°C to 60°C temperatures, providing cell wall and membrane disruption, enzyme inactivation, protein denaturation, and gel formation (Oey et al., 2008). HPP is an emerging food preservation method with satisfying the increasing consumer demand for fresh-like products with minimal alteration of nutritional and organoleptic properties (Rasanayagam et al., 2003). PEF, another nonthermal food processing technology, is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This chapter is based on the papers;

Ozkan, G., Guldiken, B., and Capanoglu, E. (2019). Effect of Novel Food Processing Technologies on Beverage Antioxidants. Processing and Sustainability of Beverages: Volume:2, Woodhead Publishing, 413-449.

Ozkan, G., Franco, P., De Marco, I., Xiao, J., and Capanoglu, E. (2019). A review of microencapsulation methods for food antioxidants: Principles, advantages, drawbacks and applications. Food Chemistry, 272, 494-506.

Ozkan, G., Kostka, T., Esatbeyoglu, T., & Capanoglu, E. (2020). Effects of Lipid-Based Encapsulation on the Bioaccessibility and Bioavailability of Phenolic Compounds. Molecules, 25(23), 5545.

Pinarli, B., Simge Karliga, E., Ozkan, G., & Capanoglu, E. (2020). Interaction of phenolics with food matrix: In vitro and in vivo approaches. Mediterranean Journal of Nutrition and Metabolism, 13(1), 63-74.

utilized without significant adverse effects on the quality and nutrients in foods while extending shelf life (Dunn, 2001). The principle of this treatment is based on the dielectrical breakdown of the cell membrane (Tsong, 1991). Ultrasound as an attractive alternative to conventionaltreatments, related to collapse of cavitation bubbles which induces mechanical, chemical, and biochemical effects in the medium (Mason and Peters, 2002). Besides, it is a promising technology for food processing, particularly combination with other thermal or nonthermal technologies (Kim and Silva, 2016). Microwave drying is a method gaining popularity owing to its superior advantages such as high heating rates, significant reduction in cooking time, more uniform heating, safe handling, ease of operation, and low maintenance in a small extent of sensory and nutritional changes compared with conventional thermal applications (Salazar-González et al., 2012; Vadivambal and Jayas, 2010). Microwave heating is achieved by absorbing microwave energy and converting into heat. Microwave heating of food materials is mainly carried out due to dipolar and ionic mechanisms. The presence of moisture causes dielectric heating due to the dipolar nature of water (Datta and Davidson, 2000). A large number of potential applications exist for microwave heating including drying, pasteurization, sterilization, thawing, tempering, and baking of food materials (Gupta and Leong, 2008). Ohmic or electrical heating is generated by the superiority of the sample's electrical resistance against passing alternating current (FDA, 2000). A wide variety of applications of ohmic heating in food processing include blanching, evaporation, dehydration, fermentation (Sastry, 2008), and pasteurization (Castro et al., 2004). In addition, infrared radiation which is an indirect heating method can be applied to liquid foods such as milk (Krishnamurthy et al., 2008a), orange juice (Vikram et al., 2005), beer (Vasilenko, 2001), and honey (Hebbar et al., 2003).

The aim of this chapter is to provide a critical evaluation of the effects of nonthermal (HPP, PEF, and ultrasound) and novel thermal (microwave, ohmic, and infrared heating) food processing technologies on the beverage antioxidants. In order to achieve this purpose, this chapter will cover studies evaluating the impacts of technological treatments applied to various food beverages by comparing the effects of conventional thermal treatments. Furthermore, the principles, advantages, and disadvantages of these methods are highlighted.

#### 2.1.1 Novel non-thermal technologies

Nonthermal food processing technologies has an ascending interest as alternative techniques due to sensory, quality, and nutritional modification of thermal food processing technologies. In addition to this, consumer demand has increased in accordance with the minimally processed, microbiologically safe, more natural flavors and colors, compromising the qualitative, sensory and nutritional attributes of the food products, and low-energy utilization (Barbosa-Cánovas et al., 2005; Varma et al., 2010; Dede et al., 2007).

HPP, PEF and ultrasound are nonthermal food processing techniques that gained popularity in the past decade in development of several food products. HPP is used for food pasteurization by the way of applying pressure between 100 and 1000 MPa at room or mild processing temperatures to the food products (Norton and Sun, 2008). On the other hand, PEF is utilized to pasteurize liquid foods at low temperature (<60°C), ambient, or refrigeration temperatures by means of exposing the target cell to strong electric field for sufficient time to obtain irreversible electroporation, accelerated mass transfer, and enhancement of tissue permeability (Mahnič-Kalamiza et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2011). The other promising nonthermal technology, ultrasound, is defined by propagation of sonic waves in the frequency range of 20–100 kHz for a few seconds to several minutes (Chemat et al., 2017a).

Therefore, the aim of this part of the study was to give detailed information including the principle, advantages, and disadvantages of the promising nonthermal technologies of HPP, PEF and ultrasound. Then, the effects of these technologies on beverage antioxidants were also discussed. Impacts of HPP and PEF and ultrasound processing on the bioactive compounds are covered in Table 2.1.

Applied Technology	Process Parameters	Optimum conditions	Product	Antioxidant Activity	References
HPP	200 – 600 MPa 30 – 70 °C 0 – 20 min	500 MPa 30 °C 15 min	Mixed fruit beverage (litchi juice, coconut water and lemon juice)	DPPH: 6.4 mg GAE/ 100 mL beverages	(Jayachandran et al., 2015)
HPP	400 – 600 MPa 30 – 60 °C 0 –15 min	400 MPa 30 °C 5 min	Aloe vera-litchi mixed fruit beverage	DPPH: 4.71 mg GAE/100 mL beverages	(Hulle et al., 2017)
HPP	300 – 500 MPa 5 – 15 min 0 – 2.5% <i>Stevia rebaudiana</i> Bertoni	300 MPa 14 min 2.5% <i>Stevia</i> <i>rebaudiana</i> Bertoni	Mixed fruit beverage (papaya, mango, orange)	ORAC: 38.8±1.7 mM TE TEAC: 26.5±0.8 mM TE	(Carbonell-Capella et al., 2013)
HPP PEF	For HHP: 600 MPa 42 °C 5 min For PEF: 36 kV/cm 100 μs	-	Blueberry juice	ABTS: 34.2 μmol/g for HPP ABTS: 33.5 μmol/g for PEF	(Barba et al., 2012)
HPP	200 – 600 MPa 10 – 20 min	600 MPa 20 min	Green asparagus juice	DPPH (IC50): 115.23 mg/mL	(Chen et al., 2015b)
HPP	200–400 MPa 5–15 min	400 MPa 15 min	Bee-pollen added pineapple juice	FRAP: 126.5 µmol Trolox/g	(Zuluaga et al., 2016)
HPP	550 MPa 5 min	-	Papaya juice	DPPH: 7.07 mM FRAP: 6.69 mM	(Chen et al., 2015a)
HPP	550 MPa 6 min	-	Carrot juice	DPPH: 0.162% FRAP: 0.119%	(Zhang et al., 2016)
PEF	6.6 L/h juice flow rate 35 kV/cm 3 μs 45 Hz 45 °C	-	<i>Opuntia dillenii</i> cactus juice	EPR: degradation of the free radical Fremy's salt ~80%	(Moussa-Ayoub et al., 2017)

### Table 2.1 : Effects of novel non-thermal food processing techniques on the antioxidant capacities of food products.

PEF	56 exponential decay pulses 3 kV/cm	-	<i>Opuntia dillenii</i> cactus juice	EPR: degradation of the free radical Fremy's salt ~90%	(Moussa-Ayoub et al., 2016)
PEF	15 – 35 kV/cm Monopolar – bipolar pulse 500 – 2000 μs	35 kV/cm Bipolar pulse 1250 μs	Broccoli juice	Recovery: 95.9% by DPPH	(Sánchez-Vega et al., 2015)
PEF	0–35 kV/cm 0.2 – 2 μs	35 kV/cm 0.2 μs	Apple juice	DPPH: 1.02 mmol TE/L FRAP: 3.91 mmol TE/L ORAC: 63.35 mmol TE/L	(Bi et al., 2013)
PEF	Bipolar pulse 20 μs 50 Hz 1.5 kV/cm pulse numbers of 243 (PEF low) and 1033 (PEF high)	-	Grape juice	DPPH: 51.64% with PEF low DPPH: 64.61% with PEF high	(Leong et al., 2016)
Ultrasound	40 – 80% amplitudes 10 – 25 min	80% amplitude 15 min	Green cactus pear	ABTS: 102.60 mg VCEAC/100 mL % chelating activity: 54.2	(Cansino et al., 2013)
Ultrasound	40 – 80% amplitudes 3 – 25 min	60% -80% amplitude 15 min	Purple cactus pear	ABTS: 26.3 mg VCEAC/100 mL % chelating activity: ~65%	(Zafra-Rojas et al., 2013)
Ultrasound	25 kHz 0 – 60 min 20 °C	25 kHz 60 min 20 °C	Kasturi lime	DPPH: 777 mg Ascorbic acid equivalent/g	(Bhat et al., 2011)

Table 2.1 (continued) : Effects of novel non-thermal food processing techniques on the antioxidant capacities of food products.

DPPH: 2, 2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl; GAE: gallic acid equivalent antioxidant capacity; ORAC: oxygen radical absorbance capacity; TEAC: trolox equivalent antioxidant capacity; ABTS: 2,2'azino-bis(3-ethylbenzthiazoline-6-sulphonic acid) diammonium salt; IC<sub>50</sub>: the concentration of antioxidant required to cause of 50% reduction in the original concentration; FRAP: Ferric reducing antioxidant power; VCEAC: Vitamin C equivalent antioxidant capacity

#### 2.1.1.1 Effect of HPP on beverage antioxidants

The potential application of high pressure processing (also called as high hydrostatic pressure (HHP) in some studies) has not been realized until the middle of the 1980s, although it was utilized in the chemical, ceramic, and plastic industries for decades. In 1914, Hite et al. could not show any solid arguments to investigate high pressure in order to preserve fruits and vegetables owing to the technological disadvantages at that period. Then, at the beginning of the 2000s, high-pressure technology was rediscovered and acquired to the food industry (Otero and Sanz, 2003).

HPP is a promising and novel nonthermal processing technique, achieving pasteurization in the balance of safety and quality characteristics rather than traditional thermal treatments, applied between 100 and 1000 MPa pressure and at room or mild processing temperatures (<60°C) to solid, liquid, packaged, or unpackaged foods (Clark, 2006; Balasubramaniam et al., 2008; Norton and Sun, 2008).

HPP, performing as a batch process, works according to the Pascal's principle that means pressure is transmitted instantly throughout the vessel which is independent of the size and geometry of the food product. This system consists of compression phase, pressure holding phase, and depressurization phase (Figure 2.1). In compression phase, the pressure is increased from ambient to the desired pressure; then it is kept constant for several minutes during pressure holding phase, followed by depressurization phase where the pressure is decreased to ambient pressure. During the stages of pressure holding phase and depressurization phase, an increase and a decrease of temperature take place because of compression and expansion of the food product as well as pressure-transmitting medium (usually water). Hereby, a heat exchange occurs between pressurizing chamber walls, pressure-transmitting medium, the packaging material of the food product, and the food product. When the water is used as a transmitting medium, temperature changes 3°C for every 100 MPa increase in the pressure, and is generally known as the compression heating value (Khurana and Karwe, 2009; Varma et al., 2010). The temperature increase of oil-rich products is three times higher than the water. Because, the fat molecules are considered to be bulky and nonpolar in nature while the water molecules are small and polar hence more compact. In addition to this information, it is known that oils show the highest compression heating compared to crude fats. Thus, a less compact structure would have a tendency to be more compressed and it causes higher increase in the temperature during pressure application (Rasanayagam et al., 2003; Varma et al., 2010).



Figure 2.1 : Pressure and temperature variation during high pressure processing (Khurana et al., 2009).

HPP-treated foods generally show superior microbiological safety, improved quality including texture, flavor, and color, preferable nutritional value due to its limited effects on the covalent bonds, and low processing temperature which have an impact on the volatile compounds, pigments, vitamins, and antioxidant compounds compared to their thermally treated counterparts (Barba et al., 2015c; Ramirez et al., 2009; Zabetakis et al., 2000). HPP is a useful tool to inhibit microorganisms and inactivate enzymes such as peroxidase, polyphenol oxidase, and pectin methyl esterase (Saucedo-Reyes et al., 2009). The inhibition of microorganisms due to HPP is stemmed from the change in cell morphology, irreversible denaturation of enzymes and proteins, and inhibition of metabolic reactions (Mota et al., 2013). Moreover, this application is independent of size and shape of the food product that reduces the process duration (Sun, 2007), thus this situation facilitated the transition from scale-up laboratory to full-scale production (Torres and Velazquez, 2005); pressure is transmitted uniformly in fluid foods, hence, gradients do not occur as well (Thakur and Nelson, 1998; Toepfl et al., 2006).

On the other hand, it was reported that HPP has limitations on inhibition of Gram positive microorganisms, spores, and residual activity of endogenous enzymes which are responsible from long-term quality changes (Patterson, 2005; Chakraborty et al., 2014; Krebbers et al., 2003). Therefore, refrigeration conditions during storage (Scolari et al., 2015) and hurdle effect including HPP plus modified atmosphere packaging or carbonation are suggested (Sterr et al., 2015; Rode et al., 2015).

Up to date, a wide variety of food products have been developed by the most successful commercialized nonthermal food processing technique of HPP, which has already been used in fruits and vegetables, dairy products, meat, egg, juices, ready-to-eat meals, dips, and salads (Rastogi and Knorr, 2013; Wang et al., 2016; Jiménez-Sánchez et al., 2017).

The loss of sensory and nutritional quality of juices with the application of conventional thermal pasteurization is one of the main problem (Cardello et al., 2007). HPP is an efficient alternative technique that is applicable in juice industry with minimal impact on sensory and nutritional quality. In the study of Jayachandran et al. (2015), the effect of HPP (200-600 MPa/30-70°C/0-20 min) on the total antioxidant capacity of mixed fruit beverage including litchi juice, coconut water, and lemon juice was investigated. The total antioxidant capacity of juice samples was evaluated by 2, 2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) assay and expressed as mg of gallic acid equivalents antioxidant capacity (GAE)/100 g of the fresh weight of sample. The increase of 1%-19% total antioxidant capacity at 500 and 600 MPa was obtained; owing to inducement of extractability of antioxidants from the modified tissue matrix into the extracellular environment (McInerney et al., 2007). Moreover, degradation of antioxidants initiated above 60°C. It was concluded that the combined effect of pressure and temperature on the antioxidant activity should be considered for a longer process time (Jayachandran et al., 2015). Similarly, the study on investigating HPP effect (400-600 MPa/30-60°C/0-15 min) on Aloe vera-litchi mixed fruit beverage was carried out by Hulle et al. (2017). It was found that extractability of phenolics and antioxidants for the samples treated at all pressures and temperature up to 50°C was increased, while the antioxidant capacity reduced up to 22% at 60°C (Hulle et al., 2017). In another study, Carbonell-Capella et al. (2013) studied the impact of HPP (300-500 MPa/5-15 min) on the total antioxidant capacity of a fruit juice mixture including papaya (32.5%, v/v), mango (10%, v/v), and orange (7.5%, v/v). It was

sweetened with different ratios of Stevia rebaudiana Bertoni (0%–2.5%). The greatest retention of beverage antioxidants was obtained with the HPP condition of 300 MPa pressure and 14 min treatment time by central composite face-centered design (Carbonell-Capella et al., 2013). Moreover, the antioxidant capacity of blueberry juice was better preserved by 600 MPa HPP treatment (Barba et al., 2012a). Chen et al. (2015b) observed that high pressures (200, 400, and 600 MPa/10–20 min) retained greater protective effect on the antioxidant capacity of green asparagus juice (Chen et al., 2015b). Zuluaga et al. (2016) studied about the HPP effect on antioxidant capacity [ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP)] of bee pollen added pineapple juice-based beverage. The results showed that the levels of FRAP increased with pressure and time in comparison with the control sample and a treatment of 395 MPa for 15 min was found as the optimal for the prevention of bioactive compounds (Zuluaga et al., 2016).

On the other hand, the effect of HPP (550 MPa/5 min) and high-temperature short time (HTST) (110°C/8.6 s) was compared in terms of total antioxidant capacity of papaya beverage after treatments and during storage of 40 days at 4°C. The results of total antioxidant capacity of juice samples were evaluated by DPPH and FRAP assays and expressed as mM of Trolox equivalents (mM). It was found that total antioxidant capacity of papaya beverage did not significantly change (p > 0.05) after HPP treatment when it was measured by DPPH and FRAP assays; it might be due to the insignificant changes of total carotenoid and total phenolic contents after HPP treatment. However, there was a significant (p < 0.05) decrease in total antioxidant capacities measured by DPPH and FRAP methods, which were attributed to the stable total carotenoids content and the significant decrease of total phenolic contents after HTST treatment. In addition, the HPP-treated sample showed higher total antioxidant capacity compared with the HTST-treated sample due to higher total carotenoid and total phenolic contents during 40 days of storage (Chen et al., 2015a). Zhang et al. (2016) also compared the impacts of HPP and HTST treatments in terms of total antioxidant capacity of carrot juice. Process conditions were selected as 550 MPa/6 min for HPP and 110°C for 8.6 s for HTST.

Higher antioxidant capacity retention measured by DPPH and FRAP was determined for HPP-treated juice rather than HTST-treated juice samples (Zhang et al., 2016). Similarly, Polydera et al. (2005) reported that high pressure led to higher antioxidant activity of orange juice compared to the thermal treatment (Polydera et al., 2005).

#### 2.1.1.2 Effect of PEF on beverage antioxidants

PEF is an emerging and innovative nonthermal preservation technology which is considered to overcome the negative impacts of thermal treatments and enhance the shelf life of foods with improving nutritional and functional properties (Barba et al., 2012b, 2015b, Knorr et al., 2011). Moreover, PEF is one of the mild preservation techniques that can be applicable for liquid or semiliquid, viscous food products such as juices, milk, and yogurt (Torregrosa et al., 2006).

The short-duration electric field pulses, typically in the range of  $\mu$ s, of high intensity is applied on a food product located between the two electrodes (Asavasanti et al., 2011; Bouras et al., 2016) (Figure 2.2). The mechanism of the action includes electroporation and electropermeabilization (Teissie et al., 2005). Application of electric fields that is high enough to induce a transmembrane potential difference of approximately 0.2 V across the cell membrane leads to local instabilities, resulting with the formation of pores in the membrane (Wouters et al., 2001). As a detailed information, when the cells are exposed to an external electric field, the accumulation of oppositely charged ions on both sides of membrane causes membrane thickness reduction, then with the increase of electric field up to critical values gives rise to pore formation (Zimmermann, 1986). In the second step, as a result of expanded pores reversible or irreversible permeabilization is observed. For PEF processing, strong electric fields in the range of 5-50 kV/cm are applied to ensure complete, irreversible effects to ensure the inhibition of vegetative microbial cells (Toepfl et al., 2006; Knorr et al., 2011; Barba et al., 2015b). On the other hand, increasing permeability and cell disintegration in plant tissues by PEF treatment may also provide easier release of the intracellular bioactive substances (Puértolas et al., 2010). The degree of the electroporation depends on (i) the medium characteristics: temperature, electrical conductivity, ionic strength, and pH; (ii) process parameters: electric field strength, treatment time, number and type of pulse waveform, their width, and frequency; (iii) microorganism characteristics: type and growth stage of microorganisms, and (iv) treatment chamber characteristics: electrode configurations and mode of operation (Barba et al., 2015b; Jeyamkondan et al., 1999). Among these parameters, electric field strength and treatment time are the most important factors that have an influence on the electroporation which might be reversible or irreversible (Huang and Wang, 2009). On the other hand, it was found that square wave pulses were the most efficient,

whereas oscillatory pulses were the least efficient due to the prevention of the cells from continuously high-intensity electric field exposition for an extended period of time, hence prohibiting the cell membrane from irreversible breakdown. Moreover, bipolar pulses were obtained more efficient than monopolar pulses (Qin et al., 1994). Different goals such as arising mass transfer phenomena (Puértolas et al., 2012) or to inactivate microorganisms (González-Arenzana et al., 2015) can be achieved by adjusting the treatment conditions.



Figure 2.2 : Experimental set-up for PEF treatment (Bouras et al., 2016).

PEF is a preservation technique to obtain shelf-stable foods with high nutritional and sensory value (Odriozola-Serrano et al., 2013; Saldaña et al., 2014). This technology has also been extensively used to improve processes such as extraction by pressing or solvent diffusion, osmotic dehydration, drying, and freezing (Donsì et al., 2010) as well as the assessment of food wastes and by-products (Vorobiev and Lebovka, 2010). In addition, PEF draws on to use green extraction concept in terms of assuming alternative solvents [(water or agro-solvents (ethanol, methyl esters of fatty acids of vegetable oils]), reduction of energy consumption, production of high quality, and purity of extracts (Chemat et al., 2012). Moreover, PEF treatment allows to extract the bioactive compounds selectively without any detrimental effect to the treated sample (Barba et al., 2015b) which simplifies the downstream steps of separation and purification (Barba et al., 2015a; Vorobiev and Lebovka, 2010). Besides, pulsed

electric assistance empowers the yield and quality of the extracted compounds by descending the time and temperature of the extraction conditions (Donsì et al., 2010).

In spite of the fact that there has been a large quantity of information about the benefits of PEF processing, there are some limitations about its applications. It includes the effect of electric field on the cell activities which cause metabolic stress resulting with undesired effects on the quality of the final products, particularly fresh-cut products (Dellarosa et al., 2016). Another constraint is the high initial investment costs and elevated processing costs (Góngora-Nieto et al., 2002).

Due to the content of antioxidants, vitamins, and minerals which have important roles in human diet, consumer's demand tends to increase for fresh and nutritious food products such as unpasteurized fruit juices (Matthews, 2006). However, fresh fruit juices need to be heated immediately to prevent microbial, enzymatic, chemical, and physical deterioration and increase shelf life (Bates et al., 2001). In consequence of detrimental action of thermal treatments on the organoleptic, nutritional, and physicochemical properties of fluid foods, PEF application has been in the ascendant as a novel nonthermal application (Elez-Martínez et al., 2006; Mosqueda-Melgar et al., 2008). In the study of Moussa-Ayoub et al. (2017), the effect of PEF treatment (juice flow rate of 6.6 L h<sup>-1</sup>, electric field strength of 35 V cm<sup>-1</sup>, pulse width of 3  $\mu$ s, frequency of 45 Hz, and preheating to 45°C) on the antioxidant activity of Opuntia dillenii cactus juice was compared with thermal treatment (95°C/3 min). The antioxidant activity of juice samples was evaluated by means of measuring the degradation of the stable synthetic radical Fremy's salt (potassium nitrosodisulfonate) in the presence of antioxidants in the samples by using electron paramagnetic resonance spectrometry (EPR) and expressed as mM Fremy's salt reduced by 100-µL diluted extract. It was found that antioxidant activity of PEF-treated samples was close to the antioxidant activity of the nonpasteurized juice, whereas the antioxidant activity of thermal treatment applied samples was decreased (Moussa-Ayoub et al., 2017). In another study, the same research group evaluated the antioxidant activities of O. dillenii cactus juice samples after PEF (56 exponential decay pulses at maximum electric field strength of 3 kV cm<sup>-1</sup>), microwave heating (1800 W/3 min holding time) and enzymatic maceration (pectolytic enzymes) treatments. The antioxidant activity of juice samples was evaluated by using EPR method. The retention of antioxidant activity of enzymatic maceration applied following PEF pretreated samples was found to be close to the nontreated samples. On the other hand, there was a decrease in the antioxidant activity of microwave-treated cactus juice samples due to the degradation of vitamin C or betacyanins. As a result, a combination of PEF and enzymatic pretreatments is recommended owing to the fact that this combination may protect the antioxidant activity in a better way (Moussa-Ayoub et al., 2016).

In another study, Sánchez-Vega et al. (2015) aimed to investigate the PEF processing effects including electric field strength, treatment time, and polarity on the broccoli juice antioxidants measured by the DPPH assay. Maximum relative antioxidant capacity (5.9%) was obtained with the process parameters of 25 and 35 kV cm<sup>-1</sup> electric field strength, from 2000 to 500  $\mu$ s treatment time and bipolar mode with the comparison of the results with the thermal treatment (90°C/60 s) (Sánchez-Vega et al., 2015). Similarly, Bi et al. (2013) also examined the effects of process parameters of electric field strength (0–35 kV cm<sup>-1</sup>) and pulse rise time (2 and 0.2  $\mu$ s) during PEF application on apple juice antioxidants measured using DPPH, FRAP, and oxygen radical absorbance capacity (ORAC) assays. While FRAP and ORAC values increased with increasing electric field and decreasing pulse rise time, the DPPH value was not changed after PEF implementation (Bi et al., 2013).

In a different study, health-promoting properties of grape juice after PEF treatment were investigated by means of measuring the antioxidant capacity of samples using DPPH and human intestinal Caco-2 cells assays. Oxidative stability of juice samples was assessed in terms of cell viability and lactate dehydrogenase leakage (LDH). Compared to untreated grape juice, PEF pretreatment (width of 20  $\mu$ s, pulse frequency of 50 Hz, electric field strength of 1.5 kV cm<sup>-1</sup>, and pulse numbers of 243 and 1033) on grape juices enhanced the DPPH scavenging activity by 31% and bioprotective capacity as 25% for cell viability, and 30% for LDH leakage (Leong et al., 2016a).

#### 2.1.1.3 Effect of ultrasound on beverage antioxidants

Ultrasound is one of the emerging nonthermal technology to address the need to minimize processing and ensure safer and healthier food products with improved shelf life (Knorr et al., 2011). Ultrasound technology is characterized by the propagation of sonic waves in the frequency range of 20–100 kHz for a few seconds to several minutes

(Chemat et al., 2017a). These waves create alternate zones of compression and rarefaction which cause collapse of microscopic cavitation bubbles in the medium. Large surface area of these bubbles during the expansion cycle leads to enlargement of bubbles by increasing the gas diffusion. Then, these growing cavities become unstable owing to insufficient energy to retain the vapor phase in the bubbles, result with collapse releasing high temperatures and pressures that is responsible of mass transfer, highly efficient mixing and homogenization as well as enhanced bactericidal effect (Figure 2.3) (Piyasena et al., 2003; Paniwnyk, 2017).





Ultrasound applications are based on three different methods including direct application to the product, coupling with the device, or submergence in an ultrasonic bath (Chemat et al., 2011). The application of ultrasound in food processing can be divided into low-intensity ultrasound and high-intensity ultrasound according to the frequency range. Low-intensity ultrasound with frequencies higher than 100 kHz at intensities below 1 W cm<sup>2</sup> could be employed for evaluating the composition of raw and fermented meat products, fish and poultry, quality control of fresh vegetables and fruits in both pre- and postharvest, cheese during processing, oil, bread, and cereal products, bulk and emulsified fat-based food products, food gels, aerated and frozen foods, detection of honey adulteration as well as for nondestructively supporting genetic improvement programs (Awad et al., 2012).

High-intensity ultrasound is characterized by the frequencies between 20 and 500 kHz at intensities higher than 1 W cm<sup>-2</sup> that causes physical, mechanical, and chemical/biochemical alterations to the food being processed (Villamiel et al., 1999). This technology can be alternative to conventional treatments in terms of processing

and preservation. Besides, there are a large number of potential applications of highintensity ultrasound in food processing including modifying textural characteristics of fat products, emulsification, defoaming, modifying the functional properties of different food proteins, inactivation or acceleration of enzymatic activity to enhance shelf life and quality of food products, microbial inactivation, freezing, thawing, freeze drying and concentration, drying and facilitating the extraction of various food and bioactive components (Gallego-Juárez et al., 2010; Awad et al., 2012).

The efficiency of ultrasound depends on the tissue structure, composition and volume of food product to be processed, amplitude of the ultrasonic waves, contact time with the microorganisms, the type of microorganism, and the temperature of treatment (FDA, 2000; Rodrigues et al., 2009).

Ultrasound as an innovative and environmental-friendly technology has superior advantages such as reduced water and solvent consumption during extraction, eliminating posttreatment of wastewater, efficiency in microbial decontamination, less energy consumption, and reduced processing time. Moreover, this technology regarded as cheap, simple, and reliable (Chemat et al., 2017a, b; Tiwari et al., 2008, 2009; Valero et al., 2007). Although there has been a large quantity of advantages of this technology, it is responsible from changes on flavor, color, viscosity, and chemical composition of food products due to free radicals and localized rise in temperature during ultrasound application (Garcia-Noguera et al., 2010).

There are several studies in which the influences of ultrasound treatment on the beverage antioxidants are investigated. In the study of Cansino et al. (2013), the effect of ultrasound (amplitudes 40%, 60%, and 80% / times 10, 15, and 25 min) on the antioxidant activity of green cactus pear juice was studied. The total antioxidant capacity of juice samples was evaluated by 2,2' azino-bis (3-ethylbenzthiazoline-6-sulfonic acid) diammonium salt (ABTS) and chelating activity of ferrous ions assays. The total antioxidant capacity measured by ABTS assay was expressed as  $\mu$ mol equivalents of Trolox per liter of juice (ET  $\mu$ mol L<sup>-1</sup>), while total antioxidant capacity of juice samples by chelating activity of ferrous ions was obtained as % chelating activity. It was found that application time is an important parameter during sonication, because it is responsible from the release of antioxidants, particularly polyphenolic compounds. The antioxidant capacity measured by ABTS was the highest with the

treatment of 80% amplitude/15 min. On the other hand, ultrasound treatment did not have an influence on the chelating activity-related compounds (Cansino et al., 2013). Similarly, Zafra-Rojas et al. (2013) investigated the effect of different ultrasound conditions at 40% and 60% amplitude for 10, 15, and 25 min; 80% amplitude for 3, 5, 8, 10, 15, and 25 min on the antioxidant activity of purple cactus pear juice. The total antioxidant capacity of juice samples was determined by ABTS and chelating activity of ferrous ions as the previous study. Results showed that sonication at higher amplitudes and time released higher levels of antioxidants. However, the chelating activity in sonicated juices decreased except in juices treated at 80% amplitude for 25 min. Because of the fact that chelating activity is related with phenolic compounds and this activity depends on the type of the chelating activity of phenolic compounds released by ultrasound (Zafra-Rojas et al., 2013).

In another study, kasturi lime fruit juice was subjected to sonication for 25 kHz frequency/0, 30, and 60 min at 20°C to investigate the effect of process parameters on the antioxidant properties of the treated juices. DPPH free radical scavenging activity of the juices was increased from 14.59% to 50.93% with 60 min treatment time. This results might be due to the increase of extractability of antioxidant compounds by sonication (Bhat et al., 2011).

#### 2.1.2 Novel thermal technologies

Since today, food processors have mostly used traditional thermal processes such as pasteurization, sterilization, and drying to ensure microbial safety and longer shelf life (Pereira and Vicente, 2010). However, concerns of customers on nutrition canalized food industry to seek new methods (Bingöl, 2015). Traditional heating methods generate heat outside the food by fuel combustion or electricity and transfer produced heat to the food via convection, conduction, or radiation mechanisms (Krishnamurthy et al., 2008b; Pereira and Vicente, 2010). On the other hand, dielectric energy is a form of electromagnetic energy which can be absorbed by the food material and transformed to heat whereas in ohmic heating electrical resistance of foods ensures converting of electricity to heat (Fellows, 2000). Unlike ohmic and microwave heating, infrared heating is an indirect heating method in which energy is transmitted to food surface by radiation then transformed to heat (Fellows, 2000).

The disadvantages of traditional heating methods are heat loss from the surfaces of the equipment, longer heating time, and lower heat transfer efficiency due to insufficient conduction of heat to the thermal center (Pereira and Vicente, 2010). Therefore, uniform, rapid heating technologies are required to ensure microbial safety and enhance food quality (Zhao et al., 2000). In addition, ohmic and dielectric heating provides rapid heating of food products without hot surfaces or surface browning or heat damage with small equipment (Fellows, 2000). In addition, ohmic heating may be more effective than microwave heating in some matters due to the use of all energy for heating without limitation of penetration depth (Li and Sun, 2002). Effects of ohmic, microwave, and infrared heating on the bioactive compounds are presented in Table 2.2.

#### 2.1.2.1 Effect of ohmic heating on beverage antioxidants

Ohmic heating also called "resistance heating," "Joule heating," or "electroconductive heating" is a novel food process method in which electrical resistance of food causes heating by passing electric current through the food product (Fellows, 2000). Nowadays, it is getting attention on heating of pumpable foods and provides important possibility for continuous processing of viscous and liquid food products (Icier and Ilicali, 2005). In food production process, unless the prior parameter for concerning product safety and quality is microbial inactivation, the presence of critical amounts of certain microorganisms may lead to product deterioration, quality loss, and/or health problems (Knirsch et al., 2010).

Basically, the heat transfer in an ohmic heating system (Figure 2.4), composed of AC supply, a variance, measurement units of current, voltage and temperature, an ohmic heater test unit, and digital system to record data, can be explained for liquid food by the following heat conduction equation (2.1) with an internal heat generation (Icier, 2012):

$$\nabla(k\nabla T) + \dot{u} = \rho C_p \frac{\partial T}{\partial t}$$
(2.1)

where k is the thermal conductivity (W/mK),  $\rho$  is the density, and Cp is the specific heat capacity (J/kgK) of liquid food.

Novel Thermal Method	Application	Applied Food	Treatment Effect	Ref
	Extraction (essential oils)	Thymus vulgaris L.	Reduced treatment time	(Gavahian et al., 2012)
	Extraction (essential oils)	Zataria multiflora Boiss (Shirazi thyme)	Shorter process, prevention of all essential oils	(Gavahian et al., 2011)
	Extraction (polyphenols)	Red grape pomace	Increase in polyphenol content	(El Darra et al., 2013)
Ohmia Uastina	Heat treatment	Orange juice	Higher retention in Vitamin C content	(Vikram et al., 2005)
Onmic Heating	Heat treatment	Acerola fruit	Higher ascorbic acid degradation and color change at 10Hz	(Mercali et al., 2014)
	Heat treatment	Blueberry pulp	Higher anthocyanin degradation with higher voltage levels	(Sarkis et al., 2013)
	Extraction (anthocyanin)	Black rice bran	Increased anthocyanin content as 50%	(Loypimai et al., 2015)
	Heat treatment	Orange juice	Higher Vitamin C content	(Géczi et al., 2013)
	Concentration	Black mulberry juice	Less anthocyanin degradation and process time	(Fazaeli et al., 2013)
Mianowaya Uasting	Pasteurization	Grape fruit juice	Higher retention in total phenols and antioxidant capacity	(Igual et al., 2010)
wherewave nearing	Pasteurization	Kava juice	Microbial inactivation without loss in juice quality	(Abdullah et al., 2013)
	Pasteurization	Tomato juice	Higher ABTS <sup>+</sup> values	(Stratakos et al., 2016)
	Pasteurization	Strawberry juice	Reduction in anthocyanin content as a function of time	(Mollov et al., 2007)
	Heat treatment	Orange juice	Higher Vitamin C degradation with increasing temperature	(Vikram et al., 2005)
	Microbial inactivation	Honey	Increased HMF and reduced enzyme activity	(Hebbar et al., 2003)
Infrared Heating	Microbial inactivation	Milk	Total microbial inactivation, no data for nutrient content	(Krishnamurthy et al., 2008)
	Heat treatment	Green tea	Increase in total polyphenols and flavanol content	(Kim et al., 2006)
	Heat treatment	Green tea	Increase in nitrite scavenging activity until 110°C	(Lee et al., 2006)
	Heat treatment	Green tea	Increase in total phenolic, flavanol content, and ascorbic acid content	(Park et al., 2009)

### Table 2.2 : Effects of novel thermal food processing techniques on the bioactive compounds.



Figure 2.4 : Experimental setup for ohmic treatment (Vikram et al., 2005).

The electrical conductivity of food material depends on various factors such as temperature, voltage gradient, food composition (e.g., sugar content), etc. (Icier and Ilicali, 2005). For instance, electrical conductivity increases in the presence of ionic substances like acids and salts, however, decreases with nonpolar components (fats, lipids, etc.) (Lima et al., 2001). The process control parameters of ohmic heating include temperature, frequency, voltage gradient, the difference of electrical conductivity, food properties (acidity, composition, viscosity, etc.), electrode type, and flow properties (Icier, 2012). On the other hand, among all heating methods, thermal properties of food compounds have less effect on ohmic heating (Cokgezme et al., 2017). In addition, ohmic heating was reported as a faster heating method than microwave, and infrared heating methods due to internal heat generation (Vikram et al., 2005).

In the 19th century, ohmic heating was applied to pasteurize milk (Vicente and Castro, 2007). Ohmic treatment is also used for preheating, blanching, thawing, and extraction of foods (Icier, 2012; Li and Sun, 2002). In addition, in our day, ohmic heating is mainly used for ultrahigh-temperature (UHT) sterilization and pasteurization of liquid foods (Fellows, 2000).

Heating of liquid foods containing particles is a challenging task for the food industry that should be overcome (Bingöl, 2015). It was reported that fruit juices could be heated by ohmic heating due to their high electrical conductivity values (Cokgezme et al., 2017). In the case of ohmic heating, internal energy transformation within the food

material occurs (Knirsch et al., 2010). The advantages of ohmic heating are (1) there is no limit as penetration depth like microwave heating, (2) rapid heating, (3) there is no hot surfaces, surface fouling, or heat damage to sensitive foods, (4) heating possibility of viscous liquids, and (5) low cost (Fellows, 2000). In addition, ohmic heating does not generate waste (Cokgezme et al., 2017). The disadvantages of conventional heating methods are long processing time and low-energy efficiency (Darvishi et al., 2013). Furthermore, ohmic heating differs from other heating methods as requirements of electrodes contacting the foods, there is no restriction on used frequency and waveform (Vicente and Castro, 2007). In heterogeneous food material, it is important to arrange the heating rate of particles under ohmic heating and for a successful application, information on electric conductance is vital (Knirsch et al., 2010).

Many researchers investigated ohmic heat in extraction of different food compounds from various sources (Lakkakula et al., 2004). Electric field intensity, process time, temperature, and extracted food material affect the extracted juice yield (Praporscic et al., 2006). An important problem in extraction of essential oils from thyme via traditional methods was reported as long extraction time (1 h) and this problem was solved with ohmic-assisted hydrodistillation method (24.75 min) (Gavahian et al., 2012). In shorter processing time, all existing essential oils can be extracted via ohmicassisted extraction method (Gavahian et al., 2011). In a similar manner, polyphenols were extracted from red grape pomace by pulsed ohmic heating (400 V cm<sup>-1</sup>, 50°C, solvent: 30% ethanol/water) which resulted with an increase in polyphenol content from 440 to 620 mg GAE/100 g on dry basis after 60 min extraction time (El Darra et al., 2013). Rice bran is a rich source of various nutrients including tocopherols, vitamins, proteins, and dietary fibers (Loypimai et al., 2009). In a study performed by Lakkakula et al. (2004), extraction yield of rice bran oil increased from 53% to 92% by using ohmic heating. In a different study, beetroot pigment extraction was increased up to 3-fold at 42°C with 0.1% NaCl carrier fluid (Lima et al., 2001). On the other hand, in ohmic heating, frequency is another parameter for juice extraction in which lower frequencies resulted with higher apple juice yield at 40°C (Lima and Sastry, 1999). Potato and apple tissues became soft and available for juice treatment at moderate temperatures (<50°C) while electric field strength is lower than 100 V cm<sup>-1</sup> (Praporscic et al., 2006). Furthermore, when considered all these studies, ohmic heating may be a more convenient method for extraction compared to microwave due to higher yield and less input energy (Wang and Sastry, 2002).

In a previous study performed by Cokgezme et al. (2017), the effect of parameters was evaluated on ohmic heating of pomegranate juice. According to the results, voltage gradient increased as the total energy consumption and power increased. In addition, when the value of total soluble solids is 30%, the specific water removal ratio and energy efficiency were found to be at the highest values. Ohmic-assisted vacuum evaporation was utilized to concentrate sour cherry juice at three different voltage gradients (10, 12, and 14 V cm<sup>-1</sup>) by Sabanci and Icier (2017) who reported that an increase in voltage gradient from 10 to 12 V cm<sup>-1</sup> led to reduction in total evaporation time to half. Moreover, Darvishi et al. (2013) reported that voltage gradient affected heating rate, pH, and electrical conductivity in ohmic heating of pomegranate juice. According to this study, increase in voltage gradient resulted with a decrease in system performance, time, and pH. In the same manner, evaporation time of pomegranate juice reduced while voltage gradient increased and electrical conductivity increased to maximum values at critical dry matter contents which was different for different types of fruits (Icier et al., 2017). In addition, bubbling was reported at high voltage gradient while the temperature is higher than 81°C in the same study. Similarly, heating of orange juice with electromagnetic and conventional methods was evaluated for investigating the degradation rates of vitamin C (33.13 mg/100 g in fresh juice) and according to the results, heating and temperature were found to be responsible for the vitamin C degradation and retention of vitamin C was reported to be the highest in ohmic heating among all heat treatments (Vikram et al., 2005). In a similar manner, the negative effect of conventional thermal treatments on vitamin C content of acerola fruit (1000–4000 mg/100 g) wanted to be eliminated via ohmic heating in a study performed by Mercali et al. (2014). However, different from other studies, there was no positive effect of ohmic heating as electric field frequency at 10 Hz caused higher ascorbic acid degradation and color change, and above 100 Hz, the degradation reactions were found to be similar to that of conventional methods showing the requirements for further studies to understand the effect of electric field frequency on ascorbic acid degradation kinetics. In addition, Sarkis et al. (2013) reported similar results on anthocyanin degradation during the ohmic heating of blueberry pulp; in this

case, higher voltage levels caused higher degradation, but lower voltage levels reduced the degradation and similar results were obtained with conventional heating.

Another example of using ohmic heating is the prevention of degradation of rice bran oil (Loypimai et al., 2009; Lakkakula et al., 2004). During storage, lipid oxidation of rice bran was retarded with ohmic heating when electrical field strength was between 150 and 225V cm<sup>-1</sup> and moisture content of the rice bran was 30%–40% (Loypimai et al., 2009). In addition, Loypimai et al. (2015) studied anthocyanin extraction from black rice bran (Oryza sativa L.) which is a rich source of anthocyanins (cyanidin-3-O-glucoside, cyanidin-3-O-rutinoside, delphinidin, cyanidin, perlargonidin, and malvidin), tocopherols, tocotrienols, and phenolic compounds. In this study, ohmic heating-assisted solvent extraction of anthocyanins increased the yield up to 50% with 30% moisture content and 150 V cm<sup>-1</sup> electric field strength.

#### 2.1.2.2 Effect of microwave heating on beverage antioxidants

After the World War II, dielectric heating was used for food components first between the 1 and 15 MHz frequency range. However, for microwave heating, a frequency range between 800 and 3000 MHz was used by the end of the 1950s (Bengtsson and Ohlsson, 1974). Although, Percy Spencer obtained the patent for popcorn production in 1949, widespread use of microwave energy occurred in the 1990s (Fito et al., 2005). Due to the dielectric properties of food materials, microwave (300 MHz–300 GHz) and radio frequency waves (0.003–300 MHz) generate heat via dipole rotation (Ramaswamy and Tang, 2008). Industrial, medical, and scientific use of microwaves were allocated to specific frequency bands to prevent interference between frequency rages of radio frequencies and microwaves (Bingöl, 2015). The Federal Communication Commission allocates some frequencies such as 915 ± 13, 2450 ± 50, 5800 ± 75, and 24,125 ± 125 MHz for heating purposes (Vicente and Castro, 2007).

In contrast to traditional heating methods, dielectric heating provides heat generation inside the food and achieving higher heat fluxes resulted rapid cooking (Bengtsson and Ohlsson, 1974). Among several applications in food processing, microwave energy can be used in thawing, tempering, heating of precooked products, cooking, baking, blanching, sterilization, pasteurization, and dehydration (Fito et al., 2005). Furthermore, microbial safety in microwave pasteurization and sterilization depends on the function of microwave frequency, applicator design, composition, and properties of the food (Fu, 2004).

The major components of microwave equipment are magnetron, wave guide, and applicator (Figure 2.5) (Bingöl, 2015). The magnetron is a diode-type electron tube which is basically composed of the anode, the filament, the antenna, and the magnets (Vicente and Castro, 2007). Industrial (915 MHz) and household microwaves (2450 MHz) use different magnetrons. The reasons of 915 MHz magnetrons in industrial applications may provide higher electric power (up to 100 kW) and higher penetration depth of microwave energy at this frequency (Bingöl, 2015). Furthermore, the generated energy by the magnetron is directed to the waveguide, which is a hollow metal, propagates the waves to the heating chamber (Fellows, 2000; Vicente and Castro, 2007).



**Figure 2.5 :** Schematic diagram of microwave heating system (Sabliov et al., 2008). Ionic polarization and dipole rotation are two ways of heat production by microwaves (Tewari, 2007). In ionic polarization, charged particles can move through the material, however, dipole rotation occurs when the charged particles are bound within the material and they move till the electric force is balanced by opposing forces (Hebbar and Rastogi, 2011). James Clerk Maxwell explained the distribution of electromagnetic energy by four fundamental equations (2.2, 2.3, 2.4 and 2.5) (Fu, 2004):

$$\nabla \times E = \frac{\partial B}{\partial t} \tag{2.2}$$

$$\nabla . D = \rho_e \tag{2.3}$$

$$\nabla \times H = J + \frac{\partial D}{\partial t} \tag{2.4}$$

$$\nabla . B = 0 \tag{2.5}$$

where E and H are defined as the electric and magnetic field, J is total current density,  $\rho_e$  is the total charge density, D is electric flux density, and B is the magnetic flux density.

The dielectric properties of a material are defined with permittivity which determines the conversion of electromagnetic energy to heat (Leonelli and Mason, 2010; Hebbar and Rastogi, 2011). The following equation (2.6) identifies the complex relative permittivity (Bingöl, 2015):

$$\varepsilon = \epsilon' - j\varepsilon'' = |\varepsilon|e^{-j\delta} \tag{2.6}$$

where  $\varepsilon'$  is the dielectric constant an expression of polarizability of the molecules and indicates their ability to store electrical energy,  $\varepsilon''$  is the dielectric loss factor related to the energy absorption and dispersion of electromagnetic energy from the field (Bircan and Barringer, 2002),  $\delta$  is the dielectric loss angle, and j is the imaginary number ( $\sqrt{-1}$ ) (Hebbar and Rastogi, 2011).

Dielectric properties of foods indicate interaction of an electromagnetic field with nonor low-conducting material. In addition, foods, which can store and dissipate microwave energy, are poor electric insulators (Muthukumaran et al., 2011). The most common food products have  $\varepsilon'' < 25$  (Venkatesh and Raghavan, 2005).

When microwave energy passes through a material, part of energy, which is called Pr, is reflected and other part is absorbed and another part is transmitted by the material. Pr is the function of dielectric constant and angle of incidence ( $\theta$ ) as shown in equation (2.6). In addition, the transmitted microwave power can be calculated as shown in equation (2.7 and 2.8) (Muthukumaran et al., 2011):

$$P_{r}(\theta) = \frac{\left(\sqrt{\varepsilon}r - 1\right)^{2}}{\left(\sqrt{\varepsilon}r + 1\right)^{2}}$$
(2.7)

$$P_{trans} = (1 - P_r) \tag{2.8}$$

The absorbed microwave energy is related with dielectric loss factor  $\varepsilon'$  as expressed in equation (2.9):

$$P_{abs} = 5.56 \times 10^{-4} f \varepsilon'' E^2 \tag{2.9}$$

The dielectric properties of foods depends on temperature and composition of food material, frequency, and energy penetration (Bengtsson and Ohlsson, 1974). Dielectric constant of apples, which have 70% moisture content, reduces with increasing frequency. On the other hand, dielectric loss factor reduces to a minimum value and then increases with frequency (Feng et al., 2002). In addition, ionic conductivity is important at lower frequencies (<200 MHz), while not only ionic conductivity but also dipole rotation of free water are significant at microwave frequencies (Tang et al., 2005). The loss factor has bell-shape relationship with the frequency for edible oils. The  $\varepsilon''$  reduces between 100 Hz and 13.2 kHz. After that point,  $\varepsilon''$  increases while frequency rises (Muthukumaran et al., 2011).

For both salted and unsalted butter, temperature changes influenced dielectric properties. If process temperature increase, dielectric constant  $\varepsilon'$  will reduce gradually. However, dielectric constant  $\varepsilon'$  increases over 60°C. On the other hand, the loss factor  $\varepsilon''$  reduces while temperature rises for unsalted butter. In addition,  $\varepsilon''$  increases while temperature rises for salted butter (Muthukumaran et al., 2011). Free water behaves as liquid water; but bound water acts as ice on dielectric properties. While moisture decreases to critical moisture level, dielectric properties of food decrease. After that, decrease becomes less considerable owing to bound water (Hebbar and Rastogi, 2011). Furthermore, when foods are in drying process, water dipole mobility reduces that causes decreased loss factor. In addition, less available free water causes reduction at ionic conductivity (Feng et al., 2002). In a study with edible oils, unsaturation degree affects dielectric constant which increased by an increase in unsaturation (Muthukumaran et al., 2011).

In addition, volumetric heating of food material leads to less processing time and higher end-product quality and selective heating of food materials can be achieved due to their different dielectric properties in microwave processing (Thostenson and Chou, 1999). Whereas, microwave treatment to foodstuffs including high unbound water causes limited penetration depth and unequal electric field distribution which cause nonuniform temperature distribution in foodstuff (Franco et al., 2015). In addition, only surface heating may occur while penetration depth of the microwave is remarkably less than the thickness of the material (Thostenson and Chou, 1999). The advantages of microwave heating in comparison to conventional heating systems can be summarized as rapid, uniform, and selective heating; small process equipment; high efficiency; clean environment; and rapid operation control (Leonelli and Mason, 2010).

Pasteurization temperature and process time affect inactivation of microorganisms and product quality. HTST heating is used for pasteurization of juices as a conventional method by the food industry, however, this continuous method leads to fouling and loss in nutrients due to the high surface temperatures (Math et al., 2014). On the other hand, continuous microwave process provides rapid heating due to the effect of high microwave power and protects product quality (Arjmandi et al., 2016). It is known that vitamins, pigments (carotenoids, anthocyanins, etc.), and phenolics are antioxidant compounds found in fruits and vegetables (Podsedek et al., 2003). In addition, chlorophyll stability was found to be higher in microwave-treated kiwifruit than conventional heat processing, however, the variation of carotenoid retention in microwave and conventional methods was reported as insignificant (Benlloch-Tinoco et al., 2015). Furthermore, vitamin C content and color properties of orange juice samples treated with continuous flow microwave were found to be similar to conventional heating method (water bath). However, color properties of milk samples were observed to be different from conventionally treated and untreated milk samples which may indicate changed product properties with microwave processing rather than thermal effects (Géczi et al., 2013).

Microwave heating, used as a concentration process for black mulberry juice, reduced required process time (approximately 30 min) and degradation of anthocyanins compared to rotary evaporator (Fazaeli et al., 2013). On the other hand, for the determination of vitamins A and E in beverage samples (milk, banana flavored milk energy drink, multivitamin multifruit juice, and orange juice), microwave-assisted saponification and extraction were performed (Höller et al., 2003).

In some previous studies, microwave heating was used to pasteurize various liquid food products such as orange juice (Tajchakavit and Ramaswamy, 1997), apple juice

(Cañumir et al., 2002), apple cider (Gentry and Roberts, 2005), grapefruit juice (Igual et al., 2010), milk (Valero et al., 2000; Clare et al., 2005), and tomato juice (Stratakos et al., 2016), to inactivate enzymes in green coconut water (Matsui et al., 2008), and to aseptically process sweet potato puree (Coronel et al., 2005) and salsa sauce (Kumar et al., 2007).

Igual et al. (2010) compared conventional and microwave pasteurization in grapefruit juice considering the total phenolic content and antioxidant capacity values. The results indicated that conventional pasteurization process led to the retention of total phenols and antioxidant capacity as 75% and 20%, respectively. In addition, microwave processing caused higher retention in total phenols and antioxidant capacity as 82% and 33%, respectively. Abdullah et al. (2013) studied the microwave pasteurization of fresh kava juice using continuous flow system. In this study, it is reported that microbial safety was achieved at 65.2°C without loss in juice quality. In addition, Stratakos et al. (2016) applied microwave pasteurization ( $6 \times 3$  kW, 2450 MHz) on tomato juice and reported changes in physicochemical properties, antioxidant capacity, and microbial characteristics. According to their results, initial ABTS<sup>+</sup> values were found to be higher in microwave-treated samples in comparison to conventionally pasteurized samples, but there were no significant differences during storage. Furthermore, the difference in the anthocyanin contents of fruit blends (pomegranate: carrot, beetroot: jamun, musk melon: grape, papaya: grape, papaya: banana: grape, mango: grape, watermelon: figs, and diluted jamun juice), which are processed through continuous microwave system (2 kW, 250 mL min<sup>-1</sup>), were found to be statistically insignificant in comparison to the fresh sample (Math et al., 2014). Whereas, purified strawberry anthocyanins were determined in strawberry juice samples treated with microwave pasteurization, and anthocyanin content was observed to reduce from 40.4 to 34.1 mg  $L^{-1}$  (30 min), 38.7 mg  $L^{-1}$  (60 min), and 25.4 mg  $L^{-1}$ (90 min) depending on the treatment time (Mollov et al., 2007).

Feasibility of microwave sterilization (130°C, 5 kW) was studied on peanut-based liquids (peanut punch and Irish moss peanut drink) as an alternative to conventional UHT sterilization system and the results indicated that nutrient retention may be reachable due to temperature uniformity (Sabliov et al., 2008).

In addition, vitamin C content, chlorophyll content, and color properties of green tea leaves were quantified after seven different drying methods (sun, shade, microwave, freeze drying, oven 60°C, oven 80°C, and oven 100°C) among which the highest chlorophyll and vitamin C contents were determined with freeze drying and the worst drying method depending on the color properties were identified as sun drying (Roshanak et al., 2016). On the other hand, in another study, vitamin C content of orange juice samples remained similar after conventional and microwave processes (Villamiel et al., 1998).

#### 2.1.2.3 Effect of infrared heating on beverage antioxidants

In the past, infrared radiation has been mainly applied in electronics, however, studies were also performed on food applications in recent times (Krishnamurthy et al., 2008b). Infrared radiation is placed between visible light and microwave in the electromagnetic spectrum within the wavelength range between 0.5 and 1000 mm (Rastogi, 2012). Infrared technology is used in the food industry for different purposes including heating process, chemical composition analyses, contactless temperature measurement from food surfaces (Bingöl, 2015). Different from ohmic and microwave heating, infrared heating is an indirect heating method in which energy is transmitted to food surface by radiation after that transformed to heat (Fellows, 2000).

The advantages of infrared heating are (1) instant heating due to direct heat penetration, (2) fast heat transfer, (3) higher heat transfer capacity, (4) uniform heating, (5) preservation of nutrients, (6) no heating of air, and (7) small equipment (Rastogi, 2012). Infrared radiation can be divided into three sections according to the wavelength as near (0.78–1.4  $\mu$ m; v = 12,500–4000 cm<sup>-1</sup>), middle (1.4–3.0  $\mu$ m; v = 4000–200 cm<sup>-1</sup>), and far (3.0–1000  $\mu$ m; v = 200–10 cm<sup>-1</sup>) which is more convenient for food processing due to more effective absorption of energy in this range (Kümmerle et al., 1998; Rastogi, 2012). However, limited penetration depth is a negative side of infrared heating which requires additional energy source while drying or baking of larger volume of foodstuffs (Fellows, 2000). In addition, infrared heating is slower than microwave heat treatment (Hebbar et al., 2003). There are various processing options for solid food processing with infrared radiation including thawing, roasting, drying, baking, cooking, and blanching, but the advantages of infrared

heating are not that much while considering the heating of liquid foods (Rastogi, 2012).

The basic principle of heat generation from infrared radiation is molecular vibration, and therefore, infrared energy can be conducted throughout the food via conduction (Bingöl, 2015). There are several equipment designs for heat treatment of liquid foods (Figure 2.6) by infrared radiation. Providing information related with the equipments might be beneficial to better understand this process when considering challenges of infrared radiation in liquid food processing. For orange juice heating process, Vikram et al. (2005) developed a system composed of a heating chamber with infrared modules (250 W) which canalize infrared waves on to a platform by equipped reflectors. On the other hand, Krishnamurthy et al. (2008a) used a lab scale infrared heating system with a cone-shaped, aluminum waveguide due to its high emissivity (0.8) and six ceramic infrared lamps with a power of 500 W for heat treatment of milk. Hebbar et al. (2003) worked with a near infrared (NIR) batch oven with fitted infrared lamps (1.0 kW, peak wavelength 1.1-1.2 m) for heat treatment of honey. In this study, uniform power intensity was provided by fixing the distance between the sample and the heat source. In addition, uniform heating was achieved by mixing of honey samples between heating periods.



Figure 2.6 : Schematic diagram of infrared heating system (Krishnamurthy et al., 2008).

There are only few studies on infrared radiation of liquid foods and even fewer for beverages. Infrared radiation was applied as a heat treatment to milk (Krishnamurthy et al., 2008a), orange juice (Vikram et al., 2005), honey (Hebbar et al., 2003), and beer (Vasilenko, 2001) in order to provide stabilization during storage period and the nutritional quality was evaluated after the treatment.

During infrared heating of orange juice samples, degradation of vitamin C [k-value  $(min^{-1})$  was 0.0444 at 50°C, 0.0760 at 60°C, 0.0969 at 75°C, and 0.2284 at 90°C] was higher than the conventional method and the color [k-value  $(min^{-1})$  was 0.0706 at 50°C, 0.1294 at 60°C, 0.3256 at 75°C, and 0.6108 at 90°C] increased with increasing processing temperature (Vikram et al., 2005).

The effect of infrared irradiation on yeast reduction and physicochemical characteristics of honey was investigated by Hebbar et al. (2003). In this study, heat treatment via infrared radiation could not reach the desired yeast inactivation level in short periods. Temperature of the honey samples increased to 85°C after 5 min heating which caused an increase in the hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF) content (220%) and a reduction in the enzyme activity (37%). In addition, yeast inactivation was achieved after 8 min of heat treatment.

Krishnamurthy et al. (2008a) used the infrared radiation for inactivation of Staphylococcus aureus in milk samples. This study revealed that infrared lamp temperatures, treatment time, and volume of treated sample are important parameters for the inactivation of microorganisms in milk samples. Total inactivation of S. aureus was achieved for 3 and 5 mL milk samples at a lamp temperature of 619 °C and treatment time of 4 min.

On the other hand, Kim et al. (2006) applied infrared radiation in the manufacturing process of green tea which is a rich source of polyphenols, especially catechins. This study indicated the positive effect of far infrared (FIR) radiation on polyphenol content of green tea. The total phenol content of green tea increased from 475.6 to 811.1 mg  $g^{-1}$  and the total flavanol content from 175.7 to 208.7 mg  $g^{-1}$  by FIR irradiation at 90 °C for 10 min which was applied instead of a roasting step. Furthermore, epigallocatechin and epigallocatechin gallate contents increased from 57.68 and 9.60 to 89.88 and 16.33 mg  $g^{-1}$ , respectively. In similar a manner, Lee et al. (2006) evaluated the catechin content and nitrite scavenging activity of green tea after FIR irradiation at eight temperatures (80 °C, 90 °C, 100 °C, 110 °C, 120 °C, 130 °C, 140

°C, and 150 °C). Total phenol and total flavanol contents of green tea increased from 244.7 to 368.5 mg g<sup>-1</sup> and from 122.0 to 178.7 mg g<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. In addition, increase in FIR radiation increased nitrite scavenging activity until the temperature reached 110°C. Park et al. (2009) reported increased total phenolic contents of green tea from 116.30 to 171.77 mg g<sup>-1</sup>, total flavanol contents from 17.54 to 24.76 mg g<sup>-1</sup>, ascorbic acid contents from 3.07 to 4.20 mg g<sup>-1</sup>, and epicatechin gallate and epigallocatechin gallate from 2.41 to 4.59 mg mL<sup>-1</sup> and 20.61 to 28.54 mg mL<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. In addition, it was reported that nitrite scavenging ability was affected from pH. Nitrite scavenging ability was increased with FIR radiation at pH 3.0 and 4.2, however, there was no difference at pH 6.0. According to the results, it can be concluded that FIR radiation can be utilized to enhance green tea quality.

# 2.2 A Review of Microencapsulation Methods for Food Antioxidants: Principles, advantages, drawbacks and applications

Antioxidants as food preservatives have gained an increasing attention as they prevent foods from deterioration occured through oxidation, reduce loss of nutritional value and energy contents, allow freshness by ensuring flavours, odours, colour pigments, taste and texture. Consequently, numerous health benefits in reducing cancer, cardiovascular and neurological diseases as well as anti-inflammatory, antibacterial, anti-allergy, anti-hypertensive, antiviral and skin wound healing effects have been attributed to the role of dietary antioxidants (Alvarez-Suarez et al.2016; Ballesteros et al., 2017; Giampieri et al., 2013). Various food antioxidants have been classified into different categories based on their chemical structure and functions: water soluble bioactives including citrates, norbixin, betalains, most of the phenolics, flavanoids and anthocyanins, and lipid soluble components such as carotenoids, tocopherols, terpenoids and vitamin E (Carocho et al., 2017).

The relevant antioxidant activities of bioactive substances may be hampered due to their degradation triggered by light, oxygen, temperature, moisture and existence of unsaturated bonds in the molecular structures. Thus, microencapsulation with an appropriate carrier is an alternative technology for enhancing the storage and environmental stability of bioactives as well as giving an advance to mask off-flavour, bitter taste and astringency of polyphenols (Ballesteros et al., 2017). Accordingly, investigating the effects of microencapsulation techniques on food antioxidants is of great importance.

Microencapsulation is a process of packaging solids, liquids, or gaseous materials as active material with a continuous film as a coating to form capsules in micrometer to millimeter in size. Microencapsulation techniques are classified into three groups (Tyagi et al., 2011): (i) physical methods such as spray drying, lyophilization, supercritical fluid precipitation and solvent evaporation; (ii) physico-chemical methods including coacervation, liposomes and ionic gelation; (iii) chemical methods such as interfacial polymerization and molecular inclusion complexation (Table 2.3).

#### 2.2.1 Physical methods

#### 2.2.1.1 Spray drying

Spray-drying is an encapsulation technique related with the atomization of a liquid into a dry powder by means of an injector including a hot drying gas stream (Rattes and Oliveira, 2007). This technique comprises of three stages: (i) homogenization of feed liquid by an atomizer (ii) drying of feed solution by a hot gas carrier to achieve the evaporation of the solvent, (iii) collection of dry particles by cyclones or a filter (Schafroth, Arpagaus, Jadhav, Makne, & Douroumis, 2012). In detail, the feed liquid, which includes a core and wall material, may be a solution, an emulsion or a suspension (Gharsallaoui et al., 2007). Previously, this liquid is injected into the drying vessel through a nozzle or an atomizer in order to obtain small droplets followed by the evaporation of the solvent (Fatnassi et al., 2013), then, these dried particles are eliminated from the drying gas into a collector by a cyclone or filter (Schoubben et al., 2010) (Figure 2.7). The characteristics of spray-dried powders are related with the processing factors of spray drying including drying temperature, drying air flow rate, feed flow rate, speed of atomizer, sort of carrier agent and concentration of carrier agent (Schoubben et al., 2010).

Typical wall materials that have been used for spray drying are polysaccharides such as gum arabic, cyclodextrins and maltodextrin with different dextrose equivalent values, proteins such as whey proteins, sodium caseinate, soybean proteins and others including modified starch, gelatine, gellan gum, and chitosan (Lee and Wong, 2014).

Applied Technique	Core material	Wall material	Results
Physical techniques			
	Blueberry juice	Inulin and maltodextrin	Inulin based particles presents 5.1 and 1.5% of resver quercetin 3-d-galactoside, respectively, maltodextrin based particles include 21.1 and 28.5%
	Pitanga juice	High Performance Agave Fructans and High Degree of Polymerisation Agave Fructans and maltodextrin	The highest DPPH radical scavenging activity (59. ET/100 g solid) with maltodextrin-based micro (wall/core material ratio of 6/1)
	Blueberry polyphenols	Wheat flour, chickpea flour, coconut flour and soy protein isolate	90% retention of phenolic content by soy protein iso 16 weeks of storage at 4 and 20 °C
	Orange peel extract	Whey protein isolate	95% retention for both total phenolic content ar radical scavenging activity
Spray drying	Amla juice	Maltodextrin	Better retention of total phenolic content and DPP scavengin activity with 125 °C drying temperature maltodextrin concentration
	Pomegranate juice	Maltodextrin	Decrease in anthocyanin content with increasing maltodextrin concentration
	Beetroot juice	Maltodextrin	The highest betain retention (70.46%) with 15% maltodextrin Increasing DPPH scavenging activity (56.55 and 67.76%)
	Coffee phenolics	Maltodextrin, gum arabic and the mixture of both	Better retention with maltodextrin regarding flavon content (7.88 mg QE/100 ml) and total antioxidant a (380.25 mg α-TOC/100 ml)
	Guava	Maltodextrin and β- cyclodextrin	3% degradation in $\beta$ -cyclodextrin based micropartic 2.5–3 times lower antioxidant potential of spray driv extract compared with concentrated extract
	Grape fruit	Gum Arabic and bamboo fiber	58% retention in phenolic content 92-94% retention in ascorbic acid

### Table 2.3 : Effects of microencapsulation techniques on the food antioxidants.

35

Applied Technique	Core material	Wall material	Results	References
	Blueberry juice	Hydroxypropyl-β- cyclodextrin, β- cyclodextrin, maltodextrin	Higher retention values for HP- $\beta$ -CD and $\beta$ -CD, respectively of 105.21 and 104.55 µmol/L TE/g with ABTS, 1.83 and 1.80 mmol/L TE/g with DMPD, 79.70 and 67.28 mmol/L TE/g with FRAP	(Wilkowska et al., 2016)
	Green tea polyphenols	Maltodextrin, β- cyclodextrin, combination of both	Enhanced antioxidant activity (IC <sub>50</sub> value 54.77 - 60.26 $\mu$ g/ml)	(Pasrija et al., 2015)
	Gallic acid	Chitosan, β-cyclodextrin, xanthan	There were no significant effect	(da Rosa et al., 2013)
	Bayberry polyphenols	Ethyl cellulose	Increased free radical inhibition	(Zheng et al., 2011)
	Blackberry	Maltodextrin 10 and 20 DE	76% retention with maltodextrin 10DE 68% retention with maltodextrin 20DE	(Yamashita et al., 2017)
Lyophilization	Saffron petal	Cress seed gum, Gum Arabic	33% reduction in anthocyanin content of un-encapsulated extract No significant change after microencapsulation as well as storage of dried powders	(Jafari et al., 2017)
	Black glutinous rice bran anthocyanins	Black glutinous rice maltodextrin DE10, 20 and 30	~71.96% anthocyanin retention in the freeze dried powders Higher retention with black glutinous rice maltodextrin DE20 than commercial DE10	(Laokuldilok and Kanha, 2015)
	Garcinia fruit	Whey protein isolate, maltodextrin and the combination of both	Higher free (above 85%) and net (above 90%) HCA recovery	(Ezhilarasi et al., 2013a)
	Cherry juice	Maltodextrin and arabic gum	Enhanced monomeric anthocyanin content with freeze-dried encapsulated juice powder (67.5 mg/100 g) After 33 days of storage at 38 °C, 90 % retention for freeze- dried powder	(Sanchez et al., 2015)

### Table 2.3 (continued) : Effects of microencapsulation techniques on the food antioxidants.

Applied Technique	Core material	Wall material	Results	References
	Rutin	-	Completely dissolution of micronized rutin after 3 min in SGF and SIF	(Montes et al., 2016)
	Genistein	_	2 times higher dissolution rate comparing micronized and unprocessed genistein	(Xu and Luo, 2014)
	Yarrow extract	-	3 fold increase in the phenolic compound concentration of the precipitated particles	(Villanueva-Bermejo et al., 2017)
	Grape marc extract		250-350% increase of total phenolic content in SAS precipitates	(Natolino et al., 2016)
	Olive leave extract	-	1.35 antioxidant activity index for olive leave extract precipitates and 0.32 for unprocessed extract	(Chinnarasu et al., 2015)
Supercritical fluids	Quercetin	Ethyl cellulose	Enhanced antioxidant activity of quercetin/EC coprecipitates from 17.2 up to 25.1 µg DPPH/µg quercetin and from 13.7 up to 24.2 µg DPPH/µg quercetin after a year of storage at darkness and exposing to the visible light, respectively	(Fernández-Ponce et al., 2015)
based techniques	Grape pomace	Poly(-lactic-coglycolic acid)	Higher stability of extract released from the particles rather than crude extract	(Mezzomo et al., 2016)
	Folic acid	Polyvinylpyrrolidone	<ul> <li>88% FA integrity comparing micronized folic acid (FA) with unprocessed FA,</li> <li>95% folic acid integrity comparing coprecipitated particles including (PVP)–(FA) with the unprocessed physical mixture of PVP+FA</li> </ul>	(Prosapio et al., 2015)
	Rosemary extract	Pluronic F88 and 127	High dissolution rate of coprecipitated particles	(Visentin et al., 2012)
	Lycopene	α-tocopherol	84,1; 90,2 and 97,1% lycope retention after 28 days storage at 25, 4 and -20 °C, Complete degradation of lycopene after storage at 25 and 4 °C, 27.2% retention after storage at -20 °C	(Cheng et al., 2017)
	Jabuticaba anthocyanins	Polyethyleneglycol	Enhanced stability against light and temperature with coprecipitated particles	(Santos et al., 2013)
	β-carotene	Poly-(ε-caprolactone)	Highest $\beta$ -carotene concentrations with increasing pressure and temperature conditions	(de Paz et al., 2012)

### Table 2.3 (continued) : Effects of microencapsulation techniques on the food antioxidants.

Applied Technique	Core material	Wall material	Results	References
Solvent evaporation	Quercetin	Polymethyl methacrylate	82% retention of quercetin after encapsulation	(Lee et al., 2007)
	$\beta$ – carotene $\beta$ – carotene	Casein/gum tragacanth Whey protein isolate/gum acacia	Functional contribution to scavenging activity of $\beta$ – carotene Increased fuctional stability and contribution to scavenging activity of $\beta$ – carotene	(Jain et al., 2016) (Jain et al., 2015)
	Broccoli particles	Gelatine/gum Arabic	Increasing chemical stability in terms of chlorophylls and polyphenol contents and antioxidant activity	(Sánchez et al., 2016)
	Black raspberry anthocyanins	Gelatin/gum Arabic	36% increase of anthocyanins after 2 months at 37 $^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$	(Shaddel et al., 2017a)
Coacervation	Black raspberry anthocyanins	Gelatin/gum Arabic	48.57-70.10% retention after 60 days at 7 °C 12.92-23.66% retention after 60 days at 37 °C	(Shaddel et al., 2017b)
	Astaxanthin from shrimp waste	Gelatine/cashew gum	47% retention of the initial astaxanthin	(Gomez-Estaca et al., 2016)
	Capsanthin	Soybean Protein Isolate/chitosan	45.81-81.01% retention after 10 days at different RH 90.18-81.97% retention at different temperatures 85.84% and 62.91% retention after 10 days exposure	(Xiao et al., 2014)
	Ascorbic acid	Gelatine/gum Arabic	to dark and outdoor light 57-80% retention after 30 days at 20 °C 32-44% retention after 30 days at 37 °C	(Comunian et al., 2013)
	Carotenoids		Improving effect on the DPPH and FRAP activities of carotenoids Better protection with lutein and $\beta$ -carotene by lipid peroxidation assay	(Tan et al., 2014)
Liposomes	Green tea		No significant change on total phenolic content and antioxidant activity during one month storage of the processed compounds	(Dag and Oztop, 2017)
	Apigenin		High retention of the antioxidant properties of processed compounds	(Paini et al., 2015)
	Ascorbic acid		300-fold decrease in inhibition of ascorbic acid degradation	(Wechtersbach et al., 2012)

## Table 2.3 (continued) : Effects of microencapsulation techniques on the food antioxidants.
Applied Technique	Core material	- Wall material	Results	References
Liposomes	Eugenol α-lipoic acid	-	A slight decrease (6-13%) in the inhibition capacity of the eugenol and $\alpha$ -lipoic acid loaded liposomes	(Trucillo et al., 2018)
	Anthocyanin	-	Potential applications for functional foods and nutraceuticals	(Zhao et al., 2017)
Ionic gelation	Betalain	Sodium alginate sodium alginate-bovine serum albumin	The highest antiradical activity with calcium alginate beads is 88.5%	(Otálora et al., 2016)
	Yerba mate	Sodium alginate with/without corn starch	No significant effect of using starch filler in the antioxidant activities of beads	(López-Córdoba et al., 2014)
	Catechin	Pectin	1.8-fold higher FRAP value of entrapped catechin rather than free catechin	(Lee et al., 2009)
	Cocoa extract	Sodium alginate	Delayed release of polyphenols from internally produced beads	(Lupo et al., 2015)
	Dandelion extract	Sodium alginate, pectin and their whey protein blends	High retention of hydroxycinnamic acids (89.14%) with the combination of sodium alginate and whey protein	(Belščak-Cvitanović et al., 2016)
	Cocoa extract	Sodium alginate	60% retention of cocoa extract	(Lupo et al., 2014)
Chemical techniques				
	Chrysin	β-cyclodextrin	Enhanced antioxidant ability of chrysin in the inclusion with the increasing $\beta$ -CD concentration	(Chakraborty et al., 2010)
	Vanillin	β-cyclodextrin	Protection of vanillin inside the cavity of $\beta$ -CD from oxidation	(Karathanos et al., 2007)
	Quercetin	(2-hydroxypropyl)- cyclodextrin	129-fold increase in solubility of quercetin complexes; 85.6% retetion of quercetin in inclusion complex after 90 min radiation application, whereas 79.6% retention for uncomplexed quercetin	(Savic et al., 2015)
	Carvacrol	Hydroxypropyl- β - cyclodextrin	Lower antioxidant ability of carvacrol in the inclusion complexes	(Kamimura et al., 2014)

## **Table 2.3 (continued) :** Effects of microencapsulation techniques on the food antioxidants.



Figure 2.7 : Schematic diagram of spray drying.

This technology is applicable for an extensive range of food ingredients including flavors, colors, vitamins, minerals, fats and oils to prolong the shelf life stability against environmental conditions (Pillai et al., 2012).

A wide variety of food antioxidants have been encapsulated by spray drying method which were evaluated by means of total antioxidant capacity assays. Araujo-Díaz et al., (2017) studied the formation of microcapsulated blueberry juice by spray drying using inulin and maltodextrin as wall materials. The antioxidant activity of blueberry juice and blueberry juice loaded microcapsules were quantified by the content of resveratrol and quercetin 3-D-galactoside using HPLC. The results showed that there was a decrease in blueberry antioxidants after the spray drying process with both wall materials. In the case of using inulin, lower antioxidant concentration was obtained as 5.1 and 1.5%, for resveratrol and quercetin 3-D-galactoside, respectively; whereas, it was higher for maltodextrin as 21.1 and 28.5%. Results indicated that maltodextrin is a more effective wall material than inulin to coacerve the active materials in the microcapsule matrix due to the physicochemical properties of maltodextrin including amorphous microstructure. Similar trends were observed for microencapsulated pitanga juice in which the preservation efficiency of High Performance Agave Fructans (HPAF) and High Degree of Polymerisation Agave Fructans (HDPAF) were compared with the maltodextrin. The highest DPPH radical scavenging activity was found with maltodextrin based microcapsules as 59.53 mmol ET/100 g solid obtained under the conditions of 110 °C outlet air temperature and 1:6 core to wall material ratio, followed by HPAF as 53.38 mmol ET/100 g solid with 140 °C outlet air temperature and 1:6 core to wall material ratio (Ortiz-Basurto et al., 2017). It could be concluded that protection degree of the core material enhanced with the increasing proportion of the carrier agent. In addition to this, maltodextrin and fructants represent similar amorphous microstructures related with low water mobility which overcomes

the unfavorable biochemical reactions (Díaz et al., 2015). These outcomes are in agreement with the results reported by Ballesteros et al. (2017), who demonstrated that maltodextrin is superior against gum arabic and the mixture of both regarding phenolic and flavonoids, as well as their antioxidant activities.

In some studies, the impact of spray drying technique was discussed by means of antioxidant capacity as well as the total phenolic content. Correia, Grace, Esposito, and Lila et al. (2017) obtained particles of wild blueberry pomace extracts, which is rich in phenolic compounds, by spray drying, freeze drying, or vacuum oven drying using wheat flour, chickpea flour, coconut flour and soy protein isolate as encapsulating materials. It was clear that the soy protein isolate based microparticles obtained by spray drying showed the highest antioxidant capacity correlated with the anthocyanin content. Moreover, spray dried microparticles had higher storage stability in terms of total pheolic content (90% retention) during 16 weeks of storage period for both at 4 °C and 20 °C compared with other polyphenol-protein matrices (40% retention in chickpea flour+blueberry, vacuum oven dried). Sormoli and Langrish (2016) achieved 95% retention in total phenolic content and DPPH radical scavenging activity for orange peel extract encapsulated using whey protein isolate as encapsulants at 130 °C and 150 °C air inlet temperatures in comparison to the unprocessed core material. Mishra et al. (2014) reported the effect of spray drying conditions including drying temperature (125-200 °C) and maltodextrin concentration (5-9%) on physicochemical properties of amla microparticles. Results indicated a significant decrease in total phenolic content and DPPH radical scavenging activity of amla powders by increasing the drying temperature and maltodextrin concentration because of the adverse effect of higher temperatures on the phenolic structure and concentration impact of maltodextrin. Similarly, Jafari et al., (2017) demonstrated that increasing maltodextrin concentration in pomegranate juice loaded microparticles led to a decrease in the anthocyanin content, which is highly correlated with the antioxidant activity. These results stated the utilization of maltodextrin just as a tool during spray drying process (Khazaei et al., 2014). In contrast, Bazaria and Kumar (2016) revealed the high retention of betalain and DPPH radical scavenging activity of encapsulated beetroot juice betalains with increasing amount of maltodextrin.

The influence of spray drying technique on flavonoid contents of dried microparticles was also studied. A glance at the results reveals the high stability of encapsulated guava extracts with maltodextrin based on the total flavonoid content; whereas there was a small degradation (3%) in  $\beta$ -cyclodextrin based microparticles. However, DPPH radical scavenging activities of microparticles found to be 2.5 – 3 times lower than the concentrated guava extracts for both maltodextrin and  $\beta$ -cyclodextrin wall materials (Fernandes et al., 2014).

Agudelo et al., (2017) assessed phenolic and ascorbic acid contents of microparticles containing grapefruit generated by gum arabic and bamboo fiber as encapsulating materials. In this sense, spray drying process caused a significant decrease in the content of phenolic compounds (42% decrease), nevertheless the retention levels were still high (92-94%) for the ascorbic acid.

When the advantages of this technique is evaluated, this technique is considered as rapid, continuous, simple, economic, reproducible, and easy to scale up in comparison with other drying processes such as freeze drying, hot air fluidized bed, and flash drying etc. which require high energy consumption (Gong et al., 2014). Besides, solid particles with low moisture content and water activity in addition to their high efficiency, quality and safety properties obtained after the process possess higher chemical, physical and microbial stability owing to the fact that final drying step is not necessary in spray drying, whereas it is required for other common techniques (Gula et al., 2013).

Regardless of the numerous advantages displayed by this technology, relatively high drying temperatures can damage sensitive compounds such as lycopene,  $\beta$  - carotene, anthocyanins, vitamin C, colors and flavors. Additionally, low product yield is reported due to loss of dry particles in the wall of drying vessel (Zhu et al., 2014). Moreover, its lack of controlling the droplet size and shape leads to a broad range of size distribution (Dalmoro et al., 2012). Another limitation of this technique is related with the wall materials. Low water solubility of polysaccharides (alginate, carboxymethylcellulose, guar gum) and proteins (whey proteins, soy proteins, sodium caseinate) result with limitations in practice of spray drying because of the higher water and lower dry matter contents which would need larger evaporation (Desai and Jin Park, 2005). Besides, it is not easy to process sugar rich materials without using

any carrier agents because of their low glass transition temperature and stickiness behavior (Bhandari et al., 1997). So, in conclusion the use of this technique should be decided considering the factors such as the solubility and heat sensitivity of bioactive compounds to be encapsulated, chemical structure and nature of the wall material, presence of other components such as sugars, proteins, etc., as well as economic and time aspects.

#### 2.2.1.2 Lyophilization

Freeze drying, also known as lyophilization, is a multi-stage process that consists of freezing, sublimation (primary drying), desorption (secondary drying) and finally storage stages, resulting in a dry material (Laokuldilok and Kanha, 2015). The composition and structure of the wall material have a deep impact on the protection and controlled release of the core material (Young et al., 1993). Up to date, a plenty of food antioxidants have been encapsulated by freeze drying method. However, the effect of freeze drying process on food antioxidants in terms of antioxidant capacity were evaluated in few studies. Lowbush blueberry juice containing microcapsules using different wall materials such as hydroxypropyl- $\beta$ -cyclodextrin,  $\beta$ -cyclodextrin and maltodextrin obtained by freeze drying method were examined in terms of antioxidant activity by 2,2'-Azinobis 3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid (ABTS) radical scavenging assay, N, N-dimethyl-p-phenylenediamine dihydrochloride (DMPD) radical scavenging assay and ferric reducing/antioxidant power (FRAP) assay. Results showed a significant retention of the antioxidant activity after the encapsulation process. The highest antiradical activity was determined by cyclodextrin preparations as 105.21 and 104.55 µmol/L TE/g with ABTS; 1.83 and 1.80 mmol/L TE/g with DMPD; 79.70 and 67.28 mmol/L TE/g with FRAP for hydroxypropyl- $\beta$ cyclodextrin and  $\beta$ -cyclodextrin, respectively (Wilkowska et al., 2016). In another study, green tea polyphenols were encapsulated by maltodextrin,  $\beta$ -cyclodextrin and combination of both to ensure the effectiveness of these phytochemicals in terms of antioxidative activity against the conditions of high temperature and alkaline pH. Freeze dried microcapsules (IC50 value 54.77 - 60.26 µg/mL) exhibited higher DPPH radical scavenging activity in comparison with spray dried microcapsules (IC<sub>50</sub> value  $58.13 - 72.86 \ \mu g/mL$ ). Besides, wall material had also impact on the antioxidant activity and maltodextrin based microcapsules showed the highest rather than other wall materials used (Pasrija et al., 2015). On the other hand, wall materials had no

influence on the DPPH scavenging activity of gallic acid loaded microcapsules. Additionally, there was no significant difference of antioxidant activities between microencapsulated gallic acids (83.7 - 86.9%) and pure gallic acid (91.9%) (da Rosa et al., 2013). Similarly, Zheng, Ding, Zhang, and Sun (2011) carried out a study on free radical inhibition percentages of bayberry polyphenols in the presence of ethyl cellulose before and after microencapsulation process. According to the results, free radical inhibition percentages of the phenolic extract were found to be 75.35% for the pure extract and 83.13% for the encapsulated phenolic extract.

The influence of freeze drying technique on anthocyanin contents of dried microparticles was also studied. Yamashita et al., (2017) obtained microparticles of blackberry by-product extract, which is rich in anthocyanin content, by freeze drying using maltodextrin 10 and 20 dextrose equivalent (DE) as encapsulating adjuvants. Regarding anthocyanin content, a significant decline was obtained after microencapsulation process. After encapsulation of the extract, maltodextrin 10DE based microparticles (76%) showed better retention than maltodextrin 20DE based microparticles (68%). These results highlight the effect of DE on the retention of anthocyanins, in detail, larger mean diameter obtained by maltodextrin 10DE means smaller surface area for the possible degradation of the active material. Besides, Laokuldilok and Kanha (2015) investigated the influence of adjuvants with different DE values including enzymatically produced black glutinous rice maltodextrin 10, 20 and 30DE to encapsulate black glutinous rice bran anthocyanins. Results indicated that the average anthocyanin retention in the freeze dried powders was found to be 71.96 % and black glutinous rice maltodextrin 20DE showed the highest retention amoung other wall materials and also in comparison with commercial maltodextrin 10DE. On the other hand, Jafari et al., (2017) studied about the effect of wall materials in encapsulation process and revealed that there were no significant changes on the anthocyanin stability of saffron petal extract loaded dried powders including maltodextrin 20DE, maltodextrin 7-20DE mixture, gum Arabic-maltodextrin 20DE or gum Arabic-maltodextrin 20DE as wall materials. Besides, there was a 33% reduction in anthocyanin content of un-encapsulated extract after 10 weeks of storage, while there were no significant differences in microencapsulated powders after production as well as after 10 weeks of storage. In another study, enhanced monomeric anthocyanin content were found in freeze-dried encapsulated juice powder (67.5

mg/100 g) than in liquid cherry juices (23.5 mg/100 g). After 33 days of storage at 38 °C, % monomeric anthocyanin retention was maintained at around 90% in the powder; whereas it decreased to 11% in the liquid juices (Sanchez et al., 2015).

Ezhilarasi et al. (2013a) encapsulated Garcinia cowa fruit rinds, which are rich sources of (-)-hydroxycitric acid (HCA), in whey protein isolate, maltodextrin and the combination of whey protein isolate and maltodextrin (1:1) by freeze drying technique. The effectiveness of wall materials was compared for their impact on HCA recovery. Microencapsulation of Garcinia extract using freeze drying resulted with higher free (above 85%) and net (above 90%) HCA recovery.

The most significant advantage of freeze drying is that it is a simple process carried out at low operating temperature with the absence of air resulting in prolonged and superior quality products by preventing deteriorations caused by oxidation or chemical modification (Anwar and Kunz, 2011). Freeze drying is the most suitable techique for dehydration of almost all heat sensitive substances such as natural oils, colors, aromas, drugs as well as water soluble components (Desai & and Jin Park, 2005).

However, freeze drying technique has some drawbacks such as long process time (more than 20 h), high capital and operating costs in comparison to others. Porous structure of freeze dried powders due to the ice sublimation during the process is also one of the major limitation (Anandharamakrishnan et al., 2010). Because of the fact that freeze dried powders must be crushed or gound into fine powders after drying, problems related with the lack of control over the particle size can be encountered. Besides, the active material within the capsule matrix are exposed to the atmosphere from the pores on the particle surface (Baldwin et al., 2011). As a result, the nature of the material to be encapsulated such as its porous structure seems to be the most critical factor to be determined for the use of this technique in addition to its cost.

### 2.2.1.3 Supercritical Fluids Based Techniques

A supercritical fluid is a solvent at a temperature and pressure above its critical point (Tc, Pc) at which it possesses properties between those of liquids, such as density and high solvating power, and gases, such as low viscosity, high diffusivities as well as high mass transfer rates. Numerous compounds could be stated at supercritical conditions including carbon dioxide, water, propane, nitrogen, etc. (Gouin, 2004).

Among these, carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) is the most commonly used supercritical fluid due to its moderate critical conditions (Tc = 31.1 °C, Pc = 7.38 MPa). Therefore, it is possible to avoid any alteration in properties of thermolabile substances in the case of several applications, such as micronization, encapsulation, extraction (Santos and Meireles, 2010), impregnation of drugs in aerogel (De Marco and Reverchon, 2017), membranes and scaffolds production (Baldino et al., 2015).

Various techniques depending on the use of supercritical fluids have been increasingly studied for several applications by means of coprecipitation and encapsulation. Coprecipitation is depicted as the simultaneous carrying down of an active compound with a carrier (Patnaik and Dean, 2004). In coprecipitates, the compounds can be entrapped, chemically bonded, absorbed in a polymer matrix or encapsulated by a polymeric coating (Ranjit and Baquee, 2013).

Supercritical fluid based processes are generally classified into three categories, regarding the role of the supercritical fluid (Munin and Edwards-Lévy, 2011):

- As a solvent: Rapid Expansion of Supercritical Solutions (RESS) and derived processes,

- As an anti-solvent: Supercritical Anti Solvent (SAS) precipitation and derived processes,

- As a solute: Particles from Gas Saturated Solutions (PGSS) and derived processes.

In RESS process, solutes including active compound and polymer are dissolved in a supercritical fluid followed by the expansion of solution using a small nozzle into a lower pressure region (Figure 2.8). This results with the precipitation of solutes due to dramatic decrease in solvent power of supercritical fluids (Debenedetti et al., 1993).

SAS process is based on bringing into contact a supercritical fluid, which acts as an antisolvent, with a solution including organic solvent and solutes of interest by injecting into a pressurized chamber through a nozzle (Sosa et al., 2011) (Figure 2.4). In contact with the solution, the supercritical fluid decreases the solubility of the solutes in the atomized particles, leading to their supersaturation, nucleation and formation of nano- or microparticles. Then, the organic solvent is eliminated from the particles under a continuous flow of supercritical fluid (Visentin et al., 2012). It is

possible to produce coprecipitates or microcapsules in a single step using a polymer and active compound soluble in the same solvent (Mattea et al., 2009).



Figure 2.8 : Schematic diagram of the (a) RESS, (b) SAS and (c) PGSS apparatus.

PGSS is a process that includes the saturation of a solute with a supercritical fluid, followed by expansion through an atomization nozzle of this gas-saturated solution causing the formation of solid particles due to the cooling effect occurred by the release of the supercritical fluid (Mattea et al., 2009).

The encapsulation characteristics including morphology, particle size and encapsulation efficiency could be optimized by controlling the process parameters and formulations, such as pressure, temperature, supercritical fluid flow rate, supercritical fluid/solution ratio, overall concentration of solution and polymer/active compound ratio (Martín et al., 2007).

Coprecipitated microparticles can be successfully used in agricultural, biomedical, pharmaceutical, food and cosmetic fields in order to protect oxygen, heat or light sensible compounds against degradation and oxidation; to enhance solubility of poorly water solubles; to mask sensory properties such as color, taste and odor of the active substances as well as to achieve a controlled delivery of the active ingredients (De Marco et al., 2013).

Montes et al., (2016) carried out a study about the formation of spherical rutin submicroparticles by SAS precipitation. The effect of SAS process on the solubility of rutin was quantified by following up the dissolution profiles of raw rutin and SAS processed particles in simulated gastric (SGF) and intestinal fluids (SIF). Results indicated that SAS processed particles completely dissolved after 3 min, whereas only 30 and 40% of the rutin dissolved in SGF and SIF. Furthermore, Xu and Luo (2014) acquired 2 times higher dissolution rates after 20 min comparing the micronized with unprocessed genistein. Additionaly, precipitates of ethanolic yarrow extract, which possesses high phenolic content related with the antioxidant activity, were produced using SAS technique. In the range of operating conditions studied, 3-fold increase in the phenolic compound concentration was covered with precipitated particles in comparison with the pure ethanolic varrow extract (Villanueva-Bermejo et al., 2017). Natolino et al. (2016) also studied on micronization by SAS technology aiming to fabricate polyphenols containing precipitates from ethanolic grape marc extract. The results of this research highlighted the 250-350% increase of the total phenolic content in SAS precipitates in comparison with unprocessed extract. Chinnarasu et al. (2015) procured an antioxidant activity index equal to 1.35 for olive leave extract precipitated

using SAS technique, which is the value higher than those obtained as 0.32 for the unprocessed extract.

The micronization and coprecipitation of quercetin particles with ethyl cellulose (EC) was performed with SAS process. The antioxidant activity of unprocessed quercetin, the micronized quercetin particles and the quercetin/EC coprecipitates was analyzed by DPPH assay after one year of storage in darkness at room temperature (25 °C) and after 20 days of exposure to visible light at room temperature (25 °C). Results showed that unprocessed and micronized quercetin particles were prone to oxidation during storage in visible light at room temperature. However, the quercetin/EC coprecipitates did not show any reduction in the antioxidant activity in both during a year of storage at darkness and exposing to the visible light (Fernández-Ponce et al., 2015). Besides, Mezzomo et al. (2016) obtained coprecipitated particles of grape pomace extract, which is rich in antioxidants, by SAS process using poly (-lactic-coglycolic acid) to investigate the stability of SAS particles by comparing with crude extract. Results demonstrated higher stability of extract released from the particles rather than crude extract, unveiling the protective impact of the SAS process as well as to make use of a polymer as coprecipitate. Similarly, the enhanced stability of active material with the presence of a polymer in coprecipitates was proved by Prosapio et al. (2015). Folic acid integrity was found equal to 88%, comparing micronized folic acid (FA) with unprocessed FA; besides, 95% folic acid integrity was obtained comparing with coprecipitated particles including polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP)-folic acid (FA) and the unprocessed physical mixture of PVP+FA. Moreover, pure precipitated and coprecipitated particles of rosemary extract using a polymer of Pluronic F88 and 127 by SAS process were examined in terms of dissolution rate. A glance at the results revealed the high dissolution rate, as 1 hour, of the phenolic content from the coprecipitated product, while only 15% of the phenolics of the pure precipitated dissolved after 8 hours (Visentin et al., 2012). Cheng et al. (2017) studied the stability of encapsulated particles of lycopene, obtained by SAS process using  $\alpha$ -tocopherol, during 28 days of storage at 25, 4 and -20 °C. According to the results, lycopene retention of encapsulated particles was found to be 84,1; 90,2 and 97,1% after storage at 25, 4 and -20 °C, respectively. In contrast, non-encapsulated lycopene completely degraded after storage at 25 and 4 °C, whereas 27.2% retention was determined after -20 °C.

Regardless of the supercritical methods in which supercritical fluid is used as an antisolvent, there are also few studies based on RESS and PGSS technologies. Santos et al. (2013) obtained coprecipitated particles of jabuticaba extract, which is rich in anthocyanins, by RESS method using polyethyleneglycol, indicating enhanced stability against light and temperature comparing with the free extract. On the other hand, de Paz et al. (2012) presented a study related with the formation of coprecipitates with  $\beta$ -carotene and poly-( $\epsilon$ -caprolactone) using PGSS process. According to the results, diminished  $\beta$ -carotene content was obtained with coprecipitated particles; additionally, the highest  $\beta$ -carotene concentrations were ensured with increasing pressure and temperature conditions.

There is an increasing interest in using supercritical CO<sub>2</sub> (SC- CO<sub>2</sub>) as a result of its nontoxicity, non-flammability, low price and easy removal from the final product by simple depressurization (Reverchon and Adami, 2006). Techniques assisted by supercritical fluids have become an efficient alternative to overcome some of the disadvantages of conventional processes: poor control of particle size and morphology, degradation and lost of biological activity of thermo sensitive compounds, low encapsulation efficiency and low precipitation yield (Santos and Meireles, 2010). Moreover, these technologies have potential advantages as avoiding complex purification steps during post-processing; indeed, in traditional precipitation the organic solvents have to be post precessed, whereas supercritical fluids enable the removal of solvent out of the droplets resulting in solvent-free particles (Martín et al., 2007). On the other hand, the only limiting factor of supercritical techniques is related with the selection of the supercritical process based on the solubility of the active material to be encapsulated and polymer matrix in the supercritical fluid (Bahrami and Ranjbarian, 2007).

### 2.2.1.4 Solvent Evaporation

Solvent evaporation is defined as solvent removal from an emulsion consisting of a polymer volatile organic solvent in water (Poncelet, 2006). This technique is based on four major steps: (i) dissolution of polymer as coating and active compound in an organic solvent to form a suspension, an emulsion or a solution; (ii) emulsification of the organic phase (dispersed phase) in an aqueous phase (continuous phase) by stirring, static mixing, extrusion or dripping; (iii) solvent removal by evaporation or liquid

extraction and (iv) recovery of particles by filtration or centrifugation and drying of the microspheres (Hwisa et al., 2013). Several process variables could influence the formation of microsphere such as the nature of the solvent, volume of the solvent, polymer concentration, emulsifier type and concentration, rate of solvent removal, addition of buffer or salts to the internal or external phase, phase volume ratio and temperature (Tiwari and Verma, 2011).

Solvent evaporation technique could be classified as solvent evaporation (emulsification-evaporation) including oil-in-water emulsions, multiple emulsions such as water-in-oil-in-water and nonaqueous emulsions, and solvent extraction (emulsification-extraction). The solvent evaporation method has attracted attention, due to its characteristics including use of mild conditions, ease of use and scale-up, lower residual solvent and no change on the activity of bioactive compounds (Hwisa et al., 2013). This method has been used to prepare polylactide, poly (lactic-co-glycolic) acid, polymethyl methacrylate, dimethylaminoborane, ethylcellulose, polyethylene glycol, polycaprolactone, eudragit, polyvinylic alcohol and kafirine based matrices (Munin and Edwards-Lévy, 2011).

Although this technique is well defined for its use in nanoparticle production and the investigations on drugs, as the methodology, there are only few studies about the impacts of the microencapsulation process on the food antioxidants. Lee et al. (2007) studied the formation of quercetin loaded particles by polyol-in-oil-in-polyol emulsion solvent evaporation method using polymethyl methacrylate as the wall material. Quercetin retention of free quercetin and quercetin loaded particles were quantified after 28 days of storage at 42 °C. Results indicated a significant retention of quercetin after the encapsulation process (82%), whereas it was 18% for the free form. However, as there is lacking information on the effect of this technique, future studies are required.

### 2.2.2 Physico-chemical methods

### 2.2.2.1 Coacervation

Coacervation technique can be defined as a colloidal phenomenon that involves liquid – liquid phase separation of a single or a mixture of two oppositely charged polymers in aqueous solution triggered by electrostatic interactions, hydrogen bonding,

hydrophobic interactions, polarization-induced attractive interactions as well as chemical or enzymatic cross-linker agents including glutaraldehyde or transglutaminase (Xiao et al., 2014) (Figure 2.9). The power of the interaction between the biopolymers depends on various factors such as the biopolymer type (molar mass, flexibility, and charge), pH, ionic strength, concentration, and the ratio of the biopolymers (Turgeon et al., 2007).

The process of coacervation may be either simple or complex depending on the number of polymer used (Ezhilarasi et al., 2013b). While simple coacervation involves only one type of polymer with the addition of strong hydrophilic agents to the colloidal solution, complex coacervation is produced by mixing two or more polymers types for wall formation around an active core. In detail, complex coacervation method is carried out firstly preparation of an emulsion dispersing a core material into an aqueous polymer solution. Then, it is followed by wrapping of that phase as a uniform layer around the core material by adding the second aqueous solution promoted by the addition of salt, changing the pH, temperature or dilution of the medium. Finally, stabilization of the microcapsules by cross linking, desolvation or thermal treatment (Gaonkar et al., 2014). Soluble, aggregated or precipitated complexes are obtained after filtration or centrifugation applied to obtain these microcapsules, followed by washing with an appropriate solvent and drying (Livney, 2008).



Figure 2.9 : Fabrication of microencapsules by complex coacervation.

A large numbers of coating materials have been evaluated for simple coacervation including gelatin, alginate, chitosan, glucan, and cellulose derivatives and for complex coacervation including gelatin/gum arabic, gelatin/caroboxymethyl cellulose, alginate/polylysine, alginate/chitosan, albumin/gum arabic, and glucan/cellulose

derivatives. The most studied coating system is gelatin/gum arabic in which gelatin is used as a a positive polyelectrolyte and gum arabic is used as a negative polyelectrolyte (Dubey, 2009).

Coacervation has been widely used for the encapsulation of lipophilic materials such as turmeric oleoresin (Zuanon et al., 2013), palm oil and  $\beta$ -carotene (Rutz et al., 2016), lycopene (Silva et al., 2012), lutein (Qv et al., 2011), vitamin E (Alencastre et al., 2006); however the process has also potential for encapsulation of hydrophilic substances (Comunian et al., 2013).

The effects of the coacervation process on food antioxidants have been investigated in some of the studies. Jain et al., (2016) studied the formation of microcapsulated  $\beta$ carotene by complex coacervation using casein and gum tragacanth as wall materials. The antioxidant activity of free  $\beta$ -carotene and freeze dried carotene loaded microcapsules were measured by means of 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) method up to 3 months to examine the impact of encapsulation of  $\beta$ -carotene. Results showed that there was a significant difference after 3 months in the percent scavenging activity of free  $\beta$ -carotene and freeze dried  $\beta$ -carotene loaded microcapsules, indicating that the prolonged stability of  $\beta$ -carotene was quite functionalized within the complex microcapsule matrix. Moreover, the same research group carried out a study to overcome poor water solubility and low stability properties of  $\beta$ -carotene by complex coacervation technique using whey protein isolate and gum acacia. Then, they evaluated the microcapsules in terms of percent scavenging activity using DPPH assay. According to the results, there was a significant difference after 3 months in the percent scavenging activity of free  $\beta$ -carotene and freeze dried  $\beta$ -carotene loaded microcapsules and it is clear that the antioxidant activity of  $\beta$ -carotene could be maintained by using micro-carriers for long time storage (Jain et al., 2015).

Sánchez et al., (2016) obtained microencapsulated broccoli particles, which are rich in chlorophyll content, by complex coacervation using gelatin/gum arabic as encapsulating materials to enhance its chemical stability. It was found that microencapsulation process enabled to preserve the chlorophyll content ( $10.00 \pm 0.13$  mg/kg), total phenolics content (4.33 mg 3,4-dihydroxybenzoic acid/g), and antioxidant activity ( $21.65\pm0.88$  mg trolox/g) of broccoli.

Besides, black raspberry anthocyanins were investigated in terms of their storage stability for 60 days at different temperatures after applying double emulsion prior to complex coacervation using gelatin/gum arabic as wall materials. The coacervation process was studied as a function of wall and the core material ratios, the concentration of polymer solutions and pH values. Results demonstrated high retention of microencapsulated anthocyanins (up to 36%) after 2 months of storage at 37 °C (Shaddel et al., 2017a), which have similar trends that were observed as 48.57-70.10% and 12.92-23.66% retention of black raspberry anthocyanins after 60 days of storage at 7 °C and 37 °C, respectively (Shaddel et al., 2017b). It was also found that astaxanthin from shrimp waste was prevented (47% retention) from degradation when encapsulated by complex coacervation in a gelatine/cashew gum matrix (Gomez-Estaca et al., 2016).

Xiao et al. (2014) obtained 45.81-81.01% retention after 10 days at different relative humidity values (33, 58, 68 and 98%), 90.18-81.97% retention at different temperatures (60, 80 and 100 °C) as well as 85.84% and 62.91% retention after 10 days exposure to dark and outdoor light for capsanthin encapsulated using complex coacervation with soybean protein isolate/chitosan as encapsulants.

On the other hand, ascorbic acid was evaluated as a core material within gelatine/gum arabic matrix which was acquired by complex coacervation technique. A glance at the results reveals the high stability with 57-80% and 32-44% retention of encapsulated materials after 30 days of storage at 20 and 37 °C, respectively (Comunian et al., 2013).

Coacervation technique is superior to the other microencapsulation techniques because of its high loading capacity, low temperature, reduced evaporation losses or thermal degradation and compatibility to control the release of active materials (Taneja and Singh, 2012). Furthermore, a specific equipment is not required for its implementation (Gomez-Estaca et al., 2016) and it has simple preparation conditions such as non-toxic solvent and low agitation utilization (Jain et al., 2016). On the other hand, high cost of the particle isolation procedure and complexity of the technique should also be taken into account (Gouin, 2004).

#### 2.2.2.2 Liposomes

Liposomes are vesicles consisting of single or multiple bilayers mainly composed of phospholipids which have both hydrophilic head and hydrophobic tail groups. Lamellar aggregates are carried out by the simple dispersion of phospholipids in water, while typical spherical shape of liposomes are obtained with the use of sufficient energy which is supplied by solvent evaporation, electroformation, thin film dehydratation/rehydratation, proliposome, membrane extrusion, dialysis, ultrasonication and high-pressure homogenization (Reza Mozafari et al., 2008) as well as superlip process (supercritical assisted liposome formation) (Trucillo et al., 2018). Size and structure of the liposomes depends on the composition, preparation method, and environmental conditions (Reza Mozafari et al., 2008).

Microencapsulation by liposomes has been investigated for drug delivery, cosmetics, pharmaceuticals and food industry (Reza Mozafari et al., 2008). With regard to food applications, it has a great inherent potential for encapsulating flavorings, essential oils, amino acids, vitamins, minerals, colorants, enzymes, microorganisms, antioxidants, antimicrobial agents, preservatives, and omega-3-fatty acid (Reza Mozafari et al., 2008).

Liposomes have been used for the evaluation of antioxidant properties of several lipophilic and hydrophilic antioxidants against oxidants. For example, in the study about carotenoids including lycopene,  $\beta$ -carotene, lutein, and canthaxanthin loaded liposomes delivery system, the process of encapsulation was examined by measuring the antioxidant activities using 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH), ferric reducing antioxidant powder (FRAP) and lipid peroxidation (LPIC) assays. Results demonstrated that encapsulation process improves the antioxidant activities of carotenoids measured with the DPPH and FRAP assays. Moreover, the highest antioxidant activity was observed with lutein, followed by  $\beta$ -carotene, lycopene, and canthaxanthin by incorporation into liposomes. According to the lipid peroxidation assay, lutein and  $\beta$ -carotene showed better protection against pro-oxidation, while it was weak for lycopene and canthaxanthin (Tan et al., 2014). Dag and Oztop (2017) carried out an experiment on green tea extract loaded liposomes to analyze the effect of encapsulation process on the stability of catechins. There was no significant change on the total phenolic content as well as antioxidant activity during one-month storage

of processed compounds. Similarly, the apigenin amount was preserved after the encapsulation process by liposome vesicles, which has been applied to overcome apigenin's low solubility and stability; the retention of the antioxidant properties of processed compounds was testified by calorimetric measurements (Paini et al., 2015). Furthermore, Wechtersbach et al. (2012) indicated up to 300-fold decrease in the inhibition of ascorbic acid degradation for co-encapsulation of citric and ascorbic acids into liposomes.

In another study, Trucillo et al. (2018) aimed to preserve beneficial effects of amphiphilic (eugenol) and a lipophilic ( $\alpha$ -lipoic acid) antioxidants in liposome vesicles through a supercritical CO<sub>2</sub> assisted process. It was obtained that there was only a slight decrease (6-13%) in the inhibition capacity of the eugenol and  $\alpha$ -lipoic acid loaded liposomes with respect to the unprocessed compounds. Hence, it could be concluded that the antioxidant power of eugenol and  $\alpha$ -lipoic acid was protected after processing. Zhao et al. (2017) also utilized supercritical CO2 to generate liposomes for anthocyanin encapsulation and indicated the potential applications for functional foods and nutraceutical applications.

As an encapsulation system, the structural properties of liposomes arise from their ability of entrapping hydrophilic, lipophilic, and amphiphilic molecules (da Silva et al., 2010). Other unique properties of liposomes are their high bioavailability, biocompatibility, biodegradability, and high cell membrane permeability (Slingerland et al., 2012).

Regardless of the advantages displayed by this technology, the main limitations in liposome encapsulation are scaling up of the process at acceptable cost levels, poor physical and chemical stability, a wide range of particle size distributions, lipid oxidation (Tan and Misran, 2013) and the necessity of complex post-treatment steps (Trucillo et al., 2018). In summary, even though this method provides high bioavailability of the bioactive compound their low physical and chemical stability should be considered during its application.

#### 2.2.2.3 Ionic Gelation

Ionic gelation is one of the microencapsulation techniques based on the ability of crosslinking polyelectrolytes in the presence of multivalent ions such as  $Ca^{2+}$ ,  $Ba^{2+}$  and  $Al^{3+}$  (Yeo et al., 2001) and can be applied by either extrusion or emulsification/gelation (Lupo et al., 2015). Extrusion is the most common method to fabricate spherical gel particles by the way of dripping an aqueous polymer solution through a syringe needle or a nozzle into a  $CaCl_2$  containing gelling bath (Paques et al., 2014). Emulsification/gelation method basically involves the production of an emulsion including hydrophobic active component in a polymer solution, then dripping into the calcium solution (Paques et al., 2014). Encapsulation by gelation technique could be carried out externally or internally. In external gelation,  $Ca^{2+}$  ions diffuse from an external source into the polymer solution is added dropwise into the polymer solution in internal gelation method, which results in the production of an aqueous-core calcium alginate capsules (Funami et al., 2009).

Alginate, chitosan, pectin, konjac, gellan gum, carboxymethyl cellulose are the polymers employed in cross linked gelling systems. In this context, alginate is the most commonly used polymer owing to its non-toxic, biodegradable and biocompatible properties as well as superior gelling properties under safe and mild conditions (Leong et al., 2016a).

Alginates have a wide range of applications including enzyme immobilization and controlled release of drugs. Otálora et al. (2016) studied the formation of betalain loaded beads by external ionic gelation using sodium alginate and the combination of sodium alginate-bovine serum albumin as wall materials. Antiradical activity of cactus betalain extract and cactus betalain extract containing beads were quantified after 25 days of storage at different conditions (25-50 °C/34.6-84.3% RH). The results showed that betalain retention was related with the type of matrix used in the beads and RH values. In detail, betalain retention diminished with the increase in moisture content. Antiradical activity in calcium alginate beads were the highest as 88.5%, whereas it was 80.6% for calcium alginate-bovine serum albumin beads at the best storage conditions of 34.6% RH at 25 °C, which are the values significantly greater than the cactus pulp extract as the control sample (75.1%). Similarly, yerba mate extracts were

encapsulated into alginate matrix, which contains corn starch as a filler material to enhance the structural properties, using external ionic gelation method to analyze the effect of gelation on antioxidant activity values of beads. It was reported that there was no significant effect of using starch filler in the antioxidant activities of beads. It could be concluded that there were no interactions between yerba mate polyphenols and the encapsulating matrix, thus the encapsulation method used did not alter the antioxidant activities (López-Córdoba et al., 2014).

In contrast, Lee et al. (2009) investigated the *in vitro* antioxidant activity of catechin loaded pectin matrix, produced by internal ionic gelation method, in a simulated intestinal fluid. The FRAP value of entrapped catechin increased continuously and finally reached a 1.8-fold higher value than that of free catechin, demonstrating the unstable property of catechin in an alkaline environment. On the other hand, Lupo et al. (2015) investigated the influence of two mechanisms including external and internal ionic gelation on the release of polyphenols from the alginate beads loaded with cocoa extract. Beads prepared by internal gelation displayed delayed release of polyphenols due to more homogeneous and compact structure.

Generally, emulsification/internal gelation has been suggested as an alternative due to its higher entrapment efficiency of bioactives than in case of extrusion/external gelation. In this context, hydrophilic polyphenols from dandelion extract and lipophilic  $\beta$ -carotene compounds were encapsulated in hydrogels based on sodium alginate, pectin and their whey protein blends by emulsification/internal gelation method. These results reveal that the combination of alginate with whey protein as the carrier matrix was superior due to its high retention of hydroxycinnamic acids (89.14%), accounting the descending diffusivity of polyphenols through the calcium alginate matrix as well as interactions between protein-polysaccharide and protein-polyphenol inside the bead structure (Belščak-Cvitanović et al., 2016). Lupo et al. (2014) also carried out an experiment regarding to emulsification/internal gelation method and found 60% retention of cocoa extract in sodium alginate based microspheres.

To conclude, emulsification/internal gelation method is proposed as an alternative to extrusion/external gelation for operating high quality microspheres with small diameters (Ahmed et al., 2013).

#### 2.2.3 Chemical methods

#### 2.2.3.1 Interfacial polymerization

Wall formation in this technique is characterized by polymerization, in which hydrophilic and lipophilic monomers interface at an oil-water emulsion and react to form a polymeric membrane on the surface of the droplet or particle (Yeo et al., 2001) (Figure 2.10). Due to the fact that this type of polymerization does not require catalysts and be empowered at low temperature, the interfacial polymerization technique can be applied for microcapsule preparation (Ichiura et al., 2005). The yield and quality of the polymeric membrane fabricated by this technique could be optimized by controlling the process parameters including the monomer concentrations, temperature, mixing rate, as well as the reaction time (Mathiowitz, 1999). Mainly four types of polymerization, consisting of polyamides, polyurethanes, polyureas and polyesters (Perignon et al., 2015).



Figure 2.10 : Microcapsule formation by interfacial polymerisation.

Interfacial polymerization technique has potential advantages including possible control of capsule mean size and membrane thickness, high loading of active compound, versatile and stable mechanical and chemical properties of the membrane, low cost, easy to scale-up, simplicity and reliability of the process (Perignon et al., 2015). On the other hand, there are also some factors limiting the application of this technique. Indeed, it is difficult the production of large oil-water interface, where proteins or enzymes are prone to inactivation, altering biological activities of proteins in large amounts during polymerization reaction. This technique is lack of control on the polymerization characteristics including yield and quality of the polymer membrane. Additionally, requiring washing steps to remove monomers, by-products, organic solvents and surfactants, leading to loss of water soluble active substances as well as harm to acid labile actives by means of HCl by-product formation resulting

with a change in pH are other drawbacks of interfacial polymerization (Yeo et al., 2001). Relatively harsh initial conditions (high pH, toxic monomers, solvents and reaction products) for formulations delimitate the applications on the microencapsulation of active compounds (Perignon et al., 2015).

#### 2.2.3.3 Molecular inclusion complexation

Molecular inclusion is an encapsulation technique which takes place at molecular level, consisting of entrapment of the guest (active) compound by a host (polymer) through physicochemical forces, such as hydrogen bonding, van der Waals forces or hydrophobic interactions (Marques, 2010). These complexes are formed through a reaction which takes place only in the presence of water (Desai and Jin Park, 2005). The most common "host" molecules are cyclodextrins (CDs), which are composed of a hydrophilic external part and an internal hydrophobic part. The guest molecule in apolar character could be entrapped into the apolar internal cavity by means of hydrophobic interactions (Pagington, 1986) (Figure 2.11).



Figure 2.11 : A schematic drawing of molecular inclusion complexation.

Cyclodextrins, chemically and physically stable molecules, are produced by the enzymatic modification of starch and consisting of six ( $\alpha$ -cyclodextrin), seven ( $\beta$ -cyclodextrin), eight ( $\gamma$ -cyclodextrin) or more glucopyranose units linked by  $\alpha$ -(1,4) bonds (Karathanos et al., 2007). Only the first three cyclodextrins are generally recognized as safe by the United States Food and Drug Administration (López-Córdoba et al., 2014). There are three methods for fabricating the active-  $\beta$  -cyclodextrin complex. In the first method,  $\beta$ -cyclodextrin is dissolved in water and the actives are added to form an inclusion complex in crystalline form. In the first method to form a concentrated suspension and the actives are mixed to form an inclusion complex in crystalline form.

lower water content to form a paste and the actives are mixed during kneading to form an inclusion complex. The third method is superior due to the fact that it does not demand post-process applications, whereas the last step of former two methods is based on further separation and drying (Pagington, 1986).

A large number of poorly water-soluble molecules was entrapped in cyclodextrins in order to achieve high stability for food antioxidants. Chakraborty et al., (2010) studied the production of inclusion including entrapment of chrysin, which is a naturally occuring flavone, into  $\beta$ -CD as a drug delivery vehicle. The antioxidant activity of unprocessed active compound and inclusions were quantified by ABTS scavenging assay. The results indicated that inclusion complexes obtained in this study are based on van der Waal's interaction and hydrogen bonding. Additionally, the antioxidant ability of chrysin in the inclusion enhanced with increasing  $\beta$ -CD concentration. These results are in agreement with Karathanos et al., (2007) who reported that complexes of vanillin inside the cavity of  $\beta$ -CD not only allowed the active compound to be more soluble in water, but also protected from oxidation.

Savic et al. (2015) aimed to investigate the solubility and photostability of quercetin by forming an inclusion complex with (2-hydroxypropyl)-  $\beta$ -CD under the simpler operating conditions. A glance at the results revealed a 129-fold increase in the solubility of quercetin complexes. Moreover, while the quercetin content in the inclusion complex decreased to 85.6%, it was determined to be 79.6% for noncomplexed quercetin, after exposing to radiation for 90 min. In contrast, Kamimura et al. (2014) showed that carvacrol, which possesses high antioxidant activity, upon inclusion into hydroxypropyl-  $\beta$ -CD cavity comprised lower antioxidant activity, indicating inclusion complexes prevailed dimished amount of scavenging the free radicals.

The application of CD-assisted molecular encapsulation in foods has advantages not only for the protection of active ingredients against oxidation, heat and light-induced decompositions (Li and McGuffin, 2007) and to prolong the shelf-life of the products by control release of active substances, but also leading to enhance dissolution rate and bioavailability of guest compounds. Inclusion complexes have also been used for the encapsulation of volatile organic molecules, for masking of odors or flavors, or preservation of aromas (Ezhilarasi et al., 2013b). The efficiency of the molecular inclusion could be controlled by the process parameters such as the geometric compatibility between compounds, the structure, charge and polarity of the guest and the host cavity as well as the solvent and the inclusion temperature (Astray et al., 2009).

# 2.3 Effects of Encapsulation on the Bioaccessibility and Bioavailability of Phenolic Compounds

The dynamic market of so called 'superfoods' grows steadily worldwide and offers new health-improving products regularly, although some of these foods evolved into established products or food additives e.g. Goji berries and Chia seeds, which are available in each supermarket (Wetters et al., 2018). While the demand for superfoods and healthier foods arose over the last years, the positive relation between nutrition and health become more and more pronounced and forces the development of these kind of products (Tichy et al., 2020). Moreover, the individual-related and specific nutrient supply, especially for the elderly, comes into focus. In 2050, nearly 16% of the world population will be aged over 65, whereby the demand for personalized functional foods will be increased in parallel as the population ages (Jafari and McClements, 2017).

Despite of the market growth in functional and healthier foods, their beneficial effects are controversially discussed e.g. as reviewed by Marian (2017). In this review, nutrition studies with healthy humans consuming dietary supplements were summarized. Conclusively, most of the studies showed health-improving effects induced by the supplements, but rather at high doses which are unusual for the dietary intake (Marian, 2017). For example, one of these food supplements is resveratrol, a naturally occuring phytoalexin, that is synthesized in plants e.g. grapes, as a response to injuries (Pannu and Bhatnagar, 2019). Resveratrol, as a food additive, possess various health promoting effects including high antioxidant and anti-inflammatory potential, anticarcinogenicity in breast and liver tissue, prevention of osteoporosis, improving ischemic diseases and muscle regeneration, etc. (Weiskirchen and Weiskirchen, 2016; De Vries et al., 2018). Unfortunately, these health-improving effects have been mainly analyzed in cell culture studies or preclinical models, which makes the application of effective concentrations and substances more difficult on humans (Weiskirchen and Weiskirchen, 2016). For example, the functionality of

resveratrol is limited owing to its low bioavailability (Pannu and Bhatnagar, 2019). While the solubility of resveratrol in aqueous solutions is 3 mg/L, the solubility is enhanced to 50 g/L in ethanol, which results in a higher uptake and plasma concentration of resveratrol with lipophilic-based food matrix. Besides, the bioavailability is too low to reach effective doses up to 1 g/day only by consumption of resveratrol-containing food. Theoretically, the consumption of about 3,500 L of rose wine, 2,600 kg of white grapes, up to 35,000 kg of peanuts or 2,500 kg of apples per day were found to be necessary to reach these daily intake doses (Weiskirchen and Weiskirchen, 2016).

These results illustrate the need of developing new delivery systems for bioactive compounds, which show low bioavailability values (Brglez Mojzer et al., 2016), by altering the molecular structure or the physiochemical characteristics of polyphenols (De Vries et al., 2018). The pharmaceutical industry developed technologies to improve drug delivery systems, which could be transferred to the food industry and may be also helpful for nanoscale delivery systems for food products (Jafari and McClements, 2017). The encapsulation of these compounds using nanoparticles, nanodelivery carrier or various emulsions could protect them against enzymatic degradation during digestion and increase the intestinal uptake, resulting in a higher gut concentration as well as increased plasma levels of encapsulated food additives (Kumari et al., 2010).

The purpose of the present review is to ensure a critical assessment based on the effects of different lipid-based encapsulation techniques on the retention of phenolic compounds. In order to achieve this purpose, studies investigating the effect of encapsulation on the bioaccessibility and bioavailability of bioactive compounds were covered.

#### 2.3.1 Overview of phenolic compounds bioaccessibility/bioavailability

Phenolic substances are secondary metabolites which are present in a wide variety of foods such as fruits, vegetables, cereals, horticultural crops, legumes, chocolate, etc. and in beverages, i.e. tea, coffee (Shahidi and Ambigaipalan, 2015). Polyphenols with at least one aromatic ring and one or more hydroxyl groups can be categorized primarily as flavonoids and non-flavonoids. Basic structure of the common classes of flavonoids and non-flavonoids are shown in Figure 2. 12. Flavonoids, as the most

widespread and diverse group of polyphenols, can be further subdivided into flavonols (myricetin, quercetin, rutin, kaempferol etc.), flavones (aspigenin, luteolin, tangeretin etc.), flavanones (hesperetin, hesperidin, naringenin etc.), isoflavones (genistein, daidzein etc.) and anthocyanins (cyanidin, delphinidin, malvidin, pelargonidin etc.) depending on the degree of hydroxylation, methoxylation, prenylation and glycosylation (Gonzales et al., 2014). Non-flavonoids include diverse classes of polyphenols, such as stilbenes (resveratrol), lignans, hydrolyzable tannins and phenolic acids (hydroxybenzoic acids and hydroxycinnamic acids) (Esfanjani et al., 2018).

Phenolic compounds have been used for the production of functional foods due to their several benefits to human health through antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, anticancer, anti-obesity, antiviral, antibacterial, antiaging and/or antiallergenic activities (Bao et al., 2019). *In vitro* studies reported that flavonoids showed a high anticancer potential by inhibition of the proliferation, metastasis and angiogenesis of tumor cell lines, while the process of apoptotic cell death was activated. Such beneficial effects were also detected in mice fed with citrus peel extract, rich in phenolic compounds. The skin and colon carcinogenesis as well as the tumor size and volume of mice suffering from prostate cancer was significantly reduced in treated animals. In addition to the health-improving effects of a phenolic-enriched extract, specific effects of each individual phenolic compound can also be allocated; such as an anti-inflammatory potential of tangeretin and sinensetin or the suitability of hesperidin as an antioxidant (Koolaji et al., 2020).

Bioaccessibility and bioavailability of phenolic compounds are the main factors which effect the biofunctional properties and possible beneficial effects. Bioaccessibility as a clue of release and solubility of bioactive compounds during gastrointestinal digestion for further uptake, is a considerable factor for bioavailability (Parada andAguilera, 2007). Furthermore, various external and internal factors are also determinants on the bioavailability of phenolic compounds. The external factors comprise the nature of the bioactive agent including solubility, crystallinity etc. as well as the composition and structure of the food matrix, whereas the internal factors include gender, age, health, nutrient status, and life phase (Heaney, 2001).



Figure 2.12 : Basic structure of (a) common classes of flavonoids and (b) nonflavonoid-type phenolic compounds.

Several approaches have been used to enhance the bioaccessibility and bioavailability of bioactive ingredients, including chemical modifications of the molecules, dosing formulations, combination with other dietary components as well as incorporating them within micro-/nanoparticle delivery systems (Yang et al., 2008). A rapid dissolution of bioactive compounds within the gastrointestinal tract could be achieved by the relatively high surface area of these systems (Erfanian et al., 2014). Consequently, there is a great attempt to develop phenolic compound loaded micro/nano-scale delivery systems by pharmaceutical and food industries.

# 2.3.2 Improving the bioaccessibility of phenolic compounds by means of encapsulation

Bioaccessibility is the term used to define the amount of food compounds released from the food matrix in the gastrointestinal lumen, which is required to their intestinal absorption and bioavailability (Saura-Calixto et al., 2007). During digestion, food is exposed to three digestive phases including the oral, gastric and intestinal phase. In the oral phase, foods are submitted to mastication at the neutral environment with saliva, which contains amylase and mucin, to result an oral bolus. The factors effective on the mastication are food composition, food volume, number of chewing cycles, bite force, teeth condition, degree of hunger and habits (Fontijn et al., 2000; Engelen et al., 2005). In gastric phase, oral bolus is digested by gastric enzymes (e.g., pepsin and gastric lipase) and mechanical agitation (peristaltic movements) in the acidic environmental condition into a thick semifluid called chyme, which further be digested into macromolecules such as proteins, fats and polysaccharides prior to transfer to the small intestine (Bao et al., 2019). Subsequently, in intestinal phase, the digested food further breaks down into smaller constituents by bile salts and pancreatic enzymes (e.g., pancreatic lipase, trypsin, chymotrypsin) secreted from the intestinal mucosa at the environmental pH (Mao and Miao, 2015; Singh and Sarkar, 2011). The nutrients can be absorbed in the small intestine, whereas the non-absorbed digestion products pass to the large intestine for a fermentation process by the colonic microbiota. Finally, remaining metabolites are excreted from the human body (Guerra et al., 2012).

Bioaccessibility depends on various factors such as beverages consumed while eating, stomach contents, intestinal peristalsis, blood and lymph flow, physicochemical properties like pH, temperature and texture of the matrix and basic structure of phenolic compounds including the presence or absence of glycosylation, the type of conjugated sugar, the type of linkage to the aglycone, the site of glycosylation and the number of sugar moieties (Fernández-García et al., 2009; Poquet et al., 2010).

There are different methods used to examine the correlation between diet and health. However, *in vitro* models have been widely used to investigate human digestive tract rather than *in vivo* (human or animal) models owing to ethical issues. *In vitro* digestion methods that are commonly used for food can be divided into static and dynamic methods. These systems are used to simulate the physiological conditions of the upper gastrointestinal tract (oral, gastric and small intestinal phases) (Brodkorb et al., 2019);

thus provide some perception about the digestibility of controlled release systems and bioavailability of functional compounds (Alminger et al., 2014). Static models, which use a constant ratio of food to enzymes and electrolytes and a constant pH for each digestive phase, have been widely used for food and pharmaceutical purposes due to its simplicity, practicality and low cost (Alminger et al., 2014; Maldonado-Valderrama et al., 2010). Static digestion methods have some shortcomings including a lack of the gradual addition of simulated gastric fluids and gastric emptying, constant enzyme activity regardless the type of food as well as simulating the intestinal phase as one phase instead of the sequential duodenal, jejunal and ileal phases. Thus, the static *in vitro* digestion method should be used only to evaluate digestion endpoints rather than kinetic analysis of the different stages of the digestion process (Maldonado-Valderrama et al., 2010). On the other hand, dynamic digestion models, comprised by a multi-chamber apparatus, are multistage systems to mimic, as close as possible, the human digestion conditions. Moreover, it is possible to follow the simulation of the physicochemical changes such as pH transitions, enzyme secretion alteration and peristaltic movements that occur during in vivo digestion (Alminger et al., 2014; Li et al., 2013). Relatively complex structure, high expense to setup and maintenance are some of the limitations of this method (Brodkorb et al., 2019).

Health benefits of phenolic compounds in foods vary with the level of their bioaccessibility. Besides, the protection of phenolics in the gastrointestinal tract could be improved by encapsulating them by using carrier agents. Thus, up to date, bioaccessibility of a wide variety of food bioactives have been investigated. Impacts of encapsulation techniques on the bioaccessibility of phenolic compounds are covered in Table 2.4.

With regard to increasing water solubility of curcumin to improve its recovery, effective factors on the bioaccessibility of curcumin encapsulated within emulsionbased delivery systems have been analyzed by using the dynamic *in vitro* digestion model. Results highlighted that the bioaccessibility of curcumin depended on the type and amount of carrier lipids as well as droplet size of the nanoemulsion-based delivery systems, ranging from 1 to 58 % (Ahmed et al., 2012).

To understand the effect of coencapsulation of (–)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG) and quercetin in a W/O/W emulsion gels, gastrointestinal stability tests have been

performed to analyze their bioaccessibility. According to the results, when simply suspended in water, the bioaccessibility of EGCG and quercetin were found to be 25.8 % and 12.9 %, respectively. In contrast, when coencapsulated in W/O/W emulsion gels, bioaccessibility of both EGCG and quercetin increased to around 48.4 % and 49 %, respectively (Chen et al., 2018).

Aditya et al. (2014) investigated the influence of the physical state and composition of the lipids on the achievement of quercetin loaded lipid nanocarriers by means of solidlipid nanoparticles, nanostructured lipid carriers and lipid nanoemulsions, respectively. The results of this study provided a promising perspectives for the use of nanostructured lipid carriers and lipid nanoemulsions with the highest bioaccessibility value ( $\sim 60$  %) compared to solid lipid nanoparticles ( $\sim 35$  %) and free quercetin solution ( $\sim$ 7 %). Similar trends were also ensured by Pool et al. (2013). Recovery of quercetin has been determined by a dynamic in vitro gastrointestinal model. Results highlighted an enhancement in the quercetin bioaccessibility from <5% in bulk water to 53% with 0.1 mg mL-1 and 29% with 0.5 mg mL-1 loading capacity when it was incorporated in the nanoemulsion. Ni et al. (2015) provided 33.6 % bioaccessibility value of quercetin in nanostructured lipid carrier, which is higher than that obtained in the bulk water ( $\leq 2$  %). Moreover, eudragit, an anionic copolymer based on methacrylic acid and ethyl acrylate, nanoparticles were also utilized to increase the stability and solubility of quercetin in the gastrointestinal tract. Pool et al. (2012) studied the formation of a delivery system for encapsulation of quercetin by using a solvent displacement method. After the simulated gastrointestinal digestion, quercetin release was around 7% for free quercetin dispersed in water, and around 22% for quercetin encapsulated within polymeric nanoparticles, indicating less amount of increase in the recovery of quercetin among other encapsulation techniques. In another study, Sessa et al. (2011) obtained chemically stable (no changes in the quantity and quality) resveratrol-loaded nanoemulsions during the gastric and intestinal digestions.

PMFs are one type of flavone compounds which possess methoxy groups on the flavonoid backbone and exist almost exclusively in the peel of numerous citrus fruits (Li et al., 2006). PMFs exhibit a wide spectrum of biological activity, including antiinflammatory, anti-carcinogenic, anti-bacterial, anti-oxidant and neuroprotective effects (Lai et al., 2013; Gao et al., 2018); metabolic modulations (Sundaram et al., 2014); protection against cardiovascular diseases (Seo et al., 2011; Kurowska et al., 2004); reducing serum triacylglycerol, very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL), and lowdensity lipoprotein (LDL) levels (Kurowska et al., 2004). Although PMFs have various health benefits, the potential applications of these compounds are limited due to their high hydrophobicity, low water solubility, high melting point and crystalline structure (Manthet et al., 2011; Kinoshita and Firman, 1996). Due to the fact that the oral efficacy of compounds is tightly dependent on the aqueous solubility, gut wall permeation, and metabolic stability, one of these strategies could be implemented to improve the bioaccessibility and bioavailability (Ting et al., 2015).

Tangeretin belongs to the class of PMFs (Xiao et al., 2009). Chen et al. (2015) investigated the effect of dietary lipids on the gastrointestinal fate of tangeretin-loaded zein nanoparticles. The recovery of tangeretin was found to be related with the concentration of co-ingested lipid phase. The bioaccessibility of the delivery systems was enhanced from 15% to 37% with the use of 4% initial oil concentration. In another study, different in vitro models were used to evaluate the effect of emulsification on bioaccessibility of tangeretin. In vitro lipolysis showed that bioaccessibility of emulsified tangeretin increased from 9.7 to 29.3% when compared with unprocessed tangeretin oil suspension. Besides, according to the dynamic in vitro gastrointestinal model (TIM-1) results, the bioaccessibility of tangeretin increased 2.6-fold when it was incorporated to the viscoelastic system rather than in the oil suspension (Ting et al., 2015). Similarly, a recent study (Wijaya et al., 2020) compared the effects of high internal phase emulsions (HIPE) stabilized by whey protein isolate – low methoxy pectin complexes and medium chain triglycerides (MCT) oil as a suspension on the bioaccessibility of tangeretin using *in vitro* lipolysis and dynamic *in vitro* intestinal digestion studies. The *in vitro* lipolysis results revealed that the bioaccessibility of tangeretin in HIPE-complexes was increased 2-fold than that of in the bulk oil. Additionally, the gastrointestinal model TIM-1 indicated 5-fold increase in the total bioaccessibility of tangeretin compared to PMFs in bulk oil. Nobiletin, another kind of PMFs, was also studied to improve its bioaccessibility. Ning et al. (2019) fabricated 5-demethylnobiletin (5-DN) loaded selenium-enriched peanut protein nanoparticlesstabilized Pickering emulsion. The bioaccessibility of 5-DN was found to be higher (18.3%) with emulsion than in bulk oil (9.2%). Similar results were found by Wijaya et al. (2020). 1.5- and 2-fold increase in the bioaccessibility of nobiletin was obtained within HIPE-complexes compared to within bulk oil after *in vitro* lipolysis and the

gastrointestinal model TIM-1 digestion, respectively. Furthermore, with regard to increasing oral bioaccessibility of PMFs from aged citrus peel extracts, lipid-based delivery systems have been developed (Lu et al., 2019). Compared to the samples in bulk oil, the bioaccessibilities of PMFs in the nanoemulsion and Pickering emulsion were enhanced by 14-fold with the use of lipolysis model. On the other hand, results from the TIM-1 system demonstrated a 2- and 4-times increase in the bioaccessibilities of PMFs in the nanoemulsion rather than that of bulk oil, respectively.

In conclusion, to generate a delivery system to enhance the solubility, stability, bioaccessibility and controlled release of a phenolic compound, factors including the solubility and thermal sensitivity of the phenolic compound, ratio and interaction between wall and core material as well as the phenolic loading ratio should be considered.

# 2.3.3 Intestinal transport mechanisms and effective factors on phenolic compounds bioavailability

An increase of bioaccessibility by encapsulation is the initial step for a higher exploitation of phenolic compounds. Nevertheless, the bioavailability is equally essential and represents the second step, which can be positively affected by encapsulation. With increasing intestinal absorption of phenolic compounds, their biological activities will be increased. The intestinal epithelial transport mechanisms can be divided into four different routes: the paracellular route, the transcellular route, the carrier-mediated transport and transcytosis (Figure 2.13) (Artursson et al., 2001; Laksitorini et al., 2014). While on the transcellular route substances diffuse through the membranes and the intracellular space of the epithelial cells, on the paracellular route ions and small molecules can passively diffuse through the tight junctions. More complex and hydrophilic molecules use vesicles along transcytosis or they bind to specific transporters, which are integrated in the membrane of the intestine, in case of a carrier-mediated transport (Laksitorini et al., 2014). Phenolic compounds were mainly absorbed by passive diffusion, whereby the lipophilicity and molecular weight of each molecule are crucial (Esfanjani et al., 2018). While such substance-specific features represent the first group of effective factors on polyphenolic bioavailability, the second group consists of all possibly consumed compounds of the dietary matrix,

which may influence the digestion processes and the composition of the person-related microbiome.



Figure 2.13 : Uptake of food compounds by intestinal epithelial transport mechanisms from the gut lumen (apical side) to the blood vessel (basolateral side).

One of the most important factors for a high bioavailability is the degree of polymerization as well as the methylation of the phenolic compound (Spencer et al., 2001; Wen and Walle, 2006; Appeldoorn et al., 2009; Monagas et al., 2010). (-)-Epicatechin, a flavan-3-ol, possess a moderate bioavailability in *in vivo* studies with an average absorption of 23% after 90 min (Spencer et al., 2001) or 46% after 2.5 h (Actis-Goretta et al., 2013). While 95.8% of transferred flavanol-related compounds were identified as (-)-epicatechin, the epicatechin dimers B2 and B5 showed a significantly lower content of < 1 % of the total transferred value (Spencer et al., 2001). Similar results were detected for further flavan-3-ols, whose monomers can directly be absorbed in the small intestine. More complex substances e.g. polymeric forms will be transferred to the colon, where gut bacteria metabolize the compounds by glucuronidation or sulfation prior to absorption (Monagas et al., 2010). Unfortunately, the health-improving potential of these microbial-derived metabolites are largely unknown. If a flavone will be directly absorbed or possibly metabolized, depends on the methylation state likewise. Wen and Walle (2006a) and Wen and Walle (2006b) analysed the stability of methylated and non-methylated flavones in addition to liver S9 fraction or in the presence of human hepatocytes. The methylated compounds showed a high resistance against metabolization in all assays compared to nonmethylated forms, suggesting that methylation of flavonoids eventually protect them from metabolization and excretion (Wen and Walle, 2006b). In further *in vitro* transport experiments, up to 8-times higher absorption rates were documented for methylated compounds, while the rate of the non-methylated forms was lower and correlated with their high potential of metabolic transformation (Wen and Walle, 2006a). Therefore, the replacement of hydroxyl groups by methylated groups may be another suitable method for increasing phenolic compounds bioavailability.

The metabolization of phenolic compounds by the microbiome and/or intestine epithelial cells plays an important role in the bioavailability. Nevertheless, elements of the dietary matrix can influence the bacterial growth and the composition of the microbiome, resulting in different digestion and metabolization pathways. Roowi et al. (2009) detected a high content of phenolic acids (3-hydroxyphenylacetic acid, 3hydroxyphenylhydracrylic acid, dihydroferulic acid, 3-methoxy-4hydroxyphenylhydracrylic acid and 3hydroxyhippuric acid) in the urine of participants after consumption of orange juice, which corresponded to 37% of total ingested flavanones. The excretion of these acids was significantly reduced by parallel consumption of orange juice with yoghurt, suggesting an increased metabolization by gut bacteria (Roowi et al., 2009). Similar to the effects of yoghurt, the naturally occurring dietary fiber pectin influenced the metabolic activity and/or composition of the intestinal flora and induced a higher quercetin plasma concentration after rutin digestion (Tamura et al., 2007). Moreover, glucose and insulin are effective factors on bioavailability. While the total anthocyanin content in red wine and red grape juice was comparable, the uptake of anthocyanins of red grape juice was significantly higher than that of red wine, which may due to the lower glucose content in red wine (Bitsch et al., 2004). Such synergistic effect of glucose and the phenolic compounds absorption may base on the stimulation of bacterial growth, whereby the bacteria use glucose as energy source (Tamura et al., 2007) or alternatively the high glucose content induce the release of insulin, which is able to influence the microbiome and the phenolic bioavailability (Piazza et al., 2007). Further, bacteria-independent effects may be induced by protein complexes and fat-enriched diets. Proteins e.g. the salivary protein histatine 5 can bind phenolic compounds and form insoluble complexes, which are related to a reduced absorption (Cai and Bennick, 2006). Otherwise, experiments with milk protein had no effect on the uptake of cocoa polyphenols (Keogh et al., 2007).

However, a high dietary fat content is associated with a greater absorption in a dosedependent manner (Chen et al., 2013). Lesser et al. (2004) analysed the bioavailability of quercetin in pigs, whereby the dietary fat content was increased from 3 % to 17 %, resulting an enhanced absorption of 50 %. It is assumed that quercetin was incorporated in micelles, derived from the dietary fat, followed by absorption in the small intestine due to a higher solubility (Content, 2004). This principle of using lipid carrier is already used as an effective encapsulation method for higher phenolic absorption.

# 2.3.4 Improving the bioavailability of phenolic compounds by means of encapsulation

In order to compare the absorption efficiency of encapsulated vs. non-encapsulated compounds, several in vitro and/or in vivo assays were performed, followed by substance-specific quantification e.g. LC-MS/MS (Peng et al., 2018; Vitaglione et al., 2013; Mueller et al., 2018). For the *in vitro* assays, the absorption and/or the transport through an epithelial membrane were analysed, using intestinal epithelial cells like the human colon adenocarcinoma cell line Caco 2 (Sun et al., 2008; Gamboa et al., 2013). In the case of the absorption study e.g. described by Jain et al. (2013), Caco-2 cells were cultured and treated with encapsulated phenolic compounds. Afterwards the cells were washed for removing non-absorbed material, followed by cell lysis and a substance-specific quantification of the intracellular content. Finally, the intracellular concentration will be compared to the results of the non-encapsulated compound as well as the treatment concentration. Caco-2 absorption studies are fast and easy methods to analyse the bioavailability. Nevertheless, the experimental design contains undifferentiated cells without brush border formation, which rather mimic mature enterocytes in the human physiology (Kucki et al., 2017). Moreover, for healthimproving effects induced by phenolic compounds, the transport of these compounds through the intestine to the blood flow is essential. Therefore, instead of uptake, the transport rate would give more insights into the bioavailability and efficiency of encapsulated substances. Caco-2 monolayer transport system has been established to investigate bioavailability with a much more complex in vitro model (Figure 2.14). Thereby, an insert, which represents a downsized version of a cell culture dish, is hanged in an e.g. 6-well of a plate, resulting in the separation of the well into an upper compartment (volume of the insert) and a lower compartment (volume of the 6-well).

The ground of the insert consists of a 10 µm thick membrane, made out of polyester or polycarbonate with µm-sized pores, which enable an exchange of molecules and media components but not cells between both compartments (Gamboa and Leong, 2013). On the membrane of the upper compartment, intestinal cells like Caco-2 can be cultured and differentiated to receive an intestinal epithelium, consisting of an enterocytes monolayer with tight junctions and brush border formation (Kucki et al., 2017). The differentiation of Caco-2 cells occurs spontaneously by reaching 100% of confluence (Ferruzza et al., 2012) and is completed after 16-21 days of further cultivation, resulting in an intestinal membrane similar to the epithelium of the small intestine (Sun et al., 2008; Hidalgo et al., 1989). In this Caco-2 monolayer transport system, the upper compartment is comparable with the intestinal lumen or the apical side of the gut membrane, while the lower compartment is comparable with the blood vessels or basolateral side of the gut membrane (Sun et al., 2008). Thus, the in vivo processes can be simulated in more detail and in addition to the absorbed phenolic content in the cells, the concentration in the apical and basolateral compartment can be quantified (Gamboa and Leong, 2013). Yee (1997) verified the suitability of the Caco-2 monolayer transport system with a high correlation between the absorption results in humans and the permeability coefficient of the in vitro model. In spite of the good applicability of the Caco-2 monolayer transport system, this in vitro model can be extended with methotrexate-induced differentiated HT-29 cells, origins from a human colon adenocarcinoma, to get a mucus-secreting coculture (Gamboa and Leong, 2013; Lesuffleur et al., 1990; Behrens et al., 2001). The cultivation of colon epithelial cells in coculture with HT-29 goblet cells and mucus formation is a more sophisticated model for bioavailability, especially since the mucus represents a second physiological diffusion barrier, influencing the absorption time of digested compounds (Gamboa and Leong, 2013; Behrens et al., 2001).

An overview of in vitro studies analyzing the uptake of encapsulated phenolic compounds in Caco-2 absorption studies or the Caco-2 monolayer transport system are shown in Table 2.5.

The Caco-2 monolayer transport system is a useful tool for intestinal transport studies, nevertheless factors like the flow rate or gastrointestinal transit are not considered. For analyzing the digestion and uptake of food compounds, in vivo studies combine the influence of encapsulation on bioaccessibility and bioavailability, whereby for each
step and organ the phenolic concentration can be quantified e.g. as done by Augustin et al. (2011). Studies related with nutrition and health were mainly performed using humans, mice or rats as model organisms (Rubio-Aliaga, 2012), which run through several periods of consumption and/or fasting. The human nutrition studies of Vitaglione et al. (2013) and Mueller et al. (2018) started with a wash-out period over days, consisting of a phenol-free diet, followed by fasting for several hours (Vitaglione et al., 2013), and the consumption of the encapsulated/non-encapsulated phenolic compounds. Nallamuthu et al. (2015) studied the uptake of chlorogenic acid in rats after fasting for 14-15 h.



Figure 2.14 : Caco-2 monolayer transport system (a) at seeding time (t = 0 days) and (b) 21 days (t = 21 d) after seeding. Phenolic compounds will be applied in the apical compartment followed by quantification of the content in both compartments as well as the intracellular concentration; AC: medium sample of apical compartment, IC: washed and harvested cells for quantifying intracellular content, BC: medium sample of basolateral compartment.

Applied Technique	Active Material	Carrier	Results	References
Nanoemulsion/ emulsion	Curcumin	Triacylglycerol	1 to 58% bioaccessibility of nanoemulsion-based delivery systems	(Ahmed et al., 2012)
W/O/W emulsion gels	EGCG and Quercetin	Gelatin	After coencapsulation in W/O/W emulsion gels, 48.4 and 49% bioaccessibility of EGCG and quercetin, respectively	(Chen et al., 2018)
Nanostructured lipid carriers, Lipid nanoemulsions, Solid lipid nanoparticles	Quercetin	Lecithin	~60% bioaccessibility with nanostructured lipid carriers and lipid nanoemulsions, ~35% with solid lipid nanoparticles and ~7% with free quercetin solution	(Aditya et al., 2014)
Nanoemulsion	Quercetin	Triacylglycerol	An enhancement in the quercetin bioaccessibility from < 5% in bulk water to 53% in nanoemulsions	(Pool et al., 2013)
Nanostructured lipid carrier	Quercetin	Glyceryl monostearate, glycerol monolaurate and caprylic capric triglyceride	33.6 and 2% bioaccessibility of quercetin in nanostructured lipid carrier and bulk water, respectively	(Ni et al., 2015)
Solvent displacement method	Quercetin	Eudragit	7 and 22% release of quercetin in water and polymeric nanoparticles, respectively	(Pool et al., 2012)
Nanoemulsion	Resveratrol	Peanut oil	No changes in the quantity and quality of the resveratrol-loaded nanoemulsions	(Sessa et al., 2011)
Antisolvent precipitation/emulsion	Tangeretin	Zein and β- lactoglobulin	15 to 37% bioaccessibility of tangeretin without and 4% initial oil concentration, respectively	(Chen et al., 2015c)
Viscoelastic emulsion	According to in vitro lipolysis, 9.7 to 29.3% release of tangeretin within oil suspension and emulsion, respectively. According to TIM-1 model, 2.6-fold increase in tangeretin bioaccessibility within emulsion system		(Ting et al., 2015)	

**Table 2.4 :** Effects of different lipid-based encapsulation techniques on the bioaccessibility of selected phenolic compounds.

Applied Technique	Active Material	Carrier	Results	References
High internal phase emulsions	Tangeretin	Whey protein isolate—low methoxy pectin	Whey protein isolate—low methoxy pectin According to <i>in vitro</i> lipolysis, 2-fold increase in bioaccessibility within HIPE-complexes compared to that of the bulk oil According to TIM-1 model, 5-fold increase in bioaccessibility within HIPE-complexes compared to that of the bulk oil	
Pickering emulsion	5-DN	Peanut protein	9.2 and 18.3% release of 5-DN in bulk oil and emulsion, respectively	(Ning et al., 2019)
High internal phase emulsions	Nobiletin	Whey protein isolate—low methoxy pectin	According to <i>in vitro</i> lipolysis, 1.5-fold increase in bioaccessibility within HIPE-complexes compared to that of the bulk oil According to TIM-1 model, 2-fold increase in bioaccessibility within HIPE-complexes compared to that of the bulk oil	(Wijaya et al., 2020)
Nanoemulsion/ Pickering emulsion	emulsion/ PMFs extract MCT According to <i>in vi</i> or pemulsion PMFs extract MCT According to TIN bioaccessibility w compared to that of According to TIN bioaccessibility w respectively, com		According to <i>in vitro</i> lipolysis, 14-fold increase in bioaccessibility within nanoemulsion/emulsion compared to that of the bulk oil According to TIM-1 model, 2- and 4-fold increase in bioaccessibility within nanoemulsion and emulsion, respectively, compared to that of the bulk oil	(Lu et al., 2019)

 Table 2.4 (continued) : Effects of different lipid-based encapsulation techniques on the bioaccessibility of selected phenolic compounds.

TIM-1: *in vitro* dynamic digestion model; HIPE: high internal phase emulsions; 5-DN: 5-demethylnobiletin; EGCG: (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate, PMF: polymethoxylated flavonoids; W/O/W: water-in-oil-in-water emulsion.

Applied Technique	Active Material	Carrier	In Vitro Model: Analyzed Material and Results	References
Antisolvent precipitation	Quercetin	Shellac and almond gum	Caco-2 absorption study: analysis of intracellular quercetin level Results of the cellular uptake could not be compared with nonencapsulated quercetin sample due to cytotoxic effects of nanoparticles	(Doost et al., 2019)
Emulsion–diffusion solvent evaporation	Quercetin	Poly(lactic-co- glycolic acid)	Caco-2 absorption study: analysis of intracellular quercetin level 6-fold higher uptake efficiency by encapsulation	(Jain et al., 2013)
Self-nanoemulsion	Quercetin	Castor oil	Caco-2 monolayer transport system: analysis of the supernatant from apical and basolateral compartment <i>Encapsulation enabled a 2-fold higher transportation of quercetin</i>	(Tran et al., 2014)
Pickering emulsion	Curcumin	Milled starch particles	Caco-2 absorption study: analysis of intracellular curcumin level Encapsulation enabled a significantly higher uptake efficiency	(Lu et al., 2019)
Antisolvent precipitation/emulsion	Tangeretin	Zein and β- lactoglobulin	Caco-2 monolayer transport system: analysis of the supernatant from apical and basolateral compartment <i>Oil dose-dependent increase in permeability</i>	(Chen et al., 2015c)
Pickering emulsion	5-DN	Peanut protein	Caco-2 absorption study: analysis of intracellular 5-DN level by HPLC <i>Higher uptake rate of 5-DN by encapsulation</i> Caco-2 monolayer transport system: analysis of the supernatant from apical and basolateral compartment <i>Higher permeability of 5-DN micelles than</i> <i>nonencapsulated 5-DN</i>	(Ning et al., 2019)
O/W nanoemulsion	Resveratrol	Lipophilic soy lecithin with defatted soy lecithin and peanut oil	Caco-2 monolayer transport system: analysis of the supernatant from apical and basolateral compartment <i>Significantly lower permeability of encapsulated resveratrol</i>	(Sessa et al., 2014)

# **Table 2.5 :** Effects of lipid-based encapsulation techniques on the *in vitro* bioavailability of phenolic compounds.

Applied Technique	Active Material	Carrier	In Vitro Model: Analyzed Material and Results	References
O/W nanoemulsion	Resveratrol	Soy lecithin with peanut oil	Caco-2 absorption study: analysis of intracellular resveratrol level Significantly higher uptake of resveratrol by encapsulation Caco-2 monolayer transport system: analysis of the supernatant from apical and basolateral compartment Significantly lower permeability of encapsulated resveratrol	(Sessa et al., 2014)
O/W nanoemulsion	Resveratrol	Lipophilic soy lecithin with peanut oil	Caco-2 absorption study: analysis of intracellular resveratrol level Significantly lower uptake of resveratrol by encapsulation	(Sessa et al., 2014)
O/W nanoemulsion	Resveratrol	Tween 20 with glycerol monooleate and peanut oil	Caco-2 absorption study: analysis of intracellular resveratrol level Significantly lower uptake of resveratrol by encapsulation Caco-2 monolayer transport system: analysis of the supernatant from apical and basolateral compartment Significantly lower permeability of encapsulated resveratrol	(Sessa et al., 2014)

**Table 2.5 (continued) :** Effects of lipid-based encapsulation techniques on the *in vitro* bioavailability of phenolic compounds.

Ideally, all participants or test animals should run through all kinds of encapsulated samples, separated by a further wash-out period with normal consumption habits (Vitaglione et al., 2012), to directly compare and evaluate the effects of encapsulation methods. In order to quantify such increased or decreased effects on the phenolic absorption, blood, urine and/or fecal sample are collected regularly (Nallamuthu et al., 2015), which enable a time-dependent distribution and excretion analysis of the test substance within the digestion system and the blood flow. For a whole body distribution analysis including the separation of stomach, small intestine, cecum, colon and liver, Augustin et al. (2011) fed rats with radiolabelled phenolic compounds and measured the radioactivity in each organ 3, 6, 12 and 24 h after dosing. While in this study the rats need to be dissected, Rubio-Aliaga (2012) used a specific gamma camera to visualize the radiolabelled nanoparticles in the gastrointestinal tract of test animals similar to magnetic resonance imaging. Independent of the imaging method, the transport of radiolabelled, encapsulated compounds could be detected in more accuracy, especially if the encapsulation led to a slower but sustained absorption as described by Nallamuthu et al. (2015) and Liu et al. (2017). Detailed results of the above-mentioned studies as well as further bioavailability experiments for the encapsulated phenolic compounds are shown in Table 2.6.

Curcumin becomes more and more popular as food additive and nutritional supplement due to its antioxidant and anti-inflammatory effects (Anand et al., 2011). Nevertheless, it is weakly soluble in water, which restricts its bioavailability as well as the health-improving potential after consumption (Dei Cas and Ghidoni, 2019). Lu et al. (2019) increased significantly the uptake of curcumin by encapsulation using milled starch particles in form of a Pickering emulsion. Compared to a standard curcumin solution dissolved in DMSO, the emulsion led to a higher intake in Caco-2 absorption study (Lu et al., 2019). While the results of *in vitro* models are limited and cannot be directly transferred to the digestion system of animals and humans (Jain et al., 2013), further studies reported various encapsulation techniques which were tested *in vivo*, followed by the quantification of their bioavailability. Curcumin was encapsulated with cellulose derivatives in oil (Vitaglione et al., 2012), organogel (Yu and Huang, 2012), sophorolipid micelles (Peng et al., 2018) or a specific protease inhibitor from soybeans (Liu et al., 2017).

Applied Technique	Active Material	Carrier	In Vivo Model: Analyzed Material and Results	References
Emulsification/thermal gelation	Anthocyanins from bilberry extract	Whey protein	Humans: analysis of serum and urine samples 28% less anthocyanins in serum but 108% more anthocyanins in urine than nonencapsulated extract	(Muller et al., 2018)
Emulsification/thermal gelation	Anthocyanins from bilberry extract	Citrus pectin	Humans: analysis of serum and urine samples 80% less anthocyanins in serum and 8% less anthocyanins in urine than nonencapsulated extract	(Muller et al., 2018)
Ionic gelation	Chlorogenic acid	Chitosan nanoparticles	Rats: analysis of serum samples Encapsulation enabled a slower and sustained absorption	(Vitaglione et al., 2012)
Spray drying	Polyphenol extract from cocoa nibs	High-amylose maize starch	Humans: analysis of serum and urine samples Significantly lower content of phenolic acids in serum and urine induced by encapsulation of polyphenols	(Vitaglione et al., 2013)
O/W emulsion	Resveratrol	Sodium caseinate with high amylose maize starch and glucose	Rats: analysis of radiolabelled [ <sup>3</sup> H]-resveratrol along digestive system <i>Encapsulation led to a significantly higher content of</i> <i>resveratrol in the gut lumen of small intestine</i>	(Augustin et al., 2011)
Emulsion-diffusion solvent evaporation	Quercetin	Poly(lactic-co- glycolic acid)	Rats: analysis of serum samples 2.9-fold higher uptake efficiency by encapsulation	(Jain et al., 2013)
Self-nanoemulsion	Quercetin	Castor oil	Rats: analysis of serum samples 2-fold significantly higher uptake efficiency by encapsulation	(Tran et al., 2014)
Organogel-based nanoemulsion	Curcumin	Organogel	Mice: analysis of serum samples Encapsulation led to a 9-fold higher bioavailability of curcumin	(Anand et al., 2007)

**Table 2.6 :** Effects of lipid-based encapsulation techniques on the *in vivo* bioavailability of phenolic compounds.

Applied Technique	Active Material	Carrier	In Vivo Model: Analyzed Material and Results	References
Sophorolipid-coated nanoparticle	Curcumin	Sophorolipid micelles	Rats: analysis of serum samples Significantly higher (3.6-fold) absorption of encapsulated curcumin	(Peng et al., 2018)
Bowman–Birk inhibitor nanodelivery carrier	Curcumin	Soybean	Rats: analysis of serum samples Encapsulation with Bowman–Birk inhibitor led to a slower but significantly 3.1-fold higher uptake compared to curcumin-loaded sodium caseinate nanoparticles	(Liu et al., 2017)
Fluidized bed spray coating	Curcumin	Cellulose derivative with vegetable oil	Humans: analysis of serum samples 7.3-fold higher content of curcuminoids in serum, while the urinary concentration was not significantly affected by encapsulation	(Vitaglione et al., 2012)
Casein nanoparticle	Resveratrol	Sodium casein	Rats: analysis of serum samples 10-fold higher bioavailability of encapsulated resveratrol than dissolved in polyethylenglykol	(Rubio-Aliaga, 2012)

Table 2.6 (continued) : Effects of lipid-based encapsulation techniques on the *in vivo* bioavailability of phenolic compounds.

In all these experiments, the bioavailability of curcumin was analysed by measuring the serum concentration over several hours after consumption, in comparison to the non-encapsulated polyphenol- or curcumin-loaded sodium caseinate nanoparticles (Liu et al., 2017). After encapsulation, the uptake of curcumin was increased in the range of 3- to 9-fold higher serum concentrations, in detail, the cellulose-oil mixture (7-fold higher) and the organogel technique (9-fold higher) were found to be the most effective methods for encapsulation (Peng et al., 2018; Vitaglione et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2017; Yu and Huang, 2012). Although the experiments were partly done with mice and rats, similar uptake-improving effects were assumed for human bioavailability of encapsulated curcumin.

As mentioned above, *in vivo* studies combine the results of bioaccessibility and bioavailability. Therefore, the described higher serum concentrations of encapsulated curcumin give also insights into a constant or possibly higher bioaccessibility induced by nanoemulsions, nanoparticles or organogels. Such a combination of a higher occurrence and uptake of curcumin-loaded sophorolipid-coated nanoparticle was measured by Peng et al. (2018), who detected 2.7-fold higher bioaccessibility and 3.6-fold higher serum concentration than free curcumin. In this case, the higher bioavailability was mainly affected by the increased stability and occurrence of curcumin due to the encapsulation and less affected by uptake. In contrast, an O/W emulsion of resveratrol showed 2- to 4-fold increased uptake, resulting in significantly higher concentrations in blood and liver of rats, while no effects on the bioaccessibility of encapsulated resveratrol were detected (Augustin et al., 2011).

Another important factor of bioavailability is the particle size as well as the use of phospholipids for encapsulation. Sessa et al. (2014) analyzed the *in vitro* uptake and permeability of multiple resveratrol emulsions, which all based on peanut oil but differ in their composition of soy lecithin and droplet size. An increase in mean droplet size was negatively associated with the permeability but positively associated with cellular uptake. While smaller particles (128 or 137 nm in mean) were transported through the Caco-2 monolayer and accumulates in the basolateral compartment, it is assumed that larger particles (211 or 235 nm in mean) remain in the cells and could be responsible for the higher uptake contents. For permeability, the use of phospholipids in the encapsulation are beneficial compounds, resulting in a better interaction between nanoemulsion-based delivery system and the cell membrane. By generation of a

phospholipid layer from soy lecithin, the permeability of encapsulated resveratrol was significantly higher compared to particles consisting of Tween 20 and glycerol monooleate. Moreover, in the same study, the degradation of resveratrol in water could be reduced to 15-25 % by encapsulation with soy lecithin, while the non-encapsulated substance showed a degradation rate of 52 %. To sum up, small particles in combination with phospholipids enables the inhibition of degradation processes, as well as a high permeability of substances with low water solubility like resveratrol, curcumin and anthocyanins (Sessa et al., 2014).

#### 2.3.5 Potential risk of a higher phenolic bioavailability

Although phenolic compounds are widely used for disease prevention due to their antioxidant properties, there are some evidences for a toxic potential of polyphenols and flavonoids as reviewed by Kyselova (2011). For instance, flavonoids showed a mutually influence with cytochrome P450 monooxygenases (CYPs), which are essential enzymes in metabolism and activation of ingested food compounds, medications or environmental toxins like polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbones (PAHs) (Peter et al., 2002). Flavonoids e.g. quercetin and diosmin are able to increase the biosynthesis and/or activity of CYPs, may promoting the formation of such carcinogens and increase their toxicity (Ciolino et al., 1998; Ciolino et al., 1999; Sergent et al., 2009). While CYPs are affected by flavonoids, their chemical structure can be affected by these enzymes as well. CYP-generated metabolites of flavonoids may bind to DNA and induce similar effects like mutagenic DNA alkylating agents (Peter et al., 2002). Walle et al. 2003 documented the covalently binding of ROSactivated quercetin to DNA and proteins in several cancer cell lines (Walle et al., 2003). These binding to the DNA induce the destabilization of the helix (Kanakis et al., 2005), may resulting in apoptosis, cell cycle arrests or mutations. The carcinogenic potential of quercetin was already shown in rats by the formation of kidney tumors, whereby the authors assumed the combination of genotoxic and non-genotoxic effects (Dunnick and Halley, 1992). In addition to the DNA alkylating potential, a clastogenic activity was reported for several flavonoids, although these two seems to be caused independently from each other (Snyder and Gillies, 2002). Similar to flavonoids, a wide range of polyphenols is able to induce toxic effects e.g. by an increase of the mutagenicity of N-Nitrosopyrrolidine, a nitrosamine mainly occurred in nitrite-rich food after cooking (Catterall et al., 2000). All these studies evaluation the toxic potential of phenolic compounds were done *in vitro* using cancer cell lines or *in vivo* with rats. Therefore, the transfer to human beings is limited and need to be verified in further experiments (Mennen et al., 2005). Nevertheless, the above-mentioned toxic effects depend on the bioaccessibility and bioavailability of the phenolic compounds and will be strengthen by an encapsulation. Finally, benefits as well as risks of phenolic compounds should be reconsidered prior to application.

#### 2.4 Interactions of Phenolics with Food Matrix: In Vitro and In Vivo Approaches

Phenolics are plant-derived, secondary metabolites produced by plants against stress conditions such as injury, infection, and UV radiation (Naczk and Shahidi, 2004). Numerous compounds such as phenolic acids, acetophenones, phenylacetic acid, hydroxycinnamic acids, coumarins, naphthoquinones, xanthons, stilbenes, and flavonoids belong to phenolics. Their chemical structure can range from very simple molecules to very complex ones (Jakobek, 2015).

In recent years, the antioxidant properties of phenolics and their preventive and supportive effects on several diseases including cancer, diabetes, bone, skin, and heart diseases have been discovered by researchers (Bohn, 2014). It has also been pointed out in the literature that some phenolic compounds promote the growth of useful bacteria and may inhibit the growth of pathogenic bacteria (Naczk and Shahidi, 2004).

The bioavailability is generally defined as the fraction of a given compound that reaches the systemic circulation after gastrointestinal digestion, absorption, metabolism, tissue distribution, and exerts bioactivity (Carbonell-Capella et al., 2014). Recently, there has been an increasing popularity about the studies on the bioavailability of phenolic compounds in various food matrixes (e.g. protein, fat, dietary fiber). These studies are important to determine the effects of food matrix and conditions on the recovery of the phenolic compounds which may play an influential role in the treatment of various diseases (Zhang et al., 2016). Furthermore, phenolic compounds need to be released during digestion and then absorbed in a certain amount in the intestine to be effective in the human organism. The bioavailability of phenolics depends on the nature of the phenolic compound, the complexity of the structure of the phenolic - food matrix, possibility of enzymes reaching the compound (Naczk and Shahidi, 2004) and the level of intake (Rodriguez-Mateos et al., 2016).

Macromolecules, such as lipids, proteins, and carbohydrates, can act as carriers of phenolics throughout the digestive tract, and these associations can also protect phenolics from oxidative degradation. Thus, it has been proposed that interactions with lipids, proteins and carbohydrates may affect the bioavailability of phenolics (Hollman et al., 2011).

The aim of the present review is to provide a critical assessment on the relationship between components in the food matrixes and different phenolics. In order to achieve this purpose, the interaction between carbohydrates, lipids, proteins, other food constituents including vitamins and phenolic compounds with phenolic compounds are highlighted. Additionally, the positive or negative effects of these components on the bioavailability of phenolics are emphasized.

### 2.4.1 Phenolic – Carbohydrate Interactions

Carbohydrates, one of our body's main sources of nutrients and energy, can interact with phenolic compounds and may alter the bioaccessibility/bioavailability of the phenolic compounds (Jakobek, 2015). For example, metabolism and bioavailability of procyanidins have been investigated by means of *in vitro* and *in vivo* models. Addition to these, matrix effect of a carbohydrate-rich food on the digestibility and bioavailability of procyanidins have also been evaluated. According to the results, a superior stability of procyanidins under gastric and duodenal digestion conditions has been obtained. However, the pharmacokinetic study presented a limited absorption (Serra et al., 2010).

On the other hand, the interaction of carbohydrates with polyphenol-protein complexes results with the prevention of some adverse effects of these complexes, such as inhibiting the activity of the enzymes, or may affect the shrinkage of certain food products (Jakobek, 2015).

In most of the studies, dietary fibers have been the main carbohydrate under investigation in terms of its interaction with phenolic substances. Interactions were observed to appear through non-covalent bonds as electrostatic forces and hydrogen bonds as Van der Waals forces between hydroxyl groups of phenolic compounds and various components of dietary fibers (Velderrain-Rodriguez et al., 2016). In Table 2.7,

several studies that investigated the effect of dietary fibers on bioavailability/bioaccessibility of phenolic compounds are summarized.

Ortega et al. (2011) stated that the dietary fibers from carob provide stability and increase potential bioaccessibility of phenolic substances during digestion (Ortega et al., 2011). Velderrain-Rodriguez et al. (2016) analyzed the possible interactions between dietary fibers and phenolic substances of mango, papaya and pineapple fruits. Results showed that the bioaccessibility of phenolic substances was not affected by dietary fibers in the fruits (Velderrain-Rodriguez et al., 2016). Moreover, Pérez-Jiménez et al. (2009) investigated the effect of dietary fibers on the bioavailability of phenolic substances in grapes (over short and long periods). When the blood samples of the volunteers were analyzed, it was demonstrated that total antioxidant capacity of grape dietary fibers and phenolic substances were increased compared to the control group. However, dietary fibers have no significant effect on the recovery of the phenolic substances in the long term (Pérez-Jiménez et al., 2009). M Tamura et al. (2007) investigated the effects of pectin and cellulose on the bioavailability of quercetin and isorhamnetin. According to the results, plasma concentrations of quercetin and isorhamnetin metabolites of mice was found to be higher  $(2.50 \pm 1.30)$ and  $6.66 \pm 4.41$ , respectively) in the presence of pectin than that of the cellulose containing diet group ( $0.89 \pm 0.25$  and  $0.64 \pm 0.29$ , respectively). Moreover, in both groups, tamarixetin was not be detected (Tamura et al., 2007). On the other hand, there are numerous studies that showed a negative effect of dietary fibers on bioaccessibility or bioavailability of the polyphenols. Tomas et al. (2018) studied the effect of inulin addition in different ratios (5% and 10%) on the bioaccessibility of tomato sauce phenolic compounds. The results showed that there was a decrease in total phenolic content, antioxidant capacity and bioaccessibility in rutin, rutin apioside, naringenin chalcone and naringenin when the inulin content was increased. Addition of 5% and 10% of inulin caused to decrease of total phenolic content by 57% and 68%; and total flavonoid content by 48% and 60%, respectively (Tomas et al., 2018). Similar trends were also obtained by Cebeci and Sahin-Yeşilçubuk (2014) that the bioaccessibility of caffeic acid, ferulic acid, gallic acid, catechin, chlorogenic acid, p-coumaric acid, quercetin-3-galactoside, quercetin-3- $\beta$ -D-glucoside and anthocyanidins in the blueberries reduced by the comsumption of oats together (Cebeci and Şahin-Yeşilçubuk, 2014).

Source of the Dietary Fiber	Phenolic Compounds	Methods	Results	References
Pectin and cellulose	Quercetin, rutin, isorhamnetin, tamarixetin	<i>in vivo</i> bioavailability in mice blood and feces samples	(+) Bioavailability	(Tamura et al., 2007)
Inulin	Daidzein, genistenin	<i>in vivo</i> bioavailability in human blood samples	(+) Bioavailability	(Piazza et al., 2007)
Mango, papaya and pineapple dietary fibers	Mango, papaya and pinapple phenolic compounds	<i>in vitro</i> gastrointestinal digestion method	(=) Bioaccessibility	(Velderrain-Rodriguez et al., 2016)
Grapes dietary fibers	Benzoic acid, catechins, hydroxycinnamic acid, other flavonoids and anthocyanidins	<i>in vivo</i> bioavailability in human blood samples	(=) Bioavailability	(Pérez-Jiménez et al., 2009)
Carob flour dietary fibers	Phenolic acids, flavonoids aglycones glucosides	<i>in vitro</i> gastrointestinal digestion method	(=) Bioaccessibility	(Ortega et al., 2011)
Inulin	Rutin, rutin-apioside, naringenin chalcone, naringenin, glycoalkaloid α-tomatin	<i>in vitro</i> gastrointestinal digestion method	(-) Bioaccessibility	(Tomas et al., 2018)
Oat dietary fiber	Caffeic acid, ferulic acid, gallic acid, catechin, chlorogenic acid, p-coumaric acid, quercetin-3-galactoside, quercetin-3-β-D- glucoside, anthocyanidins	<i>in vitro</i> gastrointestinal digestion method	(-) Bioaccessibility	(Cebeci and Şahin- Yeşilçubuk, 2014)
Rice Bran Hemi- cellulose	Daidzein	<i>in vivo</i> bioavailability in mice blood and feces samples	(-) Bioavailability	(Tamura et al., 2009)
Cellulose and Pectin	Gallic acid, punicalagin A, ferulic acid, chlorogenic acid, caffeic acid and anthocyanins	<i>in vitro</i> gastrointestinal digestion method	(-) Bioaccessibility	(Sengul et al., 2014)

# Table 2.7 : Studies on dietary fiber – phenolic interactions.

(+: increase, -: decrease, =: not significant difference)

Saura-Calixto and Díaz-Rubio (2007) studied about the relationship between dietary fibers and phenolic substances naturally found in the wine. According to the results, nearly 35-60% of total polyphenols in red wine and about 10% of polyphenols in white wine were bound by dietary fibers. It was stated that the absorption of the phenolic compounds in small intestine could not be achieved due to the formation of a complex structure between polyphenols and dietary fibers, resulting with reduced bioaccessibility of the polyphenols (Saura-Calixto and Díaz-Rubio, 2007). Similarly, Motoi Tamura et al. (2009) were also gained descending polyphenol contents in the mice blood plasma samples which were fed by 5% rice bran hemicellulose and 5% cellulose - 0.1% daidzein diet (RBI diet) rather than 5% cellulose - 0.1% daidzein diet for 30 days. (CI diet). It was stated that the diabetic fibers were bound with isoflavones to form a bulk structure, resulting in low concentrations of daidzein in the blood plasma in the RBI diet group (Motoi Tamura et al., 2009). Furthermore, in another study, cellulose decreased the total phenolic content of pomegranate samples in all fractions (PG, IN and OUT). Addition to this, pectin caused to 2-fold decrease of total phenolic content in the serum fraction (IN) (Sengul et al., 2014).

In summary, carbohydrates have an impact on bioaccessibility/bioavailability of the phenolic compounds. Especially, phenolic compounds – dietary fibers interaction may alter the digestion of phenolic compounds in different ways. On the one hand, when phenolic compounds are incorporated by insoluble (non-extractable) dietary fibers with hydrogen or covalent bonds, the absorption of phenolic compounds in the small intestine becomes ineffective, then these compounds are fermented by bacteria in large intestine and their bioavailability can be altered. On the other hand, it was stated that some fermentable fibers such as inulin, resistant starches and fructooligosaccharides could cause to increase the microbiota fermentation of polyphenols (Bohn, 2014).

### 2.4.2 Phenolic – Lipid Interactions

Polyphenols can interact with lipids from food sources by generally hydrophobic bonding as well as hydrogen and covalent bonds. Lipid-polyphenol complexes may cause a reduction in lipid absorption. In addition, the access of free radicals to lipid molecules can be prevented by the presence of polyphenols in the lipid molecules, resulting in reduced lipid oxidation and consequently reduced formation of harmful lipid oxidation products (Jakobek, 2015).

Dietary lipids increase the gastrointestinal transit time and may alter the kinetics of polyphenol absorption (Bohn, 2014). When lipids interact with polyphenols, they can capture polyphenols and protect them during passage through the gastrointestinal tract (Gorelik et al., 2013).

Various studies have been carried out to understand the bioavailability of phenolic substances in the presence of the lipids in different foods (Table 2.8).

Source	Phenolic Compounds	Methods	Results	References
Refined olive oil and tomato sauce	Naringenin, Routine, 5- CQA, Caffeic and Ferulic Acid	<i>in vivo</i> bioavailability in human blood and urine samples	(+) Bioavailability	(Martínez- Huélamo et al., 2016)
Breakfast meals in different amounts of fat	Quercetin	<i>in vivo</i> bioavailability in human blood plasma samples	(+) Bioavailability	(Guo et al., 2013)
Extra Virgin/Refined Olive Oil	Naringenin, Ferulic and Caffeic Acid	<i>in vivo</i> bioavailability in human blood plasma and urine samples	(+) Bioavailability	(Tulipani et al., 2012)
Olive oil	Olive Oil/Thyme Phenols	<i>in vivo</i> bioavailability in human blood and urine samples	(+) Bioaccessibility	(Rubió et al., 2014)
Fat-rich breakfast meals	Xanthone	<i>in vivo</i> bioavailability in human blood and urine samples	(+) Bioavailability	(Chitchumroo nchokchai et al., 2012)
Oil (Triacylglycerol ) & Mango	Mango Polyphenols	<i>in vitro</i> gastrointestinal digestion model	(+) Bioaccessibility	(Liu et al., 2016)
Fatty Yogurt (Milk Oil ) & Curcumin	Curcumin	<i>in vitro</i> gastrointestinal digestion model	(+) Bioaccessibility	(Fu et al., 2016)
Oil (Dairy Oils) & Blueberry	Anthocyanins	<i>in vitro</i> gastrointestinal digestion model	(+) Bioaccessibility	(Ribnicky et al., 2014)
Hazelnut Oil & Goat Horn Flour	Phenolic acids Flavonoids	<i>in vitro</i> gastrointestinal digestion model	(+) Bioaccessibility	(Ortega et al., 2011)
Oil (Linoleic Acid) & Pomegranate	Anthocyanins	<i>in vitro</i> gastrointestinal digestion model	(+) Bioaccessibility	(Sengul et al., 2014)
Soybean oil, Olive oil & Corn oil	Galangin, Quercetin, Kaempferol, Myricetin	<i>in vitro</i> Caco-2/ HT29-MTX cell culture model	(+) Bioaccessibility	(Jailani and Williamson, 2014)

 Table 2.8 : Studies on lipid – phenolic interactions.

(+:increase, -:decrease, =:not significant difference)

Martínez-Huélamo et al. (2016) examined the effect of refined olive oil addition on the tomato polyphenols recovery and results showed that the bioavailability of the polyphenols in the blood and urine samples increased (Martínez-Huélamo et al., 2016). Moreover, Guo et al. (2013) conducted a study with overweight and adult volunteers whom were provided by non-fat (<0.5 g), low-fat (4 g) and high-fat (15.4 g) breakfasts, each containing equal amounts of quercetin. It was found that plasma quercetin concentration levels enhanced by 45% with the consumption of high fat containing breakfast than that of the fat free trial (Guo et al., 2013). Similarly, ascending bioavailability of tomato phenolic substances in blood plasma and urine samples were achieved with the addition of extra virgin and refined olive oil (Tulipani et al., 2012). Furthermore, Chitchumroonchokchai et al. (2012) investigated the recovery of mangosteen juice polyphenols when consumed with a high-fat breakfast. The absorption of the xanthines was found to be 2% higher in the urine and blood samples when the juice was consumed with oil (Chitchumroonchokchai et al., 2012). In another study, Liu et al. (2016) explored the effect of triacyl glycerols on the bioaccessibility of the phenolic compounds in mango phenolic compounds. This study showed that the bioaccessibility of carotenoids in mangoes increased in long-chain triglycerides containing emulsion than that of medium chain triglycerides one; resulting with the large enough hydrophobic regions in long-chain triglycerides to incorporate long nonpolar bioactive molecules (Liu et al., 2016). Fu et al. (2016) compared the impact of different food matrix including aqueous and fatty yogurt on the recovery of curcumin. A glance at the results reveals that curcumin in yoghurt was 15 times more bioaccessible than that of aqueous phase (Fu et al., 2016). The change in the bioaccessibility of pomegranate anthocyanins within the fat-rich food matrixes were also examined by *in vitro* gastrointestinal digestion model. According to the results, it was obtained that linoleic acid had a positive effect on total antioxidant capacity and bioaccessibility of the pomegranate phenolics (Sengul et al., 2014).

Moreover, absorption behavior of flavonoids – dietary lipids complexes was investigated by means of Caco-2 / HT29-MTX co-culture model. It was found that the hydrophobicity of the flavonoids was the main factor effecting the recovery. In the baser lateral chamber, the addition of oil increased the formation of quercetin and kaempferol conjugates 3 and 4 times, respectively, than that of control sample (without oil) (Jailani and Williamson, 2014).

In conclusion, when the interactions between lipid food matrix and phenolic substances were examined by the *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies, it was shown that bioaccessibility and/or bioavailability of the polyphenols generally found to be positively affected from this food matrix.

#### 2.4.3 Phenolic – Protein Interactions

Phenolic compounds and proteins in food matrix could bind in different ways such as reversible - hydrogen bonds (non-covalent hydrophobic interactions) and irreversible - covalent bonds. Several parameters including molecular weight, structural flexibility and number of OH groups of polyphenols affect the strength of the bonds (Jakobek, 2015). The interactions between protein and phenolic substances can also be influenced temperature, pH, type and concentration of protein and phenolic compounds (Ozdal et al., 2013).

The influence of the protein – phenolic interactions on the bioaccessibility/bioavailability of the phenolic substances have been investigated by both *in vivo* and *in vitro* experiments (Table 2.9).

Green et al. (2007) studied about the effects of different protein sources (bovine, soy and rice milk) on green tea phenolic substances. Results indicated that total catechin recovery slightly increased to 52%, 55% and 69% with the addition of bovine, soy and rice milk, respectively (Green et al., 2007). Similar results were also obtained by Qiu et al. (2017) that bioaccessibility of resveratrol was increased from 54.9% to 70.1% with the formation of gliadin - resveratrol complex (Qiu et al., 2017). In another study, Keogh et al. (2007) evaluated the effect of milk proteins on the bioavailability of the cocoa phenolic compounds. According to the results, milk proteins did not influence the average concentration of polyphenols; however, they accelerated the absorption of polyphenols (Keogh et al., 2007). Neilson et al. (2009) were also demonstrated that milk proteins did not affect the bioaccessibility and bioavailability of the polyphenols in various confectionary products including cocoa beverages, dark, high sucrose and high milk chocolate (Neilson et al., 2009). Furthermore, the effects of proteins from various sources on the recovery of the phenolic substances were investigated. It was concluded that proteins had no effect on the bioavailability of phenolic compounds in the human blood and urine samples (Draijer et al., 2016).

<b>Protein Source</b>	Phenolic Compounds	Methods	Results	References
Bovine, soy and rice milk proteins	Green tea catechins (epicatechin, epigallo-catechin, epigallocatechin-gallate, epicatechin-gallate)	<i>in vitro</i> gastrointestinal digestion model	(+) Bioaccessibility	(Green et al., 2007)
Gliadin	Resveratrol	<i>in vitro</i> gastrointestinal digestion model	(+) Bioaccessibility	(Qiu et al., 2017)
Milk proteins	Cocoa phenolic compounds (catechins and epicatechins)	<i>in vivo</i> bioavailability in human blood samples	(=) Bioavailability	(Keogh et al., 2007)
Milk proteins	Cocoa phenolic compounds ((-)- epicatechins)	<i>in vivo</i> bioavailability in human blood samples	(=) Bioavailability	(Roura et al., 2007)
Milk proteins	Chocolate phenolic compounds (flavan-3-ols)	<i>in vivo</i> bioavailability in human blood samples <i>in vitro</i> Caco-2 cell culture method	(=) Bioavailability (=) Bioaccessibility	(Neilson et al., 2009)
Milk & soy proteins	Grapes and wine phenolic compounds (resveratrol, epicatechin, catechin, valerolactone, m-valerolactone, m-gallic acid, isorhamnetin)	<i>in vivo</i> bioavailability in human blood and urine samples	(=) Bioavailability	(Draijer et al., 2016)
Milk proteins	Black tea phenolic compounds (catechins, quercetins and kaempferol)	<i>in vivo</i> bioavailability in human blood samples	(=) Bioavailability	(Kyle et al., 2007)
Milk proteins	Instant coffee phenolic compounds (caffeic acid, ferulic acid, isoferulic acid)	<i>in vivo</i> bioavailability in human blood samples	(=) Bioavailability	(Renouf et al., 2009)

# Table 2.9 : Studies on protein – phenolic interactions.

Protein Source	Phenolic Compounds	Methods	Results	References
Milk proteins	Coffee phenolic compounds (chlorogenic acid, caffeic acid, p-coumaric acid, ferulic acid)	<i>in vitro</i> Caco-2 cell culture method	(=) Bioaccessibility	(Dupas et al., 2006)
Probiotic yoghurt proteins	Soy isoflavone	<i>in vivo</i> bioavailability in human blood and urine samples	(=) Bioavailability	(Larkin et al., 2007)
Milk proteins	Jujube juice phenolic compounds (caffeic acid, gallic acid, 4-hydroxybenzoic acid, 3- (4-hydroxyphenyl) propionic acid, mandelic acid, protocatechuic acid, quercetin,quercetin galactoside)	<i>in vivo</i> bioavailability in rat blood samples	(=) Bioavailability	(Zhang et al., 2012)
Milk proteins	Coffee phenolic compounds (chlorogenic acid, caffeoyl-1,5- quinolactones)	<i>in vivo</i> bioavailability in human urine samples	(-) Bioavailability	(Duarte and Farah, 2011)
Milk proteins	Blueberry phenolic compounds (caffeic and ferulic acid)	<i>in vivo</i> bioavailability in human blood samples	(-) Bioavailability	(Serafini et al., 2009)
Milk proteins	Fruit juice phenolic compounds (Caffeic acid Chlorogenic acid Ferulic acid p-coumaric acid p-hydroxybenzoic acid Hesperidin Naringenin Quercetin Rutin)	<i>in vitro</i> gastrointestinal digestion method	(-) Bioaccessibility	(Rodríguez-Roque et al., 2015)

# Table 2.9 (continued) : Studies on protein – phenolic interactions.

Protein Source	Phenolic Compounds	Methods	Results	References
Milk proteins	Black tea phenolic compounds (theobromine, theogallin, epicatechin, epigallocatechin, epicatechin gallate, epigallocatechin gallate)	Flow-mediated dilation (FMD) of human blood vessels	(-) Bioavailability	(Lorenz et al., 2007)
Milk Proteins (casein and bovine serum albumin)	Black and green tea phenolic compounds (quercetin, rutin)	<i>in vitro</i> colorimetric method by using electrogenated bromine	(-) Bioaccessibility	(Nizamova et al., 2011)
Casein and Whey Protein	Oat phenolic compounds (avenanthramide, gallic acid, protocatechuic acid, 4- hydroxybenzoic acid, vanillic acid, caffeic acid, ferulic acid)	<i>in vitro</i> gastrointestinal digestion model	(-) Bioaccessibility	(Chen et al., 2019)
Milk/yoghurt/soy milk proteins	Anthocyanins	<i>in vitro</i> gastrointestinal digestion model	(-) Bioaccessibility	(Sengul et al., 2014)
Mucin protein	Olive oil phenolic compounds (cinnamic, p-coumaric, caffeic, vanillic, protocatechuic acids, tyrosol, hydroxytyrosol oleuropein)	Polyphenol–mucin interaction assay	(-) Bioaccessibility	(Quintero-Flórez et al., 2015)

 Table 2.9 (continued) : Studies on protein – phenolic interactions.

(+: increase, -: decrease, =: not significant difference)

Similarly, Kyle et al. (2007), Renouf et al. (2009), Dupas et al. (2006a), Larkin et al. (2007) and Zhang et al. (2012) also found that there was not any effect of proteins on the bioaccessibility/bioavailability of phenolic compounds. On the other hand, Duarte and Farah (2011) indicated that consumption of milk with coffee influenced adversely and decreased the bioavailability of chlorogenic acids. The recovery of the chlorogenic acid was found to be  $40\% \pm 27\%$  for coffee-milk, whereas  $68\% \pm 20\%$  for coffee alone (Duarte and Farah, 2011). In another study, milk proteins had a descending effect on the absorption of ferulic acid (-19.8%) and caffeic acid (-49.7%) in blueberries (Serafini et al., 2009). Additionally, Rodríguez-Roque et al. (2015) examine the potential efficacy of milk and phenolic compounds interactions from different kinds of fruit juices (orange, kiwi, pineapple and mango). The results indicated that the milk proteins could reduce the bioaccessibility of phenolic substances. While total phenolic compound content was found to be  $16.8 \pm 0.3$  in water-fruit juice sample, it was 15.0  $\pm$  0.3 in soy-milk fruit juice blend and 12.7  $\pm$  0.3 in milk-fruit juice blend (Rodríguez-Roque et al., 2015). Similarly, Lorenz et al. (2007), Nizamova et al. (2011), Chen et al. (2019), Sengul et al. (2014) and Quintero-Flórez et al. (2015) were also found decreased bioaccessibility/ bioavailability of phenolic substances by addition of the proteins.

On the other hand, interactions between protein and phenolic substances can be influenced by many factors such as temperature, pH, type and concentration of protein and phenolic compounds Ozdal et al. (2013). Furthermore, Ozdal et al. (2013) stated that temperature have strengthening and debilitating effect on protein-phenolic bond structure. Also, it was noted that this bond structure will strengthen in the low pH range. Strengthening of bonds in low pH environment is interpreted as a factor that decreases bioavailability of both substances; this finding may be a valid reason for the decrease in bioavailability of phenolic substances in acidic fruits. In addition to these, it was reported that there is a linear relationship between the molecular size of phenolic substances and the binding capacity of proteins (Ozdal et al., 2013).

# 2.4.4 Others

In addition to major food matrix constituents such as proteins, lipids and carbohydrates, phenolic compounds as well as vitamins are also able to influence the bioaccessibility/ bioavailability of the polyhenols. The studies including phenolic-phenolic and vitamin-phenolic interactions are reported in Table 2.10.

Phenolic Compound	Phenolic/Vitamin Compound	Methods	Results	References
Oligomers- Heptamers	Procyanidins	<i>in vitro</i> Caco-2 cell culture method	(+) Bioaccessibility	(Kosińska and Andlauer, 2012)
Tetramer proanthocyanidins	Procyanidin B2	<i>in-situ</i> perfusion of the small intestine of rats	(+) Bioavailability	(Appeldoorn et al., 2009)
Apple procyanidin oligomers	Apple procyanidins with high molecular weight	<i>in vivo</i> bioavailability in rat blood samples	(+) Bioavailability	(Shoji et al., 2006)
Rosmarinic acid	Apigenin and luteolin	<i>in vitro</i> Caco-2 cell culture method	(+) Bioaccessibility	(Falé et al., 2013)
Hesperetin	Isoflavones and flavones	<i>in vitro</i> Caco-2 cell culture method	(+) Bioaccessibility	(Brand et al., 2010)
Catechin	Ascorbic acid	<i>in vitro</i> Caco-2 cell culture model	(+) Bioaccessibility	(Peters et al., 2010)
(-) Epigallocatechin- 3-gallate	Ascorbic acid	<i>in vivo</i> bioavailability in human blood samples	(+) Bioavailability	(Gawande et al., 2008)

 Table 2.10 : Studies on phenolic - phenolic and phenolic - vitamin interactions.

(+: increase, -: decrease, =: not significant difference)

Kosińska and Andlauer (2012) stated that some constituents (oligomers up to heptamers) in the purified cocoa powder extract could enhance the bioaccessibility of small procyanidins (Kosińska and Andlauer, 2012). In another study, Appeldoorn et al. (2009) pointed out a study that bioavailability of procyanidin B2 was increased by the addition of tetramer proanthocyanidins (Appeldoorn et al., 2009). Similar trends were also obtained by Shoji et al. (2006) that absorption of apple procyanidin oligomers was affected by procyanidins with high molecular weight ( $\geq$  8-mer). Due to the fact that procyanidins with high molecular weight bound to mucosal proteins, procyanidin oligomers did not be affected from these proteins and were absorbed more, resulting with the increasing bioaccessibility of procyanidin oligomers (Shoji et al., 2006). Moreover, bioaccessibility of rosmarinic acid has been ascended by the addition of apigenin and luteolin (Falé et al., 2013). Brand et al. (2010) were also obtained that similar transporting the hesperetin through Caco-2 cells could be enhanced by the use of some phenolic compounds such as isoflavones and flavones (Brand et al., 2010).

Addition to these, the positive effects of phenolic-vitamin interactions on the recovery of the phenolic compounds have been stated. Peters et al. (2010) declared that catechin absorption rate was found to be 2.5 to 3 times higher with the addition of ascorbic acid (Peters et al., 2010). Similarly, the intake of (-) epigallocatechin-3-gallate enhanced by 14 to 27% with the use of ascorbic acid (Gawande et al., 2008).

Consequently, it has been noticed that bioavailability of the phenolic compounds are generally limited due to the some transporter constituents in the small intestine. These transporter compouns are blocked by the addition of phenolic or vitamins; therefore there is an enhanced effect of phenolic/vitamin- phenolic interactions on the bioaccessibility/bioavailability of the phenolic compounds.

# 3. RETENTION OF POLYPHENOLS AND VITAMIN C IN CRANBERRYBUSH PURÉE (VIBURNUM OPULUS) BY MEANS OF NON-THERMAL TREATMENTS<sup>2</sup>

#### 3.1 Abstract

The effect of high pressure processing (HPP; 200-600 MPa for 5 or 15 min) and pulsed electric field (PEF; 3 kV/cm, 5-15 kJ/kg) treatment on physicochemical properties (conductivity, pH and total soluble solids content), bioactive compounds (vitamin C, total phenolic (TPC), total flavonoid (TFC), total anthocyanin (TAC) and chlorogenic acid contents), antioxidant capacities (DPPH and CUPRAC assays) and polyphenol oxidase (PPO) activity of cranberrybush purée were evaluated immediately after processing. The results were compared to an untreated purée. Results showed that conductivity increased significantly after PEF (15 kJ/kg) treatment. PEF and HPP treatments resulted with a better retention of bioactive compounds (increase in the TPC in the range of  $\sim$ 4 – 11% and  $\sim$ 10 – 14% and TFC in the range of  $\sim$ 1 – 5% and  $\sim$ 6 – 8% after HPP and PEF, respectively) and antioxidant capacity (as measured with CUPRAC method) compared to untreated sample. HPP reduced residual enzyme activity of PPO comparatively better than PEF.

**Key words:** Non-thermal technologies, high pressure processing (HPP), pulsed electric field (PEF), cranberrybush, bioactive compounds, polyphenols, antioxidant capacity, enzyme activity

### 3.2 Introduction

*Viburnum* species (Adoxaceae) exhibit a widespread natural distribution in the world. Among 230 species, *V. opulus* L., *V. orientale* Pallas, *V. lantana* L., and *V. tinus* L. are recorded in the flora of Turkey. *V. opulus* (European cranberrybush) fruits are called as Gilaburu in Anatolia (Barak et al., 2019). Red-coloured berries of European

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This chapter is based on the paper "Ozkan, G., Stübler, A. S., Aganovic, K., Drraeger, G., Esatbeyoglu, T., and Capanoglu, E. (2021). Retention of polyphenols and vitamin C in cranberrybush purée (Viburnum opulus) by means of non-thermal treatments. Food Chemistry, 129918."

cranberrybush have a strong astringent taste and its own unique aroma (Velioglu et al., 2006). They are also used locally for making traditional drink, jam, jelly and marmalade, and considering their high pectin contents at consumption ripeness in early autumn, additional pectin is not required (Cam and Hisil, 2007). Since the berries have resistance to cold weather, it is also possible to harvest the fruits in winter months with decreased bioactive substances, but increased dry matter and sugar contents (Nikitina, 1998). In Turkish folk medicine, *V. opulus* have been used for its healing properties due to antimicrobial (Sagdic et al., 2006), antioxidant (Ersoy et al., 2017), antidiabetic (Altun et al., 2008), diuretic (Bae et al., 2010), hypoglycemic and cough reliever (Fujita et al., 1995) properties. Meanwhile, it is also reported that fruits are used against kidney problems, including to pass stone/sand (Ilhan et al., 2014).

Conventional thermal treatments have a deleterious impact on bioactive contents of berry purées, juices and extracts. For example; Klopotek et al. (2005) reported 65 and 85% loss for ascorbic acid and total phenolics, respectively, after thermal pasteurization of strawberry juice. Due to the increasing demand on minimally processed healthy foods with improved nutritional quality, sensory properties and long shelf-life, novel non-thermal food processing technologies such as high pressure prosessing (HPP), pulsed electric fields (PEF) or ultrasound are widely investigated and partly find industrial application (Ozkan et al., 2019). HPP is increasingly used to improve microbiological safety and extend the shelf-life of food products with minimal influence on the physical, nutritional and sensory properties (Jofré et al., 2010). Hydrostatic pressure is applied from 100 to 1000 MPa for 30 s to a few minutes at room or mild processing temperatures (<60 °C) to solid, liquid, packaged, or unpackaged foods (Norton and Sun, 2008). With regard to the use of PEF, short duration pulses of the applied electric field affect the permeability of biological membranes resulting in reversible or irreversible permeabilization. Strong electric fields in the range of 5–50 kV/cm are applied to ensure complete, irreversible inhibition of vegetative microbial cells (Toepfl et al., 2006). In addition to these, greater permeability and cell disintegration in the plant tissues may also enhance the release of the intracellular bioactive substances (Puértolas et al., 2010). Besides, it has been demonstrated that PEF treatment at electric field strengths between 0.5 and 1.5 kV/cm is sufficient in terms of release of anthocyanins from grape skin cells (Delsart et al., 2012). Both technologies have been tested in several fruits and vegetables,

including raspberry and blueberry purées (Medina-Meza et al., 2016), grape juice (Leong et al., 2016a), carrot purée (Leong et al., 2015), carrot juice (Stinco et al., 2019), apple and cranberry juice blend (Caminiti et al., 2011), aronia purée (Yuan et al., 2018), orange juice (Timmermans et al., 2011), exotic fruit juice blend (Buniowska et al., 2017), strawberry purée (Aaby et al., 2018; Marszałek et al., 2015; Patras et al., 2009) and tomato juice (Min et al., 2003), among others.

Therefore, the aim of this research was to understand the effect of different HPP (at 200 600 MPa for 5 or 15 min) and PEF (3 kV/cm, 5-15 kJ/kg) treatments on the release of bioactive compounds from cranberrybush purée. To achieve this objective, physicochemical properties, residual enzyme activities, bioactive contents as well as antioxidant capacities of HPP/PEF-treated and untreated cranberrybush purées were critically evaluated. Although there have been some reports on the bioactive characteristics of cranberrybush grown in different parts of the world, to the best of our knowledge, this is the first study that has been conducted to investigate the effects of novel approaches to obtain extracts from Turkish *V. Opulus* fruits.

#### **3.3 Materials and Methods**

#### 3.3.1 Chemicals

All chemicals and standards used in the analyses were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim, Germany). The quality of all chemicals was of analytical or LC-MS grade.

#### 3.3.2 Preparation of cranberrybush purée

Fresh cranberrybush (*Viburnum opulus* L.) at commercial maturity was obtained in December 2019 from a local grower in Kayseri (Turkey). After harvest, fruit samples were stored in water at room temperature in dark until further use. Before treatments, they were visually screened for any damage and manually destemmed. Cranberrybush purée was prepared on the day of the experiment by homogenising whole fruit samples (2 kg for each batch) using a blender (Blendtec Classic 575, Bad Homburg, Germany) for two cycles of 10 s at low speed (16 000 g), followed by a subsequent 10 s cycle at high speed (22 000 g). Three independent batches (n = 3) were prepared for each untreated control, HPP- and PEF-treated samples.

#### 3.3.3 High pressure processing (HPP)

The cranberrybush purée was processed by using industrial-scale HPP equipment (Wave 6000/55, Hiperbaric S.A., Burgos Spain). Prior to the treatment, the cranberrybush purée was vacuum-packed and heat sealed in low density polyethhylene pouches (LDPE). The packed purée was then subjected to a pressure of 200, 400 and 600 MPa for 5 or 15 min at ambient temperature ( $20 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C). Water was used as medium for transmitting pressure. Finally, the purée was packed into sterilized falcons and stored at -80 °C until analysis.

#### 3.3.4 Pulsed electric field (PEF) treatment

PEF treatment was conducted by using a pilot scale PEF batch system (PEF Pilot, Elea GmbH, Germany). The system provided a voltage up to 30 kV and monopolar, exponential decay pulses with pulse duration of 40 ms. The PEF operating settings applied were: constant pulse width of 20  $\mu$ s, 3 kV/cm electric field strengths, 6 kV voltage, different specific energy inputs as 5, 10 and 15 kJ/kg and constant pulse frequency of 2 Hz (0.5 s). The specific energy intake *Wspec* (kJ/kg) and the electric field strength *E* (kV/cm) were calculated according to the following equations (3.1) and (3.2).

$$Wspec = (U^2C.n)/2m \tag{3.1}$$

$$E = U/d \tag{3.2}$$

where *n* (dimensionless) is the number of pulses; *m* is the total weight of cranberrybush purée (kg); U is the voltage (kV) and d is the distance between the electrodes (cm); C is the capacitance  $(1 \ \mu F)$ .

The treatment chamber had a 2 cm electrode gap and a volume of 17 ml. Following the treatment, the samples were stored at -80 °C until analysis.

#### 3.3.5 Conductivity, pH and total soluble solids measurements

Conductivity and pH were determined using an electrical conductivity meter (LabQuest 2-Vernier, Beaverton, USA) and pH meter (Inolab, Wuppertal, Germany), respectively.

Total soluble solids content (TSSC) of cranberrybush purée, expressed in °Brix, was measured at 20 °C using a hand-held refractometer (Atago, Master Refractometer, Japan).

#### 3.3.6 Determination of vitamin C content by HPLC with fluorescence detection

Dehydro-/Ascorbic acid was determined according to the method of Kneifel & Sommer (1985). A sample of 5 g cranberrybush purée was homogenized with 100 mL acid composed of 0.77 M *m*-phosphoric acid and 3.5 M acetic acid solution in water. The homogenate was mixed with activated charcoal for the reduction of L-ascorbic acid to dehydro-L-ascorbic acid and followed by separation with a pleated filter. Then, 10 mL phenylenediamine solution was added to 4 mL of the diluted filtrate (x 100) and mixed for 90 min on a magnetic stirrer. After membrane filtration (0.45  $\mu$ m) and incubation for 16 hours in the dark at room temperature, the samples were injected (20 $\mu$ L) and separated on an HPLC system (HPLC Alliance Waters Separations Modul 2695, Eschborn, Germany) equipped with a column LiChrospher 100 RP 18 (5  $\mu$ m, 250 x 4 mm) and detected by a fluorescence detector (Fluorescence Detector 2475 Multi Lambda, Eschborn, Germany). The emission was set at 430 nm and the extinction at 350 nm. The mobile phase was consisted of 50% methanol with 92 mM sodiumacetate, 4.6 mM phosphoric acid and 21 mM acetic acid at isocratic conditions with a flow rate of 0.8 mL/min.

#### 3.3.7 Determination of polyphenol oxidase (PPO) activity

The extraction of PPO was carried out according to the procedure described by Zhao et al. (2010) with some modifications. Cranberrybush purée samples (X g) were homogenised with (1.5 X mL) Na-phosphate buffer (50 mM, pH 6.0, containing 1 M NaCl). The homogenates were centrifuged at 11,000 g and 4 °C for 20 min (Megafuge 8R; Thermo Scientific, Darmstadt, Germany). The supernatant was collected and kept in an ice-water bath until performing the assay, but no longer than 3 h.

The measurement was performed at 25 °C at 420 nm using UV/visible spectrophotometer (Tecan Spark, Männedorf, Switzerland) (Siguemoto and Gut, 2017). The reaction mixture consisted of 100  $\mu$ L of Na-phosphate buffer (pH 6.5) and 33  $\mu$ L of the sample incubated for 1 min. A freshly prepared solution of pyrocatechol

(50 mM, 67  $\mu$ L) was added and the change in absorbance was monitored every 10 s for 3 min. Determinations were performed in triplicate.

The reference value was determined using a blank solution containing Na-phosphate buffer and pyrocatechol. One unit of enzymatic activity (U) is defined as an absorbance increase of 0.001 per minute under the assay conditions.

The residual activity (RA) of enzymes is estimated with the following equation (3.3):

Residual PPO activity = 
$$A/A0$$
 (3.3)

where A is the PPO activity after treatment and A<sub>0</sub> is the PPO activity before treatment.

# 3.3.8 Extraction of polyphenols

The extraction of polyphenols was performed according to the procedure described by Leong et al. (2016a) with some modifications. Extraction of polyphenols in cranberrybush purée (5 g) was performed by adding 5 mL acidified methanol with 0.1% formic acid (v/v) to the sample. Afterwards, the mixture was vortexed for 10 s and left overnight (12 h) at 4 °C. The following day, the mixture was centrifuged for 15 min at 4,000 rpm and 4 °C (Megafuge 8R; Thermo Scientific, Darmstadt, Germany). This extraction protocol was repeated three times and the supernatants were pooled to a final volume of 15 mL. Then, the supernatant was filtered through a 0.20  $\mu$ m pore size polytetrafluoroethylene filter and stored at -80 °C until further analysis.

#### 3.3.9 Identification of polyphenols by UPLC-QTOF-MS/MS

Identification of cranberrybush polyphenols was adapted from a previously published method with minor modifications (Kamiloglu, 2019). Before LC-MS analysis, extracts of different processing conditions were passed through 0.20 μm membrane filters. LC-MS analysis was performed on a Waters Acquity UPLC system (Waters Co., Milford, MA, USA) connected to a Waters Q-Tof Premier mass spectrometer equipped with an electrospray ionisation (ESI) source. The UPLC system was equipped with a binary pump with degasser, autosampler, tunable UV (TUV) detector and a column manager. For chromatographic separation, a Waters Acquity UPLC BEH Phenyl (2.1\*100mm, 1.7μm) column was used. Mobile phase consisting of formic acid/MQ water (1/1000, v/v; eluent A) and formic acid/acetonitrile (1/1000, v/v; eluent B) was used. The linear

gradient was as follows: 0 min, 5% B; 0-6.48 min, 35% B; 6.48-6.77 min, 100% B; 6.77-8.00 min, 100% B; 8.00-8.10 min, 5% B. The injection volume was 10  $\mu$ L, and the flow rate was set at 0.6 mL/min. The column temperature was kept at 45 °C, while the temperature of the autosampler was held at 10 °C. ESI-MS analysis was performed in negative and positive modes. Collision energies of 15 V (for low energy) and 30 V (for high energy) were used for full-scan LC-MS in the *m/z* range 100–1500. Acquisition and integration of chromatograms were performed using the Masslynx V4.1 software from Waters.

#### **3.3.10** Quantification of chlorogenic acid using UPLC-UV

The method for determination of chlorogenic acid by UPLC was adapted from Kamiloglu et al. (2019) with minor modifications. Extracts obtained from different processing conditions were passed through 0.20  $\mu$ m membrane filters and injected into a Waters Acquity UPLC system (Waters Co., Milford, MA, USA) coupled with a TUV detector. A Waters Acquity UPLC BEH Phenyl (2.1\*100mm, 1.7 $\mu$ m) column was used as stationary phase. The following solvents with a flow rate of 0.6 mL/min and injection volume of 10  $\mu$ L at 330 nm were used for spectral measurements: formic acid/MQ water (1/1000, v/v; eluent A) and formic acid/acetonitrile (1/1000, v/v; eluent B). The linear gradient was as follows: 0 min, 5% B; 0-6.48 min, 35% B; 6.48-6.77 min, 100% B; 6.77-8.00 min, 100% B; 8.00-8.10 min, 5% B. Chlorogenic acid was quantified by using its authentic standard. For calibration curves, chromatographic peak area of the standards versus nominal concentrations were plotted. All results were expressed as milligrams chlorogenic acid per 100 g fw (fresh weight) of sample. Each measurement was carried out in three replicates.

#### 3.3.11 Spectrophotometric assays

Total phenolic content (TPC) was determined using Folin-Ciocalteu reagent as described previously by Singleton and Rossi (1965). The measurement was performed at 765 nm and the results were expressed as mg gallic acid equivalents (GAE) per 100 g fw sample.

Total flavonoid (TFC) content assay was performed according to Dewanto et al. (2002). The samples were analyzed at 510 nm and the results were expressed as mg rutin equivalents (RE) per 100 g fw sample.

The total monomeric anthocyanin content (TAC) was determined by pH differential method (Giusti and Wrolstad, 2001). Absorbances of samples diluted with pH 1.0 and pH 4.5 buffers were measured at 520 and 700 nm. The results are expressed as cyanidin-3-*O*-glucoside equivalents per 100 g fw by using the following formula:

$$TAC (mg/L) = (A \ x \ MW \ x \ DF \ x \ 1000)/(\varepsilon x \ 1)$$
 (3.4)

where A =  $(A520nm - A700nm)_{pH1.0} - (A520nm - A700nm)_{pH4.5}$ , MW is the molecular weight of cyanidin-3-*O*-glucoside (449.2 g/mol), DF is the dilution factor, 1000 is the conversion factor from g to mg,  $\varepsilon$  is the molar extinction coefficient of cyanidin-3-*O*-glucoside (26900 L/(mol.cm)), and l is the path length (cm).

The antioxidant activities were estimated by using the cupric ion reducing antioxidant capacity (CUPRAC) (Apak et al., 2004) and 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) (Molyneux, 2004) assays. In the assays, 6-hydroxy-2,5,7,8-tetramethylchroman-2-carboxylic acid (Trolox) was used as a standard. Results were expressed as mg Trolox equivalents (TE) per 100 g of fw sample.

#### 3.3.12 Statistical analysis

All experiments were conducted at least in triplicate. Results were reported as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. Error bars on figures represented standard deviations. Statistical analysis was applied using SPSS software (version 20.0, SPSS Inc. Chicago, IL, USA). Treatments were compared using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by a Tukey post hoc test (p < 0.05). The correlation coefficients ( $\mathbb{R}^2$ ) were calculated using Microsoft Office Excel 2016 software (Microsoft Co. Redmond, WA, USA).

#### **3.4 Results and Discussion**

#### **3.4.1** Physicochemical properties

The physicochemical characteristics measured in this study for all cranberrybush purée samples (control, HPP- and PEF-treated) included pH, total soluble solids and conductivity (Table 3.1). The initial pH value of cranberrybush purée was  $3.09 \pm 0.02$ . No significant differences were observed in all treated and untreated samples (p>0.05). Results indicated that HPP did not accelerate further liberation of organic acids from the intracellular matrix of cells, as already reported by Varela-Santos et al. (2012) in

pomegranate juice, Huang et al. (2016) in strawberry and raspberry purées, Yi et al. (2016) in kiwifruit purée, and Aaby et al. (2018) in strawberry purée. Furthermore, the results of this study are in line with earlier reports wherein pH of the raspberry and blueberry purées (Medina-Meza et al., 2016) and orange juice (Sánchez-Moreno et al., 2005) did not have significant variations after PEF treatment.

		Treatment	TSSC	Conductivity
-			(°Brix)	(µS/cm)
	ЧРР	Control	$9.00 \pm 0.001^{bcA}$	317.05±0.24 <sup>ab</sup>
		200 MPa/5 min	$8.90{\pm}0.14^{bcA}$	n.d.
		400 MPa/5 min	$9.00 \pm 0.08^{bcA}$	n.d.
		600 MPa/5 min	$8.90 \pm 0.08^{bcA}$	n.d.
		200 MPa/15 min	$9.07 \pm 0.05^{bcA}$	n.d.
		400 MPa/15 min	9.03±0.05 <sup>bcA</sup>	n.d.
		600 MPa/15 min	$8.97 \pm 0.12^{bcA}$	n.d.
	PEF	5 kJ/kg	9.20±0.16 <sup>abcA</sup>	317.10±0.25 <sup>ab</sup>
		10 kJ/kg	$9.47 \pm 0.41^{abA}$	$317.30{\pm}0.37^{ab}$
		15 kJ/kg	9.67±0.09 <sup>aA</sup>	317.97±0.17 <sup>a</sup>

 Table 3.1 : Physicochemical properties of cranberrybush purée samples\*.

\*Data is given as average values  $\pm$  standard deviation of three independent batches. Different small letters in the same column represent statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) between treatments. Different capital letters in the same column indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) within HPP or PEF treatments, individually, in comparison with the control. TSSC; total soluble solids content; n.d. : not determined.

The TSSC value of the control sample was found to be  $9.00\pm0.001$  % and HPP treatment did not have a significant effect on TSSC (p > 0.05). Similar results were also found in the studies on papaya beverage, apple juice, strawberry purée and multivegetables smoothies (Chen et al., 2015c; Abid et al., 2014; Aaby et al., 2018; Hurtado et al., 2019). On the other hand, the highest TSSC values were obtained after PEF, in particular with 10 and 15 kJ/kg specific energy inputs. The intracellular substances including solutes, sugars, bioactive compounds and juices are held by the cell membrane of any plants which acts as a physical barrier (Lamanauskas et al., 2015). The use of mild or moderate PEF can induce a reversible pore formation or the local rupture of the cell membrane in the tissues of plants, which encourage and accelerate the free flow of these intracellular substances (Pataro et al., 2011; Lamanauskas et al., 2015). Note that the previous studies evidence improvement of the extraction of phenolic compounds by PEF from red cherries (Sotelo et al., 2018), pomegranate peels (Rajha et al., 2019), apple juice (Praporscicet al., 2007), apple peels (Wang et al., 2020) as well as extraction of sugar from sugar beet (Vorobiev and Lebovka, 2012).

Electrical conductivity is a characteristic of a biological tissue which is used to evaluate the effectiveness of PEF treatment in terms of electric field strength output (Aronsson and Rönner, 2001). Following electroporation and intracellular content leakage, electrical conductivity of plant materials increases, resulting in cell membrane rupture (Tylewicz et al., 2016). Thus, it is necessary to monitor conductivity of the product to achieve a consistent output of electric field strengths. There was a little change in conductivity of the samples, especially PEF treatment at 15 kJ/kg specific energy input indicating that cell disruption with higher specific energy input caused release of minerals.

#### 3.4.2 PPO activity

The activity of some enzymes could be critical during purée processing due to their detrimental effects both on bioactives and the organoleptic characteristics of the final product (Martinez and Whitaker, 1995). The residual activity (RA; %) of PPO in cranberrybush purées after HPP and PEF treatments was measured (Figure 3.1). As shown in Figure 3.1, at 200 or 600 MPa, PPO activity gradually decreased by increasing pressure levels and extending the treatment times for HPP; the highest inactivation of PPO activity was 72.2 % at 600 MPa for 15 min. Cao et al. (2011) reported that the highest reduction of PPO activity in strawberry pulps was 51.5% at 600 MPa for 25 min. Aaby et al. (2018) reported that pressure treatment at 400, 500 and 600 MPa for 3 min reduced PPO activity with 11, 12 and 30%, respectively. Other studies indicated a complete inactivation of PPO. For example; Garcia-Palazon et al. (2004) showed a complete inactivation of PPO in strawberry fruits at 600 MPa for 15 min at room temperature. Dalmadi et al. (2006) indicated that there was a decrease in PPO activity in strawberries after HPP treatment at 500 MPa for 15 min; only 5% RA was detectable at 800 MPa for 15 min. Furthermore, PPO was completely inactivated in mango nectars after HPP treatment at 600 MPa for 1 min (Liu et al. 2014). The enzyme inactivation may be due to the dissociation or modification of the prosthetic group and conformational change in the enzyme (Akyol et al., 2006). The difference in pressure resistance of various PPOs to HPP may be affected by the cultivars, form of the products, pH, processing conditions, etc. (Cao et al. 2011). According to the results of this research, the reduction of PPO activity was different at 400 MPa compared with 200 or 600 MPa; RA of PPO was increased when the application time was increased from 5 min to 15 min. These results are in close agreement with other studies on the application of HPP for PPO inactivation in carrot and feijoa juices, where the authors also noted an increase in RA of PPO (Stingo et al., 2019; Ortuno et al., 2013). Higher residual PPO activity at higher pressure levels or treatment times may be as a result of mechanical disruption of plant cells and releasing of bound enzymes from the plant tissue (Stinco et al., 2019). Moreover, it could be also related to the pressure-activated latent form due to conformational changes of the enzyme (Akyol et al., 2006).



Figure 3.1 : Residual PPO activity of HPP- and PEF-treated samples.

In addition, PEF treatment showed a significant effect (p < 0.05) on the activity of PPO, with about 80.2 - 89.6 % of RA, depending on the specific energy input. This data indicates that PPO in cranberrybush purée showed higher resistance to PEF at selected intensities. The decrease of residual PPO activity with PEF treatment may stem from the conformational changes in enzyme structure (Huang et al., 2012). Medina-Meza et al. (2016) reported about 98 % RA of PPO in raspberry and about 80 % in blueberry purées after PEF treatment (388.1 and 244.4 W total specific energy for raspberry and blueberry purées, respectively and 66 µs treatment time). A remarkable inactivation of PPO after PEF treatment was also reported in several studies. Giner et al. (2001) reported a pronounced decrease in residual PPO activity up to 3.15% and 38.0% in apple extract and pear extract, respectively, after PEF treatment (22.3 kV/cm, 6 ms). These results are in agreement with Noci et al. (2008), who reported that there was about 45% RA in fresh apple juice after PEF treatment (6.67 s residence time and 100 pulses per transit), by using a lab-scale equipment. Furthermore, the RA of PPO in apple juice was reduced by 7.1-98.5%. PPO was almost completely inactivated after PEF treatment at 35 kV/cm and 2 µs pulse rise

time (Bi et al., 2013). On the other hand, Huang et al. (2019) presented that there was no significant effect (p > 0.05) on the activity of PPO in apricot with 0.625 – 1.25 kV/cm electric field strength and 30 – 60 s treatment time application. Similar results were also observed by Meneses et al. (2013). It was indicated that there was no inactivation of PPO in mushrooms after PEF treatment (13–32 kV/cm, 6–48 µs) at temperatures below 55 °C. According to the results of this study, RA was found to be ascended with increasing specific energy input, which was attributed to the release of PPO from cells as a result of electroporation. Indeed, similar results were previously obtained by Van Loey et al. (2001), who reported an enhanced PPO activity in squeezed apple juice after PEF treatment (31 kV/cm, 1000 pulses, 1 µs). These studies showed that the crucial factors affecting the PPO activity depend on the PEF processing conditions including electric field strength, number of pulses, pulse width, electrical energy density, pulse frequency, pulse shape, and pulse polarity (Poojary et al., 2017); characteristics of the treatment chamber and the liquid nature (conductivity) of the treated materials (Huang et al., 2012).

#### 3.4.3 Vitamin C content

Vitamin C is prone to degradation under the influence of pH, temperature and the presence of metal ions, oxygen, light and oxidative enzymes due to its less stable nature than other vitamins (Davey et al., 2000). The results regarding the effects of treatments of cranberrybush purée on bioactive compounds are shown in Figure 3.2. The vitamin C content of the control cranberrybush pure was  $37.9\pm0.01$  mg/100 g fw. This value is in the range of those previously reported by other authors (Ersoy et al., 2017). They reported from 27±2.8 to 35±3.1 mg vitamin C/100 g fw in ten cranberrybush genotypes. While vitamin C content in the control samples showed significant reduction after HPP application, there was no significant change in vitamin C content for the PEF-treated purées. This indicated that vitamin C was better preserved through PEF processing. Different studies have proven the effectiveness of PEF in achieving higher vitamin C retention. For instance, Leong et al. (2015) declared that the content of vitamin C in carrot juice was not significantly affected by PEF, which demonstrated that low intensity PEF did not have a promoting impact for the release of vitamin C from purée into the juice at the electric field strength from 0.1 to 1.1 kV cm<sup>-1</sup>. Additionaly, vitamin C content remained at initial levels after PEF
processing (1.5 kV/cm at 15 or 70 kJ/kg) of grape juice (Leong et al., 2016b); highintensity pulsed electric filed (HIPEF) processing (35 kV/cm for 1,700  $\mu$ s in bipolar 4  $\mu$ s pulses at 100 Hz) of strawberry juice (Odriozola-Serrano et al., 2008) and PEF treatment (40 kV/cm, a pulse duration time of 2  $\mu$ s, and a total PEF treatment time of 57  $\mu$ s) of tomato juice (Min et al., 2003).

Furthermore, significant differences were determined in the HPP-treated samples depending on the treatment pressure and exposure time. Levels of vitamin C in the samples treated at 200 and 400 MPa were significantly lower (~23% loss) than the fresh purée (p<0.05). On the other hand, pressurisation at 600 MPa/5 min preserved the majority of vitamin C in the samples (~90%). These results are in line with Patras et al. (2009), who indicated a significant reduction in ascorbic acid content of HPP-treated strawberry purées at 400 and 500 MPa/15 min, while retention (94%) of ascorbic acid content was found to be the highest by processing at 600 MPa/15 min. On the other hand, Marszałek et al. (2015) showed a decrease in the content of vitamin C in HPP-preserved strawberry purée at at 300 or 500 MPa for 1, 5 or 15 min.

### 3.4.4 Bioactive compounds

Spectrophotometric quantitation of phenolics, flavonoids, and anthocyanins are summarized in Figure 3.2. TPC and TFC were increased at elevated pressure levels and extended treatment times for HPP; and increasing the specific energy input for PEF. HPP and PEF caused an increase in the TPC in the range of  $\sim 4 - 11\%$  and  $\sim 10 - 14\%$ , respectively under different treatment conditions. Similar findings were reported by Yuan et al. (2018), indicating a 3–13% increase in TPC of HPP – treated (200 – 600 MPa/2.5-5 min) aronia purée. In addition, the increase in TFC was found to be  $\sim 1 - 5\%$  for HPP- and  $\sim 6 - 8\%$  for PEF- treated samples. However, mostly this increase was not statistically significant (p > 0.05). Only, the cranberrybush purée sample processed at 15 kJ/kg specific energy input resulted with significantly higher values (p < 0.05) for TPC and TFC compared to all other samples. Moussa-Ayoub et al. (2017) also demonstrated that PEF (specific energy input of 85 kJ/kg) and HPP (600 MPa/10 min) led to a significant increase in the content of cactus juice flavonols in comparison to the untreated juice.

The present study showed that the application of HPP and PEF on cranberrybush purée preserved TAC in all samples regardless of the processing intensity. There were no

significant changes in TAC; however a slightly increasing trend was obtained. These results were in agreement with the results from Yuan et al. (2018), which showed that high pressure processing at 400–600 MPa for 5 min did not influence the content of anthocyanins in aronia purées. Patras et al. (2009) reported that there was no significant change in TAC after HPP processing (400, 500, 600 MPa/15 min) of the strawberry and blackberry purées. Regarding the PEF application, it was reported that TAC content was increased by the high energy input PEF processing as compared to the control, and the low energy input PEF processing (Leong et al., 2016b). On the other hand, Howard et al. (2012) reviewed the processing (thermal pasteurization) effect on berry polyphenols and emphasized a degradation (~10%) in TAC of blueberry juices.

The slight increase in TPC, TFC and TAC may be triggered by the enhanced extractability of phenolic compounds in the HPP/PEF treated cranberrybush purée. High hydrostatic pressure applied to the food material could bring along a large pressure difference on either side of the cell membrane, resulting with improved cell permeability, mass transfer, and liberation of matrix bound phenolic compounds (Grunovaitė et al., 2016). Besides, the higher level of TPC, TFC and TAC in the HPP- and PEF-treated cranberrybush purée may also arise from the inactivation of the endogenous deteriorative enzymes (Błaszczak et al., 2017). While PPO and peroxidase (POD) activity degrading phenolic compounds,  $\beta$ -glucosidase is responsible for the degradation of anthocyanins (Suthanthangiai et al., 2005).

In this study, phenolic compounds in samples were analyzed both by spectrophotometric and chromatographic methods. It has been reported that analysis of TPC using Folin-Ciocalteu reagent may not be specific to phenolic compounds, because reducing compounds present in the sample including reducing sugars, certain amino acids, citric acid, dehydroascorbic acid may also interfere and the values can be overestimated (Capanoglu et al., 2018). Similarly, in the aluminium chloride assay used for the determination of TFC, phenolic acids may also interfere and give a quite strong reaction in the assay (Ho et al., 2012). Considering the lack of specificity in these spectrophotometric assays, chromatographic analysis of individual main polyphenols was also performed to obtain more accurate results.



**Figure 3.2 :** Changes in bioactive compounds (A) vitamin C, (B) TPC, (C) TFC, (D) TAC and (E) chlorogenic acid contents of the untreated, HPP- and PEF-treated cranberrybush samples.

Table 3.2 presents the list of identified compounds along with their detected accurate mass, molecular formula, error in ppm (between the mass found and the accurate mass < 10 ppm) of each phytochemical, as well as the MS/MS fragment ions. UPLC–QTOF–MS/MS analysis of cranberrybush led to the identification of flavan-3-ols (catechin, epicatechin, epi(catechin) hexoside), proanthocyanidins (procyanidin dimer, procyanidin trimer, procyanidin dimer monoglycoside), flavonols (quercetin, quercetin-deoxyhexose, quercetin-3-*O*-glucoside, quercetin pentoside hexoside, rutin, isorhamnetin-3-*O*-rutinoside), flavone (diosmetin-rhamnosylglucoside), phenolic

acids (caffeic acid, chlorogenic acid, coumaric acid, p-coumaroyl-quinic acid) as well as anthocyanins (cyanidin-3-glucoside, cyanidin-3-rutinoside and cyanidin-3-xylosylrutinoside). The identification of each polyphenol was carried out in negative and positive modes, based on the MS and fragmentation pattern, as well as by comparison with the data already reported in the literature. The polyphenol profile of cranberrybush was in agreement with those reported previously (Dienaitė et al., 2020; Barak et al., 2019; Yurkiv and Grytsyk, 2017). It has been reported that chlorogenic acid is the major compound of V. opulus (Barak et al., 2019, Karaçelik et al., 2015; Velioglu et al., 2006). Therefore, in this study, in order to screen the effects of HPP and PEF treatments on the individual phenolic compounds, chlorogenic acid content was investigated. Chlorogenic acid content of the untreated sample was found to be 125 mg/100 g fw of sample (Figure 3.2) which is much higher than those of other berry fruits (Mattson et al., 2021). Different cranberrybush samples were collected from Russia and investigated in terms of their chlorogenic acid content. Results varied from 250 to 580 mg chlorogenic acid per 100 g fresh fruits (Perova et al., 2014). Besides, it was determined as  $34.42 \pm 1.22$  mg/g dry extract by Barak et al. (2019) and 2037 mg/kg in juice by Velioglu et al. (2006) in cranberrybush samples collected from Turkey. The difference between the results may arise from the origin of the sample and/or storage conditions. Chlorogenic acid content was increased at elevated pressure levels and extended treatment times for HPP; and increasing the specific energy input for PEF. HPP and PEF caused an increase in the chlorogenic acid content in the range of  $\sim 6 - 7\%$  and  $\sim 5.6 - 11\%$ , respectively under different treatment conditions.

### 3.4.5 Antioxidant capacity

Antioxidant capacity measurement methods may be classified as hydrogen atom transfer (HAT)-based, electron transfer (ET)-based and mixed mode (ET- and HAT-based) assays (Capanoglu et al., 2018). The antioxidant quenching/scavenging activities of berries and fruits were found to be diverse by using different radical/oxidant sources (Prior et al., 2016). Thereby, in order to determine the influence of non-thermal food processing on the antioxidant capacity from a general perspective, the antioxidant capacity was determined by the CUPRAC and DPPH methods (Figure 3.3). CUPRAC is based on ET and DPPH is based on HAT. When CUPRAC method was used to measure antioxidant capacity, non-significant

differences were obtained after the HPP treatments, whereas PEF treatment at 15 kJ/kg resulted in a significant increase compared to the untreated sample due to greater amounts of phenolics and flavonoids being extracted. Moreover, positive significant correlations were found between TPC and CUPRAC ( $R^2 = 0.68$ ) and TFC and CUPRAC ( $R^2 = 0.73$ ); but a lower correlation was found as  $R^2 = 0.32$  between TAC and CUPRAC. Additionally, there was no significant variation in DPPH scavenging activity of all the corresponding extracts. A moderate correlation coefficient was found as  $R^2 = 0.50$  for vitamin C content. These results are in accordance to those found by other previous studies. Yuan et al. (2018) presented that HPP treatment (200 - 600 MPa/2.5-5 min) led to an insignificant increase in DPPH radical scavenging activity of aronia purée. Patras et al. (2009) reported that blackberry purée treated at 600 MPa for 15 min exhibited a significant increase by DPPH assay, while, strawberry purée treated at 400 MPa for 15 min had significantly lower antioxidant capacity as compared to the control. Medina-Meza et al. (2016) reported that while raspberry purée subjected to PEF at 388.1 W total specific energy input showed a significant increase in DPPH radical scavenging activity, there was no variation in the blueberry purée samples after 244.4 W specific energy input PEF application. Apple juice treated with PEF (1, 3 and 5 kV/cm electric field strength and 30 pulses total) showed no variation in the antioxidant capacities as measured with different methods (Soliva-Fortuny et al., 2009). Leong et al. (2016a) stated that all the PEF-treated grape juices showed an equivalent inhibitory effect against DPPH radicals (in the range of 62% and 66%). Similar results were also obtained by Buniowska et al. (2017), who reported an insignificant difference in DPPH results of exotic fruit juice blend obtained after PEF treatments (32 and 256 kJ/kg specific energy input).

Evaluating the effects of HPP and PEF techniques on the antioxidant capacity of the food products, it should be noticed that non-phenolic antioxidants such as ascorbic acid may be partially responsible for the overall antioxidant capacity of the samples. Besides, flavanones are anticipated to make a minor contribution in the DPPH assay (Khan et al., 2010). Furthermore, this was similar to the changes observed in TPC, TFC and TAC values which may be attributed to the combined influence of enhanced permeability and endogenous enzyme inactivation is discussed previously about the effect of HPP/PEF on vitamin C, enzyme activity and bioactive compounds.



**Figure 3.3 :** Changes in total antioxidant capacity (CUPRAC, DPPH) of the untreated, HPP- and PEF-treated cranberrybush samples.

### **3.5** Conclusion

In this study, increasing trend or high retention of bioactive compounds was achieved, with a potential extraction of vitamin C, phenolics, flavonoids and anthocyanins in cranberrybush purées after HPP and PEF treatments at selected processing intensities. The antioxidant capacity measured with CUPRAC assay evidenced a noticeable improvement after PEF processing at high specific energy input (15 kJ/kg). The results of this study provided promising perspectives for the use of HPP and PEF as novel non-thermal treatments for the release of cranberrybush polyphenols. Considering the different processing conditions for HPP and PEF as well as different matrices in every study, it is essential to investigate the endogenous enzyme activities, bioactive

compounds and antioxidant capacities together to verify the interactions between these parameters in each particular food.

Furthermore, physicochemical, nutritional, microbiological, and organoleptic properties of raw and treated samples should be evaluated during storage to analyze the long-term quality changes for future studies. Besides, some of the bioactive compounds may need time to be released after pressurization or electroporation. As a future aspect, it can be suggested that conducting *in vitro* or *in vivo* bioavailability studies to assess the final absorption and metabolism of cranberrybush antioxidants may provide beneficial data to obtain the full picture on the effects of non-thermal treatments. To conclude, a glance at the results reveals that HPP and PEF technologies could be used to enhance nutritional quality of berry purées.

RT (min)	Compound	Molecular Formula	Mode of ionization (ESI <sup>-</sup> /ESI <sup>+</sup> )	Theoretical m/z	Observed m/z	Mass Error (ppm)	<i>m/z</i> MS <sup>n</sup>	References
1.17	Coumaroyl-quinic acid	$C_{16}H_{18}O_8$	[M-H] <sup>-</sup>	337.0929	337.094	3.26	174	(Tang et al., 2020)
1.29	Cyanidin-3-glucoside	$C_{21}H_{20}O_{11}$	$[M+H]^+$	449.1078	449.1078	0	287	(Perova et al. 2014)
1.39	Cyanidin-3-rutinoside	$C_{27}H_{31}O_{15}$	$[M+H]^+$	595.1663	595.1660	-0.50	449, 287	(Perova et al. 2014)
1.42	Coumaroyl-quinic acid	$C_{16}H_{18}O_8$	[M-H] <sup>-</sup>	337.0929	337.094	3.26	174	(Tang et al., 2020)
1.71	Caffeic acid	$C_9H_8O_4$	[M-H] <sup>-</sup>	179.0350	179.0341	-5.03	135	(Voynikov et al., 2019)
2.09	Cyanidin-3-xylosyl-rutinoside	$C_{30}H_{44}O_8$	$[M+H]^+$	727.2185	727.2159	-3.58	581, 287	(Perova et al. 2014)
2.86	Procyanidin dimer	$C_{30}H_{26}O_{12}$	[M-H] <sup>-</sup>	577.1351	577.1387	6.24	289, 407, 425, 451	(Dienaitė et al., 2020)
3.08	Chlorogenic acid	$C_{16}H_{18}O_9$	[M-H] <sup>-</sup>	353.0879	353.0849	-8.50	135, 161, 179, 191	(Dienaitė et al., 2020)
3.19	Catechin	$C_{15}H_{14}O_{6}$	[M-H] <sup>-</sup>	289.0716	289.0729	4.50	109, 125, 203, 245	(Dienaitė et al., 2020)
3.30	Procyanidin trimer	$C_{45}H_{38}O_{18}$	[M-H] <sup>-</sup>	865.1985	865.1987	0.23	289, 577	(Tang et al., 2020)
3.52	Procyanidin dimer	$C_{30}H_{26}O_{12}$	[M-H] <sup>-</sup>	577.1351	577.1387	6.24	289, 407, 425, 451	(Dienaitė et al., 2020)
3.63	Chlorogenic acid	$C_{16}H_{18}O_9$	[M-H] <sup>-</sup>	353.0879	353.0849	-8.50	135, 161, 179, 191	(Dienaitė et al., 2020)
3.74	Epicatechin	$C_{15}H_{14}O_{6}$	[M-H] <sup>-</sup>	289.0714	289.0729	5.19	109, 125, 203, 245	(Dienaitė et al., 2020)
3.80	Coumaric acid	$C_9H_8O_3$	[M-H] <sup>-</sup>	163.0403	163.0416	7.97	119	(Kim et al., 2009)
4.07	Procyanidin trimer	$C_{45}H_{38}O_{18}$	[M-H] <sup>-</sup>	865.1985	865.1987	0.23	289, 577	(Tang et al., 2020)
4.18	Procyanidin dimer	$C_{30}H_{26}O_{12}$	[M-H] <sup>-</sup>	577.1351	577.1387	6.24	289, 407, 425, 451	(Dienaitė et al., 2020)
4.18	Quercetin pentoside hexoside	$C_{26}H_{28}O_{16}$	[M-H] <sup>-</sup>	595.1377	595.1362	-2.52	301	(Dienaitė et al., 2020)
4.51	Rutin	$C_{27}H_{30}O_{16}$	[M-H] <sup>-</sup>	609.1453	609.1411	-6.89	301	(Dienaitė et al., 2020)
4.62	Procyanidin dimer monoglycoside	$C_{31}H_{48}O_{20}$	[M-H] <sup>-</sup>	739.2665	739.2693	3.79	289, 407, 425, 449	(Dienaitė et al., 2020)
4.68	Coumaric acid	$C_9H_8O_3$	[M-H] <sup>-</sup>	163.0403	163.0416	7.97	119	(Kim et al., 2009)
4.73	Quercetin-3-O-glucoside	$C_{21}H_{20}O_{12}$	[M-H] <sup>-</sup>	463.0879	463.0894	3.24	301	(Dienaitė et al., 2020)
5.1	Isorhamnetin-3-O-rutinoside	C <sub>28</sub> H <sub>32</sub> O <sub>16</sub>	[M-H] <sup>-</sup>	623.1616	623.1616	0.00	315	(Tsamo et al., 2015)
5.29	Quercetin-deoxyhexose	$C_{21}H_{20}O_{11}$	[M-H] <sup>-</sup>	447.0933	447.0916	-3.80	301	(Barbosa et al., 2019)
5.62	(Epi)catechin hexoside	$C_{21}H_{24}O_{11}$	[M-H] <sup>-</sup>	451.1245	451.1259	3.10	289, 341	(Dienaitė et al., 2020)
6.06	Diosmetin-rhamnosylglucoside (diosmin)	$C_{28}H_{32}O_{15}$	[M-H] <sup>-</sup>	607.1668	607.1668	0.00	299	(García-Salas et al., 2013)
6.72	Quercetin	$C_{15}H_{10}O_7$	[M-H] <sup>-</sup>	301.0346	301.0328	-5.98	151	(Shabana et al., 2011)

**Table 3.2**: Identification of the major polyphenols detected in the cranberrybush using UPLC–QTOF–MS/MS.

### 4. EFFECTS OF FOOD MATRIX AND NON-THERMAL PROCESSING ON BIOACCESSIBILITY AND TRANSPORT DYNAMICS OF CRANBERRYBUSH (*VIBURNUM OPULUS*) POLYPHENOLS IN A COMBINED *IN VITRO* DIGESTION/CACO-2 CELL CULTURE MODEL<sup>3</sup>

#### 4.1 Abstract

The present study was developed to investigate the effects of food processing and food matrix on bioaccessibility and transepithelial transportation of antioxidant bioactive compounds, in particular chlorogenic acid, from cranberrybush (*Viburnum opulus*) after by using a combined *in vitro* gastrointestinal digestion/Caco-2 cell culture model. Results showed that PEF treatment with 15 kJ/kg specific energy input resulted in a higher recovery of total flavonoid content (TFC; increase of  $3.9\% \pm 1.1\%$ , p < 0.0001), chlorogenic acid content (increase of  $29.9\% \pm 5.9\%$ , p < 0.001) and antioxidant capacity after gastrointestinal digestion. Moreover, cranberrybush juice products were supplied in three diverse matrices: water (JW), bovine (JM, 25%) and almond (JA, 25%) milk. The addition of bovine milk affect posivitely the bioaccessibility of total phenolic content (TPC), TFC as well as antioxidant capacity. The present study also demonstrates that untreated and treated samples display comparable transport across the epithelial cell layer. Addition of milk matrix have a positive effect on the stability and transport of chlorogenic acid.

**Key words:** cranberrybush, chlorogenic acid, high pressure processing (HPP), pulsed electric field (PEF), matrix effect, bioaccessibility, Caco-2 cell model, bioavailability, transepithelial transport

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This chapter is based on the paper "Ozkan, G., Kostka, T., Drraeger, G., Capanoglu, E., and Esatbeyoglu, T. (2021). Effects of food matrix and non-thermal processing on bioaccessibility and transport dynamics of cranberrybush (Viburnum opulus) polyphenols in a combined in vitro digestion/Caco-2 cell culture model, Submitted."

### **4.2 Introduction**

*Viburnum opulus*, also known as Gilaburu in Turkey, belongs to the Adoxaceae family. In Turkish folk medicine, consumption of *V. opulus* have linked to a variety of beneficial effects, such as antimicrobial (Sagdic et al., 2006), antioxidant (Ersoy et al., 2017), antidiabetic (Altun et al., 2008), diuretic (Bae et al., 2010), hypoglycemic, cough reliever (Fujita et al., 1995) as well as prevention of kidney problems (Ilhan et al., 2014). These health benefits were attributed to its high phenolic content which include mostly procyanidins, flavonoids and phenolic acids (Barak et al., 2019). According to Velioglu et al. (2006), the total amount of cranberrybush phenolic acids, in which chlorogenic acid is the key component, was found to be about 2000 mg/kg. This content is quite high when compared with other berries. Cranberrybush procyanidins consisting of catechin, epicatechin and their oligomers, were determined as 290.4, 26.9 and 82.8 mg/kg, respectively. Flavonoids (quercetin derivatives) were also present in cranberrybush as around 170 mg/kg (Sedat Velioglu et al., 2006).

To exert any bioactivity in a specific tissue, polyphenols must be effectively absorbed from the gut into the blood circulation and transferred to the appropriate location within the body. However, there are many parameters that have an impact on the release from the food matrix, stability through the gastrointestinal tract, bioaccessibility, bioavailability and thus bioactivity of the phenolic compounds.

Food processing methods and matrices may have potent effects on the retention of polyphenols in the final product. Even though thermal processes are widely applied for preserving food products to extend shelf life, they can have a negative effect on nutritional value of food products (Bevilacqua et al., 2018). On the other hand, non-thermal treatments such as high pressure processing (HPP) and pulsed electric field (PEF) applications have been identified as a useful tool for not only extending the shelf-life, but also preserving the nutritional and functional characteristics of food products (Ozkan et al., 2019). In the current context of functional foods, fruit beverages are generally supplemented with milk, due to its plenty content of protein, fat, and vitamin, to improve the nutritional value. In addition, the use of almond milk in the beverage blends of this type can be an alternative to milk for people who are vegetarian or have an allergy to protein as well as intolerant to lactose in cow's milk (Kundu et al., 2018). Therefore, comparing the fate of polyphenols from cranberrybush

juice between water, milk and milk blends represent a valuable opportunity to study the effect of milk matrix effect on bioavailability. A recent study showed that addition of milk matrix to pomelo juice effectively increased phenolic (TPC) bioaccessibility 60.1% to 63.3%, whereas soy milk reduced TPC bioaccessibility by 14.9% (Quan et al., 2020). However, Helal et al. (2014) demonstrated that the addition of bovine milk to cinnamon beverage had no any effect on polyphenols bioaccessibility. A variety of evidences from the studies investigating the milk matrix effect are probably caused by different protein-polyphenol interactions, which may protect phenolics from degradation or hinder the release and solubilization of phenolic compounds during digestion (Rodríguez-Roque et al., 2014b).

One of the key factors affecting the bioavailability of polyphenols are encompassing their bioaccessibility and the ability to transport through the gut epithelium into the blood. The bioaccessibility comprises the release of compounds from food matrices, their stability in gastrointestinal tract and, finally, availability for the subsequent absorption in the small intestine (Tagliazucchi et al., 2010). In vitro methods for assessing bioavailability are good alternatives to in vivo procedures. In a first step, these methods are generally based on the simulation of gastrointestinal digestion followed by the determination of polyphenol bioaccessibility (soluble fraction) (Senem Kamiloglu et al., 2017). In more detail, these methods have been improved by the incorporation of a human intestinal epithelial cell model derived from a colon carcinoma cell line (Caco-2) to predict intestinal absorption of polyphenols due to many of the functional and morphological properties of mature human enterocytes (Wu et al., 2017). The small intestine is primarily responsible for the uptake of food components. Researches have indicated good correlations between in vitro cell permeability using differentiated Caco-2 cells and *in vivo* absorption rates in rats (Conradi et al., 1993) and humans (Yee, 1997).

Considering the above, the aim of this current study was to assess the stability, bioaccessibility and transport efficiency of the cranberrybush phenolics using *in vitro* simulated gastrointestinal digestion, coupled with the human intestinal Caco-2 epithelial cell system as a model. In the work described here, we have investigated (i) the bioaccessibility and the antioxidant capacity of cranberrybush polyphenols after application of non-thermal food processing treatments including HPP and PEF at

selected intensities, (ii) the bioaccessibility and the antioxidant capacity of polyphenols from cranberrybush juice beverages formulated with or without bovine or almond milk, (iii) influence of non-thermal processing on the apical and basolateral recovery as well as transport efficiency of cranberrybush phenolics - chlorogenic acid and (iv) bioavailability of chlorogenic acid from cranberrybush juice beverages as affected by different milk-based matrices. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first *in vitro* study that introduced the transported polyphenols from cranberrybush as a responce to non-thermal food processing as well as the interaction with food matrix constituents by using stimulated epithelial cells.

### 4.3 Materials and Methods

### 4.3.1 Chemicals

Pepsin ( $\geq 250$  U/mg, EC 3.4.23.1, from porcine gastric mucosa), pancreatin (8x USP, EC 232.468.9, from porcine pancreas, contains trypsin, amylase and lipase) and bile were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Chemie GmbH (Schnelldorf, Germany). Caco-2 human colon adenocarcinoma cell line was obtained from German Collection of Microorganisms and Cell Cultures (DSMZ, Braunschweig, Germany). Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM), fetal bovine serum (FBS), penicillin and streptomycin, non-essential amino acids (MEM NEAA 100x), trypsin/EDTA (10x) and Hanks' balanced salt solution (HBSS, 0.35 g/L NaHCO<sub>3</sub>) were purchased from Carl Roth (Karlsruhe, Germany). All other reagents were of analytical grade.

# 4.3.2 Preparation of cranberrybush purée and cranberrybush juice-based beverages

Fresh cranberrybush (*Viburnum opulus* L.) at commercial maturity was obtained in October 2019 and 2020 from a local grower in Kayseri (Turkey). After harvest, fruit samples were stored in water at room temperature in dark until further use. Before treatments, they were visually screened for any damage and manually destemmed. Cranberrybush purée was prepared on the day of the experiment by homogenizing whole fruit samples (2 kg for each batch) using a blender (Blendtec Classic 575, Bad Homburg, Germany) for two cycles of 10 s at low speed (16,000 g), followed by a

subsequent 10 s cycle at high speed (22,000 g). Three independent batches (n = 3) were prepared for each untreated control, HPP- and PEF-treated samples.

Cranberrybush purée was centrifuged at 4500 rpm for 15 min at 4 °C to separate the pulp from the juice. The extracted juice was used immediately for making fruit juice blends. The bovine whole milk (M) and almond milk (A) products were purchased at a local supermarket (Hannover, Germany). The nutritional composition of bovine milk consisted of 3.6% (w/v) of fat, 3.3% (w/v) of protein and 4.8% (w/v) of carbohydrates, while 1.1% (w/v) of fat, 0.5% (w/v) of protein and 0.2% (w/v) of fibre were contained in almond milk (data provided by manufacturers).

Afterwards, three different fruit juice-based beverages were prepared by vortexing 75 % of the cranberrybush juice and 25 % of water (fruit juice-water beverage, JW), milk (fruit juice- milk beverage, JM) or almond (fruit juice-almond beverage, JA) for 15 s. The formulation of the beverage was selected based on a previous study (Rodríguez-Roque et al., 2014a). All treatments were performed in triplicate and used immediately after mixing for *in vitro* simulated gastrointestinal digestion.

### **4.3.3 Processing technologies**

The processing parameters for HPP and PEF were selected based on a previous study (Ozkan et al., 2021).

Briefly, the cranberrybush purée was processed by using industrial-scale HPP equipment (Wave 6000/55, Hiperbaric S.A., Burgos Spain). Prior to the treatment, the cranberrybush purée was vacuum-packed and heat sealed in low density polyethhylene pouches (LDPE). The packed purée was then subjected to a pressure of 600 MPa for 5 min at ambient temperature ( $20 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C). Water was used as medium for transmitting pressure. Finally, the purée was packed into sterilized falcons and stored at -80 °C until analysis.

PEF treatment was conducted by using a pilot scale PEF batch system (PEF Pilot, Elea GmbH, Germany). The system provided a voltage up to 30 kV and monopolar, exponential decay pulses with pulse duration of 40 ms. The PEF operating settings applied were: constant pulse width of 20  $\mu$ s, 3 kV/cm electric field strengths, 6 kV voltage, different specific energy inputs as 5 (PEF5) and 15 kJ/kg (PEF15) and constant pulse frequency of 2 Hz (0.5 s). The specific energy intake *Wspec* (kJ/kg) and the electric field strength *E* (kV/cm) were calculated according to the following equations (4.1) and (4.2).

$$Wspec = (U^2C.n)/2m \tag{4.1}$$

$$E = U/d \tag{4.2}$$

where *n* (dimensionless) is the number of pulses; *m* is the total weight of cranberrybush purée (kg); U is the voltage (kV) and d is the distance between the electrodes (cm); C is the capacitance  $(1 \ \mu F)$ .

The treatment chamber had a 2 cm electrode gap and a volume of 17 ml. Following the treatment, the samples were stored at -80 °C until analysis.

### 4.3.4 In vitro simulated gastrointestinal digestion

The in vitro digestion procedure was performed according to the method described by (Sessa et al., 2011) with some modifications. The method consists of two sequential steps; an initial pepsin/HCl digestion to simulate gastric conditions, followed by a digestion with bile salts/pancreatin to simulate intestinal conditions. Briefly, 5 g cranberrybush purée or 5 mL cranberry juice samples were mixed with 5 mL of phosphate buffer saline (PBS) and preincubated in a water bath at 37 °C for 15 min. Before starting gastric digestion, the pH was adjusted to 2 using 1 M HCl and porcine pepsin was then added to a final concentration of 1.3 mg/mL. The samples were incubated at 37 °C in a shaking water bath (GFL 1092, Burgwedel, Germany) at 100 rpm for 2 h. For the intestinal digestion, the pH of the digest was raised to pH 5.8 with 1 M NaHCO<sub>3</sub> dropwise, and 2.5 mL of pancreatin and bile salts mixture were added to final concentrations of 0.175 and 1.1 mg/mL, respectively. The pH was then adjusted to pH 6.5 with 1 M NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, and samples were incubated at 37 °C in a shaking water bath at 100 rpm for 2 h. After gastrointestinal digestion, the samples were cooled by immersing in an ice bath and then centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 30 min at 4 °C (Megafuge 8R; Thermo Scientific, Darmstadt, Germany) to separate the soluble or bioaccessible fraction and the residual fraction.

A blank (without the added sample) was incubated under the same conditions to discard interferences due to the digestive enzymes and buffers used in the digestion process. All experiments were done in triplicates.

Bioaccessible fractions of the digests were preserved at -80 °C and used for spectrophotometric (total phenolic, flavonoid and anthocyanin contents, and antioxidant capacity) and Caco-2 cell culture experiments.

### 4.3.5 Determination of total phenolics and antioxidant capacity

All spectrophotometric assays were performed using a Infinite M200 UV-visible spectrophotometer (Tecan, Crailsheim, Germany).

Total phenolic content (TPC) was determined using Folin-Ciocalteu reagent as described previously by (Singleton & Rossi, 1965). The results were expressed as mg gallic acid equivalents (GAE) per 100 g fresh weight (fw) sample.

Total flavonoid content (TFC) assay was performed according to (Dewanto et al., 2002). The results were expressed as mg rutin equivalents (RE) per 100 g fw sample.

The total monomeric anthocyanin content (TAC) was determined by pH differential method (Mónica Giusti & Wrolstad, 2005). Absorbances of samples diluted with pH 1.0 and pH 4.5 buffers were measured at 520 and 700 nm. The results are expressed as cyanidin-3-*O*-glucoside equivalents per 100 g fw by using the following equation:

$$TAC (mg/L) = (A \times MW \times DF \times 1000)/(\varepsilon \times 1)$$
(4.3)

where A =  $(A520nm - A700nm)_{pH1.0} - (A520nm - A700nm)_{pH4.5}$ , MW is the molecular weight of cyanidin-3-*O*-glucoside (449.2 g/mol), DF is the dilution factor, 1000 is the conversion factor from g to mg,  $\varepsilon$  is the molar absorptivity of cyanidin-3-*O*-glucoside (26900 L/(mol.cm)), and l is the path length (cm).

The antioxidant capacities were estimated by using the cupric ion reducing antioxidant capacity (CUPRAC) (Apak et al., 2004) and 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) (Molyneux, 2004) assays. 6-Hydroxy-2,5,7,8-tetramethylchroman-2-carboxylic acid (Trolox) was used as a standard in both of the assays. Results were expressed as mg Trolox equivalents (TE) per 100 g of fw sample.

### 4.3.6 Bioaccessibility calculations

The bioaccessibility was calculated using equation (4.4) and expressed as percentage.

$$Bioaccessibility (\%) = (BCdigested/BCnon - digested) * 100 \quad (4.4)$$

where  $BC_{digested}$  was the amount of bioactive compounds (TPC, TFC, TAC or chlorogenic acid) recovered in the supernatants of the centrifuged final digesta (BF; bioaccessible fraction) and  $BC_{non-digested}$  was the amount of bioactive compounds in non-digested purée or juice.

### 4.3.7 Cell culture

Caco-2 cells were cultured in growth medium (DMEM including 4.5 g/L glucose and stable glutamine supplemented with 20% FBS, 1% NEAAs, 100 IU/mL penicillin and 100 µg/mL streptomycin). Cells were incubated at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in air. Cells were subcultured at 70–80% confluence using trypsinization. For the transport experiment, Caco-2 cells were seeded in inserts of 6-well transwell plates (0.4 µm pore diameter, 24mm insert, Sarstedt, Nümbrecht, Germany) at a density of 4\*10<sup>4</sup> cell/well, with 2 mL of medium in the apical side and 2.5 mL of medium in the basolateral side. Cells were allowed to grow and differentiate to confluent monolayers for 21 days post seeding. Cell monolayer integrity during differentiation of Caco-2 cells was monitored by measuring the transepithelial electrical resistance, TEER value, using a Millicell<sup>©</sup> ERS-2 Volt-Ohm Meter (Millipore, Bedford, MA, USA). Only differentiated enterocytes displaying unchanged transepithelial electrical resistance values were used in the experiment. Medium was changed every two days. Passage numbers of the cells used in this study were 7-10.

### 4.3.8 Cytotoxicity test

Caco-2 cells were seeded in 96 well plates, allowed to differentiate for 14 days after confluency and treated with digests at a dilution of 1/2, 1/5 and 1/10 (v/v) in HBSS (Pan, Biotech). After 4 h of treatment, the cytotoxic effect of samples on Caco-2 cells was assessed using the sulforhodamine B (SRB) assay as described by (Empl et al., 2018; Longo-Sorbello et al., 2006). For the SRB assay, differentiated cells were first fixed by addition of 50  $\mu$ L of 50% TCA (trichloroacatate in Milli-Q water) and kept at 4 °C for 45 min. The plates were rinsed with tap water and air-dried. Next, the cells were stained with 70  $\mu$ L SRB solution (0.4% in 1% glacial acetic acid) and left for 15 min. The plates were then rinsed with 1% glacial acetic acid in Milli-Q water, air-dried and the stain was re-suspended in 200  $\mu$ L of 10 mM Tris-buffer. Thereafter, the

absorbance was determined at 490 nm, substracting the background measurement at 620 nm.

### 4.3.9 Transport experiment

Transport experiment was carried out according to previously described procedure (Wu et al., 2017). Briefly, the medium in the transwells was changed to HBSS and preincubated for 1 h and then removed. BF used for the Caco-2 experiments was diluted 1:5 (v:v) with HBSS, since cell viability after 4 h of exposure to the samples in such conditions, assessed by SRB assay, was higher than 85–90%. Incubation was performed at 37 °C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 4 h. During incubation, 200 µL samples were collected from both the apical and basolateral compartments every 2 h, after which 200 µL of HBSS was added to adjust the volume of the media. TEER value of the cells was detected before treatment and immediately after the last sampling to ensure integrity of the monolayer. Afterwards, HBSS was replaced by growth medium, and the monolayers were incubated for another 20 h to measure irreversible damage to the cell monolayer. Therefore, after 24 h, monolayer integrity was tested using TEER measurement (should be > 200  $\Omega$ cm<sup>2</sup>). Samples were stored at -80 °C until further analysis.

### 4.3.10 Identification and quantification of chlorogenic acid by UPLC-QTOF-MS/MS

Identification of chlorogenic acid in cranberrybush samples was performed according to a previously published method (Ozkan et al., 2021). Before LC-MS analysis, extracts of different processing conditions were passed through 0.20  $\mu$ m membrane filters. LC-MS analysis was performed on a Waters Acquity UPLC system (Waters Co., Milford, MA, USA) connected to a Waters Q-Tof Premier mass spectrometer equipped with an electrospray ionisation (ESI) source. The UPLC system was equipped with a binary pump with degasser, autosampler, tunable UV detector and a column manager. For chromatographic separation, a Waters Acquity UPLC BEH Phenyl (2.1\*100mm, 1.7 $\mu$ m) column was used. Mobile phase consisting of formic acid/MQ water (1/1000, v/v; eluent A) and formic acid/acetonitrile (1/1000, v/v; eluent B) was used. The linear gradient was as follows: 0 min, 5% B; 0-6.48 min, 35% B; 6.48-6.77 min, 100% B; 6.77-8.00 min, 100% B; 8.00-8.10 min, 5% B. The injection volume was 10  $\mu$ L, and the flow rate was 0.6 mL/min. The column temperature was kept at 45 °C, while the temperature of the autosampler was held at 10 °C. ESI-MS analysis was performed in both positive and negative modes. Collision energies of 15 V (for low energy) and 30 V (for high energy) were used for full-scan LC-MS in the *m/z* range 100–1500. Acquisition and integration of chromatograms were performed using the Masslynx V4.1 software from Waters.

The method for determination of chlorogenic acid by UPLC was adapted from Wu et al. (2019) (Wu et al., 2017). Extracts obtained from different processing conditions were passed through 0.20  $\mu$ m membrane filters and injected into a Waters Acquity UPLC system (Waters Co., Milford, MA, USA) coupled with a TUV detector (DAD). An Acquity UPLC BEH Phenyl (2.1\*100mm, 1.7 $\mu$ m) column was used as stationary phase. The following solvents with a flow rate of 0.6 mL/min and injection volume of 10  $\mu$ L were used for spectral measurements: formic acid/MQ water (1/1000, v/v; eluent A) and formic acid/acetonitrile (1/1000, v/v; eluent B). The linear gradient was as follows: 0 min, 5% B; 0-6.48 min, 35% B; 6.48-6.77 min, 100% B; 6.77-8.00 min, 100% B; 8.00-8.10 min, 5% B. Chlorogenic acid was quantified by using its authentic standard. For calibration curves, chromatographic peak area of the standards versus nominal concentrations were plotted. All results were expressed as milligrams per 100 g fw of sample.

### 4.3.11 Statistical analysis

All experiments were conducted at least in triplicate. Results were reported as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. Error bars on figures represented standard deviations. Statistical analysis was applied using Prism (version 8.4.1; GraphPad, La Jolla, USA). Treatments were compared using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by a Tukey post hoc test ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ).

### 4.4 Results and Discussion

### 4.4.1 Retention of the bioactives during in vitro gastrointestinal digestion

### 4.4.1.1 Effects of food processing

TPC, TFC, TAC, chlorogenic acid content and antioxidant capacity were previously reported for untreated and HPP/PEF-treated cranberrybush purée samples (Ozkan et

al., 2021). The effect of the in vitro digestion and food processing on the bioaccessibility of cranberrybush bioactives is shown in Figure 4.1. The bioaccessibility of TPC and TFC in the untreated cranberrybush purée were found to be 43.5 and 15.1 %, respectively. Similar to the results obtained in the present work, Buniowska et al. (2017) obtained TPC bioaccessibility value of 30.5% in a fruit juice mixture of mango and papaya. Furthermore, the bioaccessibility of TPC and TFC in blended fruit juice (orange, kiwi, pineapple and mango) was found to be 25.9 and 15.1%, respectively (Rodríguez-Roque et al., 2015). Previous studies have noticed a loss of fruit phenolics during gastrointestinal digestion, due to polymerization, epimerization and auto-oxidation under intestinal digestion conditions (Rodríguez-Roque et al., 2014a). Indeed, phenolics are highly sensitive to alkaline conditions and may degrade during gastrointestinal digestion (Bermúdez-Soto et al., 2007). Processing had a variable influence on the bioaccessibility of phenolic compounds from cranberrybush purée samples, depending on the type of the treatment and the treatment intensity. A statistically significant (p < 0.001) improvement up to 4% in the bioaccessibility of TFC and 30% of chlorogenic acid content was obtained after PEF15 treatment in comparison with the untreated sample. Moreover, an increasing trend was also obtained after PEF15 treatment in TPC content, PEF5 and HPP treatments in TPC, TFC and chlorogenic acid bioaccessibility, in comparison to the untreated sample, as these techniques may promote the liberation of phytochemicals from the food matrix under the effect of the digestive enzymes action, temperature and pH conditions. These results were in agreement with the results from Rodríguez-Roque et al. (2015), which showed that HPP (400 MPa for 5 min) and High Intensity-PEF (35 kV/cm electric field strength) had a significant increase on the bioaccessibility of TFC in fruit juice samples. Furthermore, it was found that apple samples had 26% higher bioaccessible phenolic compounds after 0.01 kJ kg<sup>-1</sup> PEF treatment (t= 24h) than untreated samples (Ribas-Agustí et al., 2019). On the contrary, in this study, bioaccessibility of TAC ranged from 7.88% to 9.94% and non-thermal processing (HPP and PEF) did not change the bioaccessibility of TAC content. Similar findings were reported by Buniowska et al. (2017), indicating a 12.71, 10.90 and 15.63% bioaccessibility in TAC of untreated and PEF-treated (32 and 256 kJ/kg specific energy input) exotic fruit juice blends, respectively. In fact, the bioaccessibility of anthocyanins has been demonstrated to be lower than that of other flavonoids (Yang et al., 2011). The high loss of anthocyanins could be related to structural rearrangements in response to

changes in pH in four molecular structures: quinoidal base (blue), flavylium cation (red), carbinol (colorless) and chalcone (yellowish) forms. Anthocyanins are stable in acidic solutions (pH 1-3) where they exist primarily as flavylium cations; whereas anthocyanins adopt the forms of the carbinol and chalcone at pH > 4. Then, chalcone may undergo chemical degradations to produce phenolic acids (Kamiloglu et al., 2017). Due to the fact that processing may induce modifications (hydroxylation, methylation, isoprenylation, dimerization, glycosylation, formation of phenolic derivatives) in the physicochemical features of phenolic compounds, the bioaccessibility of these compounds may be altered as increase or decrease (Dugo et al., 2005).



**Figure 4.1 :** Effects of PEF- or HPP-mediated food processing on the content and bioaccessibility of bioactive compounds after *in vitro* digestion of 100 g fresh weight cranberrybush purée samples.

In line with the antioxidant capacity measurements obtained in the untreated and HPP/PEF-treated samples after *in vitro* digestion, values of CUPRAC antioxidant capacity were found to be significantly (p < 0.001) higher for PEF15, suggesting

greater amounts of antioxidant compounds being extracted and becoming available for intestinal absorption (Figure 4.2). On the other hand, there was no significant change in the DPPH antiradical scavenging abilities of the samples. The differences in principles and mechanisms of the antioxidant capacity measurement assays could explain the different results (Ben Hlel et al., 2019). Overall, the bioaccessibility of the antioxidant capacity (CUPRAC and DPPH) in untreated and treated samples was found to be between 21.1 and 34.5%. In particular, a tendential improvement was obtained in the bioaccessibility of CUPRAC activities of bioactive compounds after PEF15 treatment in comparison with the untreated sample. Our results are in agreement with other researches performed on different food samples that demonstrated a  $\sim 16 - 36\%$  bioaccessibility in total antioxidant capacity of untreated and non-thermal (PEF, high voltage electrical discharges and ultrasound) treated exotic fruit juice blends measured by Trolox equivalents antioxidant capacity (TEAC), oxygen radical antioxidant capacity (ORAC) and DPPH assays (Buniowska et al., 2017). In another study, Rodríguez-Roque et al. (2015) reported a decrease in the DPPH radical scavenging activity of digested fruit juice based beverages after High Intensity-PEF and HPP treatments by 19 and 14%, respectively, as compared with untreated products. Results imply that the impact of non-thermal processing techniques differs according to the nature of the food, its bioactive composition and their concentrations (Ben Hlel et al., 2019). Moreover, it can be concluded that the specific energy input of PEF treatment is an important factor that influences the bioactivity. Therefore, further investigations are necessary to find out the possible effects of the energy input of this technology on total antioxidant bioaccessibility.

### 4.4.1.2 Effects of food matrix

The effects of the *in vitro* digestion and food matrix on the bioaccessibility of cranberrybush bioactives are shown in Figure 4.3. With regard to the matrix effect, a significant decrease in the apparent concentrations of TPC and TFC contents was obtained in JM and TFC content in JA blend before digestion in comparison with JW blend. These decreases are due to the complexation between cranberrybush polyphenols and milk proteins. Procyanidins can bind tightly proline-rich proteins as milk caseins with maximum at pH values close or below the isoelectric point of the protein. Moreover, this affinity depends on the molecular weight, three-dimensional

structure and proline content of the protein as well as the degree of polymerization of the procyanidins (Hagerman & Butler, 1980). The ratio of procyanidin/protein is an important factor that determines the solubility of the complexes. While a higher ratio promotes the formation of insoluble complexes, a lower procyanidin/protein ratio leads to the formation of soluble complexes (Adamczyk et al., 2012). Indeed, the difference in the bioactive contents of JM and JA beverages would comprise the variety in the protein content of the food matrix.



Figure 4.2 : Total antioxidant capacity after *in vitro* digestion of 100 g fresh weight cranberrybush purée samples.



**Figure 4.3 :** Content and bioaccessibility of bioactive compounds after *in vitro* digestion of 100 mL cranberrybush juice samples mixed with water (JW), bovine milk (JM) or almond milk (JA).

In line with the results of the bioaccessibility, recovery of TPC, TFC, TAC and chlorogenic acid content were obtained as 86.9, 75.4, 27.6 and 93%, respectively, in JW blend after *in vitro* digestion. It can be deduced from the results that the enhancement in the bioaccessibility of bioactive compounds, in comparison with the results of cranberrybush purée, may arise from the difference in dietary fiber contents between purée and juice samples. It has been reported that a large number of soluble fibers, (e.g. pectin) that exist in raw fruits, have been widely used because of their crucial physiological functions and prebiotic effects. However, molecular interactions between the phenolics and pectin can affect the release of these phenolics from food matrix. Numerous studies reported an adverse impact of dietary fibers on the bioaccessibility of the polyphenols. Al-Yafeai & Böhm (2018) investigated the interactions between pectin contents and carotenoid bioaccessibility in tomato paste. It was stated that adding pectin led to significantly diminished bioaccessibility of total lycopene content to 16% compared with untreated samples (46%). Additionally, co-

digestion of pectin and pomegranate caused a 2-fold decrease in TPC of the dialyzed fraction (Sengul et al., 2014). In another study, the effect of inulin addition (5 and 10%) to a tomato sauce has been investigated in terms of the bioaccessibility of TPC and TFC and individual polyphenols. Results showed that the bioaccessibility of the polyphenols diminished proportionally with the increase in the inulin content in tomato sauces. In detail, TPC and TFC values for the sauce containing 10% inulin decreased by 31% and 36%, respectively, compared to tomato sauce (p < 0.05) (Tomas et al., 2018). Fiber – polyphenol complex possibly hinders the release and thus absorption of polyphenols in the gut; thereby this complexing has a negative effect during *in vitro* bioaccessibility (Sun-Waterhouse et al., 2008). Furthermore, increasing viscosity of the intestinal content with pectin lead to lower contact with intestinal enterocyte (Xu et al., 2015). It is also necessary to take into consideration the physiological properties of the food matrix as another aspect of the results. It is known that liquids are digested faster than semisolids or cellular structures (Norton et al., 2006).

In addition to these, a glance at the results revealed a statistically significant increase in the bioaccessibility of TPC ( $p \le 0.0001$ ) in JM when compared with LA as well as in the bioaccessibility of TFC (p < 0.0001) with respect to JW and JA. On the other hand, the almond milk matrix did not significantly affect the bioaccessibility of TPC and TFC, in comparison with JW samples. In JM samples, some of the phenolic substances could be bound to milk protein or fat and they can be released from these complexes through the action of digestive enzymes. Besides, a certain quantity of fat in milk favors the incorporation of bioactive compounds (especially lipophilic ones) into micelles, resulting in a higher bioactive content than that of JW (Quan et al., 2020; Rodríguez-Roque et al., 2015). The results obtained in this research agree with those of other studies. For instance, Quan et al. (2020) presented that there was a significant enhancement (p < 0.05) on the total phenolic bioaccessibility in kiwi or pomelo juice from 21.6 to 37.8% and 60.1 to 63.3%, respectively, with the addition of milk matrix. Besides, while soy milk matrix diminished the total phenolic bioaccessibility by 14.9% in pomelo juice, there was a 7.9% increase in kiwi juice-soy milk blend, compared with control juice contents (Quan et al., 2020). It maybe asumed from the results that findings of the present study may promote the protective effect of bovine milk on the cranberrybush phenolics during gastrointestinal digestion via the protein - phenolics interactions, resulted in a decreased digestive loss of the phenolics, improved

bioaccessibility and thus enhanced bioactivity. On the other hand, it was also claimed that bioaccessibility of phenolic compounds could decrease due to the phenolic compounds – protein interactions, resulting in precipitation of proteins and masking the phenolic compounds (Ozdal et al., 2013). It was noted that phenolic compound – protein interaction is stronger in the low pH range below the isoelectric point of the proteins, which results in a reduced bioaccessibility of phenolic substances in acidic fruits (Ozdal et al., 2013). In one study, the bioaccessibility of TPC and TFC in milk or soymilk-fruit juice (mixture of orange, kiwi, pineapple and mango) blends was found to be lower than that of water-fruit juice blend contents (Rodríguez-Roque et al., 2015). Furthermore, the results of the present study showed that the addition of milk or almond milk significantly (p < 0.05) lowered the TAC after gastrointestinal digestion. Similar findings were reported by Oksuz et al. (2019), indicating an inhibitory effect in TAC after gastrointestinal co-digestion of sour cherry-soymilk and sour cherry-milk, respectively (Oksuz et al., 2019).

The bioaccessibility of chlorogenic acid was found to be reduced in JM and JA with respect to JW. Similar results were reported by Rodríguez-Roque et al. (2014b, 2014a), who obtained a decrease in the bioaccessibility of some individual phenolic compounds (as ferulic acid, sinapic acid, quercetin, hesperidin and rutin) in fruit juice blends with the addition of milk or soymilk. Although hydrophilic bioactive compounds were found to be 3.4 times more bioaccessible in these juice samples rather than fruit juice-milk blends, the bioaccessibility of lipophilic (carotenoids) constituents was improved with milk addition (Rodríguez-Roque et al., 2014a; 2014b).

To evaluate the impact of the food matrix on the total antioxidant capacity, data from CUPRAC and DPPH assays were obtained from the undigested samples and bioaccessible fractions (Figure 4.4). When milk or almond milk was added to the juice, an immediate relevant loss of antioxidant capacity was observed. Likely, the decrease in the antioxidant capacity of undigested milk or almond milk blends is due to the precipitation of proanthocyanidins by milk proteins. The amount of precipitated polyphenols increased in bovine milk matrix rather than almond milk blends due to raising protein concentration. On the other hand, in line with the *in vitro* bioaccessibility of total antioxidant capacity, significant differences (p < 0.05) were obtained depending on the type of the matrix in fruit juice blends. The CUPRAC and

DPPH antioxidant capacity values of the juice samples changed in a manner similar to that of their bioactive contents during gastrointestinal digestion. While the greatest total antioxidant capacity was observed with the addition of milk matrix, almond milk matrix did not alter the results (p > 0.05). Similarly, Helal et al. (2014) stated that the addition of milk to cinnamon beverages enhanced the antioxidant capacity during gastrointestinal digestion probably linked to proteolysis, which releases free amino acids (tyrosine and tryptophan) and peptides with antioxidant properties. Besides, Quan et al. (2020) demonstrated that there was a significant increment (p < 0.05) on the bioaccessibility of ABTS scavenging ability in kiwi or pomelo juice with the addition of milk as well as soymilk matrix. Additionally, while the addition of milk to apple, grape and orange juices caused an increase in the antioxidant capacity values measured by ABTS assay after in vitro digestion, soymilk addition did not make any alteration in orange and grape juice samples, as compared with the control sample (He et al., 2016). In contrast, Rodríguez-Roque et al. (2015) reported that digested fruit juice-milk blend showed the lowest (12 - 15%) DPPH inhibition activity, whereas water and soymilk – fruit juice blends displayed the highest value (14 - 22%) with no significant differences among them (Rodríguez-Roque et al., 2015). As a consequence, there are different arguments related to the matrix effect on the bioaccessibility. It is clear from the results that matrix constituents like proteins, fat and minerals, most importantly their contents have a critical importance on the digestibility.

To conclude, findings indicate that the bioaccessibility of bioactive compounds depends on the processing technique to be applied, intensity and duration of the treatment, the type of the food matrix, the physicochemical properties of the bioactive compounds (i.e. nature and location in the food sample), interaction with dietary ingredients or gastrointestinal constituents (Rodríguez-Roque et al., 2015).

### 4.4.2 Caco-2 cytotoxicity

Before transport experiments, it is necessary to determine the maximum non-toxic sample concentration by a toxicity test. Thus, SRB assay, measuring the cellular viability based on cellular protein content, has been carried out. Cells were allowed to differentiate for 14 days after confluency. Then, Caco-2 cells treated with cranberrybush free and cranberrybush digests at different dilution ratios. 1/5 and 1/10 dilution ratios of the digests did not result in a major (i.e. biologically relevant)

cytotoxic effect (cell viability was never < 85%), indicating no cell release from the monolayer. Therefore, dilution of 1/5 was used in further Caco-2 transport experiments.



**Figure 4.4 :** Total antioxidant capacity after *in vitro* digestion of 100 mL cranberrybush juice mixed with water (JW), bovine milk (JM) or almond milk (JA).

### 4.4.3 Transport experiments

The TEER values before and after 4 and 24 h of treatment for all tested digests have been monitored. Before treatment, TEER values of all conditions were found to be higher than 300  $\Omega$ cm<sup>2</sup>. TEER values did not change more than 10% of the original values (not shown) after 4 and 24 h, which are considerably above the recommended minimum level (200  $\Omega$ cm<sup>2</sup>) needed for monolayer integrity (Palm et al., 1996). Therefore, we conclude that the monolayer integrity was not irreversibly damaged during transport experiments in the presence of a 1/5 diluted digestive matrix and paracellular transport was not affected, which could influence bioavailability calculations.

### 4.4.3.1 Effects of food processing

One of the purposes of this study was to investigate the effect of novel non-thermal food processing on the absorption of phenolic compounds in the human digestive system using a recognized cell-based assay. Although there have been a series of studies conducted related to the effect of food processing on the bioaccessibility of micronutrients, the effects of non-thermal processing on the uptake of phenolic compounds from food matrices are largely unknown. Here we have used the *in vitro* digestion/Caco-2 cell system as a model to study the effect of HPP and PEF treatments on transport of cranberrybush polyphenols across the gut epithelium.

Identification of polyphenols in cranberrybush purée samples by using UPLC–QTOF– MS/MS analysis has been carried out previously (Ozkan et al., 2021). Three flavan-3ols; catechin, epicatechin, epi(catechin) hexoside; three proanthocyanidins; procyanidin dimer, procyanidin trimer, procyanidin dimer monoglycoside, six flavonols; quercetin, quercetin-deoxyhexose, quercetin-*3-O*-glucoside, quercetin pentoside hexoside, rutin, isorhamnetin-*3-O*-rutinoside, a flavone; diosmetinrhamnosylglucoside, four phenolic acids; caffeic acid, chlorogenic acid, coumaric acid and coumaroyl-quinic acid as well as three anthocyanins (cyanidin-3-glucoside, cyanidin-3-rutinoside and cyanidin-3-xylosyl-rutinoside) were detected in cranberrybush samples.

Catechin and epicatechin (m/z 289.0716, C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>14</sub>O<sub>6</sub>) were detected at the basolateral compartment of all samples, whereas none of the oligomeric procyanidins could be detected, which is in line with previous *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies (Serra et al., 2010; Wu et al., 2017). It was reported that procyanidins were unstable at physiologic pH and were degraded into procyanidin monomers during digestion (Kahle et al., 2011). As for flavonols, while quercetin-deoxyhexose (m/z 447.0933, C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>20</sub>O<sub>11</sub>) and quercetin-3-*O*-glucoside (m/z 463.0879, C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>20</sub>O<sub>12</sub>) were found in the basolateral compartment of all the samples, other flavonoids present in the cranberrybush purée could not be detected. Similar results were also found in the studies on cocoa (Juarez-Enriquez et al., 2015) and buckwheat (Yao et al., 2020) polyphenols, the digestibility

of flavonoids such as quercetin and rutin were determined lower than that for the other phenol groups.

On the other hand, none of the anthocyanins could be detected in the basolateral compartment after 4 h exposure. This finding may be related to the low anthocyanin amount of the samples and chemical instability in the alkali conditions (as discussed in section 3.1).

The majority of the phenolic acids, namely, caffeic acid (m/z 179.0350, C<sub>9</sub>H<sub>8</sub>O<sub>4</sub>), chlorogenic acid (m/z 353.0879, C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>18</sub>O<sub>9</sub>) and coumaric acid (m/z 163.0403, C<sub>9</sub>H<sub>8</sub>O<sub>3</sub>) were detected at the basolateral compartment of all the samples. In addition to these, quinic acid (m/z 191.0516, C<sub>7</sub>H<sub>12</sub>O<sub>6</sub>) was also detected due to possible degradation of chlorogenic acid, present in the cranberrybush, by the cleavage of the chlorogenic acid moiety into quinic acid and caffeic acid by small intestine mucosal esterases (Dupas et al., 2006a). These results were in line with *in vitro* digestion/Caco-2 cell model study conducted by Wu et al. (2017), showing that the chlorogenic acid, present in the Aronia juice, was degraded throughout the different stages of digestion, while quinic acid significantly increased (Wu et al., 2017). Overall, we conclude that the cranberrybush derived phenolic acids are relatively stable in the small intestine. As chlorogenic acid is the major active metabolite of *V. opulus* (Barak et al., 2019), in the work described here, we have focused on the predominant phenolic acid, namely chlorogenic acid, to screen the transport efficiency through the Caco-2 cells (Table 4.1).

The digests of untreated and HPP/PEF-treated cranberrybush purée samples were added to the apical (top) side of the Caco-2 cells growing in transwells. Then, samples were collected from the apical compartment after 0, 2 and 4 h of incubation and from the basolateral (bottom) compartment after 2 and 4 h. At the end of 2 and 4 h of exposure, recoveries on the apical and basolateral sides were quantified for chlorogenic acid, as a percentage of the amount of chlorogenic acid loaded to the apical side at 0 h. Chlorogenic acid recoveries in the apical compartment after 2 h of exposure to samples ranged from 96 to 98%, which was in general not significantly different among samples. Furthermore, after 4 h of treatment with the samples, apical recoveries of chlorogenic acid obtained from HPP/PEF treated samples (71–73%) were not significantly different compared to untreated samples (72%). While the basolateral side recovery of intact chlorogenic acid was found to be in the range of 2.54 – 2.64%

after 2 h of treatment, after 4 h, the amount of compounds transported to the basolateral compartment increased to 4.24 - 4.51%. The basolateral side recovery (indicating transport) was corrected for the apical side recovery (indicating stability), defining as transport efficiency (Toydemir et al., 2013). The transport efficiency of chlorogenic acid in the untreated sample was still similar to those of HPP and PEF-treated samples after both 2 and 4 h exposure, indicating similar retention of chlorogenic acid even after HPP and PEF treatments at selected processing intensities in comparison with untreated samples. The major outcome of this work was that transport of the predominant cranberrybush phenolic acid was not negatively affected by processing.

The transpoit of chlorogenic acid has been studied before using Caco-2 cells. It was presented that the transpithelial flux was found to be inversely correlated with the paracellular permeability of Caco-2 cells. Namely, the permeation of chlorogenic acid from apical to basolateral direction is many due to paracellular diffusion and the intestinal absorption could be restricted when the epithelial tight junction is tight enough. In addition to this, the permeation rate of chlorogenic was found to be concentration-dependent and was not saturable, indicating that passive diffusion might be involved (Konishi & Kobayashi, 2004). Similar to the results obtained here, Kamiloglu et al. (2017) also reported 4 - 6.1 % basolateral recovery of chlorogenic acid from black carrot, which is in the same range as observed here for chlorogenic acid present in untreated or HPP/PEF treated samples. On the other hand, it was indicated that a considerably low amount of chlorogenic acid standard (0.06%)was transported into the basolateral side (after 40 min), suggesting a restriction by the tight junction (Konishi & Kobayashi, 2004). Moreover, Monente et al. (2015) indicated only 0.55 and 1% of the chlorogenic acid and its metabolites from spent coffee grounds were transported from the apical to the basolateral side of cell after 0.5 h and 1 h, respectively. When compared the basolateral recovery values in this study and the literature, higher values seems to be likely to the extended exposure duration of the transport experiment (Monente et al., 2015). The results of this study were in line with in vivo studies conducted with volunteers, who had an ileostomy, consuming instant coffee, thereafter, ileal fluids were collected over the period of 24 h. Findings showed that 71% of chlorogenic acid and its metabolites were recovered in the ileal fluid after 24 h of the consumption, indicating 29% absorption of the intake in the small intestine and  $\sim 71\%$  passage of the ingested chlorogenic acids from the small to

the large intestine (Stalmach et al., 2010). To conclude, polyphenols are generally poorly absorbed in the small intestine due to their glycosidic linkages, thereby the majority of these substances reach the colon to generate the aglycon form by colonic microbiota metabolism (Jaganath et al., 2006).

### 4.4.3.2 Effects of food matrix

The last objective in the present study was to evaluate the effect of milk food matrix on the bioavailability of the cranberybush juice polyphenols. Among other flavonols, quercetin-deoxyhexose and quercetin-3-*O*-glucoside were transported to the the basolateral compartment for all the samples.

On the other hand, catechin/epicatechin were transported through the Caco-2 cells in only JW samples. For procyanidin monomers, an interesting difference between cranberrybush juice and its milk blends (JM and JA) was observed owing to the complexation between cranberrybush procyanidins and proline-rich proteins, resulting in a reduction (as discussed in section 3.1.2). Besides, none of the oligomeric procyanidins could be detected and this observation was in the line of expectation. Most of the phenolic acids including caffeic acid, chlorogenic acid and coumaric acid were detected at the basolateral compartment of all the samples. Similar to the results of the processing effect on the recovery of phenolic acids, quinic acid was also detected in all the juice samples. Unlike other flavonoids, none of the anthocyanins could be detected in the basolateral compartment after 4 h exposure (as discussed in section 3.1).

As for transportation of chlorogenic acid from cranberrybush juice+water (JW) and juice+milk blends (JM and JA), apical recovery after 4 h, basolateral recovery as well as transport efficiencies after both 2 and 4 h exposure were found to be higher in juice samples than that of purée samples. For example, chlorogenic acid recovery at the basolateral side (t= 4 h) was 1.4, 2.2 and 2.1 times higher for the JW, JM and JA samples compared to the untreated purée sample. Reasons for greater retention of bioactive compounds in juice samples were explained as the type (especially pectin content) and physiological properties (liquid state) of the food matrix (see section 3.3.2).

What has become evident from this research is that the basolateral recovery and transportation of chlorogenic acid were altered with the addition of milk (bovine or almond milk). The recoveries of chlorogenic acid from JM and JA in the basolateral compartment after 4 h of exposures (9.61 and 9.46%, respectively) were significantly higher than that of JW samples (6.14%) (p < 0.001, p < 0.0001). Moreover, the transport efficiency after 4 h was also higher (p < 0.001) for the JM and (p < 0.01) JA samples compared to the JW. Similarly, Dupas et al. (2006b) investigated the effect of interactions between chlorogenic acid from coffee and semi-skimmed milk proteins (25%, g/L) on the absorption and bioavailability of the chlorogenic acid via Caco-2 cell model coupled with an *in vitro* digestion (t=1 h). Results demonstrated that there is an increasing trend (not significant) in the absorption kinetics of chlorogenic acid in presence of milk proteins (casein) (0.25%) in comparison when chlorogenic acid is consumed out of a food matrix (0.14%) (Dupas et al., 2006b). These results suggest that the presence of milk proteins does not hinder the absorption of chlorogenic acid. However, particularly important from a milk food matrix perspective is that the natural food matrix including protein as well as lipid contents, phenolic profile and their interactions have an influence on transpithelial transportation of polyphenols, besides, should also be evaluated specifically for each individual polyphenols by taking into consideration the ratio between milk and polyphenols, as well.

### 4.5 Conclusion

In this study we aimed to investigate the effect of non-thermal food processing on the absorption of phenolic compounds in the human digestive system using a recognized combined gastrointestinal digestion/cell-based assay. Moreover, since the transport of polyphenols generally appears to be relatively poor (5 - 10%), it may be a significant attention to study other food-related factors like the matrix effect that could enhance the transport of these compounds across the gut epithelium. Processing method (HPP, PEF5 and PEF15) and milk matrix (bovine milk and almond milk) had different effects on the contents of phenolic compounds, bioaccessibility and transport efficiency in cranberrybush products. Both HPP and PEF enhanced or did not have a negative effect on the recovery of the bioactive. Particularly important from a food matrix perspective is that the addition of milk appears to have a positive effect on transepithelial transportation of chlorogenic acid. Therefore, from the results obtained here, it can be

concluded that high pressure and pulsed electric field treatments can be used as alternative processing methods in the production of functional foods with enhanced nutritional value. Furthermore, it would be interesting to conduct advanced investigations on the transport dynamics of polyphenols from different food matrices that will be treated by non-thermal food processing methods. In addition to these, due to the fact that majority of the polyphenols reach the colon and are consecutively metabolized by colonic microbiota, future studies involving the combination of *in vitro* digestion models and Caco-2 cell culture studies could also be included with the colonic fermentation. In this regard, sulfated, glucuronidated, or methylated metabolites of polyphenols could also be evaluated to present overall consideration of the fate of the polyphenols to be released from the food matrix.

	t= 2h			t=4h								
Sample <sup>A</sup>	Apical side	Basolateral side	Transport	Apical side	Basolateral side	Transport						
_	recovery (%) <sup>B</sup>	recovery (%) <sup>C</sup>	efficiency <sup>D</sup>	recovery (%) <sup>B</sup>	recovery (%) <sup>C</sup>	efficiency <sup>D</sup>						
Process effect												
Untreated	96±3	2.59±0.21	$0.027 \pm 0.003$	72±6	4.38±0.26	$0.061 \pm 0.002$						
HPP	98±4	$2.64 \pm 0.06$	$0.027 {\pm} 0.000$	71±1	4.51±0.04	$0.063 \pm 0.000$						
PEF5	98±7	$2.54{\pm}0.09$	$0.026{\pm}0.003$	72±9	$4.24 \pm 0.30$	$0.060 \pm 0.006$						
PEF15	98±3	2.54±0.16	$0.026{\pm}0.002$	73±3	$4.31 \pm 0.07$	$0.059 \pm 0.002$						
Matrix effect												
JW	96±9	4.01±0.25	$0.042{\pm}0.007$	79±7	$6.14 \pm 0.60$	$0.078 \pm 0.006$						
ЈМ	94±4	$4.69 \pm 0.99$	$0.050{\pm}0.011$	73±6	9.61±0.25****	0.133±0.007***						
JA	91±11	5.97±0.11*	$0.066 \pm 0.008*$	77±7	9.46±0.18***	0.123±0.011**						

Table 4.1 : Apical and basolateral side recovery and transport efficiency of chlorogenic acid from cranberrybush purée and juice samples.

<sup>A</sup>The data presented in this table consist of average values  $\pm$  standard deviation of three independent batches. Statistically significant differences are shown for each sample compared to each other. \* p < 0.05; \*\* p < 0.01; \*\*\* p < 0.001; \*\*\*\* p < 0.001. <sup>B</sup>Apical side recovery percentages were calculated as (chlorogenic acid concentration at the apical side after transport)/(chlorogenic acid concentration at the apical side at 0 h of incubation) × 100. <sup>C</sup>Basolateral side recovery percentages were calculated as (chlorogenic acid concentration at the apical side after transport)/(chlorogenic acid concentration at the apical side at 0 h of incubation) × 100. <sup>D</sup>Transport efficiency was calculated as (basolateral side recovery, %)/(apical side recovery, %).

## 5. PVP/FLAVONOID COPRECIPITATION BY SUPERCRITICAL ANTISOLVENT PROCESS<sup>4</sup>

### 5.1 Abstract

To date, various delivery systems have been developed to improve chemical stability and increase the bioavailability of polyphenolic compounds. In the present study, the micronization of two flavonoids, quercetin and rutin, and their coprecipitation with polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) were studied using the supercritical antisolvent process (SAS). SAS process parameters were optimized with the aim of obtaining composite microspheres with controlled mean size and particle size distribution. Spherical microparticles (with mean diameters in the range between 0.47 and 9.52  $\mu$ m for PVP/quercetin and in the range 0.84–8.17  $\mu$ m for PVP/rutin) were precipitated, depending on the operating conditions. In correspondence of the best operating conditions, the entrapment efficiency in PVP, for both flavonoids, was 99.8% and the dissolution rate from the coprecipitated powders was 10 and 3.19 times faster compared to the dissolution rates of unprocessed flavonoids for quercetin and rutin, respectively.

**Key words:** quercetin, rutin, polyphenols, polyvinylpyrrolidone, coprecipitated microparticles, (SAS) process

### **5.2 Introduction**

Quercetin is a flavonoid compound, belonging to the class of flavonols (Fischer et al., 1997). A variety of foods and vegetables (Alinezhad et al., 2013), particularly onions, peppers, cranberries, blueberries, apples, cherries and grapes are considered to be rich sources of quercetin (Harnly et al., 2006). Dietary sources rich of quercetin are also flowers, tea, nuts, tomatoes, many seeds, barks, leaves as well as medicinal botanicals,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This chapter is based on the paper "Ozkan, G., Franco, P., Capanoglu, E., and De Marco, I. (2019). PVP/flavonoid coprecipitation by supercritical antisolvent process. Chemical Engineering and Processing-Process Intensification, 146, 107689."

including *Ginkgo biloba*, *Hypericum perforatum*, and *Sambucus Canadensis* (Williamson et al., 2005; Wiczkowski et al., 2008). In plants, quercetin (structural formula shown in Figure 5.1a) is commonly found in the form of glycosides (Rice-Evans, 2001); among them, rutin (Figure 5.1b) is the most widespread glycoside form of quercetin (Manach et al., 1997). The use of these compounds has been associated with a wide range of biological activities, including antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, anticancer, antiviral as well as to prevent cardiovascular, pancreas and liver diseases (Wang et al., 2016; Cazarolli et al., 2008; Huang et al., 2017). On the other hand, quercetin and rutin undergo many chemical changes during food processing and storage, due to the effects of oxygen, temperature, pH, etc. Besides, these flavonoids show a poor water solubility and, thus, a reduced bioavailability (Wang et al., 2016).



Figure 5.1 : Structural formulas of the flavonoids: (a) quercetin; (b) rutin.

Considering that they are very interesting in the pharmaceutical and nutraceutical fields because of their numerous benefits to human health, flavonoids are frequently taken as supplements, and functional foods. Therefore, in order to preserve their properties and improve their bioavailability, different delivery systems, based on the coprecipitation of flavonoids with a suitable polymer, have been developed (McClements et al., 2009).

Indeed, the active compound can be entrapped, impregnated in a polymer matrix, or encapsulated through a polymeric coating (Baldino et al., 2016; Concilio et al., 2015; Ranjit and Baquee, 2013).

Some conventional micronization techniques, such as, for example, spray-drying, emulsification/solvent evaporation, centrifugal extrusion, freeze-drying and coacervation have been used to obtain coprecipitated particles (Gonnet et al., 2010); however, using these processes, several limitations have been identified. Indeed, it is
not easy to control the particle size distribution, the product can be degraded because high temperatures and elevated quantities of residual solvent can cause the loss of its biological activity (Ozkan et al., 2019). Techniques assisted by supercritical fluids, in particular supercritical carbon dioxide (scCO<sub>2</sub>), can overcome these limitations (Reverchon et al., 2008; Franco et al., 2018). Different processes have been proposed as an efficient alternative to conventional ones for the micronization and coprecipitation of compounds belonging to different categories, such as products in agricultural, biomedical, pharmaceutical, food and cosmetic fields (Fahim et al., 2014; Campardelli and Reverchon, 2015; Zahran et al., 2014). Supercritical carbon dioxide based techniques may be classified according to the role played by the scCO<sub>2</sub>: indeed, it can play the role of solvent (like in the RESS, rapid expansion from supercritical solutions) (Chen et al., 2018), of antisolvent (like in the SAS, supercritical antisolvent process) (Rossmann et al., 2014), or of co-solvent (like in the SAA, supercritical assisted atomization process) (Peng et al., 2019). In the SAS process, carbon dioxide is used as the antisolvent for the product to be micronized or coprecipitated (Franco et al., 2018; Tabernero et al., 2012). Using the SAS technique, a wide variety of morphologies has been obtained, such as nanostructured filaments, nanoparticles with mean diameters in the range of 30-200 nm, spherical microparticles in the range of 0.25–20 µm, hollow expanded microparticles with diameters between 10 and 200 µm, and crystals of different dimensions (De Marco et al., 2013; De Marco and Reverchon, 2011; Montes et al., 2016). Because of its solubility in water, polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) is widely used as a carrier in pharmaceutical, biomedical and food applications; moreover, it has the GRAS (Generally Regarded as Safe) status and is included in the FDA (Food and Drug Administration) list (Prosapio et al., 2015; D'Souza et al., 2004). Besides, it has the capability of retarding the crystal growth (Ledet et al., 2015) and enhancing the dissolution rate of poorly water-soluble active compounds (Oth and Moes, 1985).

The literature regarding flavonoids coprecipitation using conventional techniques is scarce and is related to the formation of cyclodextrin inclusion complexes (Koontz et al., 2009; Praveena et al., 2017). In those articles, no information on the morphologies and on the dissolution rate of the active principles were given.

The literature concerning the production of quercetin and rutin coprecipitated particles by SAS process is limited. For example, Montes et al. proposed the use of SAS technique to micronize rutin (Montes et al., 2016); however, the authors showed the difficulty in obtaining distinct and defined particles, and they highlighted the importance of choosing a proper solvent. Indeed, sub-microparticles were obtained only using a solvent mixture of acetone/dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) at a ratio of 9/1, whereas, by using other solvent mixture proportions, the authors indicated that only a liquid phase was found in the precipitation chamber at the end of the experiments. Investigating the dissolution profiles of unprocessed and SAS processed rutin in simulated gastric (SGF) and intestinal fluids (SIF), an improvement of the dissolution rate was observed by the authors (Montes et al., 2016). Fernández-Ponce et al. (2015) attempted the micronization of quercetin and its coprecipitation using ethyl cellulose (EC) as the polymeric carrier and ethyl acetate as the solvent. The FESEM images revealed that, when quercetin was processed alone, smaller sized crystals were obtained compared to the ones of unprocessed quercetin; whereas, irregular and coalescent amorphous particles were obtained by coprecipitation. No dissolution tests were performed to evaluate whether the coprecipitation modified the dissolution rate of the active ingredient. In another paper, Fraile et al. (2014) coprecipitated quercetin with Pluronic F127 producing aggregated particles, as reported in FESEM micrographs (Fraile et al., 2014). For particulate solids, the product properties strongly depend on the dispersity of the material; for this reason, the aggregation and agglomeration have to be avoided when possible, for example, by using surfactants (Peukert et al., 2005).

Summarizing the literature results, to the best of our knowledge, the SAS micronization of quercetin and rutin and their coprecipitation with polymeric carriers have been attempted only in a limited number of articles without obtaining satisfying results.

In particular, SAS coprecipitation can be considered efficient when well-separated composite particles are produced (Prosapio et al., 2018); i.e., when the drug is homogeneously dispersed in the polymeric particle. However, until now, coalescent or irregular in shape and dimension particles have been obtained, as reported in the literature.

The objective of this study is to obtain an effective SAS coprecipitation of quercetin or rutin with PVP, enhancing the dissolution rate, and, therefore, improving the bioavailability of these natural antioxidant compounds. In particular, optimal conditions in terms of the type of solvent used, operating pressure, overall concentration and polymer/flavonoid ratio for the formation of spherical composite microparticles were determined. Morphology, mean size and size distribution of the particles were analyzed and discussed. The effectiveness of the process was also verified through entrapment efficiency and dissolution tests.

### 5.3 Materials, Methods and Procedure

### 5.3.1 Materials

Polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP, average molecular weight 10,000 g/mol), quercetin dihydrate (purity 98%), rutin hydrate (purity 95%) and dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO, purity 99.5%) were supplied by Sigma-Aldrich (Italy). Ethanol (EtOH, purity 99.9%) was purchased from Carlo Erba (Italy). Morlando group (Italy) provided carbon dioxide (purity 99%).

Solubility tests performed at room temperature showed that the solubilities of the materials in EtOH are about: 200 mg/mL in the case of PVP, 10 mg/mL in the case of quercetin and 20 mg/mL in the case of rutin; whereas, the solubilities in DMSO are: 250 mg/mL in the case of PVP, 90 mg/mL in the case of quercetin and 240 mg/mL in the case of rutin.

#### 5.3.2 SAS apparatus and procedure

A schematic representation of the SAS apparatus used for micronization and coprecipitation is shown in Figure 5.2. Two high-pressure pumps are used to feed the supercritical CO2 (scCO<sub>2</sub>) (P1) and the liquid solution (P2). A cylindrical vessel with an internal volume of 0.5 L is used as the precipitation vessel (P). The liquid solution, formed by a solute or two solutes (PVP and quercetin or rutin) dissolving in the selected solvent (EtOH or DMSO), is sprayed into the precipitator through a thin wall, 100  $\mu$ m internal diameter stainless steel nozzle. Supercritical carbon dioxide (scCO<sub>2</sub>) is preheated and, then, delivered to the vessel by another inlet located on the top of the precipitator. A micrometric valve enables to regulate the operating pressure in the vessel, whose value is assured by a test gauge manometer. Two electrically thin bands and a thermocouple are connected to a PID controller for the temperature measurement and control. The precipitated powders are collected on a stainless steel filter (pore

diameter equal to  $0.1 \,\mu\text{m}$ ), which is placed on the bottom of the precipitator. This filter allows the CO<sub>2</sub>-solvent solution to reach the collection vessel at a lowerpressure (1.8–2.0 MPa) located at the exit of the precipitator. A rotameter, situated downstream of this second vessel, measures the CO<sub>2</sub> flow rate.



**Figure 5.2 :** Schematic representation of the SAS plant. V1: CO<sub>2</sub> supply; V2: liquid solution supply; RB: refrigerating bath; P1, P2: pumps; P: precipitation vessel; MV: micrometric valve; M: manometer; LS: liquid separator; BPV: back-pressure valve; R: rotameter.

A SAS experiment starts with the pressurization of the precipitation vessel with preheated scCO2 to assure the steady-state conditions. When temperature, pressure and antisolvent flow rate are stable, the liquid solution, with the active principle dissolved in it, is delivered through the nozzle, producing the precipitation of solute.

At the end of the solution injection,  $scCO_2$  continues to flow to eliminate the residual solvent, avoiding to solubilize or modify the precipitates during the depressurization step. When the washing step is completed,  $CO_2$  flow is interrupted, the precipitation vessel is slowly depressurized down to atmospheric pressure, and the precipitated powder can be collected and sampled for the subsequent analyses.

### 5.3.3 Analytical methods

The morphology of the precipitated powder was observed through a Field Emission Scanning Electron Microscope (FESEM, mod. LEO 1525, Carl Zeiss SMT AG, Oberkochen, Germany); considering that the powder has to be conductive to be analyzed, it was placed on a stub with a sticky carbon cover and then coated with goldpalladium with the aid of a sputter coater (mod. 108 A, Agar Scientific, Stansted, United Kingdom).

Mean diameters, standard deviations and particle size distributions (PSDs) of the powders were determined using an image analysis software (Sigma Scan Pro 5.0, Aspire Software International Ashburn, VA). The samples were taken from various locations inside the precipitator and the corresponding PSD was elaborated considering approximately 1000 particles, whose diameters were measured using FESEM images taken at high enlargements. The elaboration of the PSDs was carried out using Microcal Origin Software (release 8.0, Microcal Software, Inc., Northampton, MA).

Calorimetric properties were studied using a differential scanning calorimeter (DSC, TC11 from Mettler-Toledo) under a nitrogen atmosphere (flow rate 50 mL/min); the sample (about 5 mg) was heated from 25 to 400 °C at 10 °C/min.

X-ray diffraction (XRD) analyses were performed by an X-ray powder diffractometer (model D8 Discover; Bruker, USA) with a Cu sealed tube source. Powders were placed on a holder and flattened with a glass slide to minimize preferred orientation of the particles. XRD patterns were recorded using the following conditions: Ni-filtered CuK $\alpha$  radiation,  $\lambda$ =1.54 Å, 20 angle ranging from 5° to 55° with a scan rate of 0.2 s/step.

An UV/vis spectrophotometer (model Cary 50, Varian, Palo Alto, CA) was used to perform dissolution studies for each flavonoid compound (FC) at a wavelength of 369 nm and 257 nm for quercetin and rutin, respectively. A phosphate buffered saline solution (PBS) at pH 7.4 was used as release medium. A dialysis sack, containing the powder samples with an equivalents amount of FC (5 mg) suspended in 3 mL of PBS, was then incubated in 300 mL of PBS at pH 7.4 and 37 °C, continuously stirred at 150 rpm. The mean profiles were proposed in the present paper, since each analysis was performed in triplicate.

The entrapment efficiency of PVP/flavonoid coprecipitated particles (EE%) was also measured by UV–vis analysis, measuring the absorbance in PBS medium at the end of

the release, when all FC was released from the particles to the outer phase. The absorbance was converted into FC concentration using a calibration curve.

EE% was determined as follows:

$$EE\% = \frac{mg \ polyphenols \ in \ the \ processed \ sample}{mg \ polyphenols \ in \ the \ initial \ solution} * 100$$
(5.1)

Considering that quercetin and rutin are not particularly soluble in PBS, the EE% measurements were repeated using ethanol as medium. Total antioxidant capacity was performed by 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) assay according to Kumaran (Kumaran, 2006). Trolox (6-hydroxy-2,5,7,8-tetramethylchroman-2-carboxylic acid) was used as a standard and the results were expressed in terms of mg Trolox equivalents (TE) per g dry weight of sample.

#### **5.4 Results**

SAS experiments were carried out using a CO2 flow rate of 30 g/min, a solution flow rate of 1 mL/min, and an operating temperature of 40 °C. The solvent and antisolvent flow rates were chosen to work with molar fractions to the right of the mixture critical point (MCP) of the binary system solvent/antisolvent at 40 °C (Reverchon and De Marco, 2011): in particular at CO<sub>2</sub> molar fractions approximately equal to 0.98. Moreover, the chosen operating pressures were higher than the critical pressure of the binary system solvent/CO<sub>2</sub>, which is approximately 8.5 MPa for DMSO/CO<sub>2</sub> (Andreatta et al., 2007) and 8.0 MPa for EtOH/CO<sub>2</sub> (Lim et al., 1994) at 40 °C.

Table 5.1 shows a summary of the performed experiments. The effects of the type of solvent (EtOH or DMSO), the operating pressure, the total initial concentration of solutes in the organic solvent ( $C_{tot}$ , mg/mL) and the polymer/flavonoid ratio (PVP/FC, w/w) on the obtained morphology, mean diameter (m.d.), standard deviation (s.d.), and entrapment efficiency (EE%) on a volumetric basis was investigated for each compound. Each experiment was repeated twice; the values inserted in the last two columns of Table 5.1 are mean diameters, mean standard deviations and mean EE% of the duplicates.

#	FC	Solvent	P [MPa]	C <sub>tot</sub> [mg/mL]	PVP/FC [w/w]	Morphology	m.d. ± s.d. [μm]	EE%
1	-	DMSO	9.0	40	1/0	MP	2.61±0.82	-
2		E40U	9.0	20	20/1	MP+IP	3.51±1.09	31.7
3		EtOH	9.0	40	20/1	MP+IP	5.56±1.43	34.0
4			9.0	20	0/1	С	-	-
5			13.0	20	0/1			-
6	quercetin		9.0	20		cMP	1.09±0.32	39.3
7		DMSO	9.0	30	20/1	MP	8.33±2.64	92.2
8			9.0	40		MP	9.52±2.74	99.8
9			9.0	30	10/1	cSMP	-	54.4
10			9.0	40	10/1	cSMP	0.47±0.36	43.4
11		EtOH	9.0	20	20/1	MP+IP	2.24±0.67	33.3
12		DMSO	9.0	20	0/1	С	-	-
13			13.0	20		-	0.84±0.26	-
14	rutin	DMCO	9.0	20	20/1	cMP	1.15±0.34	34.7
15		DMSO	9.0	30		MP	8.17±2.29	99.6
16			9.0	40	10/1	MP	0.94±0.25	99.8
17			9.0	40		cMP		90.1

 Table 5.1 : Summary of SAS experiments (IP: irregular particles; C: crystals; MP: microparticles; cMP: coalescing microparticles; cSMP: coalescing sub-microparticles).

## **5.4.1 Preliminary experiments**

Some preliminary tests were carried out processing the polymer and each flavonoid separately, to investigate their behavior when processed by SAS. In particular, micronizing PVP at 40 °C, 9.0 MPa and a solute concentration in DMSO equal to 40 mg/mL (run #1 in Table 5.1), microparticles were produced (Figure 5.3a); PVP already showed the tendency to precipitate in the form of microparticles, at various operating pressures and various concentrations in the liquid solution, both using DMSO (De Marco et al., 2015) and EtOH (Rossmann et al., 2014) as the organic solvent.





(c)

**Figure 5.3 :** FESEM image of single compounds precipitated at 9.0 MPa, 40 °C: (a) PVP processed at 40 mg/mL<sub>DMSO</sub>; (b) quercetin processed at 20 mg/mL<sub>DMSO</sub>; (c) rutin processed at 20 mg/mL<sub>DMSO</sub>.

Each FC was processed at 40 °C, 9.0 MPa, fixing the solute concentration in DMSO at 20 mg/mL (runs #4 and #12 in Table 5.1). Operating at these conditions, most of the solutes was extracted, whereas the remaining part, recovered from the filter and analyzed by FESEM, was constituted by large and irregular crystals, both in the case of quercetin (Figure 5.3b) and rutin (Figure 5.3c). These preliminary experiments on quercetin and rutin indicated that they are partially soluble in the mixture formed by  $scCO_2$  and DMSO at the process conditions.

The flavonoids alone were also processed at the same operating conditions in terms of temperature and solute concentration but at higher pressure (13.0 MPa, runs #5 and #13 in Table 5.1). In these cases, no powder was recovered in the vessel at the end of the experiments, because the solute was completely dragged in the separator located downstream the precipitation vessel.

Based on these preliminary experiments, it is possible to assert that both active compounds were not good candidates for SAS micronization because of their solubility in the mixture formed by the organic solvent and the antisolvent; whereas PVP was a compound that can be effectively processed by SAS. Therefore, the following experiments were performed attempting the coprecipitation for the systems PVP/quercetin and PVP/rutin. Considering the results of the preliminary experiments, the coprecipitation at pressures higher than 9.0 MPa was not attempted.

## 5.4.2 Effect of the solvent

The first set of coprecipitation experiments was carried out to investigate the effect of the solvent on particle morphology, mean size and particle size distribution. Firstly, fixing PVP/quercetin ratio at 20/1 w/w, a test was performed with a total solute concentration in ethanol equal to 20 mg/mL (run #2). Then, another experiment was conducted by using a higher overall solute concentration (40 mg/mL) (run #3).

The FESEM analyses of the powders showed that some microparticles were precipitated, but also the presence of material with an irregular morphology was detected, both using a total concentration of PVP/quercetin in EtOH equal to 20 mg/mL (Figure 5.4a) as well as increasing the concentration at 40 mg/mL (Figure 5.4b).







**Figure 5.4 :** FESEM images of PVP/quercetin 20/1 w/w particles precipitated at 9.0 MPa and 40 °C using ethanol as the organic solvent. Effect of overall concentration: (a) 20 mg/mL<sub>EtOH</sub>; (b) 40 mg/mL<sub>EtOH</sub>.

Considering that in both experiments not well defined particles were recovered, for the system PVP/quercetin, in the following experiments, DMSO was used as the organic solvent.

Regarding the system PVP/rutin, the effect of the solvent was investigated fixing a total concentration of the solute equal to 20 mg/mL and a PVP/rutin ratio to 20/1 w/w. Using ethanol as the solvent (Figure 5.5a, run #11), irregular material together with microparticles precipitated, whereas, using DMSO as the organic solvent (Figure 5.5b, run #14), coalescing spherical particles were obtained. As in the case of quercetin, DMSO seemed to be the preferable solvent to conduct the coprecipitation of PVP and rutin; indeed, with this solvent, spherical particles were formed. Therefore, also for the PVP/rutin system, the subsequent experiments were carried out using DMSO as the organic solvent.





(c)

(d)

Figure 5.5 : FESEM images of PVP/rutin 20/1 w/w particles precipitated at 9.0 MPa and 40 °C. Effect of organic solvent and of overall concentration:
(a) 20 mg/mL<sub>EtOH</sub>; (b) 20 mg/mL<sub>DMSO</sub>; (c) 30 mg/mL<sub>DMSO</sub>;
(d) 40 mg/mL<sub>DMSO</sub>.

## 5.4.3 Effect of overall concentration of solutes

The effect of the total concentration in the liquid solution for the systems PVP/FC 20/1 w/w at 9.0 MPa and 40 °C was investigated, varying this parameter from 20 mg/mL<sub>DMSO</sub> to 40 mg/mL<sub>DMSO</sub> (runs # 6–8 and # 14–16).

In the case of PVP/quercetin, coalescing microparticles were precipitated when the total concentration of PVP/quercetin was equal to 20 mg/mL<sub>DMSO</sub> (Figure 5.6a, run #6), whereas spherical microparticles were obtained increasing the total concentration at 30 (Figure 5.6b, run #7) and 40 (Figure 5.6c, run #8) mg/mL<sub>DMSO</sub>.





(c)

Figure 5.6: FESEM images of PVP/quercetin 20/1 w/w particles precipitated at 9.0 MPa and 40 °C. Effect of overall concentration: (a) 20 mg/mL<sub>DMSO</sub>; (b) 30 mg/mL<sub>DMSO</sub>; (c) 40 mg/ mL<sub>DMSO</sub>.

Comparing the volumetric cumulative distributions in Figure 5.7a, it is possible to observe that, increasing the total concentration of PVP/quercetin in DMSO, the mean particle dimension increased and the PSD enlarged.



**Figure 5.7 :** Volumetric cumulative PSDs of PVP/flavonoid particles 20/1 precipitated from DMSO at 90 bar and 40 °C at different overall concentrations; (a) quercetin; (b) rutin.

In the case of the system PVP/rutin, coalescing microparticles (Figure 5.5b) were obtained operating with a total concentration of 20 mg/mL (run #14), whereas slightly coalescing microparticles were formed at 30 mg/mL (run #15), as shown in Figure 5.5c. On the other hand, increasing the total concentration of PVP/rutin at 40 mg/mL (run #16), well-defined spherical microparticles were produced, as shown in Figure 5.5d.

A comparison between the volumetric cumulative PSDs for PVP/rutin powders was shown in Figure 5.7b. Also in this case, increasing the overall concentration of PVP/rutin in DMSO, the particle size increased and the PSD enlarged.

# 5.4.4 Effect of PVP/flavonoid ratio

In order to complete the screening on the effect of the operating parameters on morphology, mean particle size and particle size distribution, the PVP/FC ratio was decreased from 20/1 w/w to 10/1 w/w. In the case of the system PVP/quercetin, the total concentration in DMSO was fixed first at 30 mg/mL (run #9) and, later, at 40 mg/mL (run #10). When the total process concentration was fixed at 30 mg/mL, sub-microparticles characterized by a high degree of coalescence were obtained. This prevented the determination of the mean particle size and PSD. At 40 mg/mL,

coalescing sub-microparticles with a decrease in particle dimensions with respect to the powders obtained at PVP/FC ratio equal to 20/1 (run #8) were precipitated. Therefore, in the case of the system PVP/quercetin, the 10/1 w/w ratio is not sufficient for the attainment of well separated coprecipitated particles.

The decrease of the PVP/flavonoid ratio from 20/1 to 10/1 w/w was also investigated in the case of the system PVP/rutin, fixing the total concentration of the solutes in DMSO at 40 mg/mL. Slightly coalescing microparticles were produced with a PVP/rutin ratio equal to 10/1 w/w and a decrease of particle size was observed, by reducing the polymer/flavonoid ratio. Indeed, the mean diameter  $\pm$  standard deviation varied from 8.17  $\pm$  2.29 µm (in the case of the ratio 20/1 w/w, run #16) to 0.94  $\pm$  0.25 µm (for the test in correspondence of the ratio 10/1 w/w, run #17).

### 5.5 Characterization

DSC thermograms of unprocessed flavonoids, unprocessed PVP and SAS processed PVP/FC 20/1 w/w were reported in Figure 8a and b for quercetin and rutin, respectively. The DSC trace of unprocessed PVP was characterized by a wide endothermic peak corresponding to dehydration. DSC thermogram of pure quercetin showed two endothermic peaks, related to the loss of water and to the melting point (at 324 °C), respectively. Furthermore, an exothermic peak can be observed for quercetin at 358 °C due to the initial decomposition process (Muthurajan et al., 2015; da Costa et al., 2002). The DSC curve of unprocessed rutin exhibited a peak in correspondence of its phase transition at 174 °C, related to the molecular rearrangement of the rutin (Muthurajan et al., 2015). This first peak clearly represents its melting point (Asfour and Mohsen, 2018); furthermore, the subsequent peaks provide evidence of the phase transition of the flavonoid. SAS composites of PVP/quercetin and PVP/rutin showed an amorphous structure similar to the one of the polymer.



**Figure 5.8 :** DSC thermograms of unprocessed PVP and flavonoids, SAS processed PVP/FC composites: (a) quercetin; (b) rutin.

XRD patterns of unprocessed and SAS processed PVP (run #1), unprocessed and SAS processed FC (runs #4, 12), SAS powders PVP/FC precipitated using EtOH (runs #2, 11) and DMSO (runs #7, 15) as the organic solvents were reported in Figure 9a and b for quercetin and rutin, respectively. Both the flavonoids showed a crystalline structure after the supercritical precipitation, confirming the considerations made observing the FESEM images reported in Figure 3b and c, whereas the PVP pattern clearly indicated its amorphous nature. The patterns related to the SAS coprecipitated PVP/FC powders confirmed the achievement of the amorphization both using ethanol and DMSO as the organic solvent.

Dissolution tests were performed using UV–vis spectroscopy on unprocessed FC and SAS processed PVP/FC composites. Release kinetics of each sample in PBS at pH 7.4 was monitored plotting the percentage of dissolved FC as a function of time (Figure 5.10). It should be noted that the working time of the UV–vis spectroscopy used in this work can perform the measurements up to 7999 min (corresponding to about 133.33 h). Dissolution profiles of unprocessed quercetin and SAS processed PVP/quercetin 20/1 (run #8) precipitated from DMSO were reported in Fig. 10a. Unprocessed quercetin achieved 48.58% of release in correspondence of the maximum limit of the instrument (about 133.33 h), whereas the sample PVP/quercetin 20/1 had a very fast dissolution rate and reached 48.58% release in only 13.5 h, which is nearly ten times faster than pure quercetin. From Figure 10a it is clear that quercetin from SAS

coprecipitated powders completely dissolved in about 125 h and its release profile was characterized by an initial burstlike effect (about 20%), due to an amount of quercetin precipitated near/on the microparticles surface.



**Figure 5.9 :** XRD patterns for unprocessed FC and PVP, SAS processed FC and PVP, SAS processed PVP/FC precipitated using EtOH and DMSO as the organic solvents: (a) quercetin; (b) rutin.



**Figure 5.10 :** Dissolution profiles in PBS at 37 °C and pH 7.4: (a) quercetin; (b) rutin.

Dissolution profiles of unprocessed rutin and SAS coprecipitated powders PVP/rutin 20/1 and 10/1 precipitated from DMSO were reported in Figure 10b. It can be concluded that unprocessed rutin completely dissolved in about 73.7 h; whereas,

PVP/rutin 20/1 w/w (run #16) and 10/1 w/w (run #17) samples took about 40.6 and 23.1 h, respectively; which means 1.82 and 3.19 times faster dissolution rate in comparison with unprocessed rutin.

Entrapment efficiency (EE%) was determined for all SAS samples using UV/vis analysis at the end of each release test; the results were reported in Table 5.1. For the samples PVP/quercetin 20/1 w/w precipitated from ethanol (run #2 and 3), EE% was in the range of 31.7–34.0 %, which means that a part of the quercetin was extracted during SAS process. On the other hand, for the samples PVP/quercetin 20/1 w/w precipitated from DMSO, the EE% ranged from 92.2 to 99.8 % using an overall concentration of 30 mg/mL (run #7) and 40 mg/mL (run #8), demonstrating a successful coprecipitation of the powders recovered at the end of the experiments. Moreover, it can be possible to observe that EE% decreased with a lower overall concentration (run #6) with coalescing microparticles or a PVP/quercetin ratio of 10/1 w/w (run #9 and #10) due to the partial extraction of the quercetin during SAS experiments and to the fact that, at lower concentration or at lower polymer/flavonoid ratios, the polymer cannot entrap more active compound.

Regarding PVP/rutin samples, the EE% was found to be 33.3 and 34.7 %, respectively in the case of using ethanol (run #11) and DMSO (run #14) as the organic solvent with 20 mg/mL overall concentration. The maximum EE% (from 90.1 to 99.8 %) was obtained at PVP/rutin 20/1 w/w samples precipitated from DMSO using an overall concentration of 30 mg/mL (run #15) and 40 mg/mL (run #16) as well as PVP/rutin 10/1 w/w with an overall concentration of 40 mg/mL (run #17), indicating a successful coprecipitation.

DPPH assay was used to evaluate the antioxidant stability of the original quercetin/rutin, SAS processed PVP/quercetin and PVP/rutin coprecipitated particles and SAS processed PVP particles. The antioxidant capacity results are shown in Table 5.2. As can be seen from the Table, the total antioxidant capacity of quercetin (1613  $\pm$  60.4 mg TE/g DW) is much higher than that of rutin (726.2  $\pm$  3 mg TE/g DW) (p < 0.05). Moreover, results indicated the preservation effect of SAS process on the antioxidant capacities of quercetin and rutin (p > 0.05). Fraile et al. obtained significantly higher antioxidant capacity of SAS- processed quercetin than unprocessed quercetin and explained this aspect by the dehydration of the compound

during SAS processing (Fraile et al., 2014). However, our results demonstrated that SAS process may not provide improved antioxidant levels but rather a protecting effect. On the other hand, it should be noted that the antioxidant power of the carrier in PVP/quercetin and PVP/rutin coprecipitates may also affect the results and should also be considered during the analysis.

 Table 5.2 : Summary of SAS experiments (IP: Changes in the total antioxidant capacity of quercetin/rutin and SAS-processed samples\*.

Sample	mg TE/g dry weight
Quercetin	$1613 \pm 60.4^{\rm a}$
SAS processed quercetin (run #7)	$1633\pm50.4^{\rm a}$
Rutin	$726.2\pm3^{b}$
SAS processed rutin (run #15)	$752.6 \pm 18.6^{b}$
SAS processed PVP	$9.9\pm0.5^{\circ}$

\*Different small letters in the columns represent statistically significant differences (p < 0.05).

### 5.6 Discussion

Summarizing the experimental results, different morphologies, such as coalescing particles, microparticles, nanoparticles, sub-microparticles and crystals, were obtained varying the operating conditions.

It is well known in the literature on SAS process that particle formation is explainable considering the interplay among different aspects; i.e., fluid dynamics of the injected solution in contact with scCO<sub>2</sub>, high-pressure equilibria of the solute/solvent/antisolvent system and mass transfer to and from the injected solution (Reverchon and De Marco, 2011; Lengsfeld et al., 2000; Sarkari et al., 2000).

When the jet break-up occurs and the operating pressure is slightly higher than that of the MCP, spherical microparticles are generally precipitated. Micro-drops are formed during the liquid jet break-up, then the liquid is removed by drying with scCO<sub>2</sub>. In the case of a quaternary system formed by scCO<sub>2</sub>, an organic solvent, a polymer and an active compound, the attainment of microparticles makes the coprecipitation of the polymer and the active compound possible; indeed, both the compounds are confined by the micro-drop that behaves like an isolated reactor (Prosapio et al., 2018).

When the process conditions are located far above the MCP of the solvent-antisolvent system (at pressures much higher than MCP pressure), nanoparticles are commonly

obtained. Indeed, the surface tension of the injected liquid disappears before the liquid jet break-up and a gas plume formed (Lengsfeld et al., 2000; Sarkari et al., 2000); particles nucleate and grow from this gas plume. The polymeric carrier and the active compound tend to precipitate separately, considering that the heterogeneous nucleation is obtained very difficultly due to the different nucleation and growth times; as a result, the two compounds precipitate forming a sort of intimate physical mixture (Reverchon and De Marco, 2011).

The study of the effect of process parameters on the obtained morphology and on the average particle size allowed the ideal conditions for the PVP/flavonoid coprecipitation to be identified.

When the starting solutions were prepared by using ethanol as the organic solvent (runs # 2, 3 and 11), some microparticles together with material not well defined in morphology (Figure 4a, b and 5a) were recovered from the precipitator; on the contrary, the precipitation from DMSO always gives rise to spherical particles. This experimental evidence can be ascribed to the different properties of the two organic solvent, in terms of density and surface tension.

The effect of the total concentration (at fixed polymer/FC ratio) and of polymer/FC ratio (at fixed total concentration) can be discussed together. Indeed, at 20/1 w/w ratio, in correspondence of the lower total concentration (20 mg/mL) (runs # 6 and 14), and at 10/1 w/w ratio for all the tested total concentrations (runs # 9, 10 and 17), coalescent particles were obtained. It is also possible to note that the EE% in correspondence of these experiments is, in general, low. It is possible to hypothesize that, in these cases, the amount of PVP is insufficient to incorporate all the flavonoid, which partly precipitated on its own and was extracted by the mixture consisting of DMSO and scCO<sub>2</sub>.

When, instead, higher total concentrations (30 and 40 mg/mL) in correspondence of a sufficient PVP/FC ratio (20/1 w/w) were chosen, the coprecipitation was successful: microparticles, with a mean diameter that increased and a PSD that enlarged at increased concentrations, and with high entrapment efficiency, were obtained (runs # 7, 8, 15 and 16).

Ultimately, PVP is confirmed as an excelled polymeric carrier for the SAS coprecipitation. Indeed, PVP can hinder the tendency of quercetin and rutin to precipitate in an irregular morphology, because it has the capability of blocking and controlling the morphology of the compound that precipitates in its presence. Similar results were previously observed, for example, by coprecipitating PVP with other vitamins or drugs (Franco et al., 2018; Prosapio et al., 2017).

### 5.7 Conclusion

In this work, it was demonstrated that it is possible to coprecipitate some poorly watersoluble flavonoid compounds (quercetin and rutin) by using the SAS technique with PVP as the polymeric carrier. The results obtained in terms of morphology and dissolution rate for the tested flavonoids using the SAS technique are very promising.

The effect of the main parameters of the SAS process on the mean size, on the particle size distribution as well as the dissolution rate in water was studied. The operating conditions were chosen in order to obtain well-separated microparticles by means of an accurate selection of the type of solvent, of the operating pressure, of the total concentration of solutes and of the polymer/FC ratio. As indicated by the results, amorphous microparticles using solute concentrations greater than 20 mg/mL and high polymer/flavonoid ratios were obtained. Indeed, microspheres with mean diameters in the range of 8.33–9.52  $\mu$ m for the system PVP/quercetin and 1.15–8.17  $\mu$ m for the system PVP/rutin were obtained under optimized conditions. Furthermore, release studies confirmed an improvement of the flavonoids dissolution rates: 10 and 3.19 times faster dissolution rate than unprocessed quercetin and rutin, respectively were obtained. Besides, the high entrapment efficiencies, up to 99.8%, were achieved for quercetin and rutin coprecipitated particles using DMSO, which was the solvent chosen to coprecipitate the flavonoid compounds with PVP by the SAS process.

Consequently, the characteristics of the powders and the high entrapment efficiencies of PVP/quercetin and PVP/rutin systems obtained by SAS could allow the production of supplements with antioxidant and anticancer benefits for pharmaceutical and nutraceutical applications, in which the flavonoid compounds have high stability and bioavailability.



# 6. COMBINING *IN VITRO* DIGESTION/CACO-2 CELL CULTURE MODEL: EVALUATION OF THE SUPERCRITICAL ANTISOLVENT PROCESS AND FOOD MODELS ON ANTIOXIDANT EFFECTS, BIOACCESSIBILITY AND TRANSPORT DYNAMICS OF FLAVONOL-LOADED MICROPARTICLES<sup>5</sup>

### 6.1 Abstract

In the present study, the effects of Supercritical Anti-Solvent (SAS) process and food models on the antioxidant capacity, bioaccessibility and transport dynamics of flavonol-loaded microparticles were investigated using a combined *in vitro* gastrointestinal digestion/Caco-2 cell culture model. SAS-processed and unprocessed bioactives were supplied in two different food models: 10 % ethanol for aqueous hydrophilic food simulant and 3 % acetic acid for acidic food simulant. The SAS processing of quercetin and rutin resulted in a much higher recovery of those bioactives as well as a greater retention of antoxidant capacity after gastrointestinal digestion in both hydrophilic and acidic food models. The present study also demonstrates that SAS coprecipitation has a positive effect on the stability and the transport of the bioactives across the epithelial cell layer.

**Key words:** quercetin, rutin, microparticles, *in vitro* digestion, Caco2 cell model, bioavailability, supercritical antisolvent.

### 6.2 Introduction

Flavonoids are polyphenolic compounds, which are present in a wide variety of foods such as fruits, vegetables, flowers and leaf of plants (Yao et al., 2004). Quercetin and its glycoside form, namely rutin, have been reported to exhibit a wide range of biological activities, including anticancer, antioxidant, anti-inflammatory and antiviral activities, as well as prevention of cardiovascular, pancreas and liver diseases (Huang

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This chapter is based on the paper "Ozkan, G., Franco, P., De Marco, I., Capanoglu, E., and Esatbeyoglu, T. Combining in vitro digestion/Caco-2 cell culture model: Evaluation of the supercritical antisolvent process and food models on antioxidative effects, bioaccessibility and transport dynamics of flavonol-loaded microparticles, Submitted."

et al., 2017; Rashad et al., 2015; Russo et al., 2012). However, those flavonoids undergo several chemical changes during food processing and storage. Besides, there are also other drawbacks to consider before the incorporation of quercetin and rutin into functional foods, cosmetic and pharmaceutical industries; e.g., their crystalline structure at both ambient and body temperatures, poor water solubility, chemical instability in gastrointestinal tract and, thus, a reduced bioavailability (Record & Lane, 2001; Wang et al., 2016).

Therefore, a wide variety of delivery systems have been investigated to improve the solubility, stability, bioaccessibility and bioavailability of phenolic compounds, including lipid-based formulations (i.e., emulsion/nanoemulsion, solid lipid nanoparticles, nanostructured lipid carriers, liposomes, etc.) (Ozkan et al., 2020) as well as techniques assisted by supercritical fluids (e.g., RESS, rapid expansion from supercritical solutions; SAS, supercritical antisolvent process; SAA, supercritical assisted atomization process, etc.) (Peng et al., 2019).

Considering the above, the purpose of this study was to determine whether quercetin and/or rutin could be successfully protected and released by polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) based microparticles obtained by SAS process. Specifically, we have investigated (i) the retention and the antioxidant capacity of pure or SAS-processed quercetin and rutin; (ii) the influence of SAS processing on the apical and basolateral recovery as well as the transport efficiency of those bioactives; (iii) the effects of acidic and hydrophilic food conditions on the stability and bioavailability of the bioactives of interest, using *in vitro* simulated gastrointestinal digestion, coupled with the human intestinal Caco-2 epithelial cell system as a model. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first *in vitro* study with stimulated human intestinal epithelial cells performed on the flavonols (quercetin and its glycosylated form rutin) embedded into PVP-based matrix by SAS coprecipitation.

## **6.3 Materials and Methods**

### 6.3.1 Materials

Quercetin-polyvinylpyrrolidone (Q-PVP) and rutin-polyvinylpyrrolidone (R-PVP) coprecipitates were fabricated by SAS process at the University of Salerno. The Q-

PVP and R-PVP microparticles employed in this study were produced using the optimum process conditions described by Ozkan et al. (2019), which were as follows: 90 bar, 40 °C, 40 mg/mL as overall concentration of solutes (Q/R and PVP) in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), flavonol/PVP weight ratio equal to 1/20 for Q/PVP and 1/10 for R/PVP.

Polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP, average molecular weight 10,000 g/mol), quercetin dihydrate (purity 98%), rutin hydrate (purity 95%), pepsin (EC 3.4.23.1, from porcine gastric mucosa), pancreatin (8x USP, EC 232.468.9, from porcine pancreas, contains trypsin, amylase and lipase) and bile salt were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Chemie GmbH (Steinheim, Germany). Caco-2 human colon adenocarcinoma cell line was obtained from German Collection of Microorganisms and Cell Cultures (DSMZ, Braunschweig, Germany). Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM), fetal bovine serum (FBS), penicillin and streptomycin, non-essential amino acids (MEM NEAA 100x), trypsin/EDTA (10x) were purchased from Pan Biotech (Aidenbach, Germany) and trypan blue was obtained from Carl Roth (Karlsruhe, Germany). Ultrapure water was used (Purelab flex 3; Veolia Water Technologies, Celle/Germany). All other reagents were of analytical or HPLC grade.

## 6.3.2 Food models

The *in vitro* digestion experiments were carried out for selected unprocessed flavonols or flavonol-loaded microparticles in two different media, 3% acetic acid and 10% ethanol, which are considered as food simulants for acidic and hydrophilic food products, respectively, according to the Commission Regulation 10/2011 EU (10/2011/EC) (Atay et al., 2018).

### 6.3.3 In vitro simulated gastrointestinal digestion

The *in vitro* digestion procedure was adapted from Sessa et al. (2011) and Ozkan et al. (2021) with some modifications. Due to the daily intake of quercetin is in the range of 0 -30 mg (Böhm et al., 1998; Knekt et al., 2002), 5 mg active compound was selected as initial dose. Briefly, 5 mg unprocessed quercetin/rutin or 5 mg quercetin/rutin equivalent microparticles (105 mg for Q/PVP and 55 mg for R/PVP) were dissolved in 5 mL media (acidic or hydrophilic), individually. A sample of 5 mL from each was placed in a test tube and incubated in a water bath at 37 °C for 15 min. To simulate

gastric digestion, the pH was adjusted to 2 using 1 M HCl and porcine pepsin was then added to a final concentration of 1.3 mg/mL. The samples were incubated at 37 °C in a shaking water bath (GFL 1092, Burgwedel, Germany) at 100 rpm for 2 h. To simulate intestinal digestion, the pH of the gastric chyme was raised to pH 5.8 with 1 M NaHCO<sub>3</sub> dropwise, and 2.5 mL of pancreatin and bile salts mixture were added to final concentrations of 0.175 and 1.1 mg/mL, respectively. Afterwards, the pH was adjusted to pH 6.5 with 1 M NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, and samples were incubated at 37 °C in a shaking water bath at 100 rpm for 2 h. A blank without bioactive compound was incubated under the same conditions for correcting the interferences from the digestive enzymes and buffers. After gastrointestinal digestion, the samples were cooled by immersing in an ice bath and then centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 30 min at 4 °C (Megafuge 8R; Thermo Scientific, Darmstadt, Germany) to separate the soluble or bioaccessible fraction and the residual fraction. Bioaccessible fractions of the digests were kept at -80 °C until further analysis. All experiments were done in triplicates.

## 6.3.4 Antioxidant capacity during in vitro digestion

All spectrophotometric assays were performed using an Infinite M200 UV–visible spectrophotometer (Tecan, Crailsheim, Germany). The antioxidant capacity was estimated by using the cupric ion reducing antioxidant capacity (CUPRAC) (Apak et al., 2004) and 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) (Molyneux, 2004) assays. In both assays, 6-Hydroxy-2,5,7,8-tetramethylchroman-2-carboxylic acid (Trolox) was used as a standard. All samples (quercetin or rutin in free or microparticle form) were measured in triplicates and results were expressed as mmol Trolox equivalents (TE) per g of sample.

### 6.3.5 In vitro bioaccessibility calculations

The bioaccessibility of quercetin or rutin was defined as the amount of bioactive released into the mixed micelles formed by bile salts after the intestinal phase (Chen et al., 2020). The bioaccessibility was calculated using equation (6.1) and expressed as percentage.

$$Bioaccessibility (\%) = (BCdigested/BCnon - digested) * 100$$
(6.1)

where  $BC_{digested}$  was the amount of bioactive compounds (quercetin or rutin) recovered in the supernatants of the centrifuged final digesta (BF; bioaccessible fraction) and  $BC_{initial}$  was the initial amount of bioactive compounds in the stock solution.

### 6.3.6 Cell culture

Caco-2 cells were cultured in Dulbecco's modified eagle's medium including 4.5 g/L glucose and stable glutamine supplemented with 20% fetal bovine serum, 1% nonessential amino acids, 100 IU/mL penicillin and 100  $\mu$ g/mL streptomycin. Cells were incubated at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in air. Cells were subcultured at 70–80% confluence using trypsinization. For the transport experiment, Caco-2 cells were seeded in inserts of 6-well transwell plates (0.4  $\mu$ m pore diameter, 24mm insert, Sarstedt, Nümbrecht, Germany) at a density of 4\*10<sup>4</sup> cell/well, with 2 mL of medium in the apical side and 2.5 mL of medium in the basolateral side. Cells were allowed to grow and differentiate to confluent monolayers for 21 days post-seeding. Cell monolayer integrity during differentiation of Caco-2 cells was monitored by measuring the transpithelial electrical resistance, TEER value, using a Millicell<sup>©</sup> ERS-2 Volt-Ohm Meter (Millipore, Bedford, MA, USA). Only differentiated enterocytes displaying unchanged transepithelial electrical resistance values were used in the experiment. Medium was changed three times per week. Passage numbers of the cells used in this study were less than 30.

#### 6.3.7 Cytotoxicity test

Caco-2 cells were seeded in 96 well plates, allowed to differentiate for 14 days after confluency and treated with digests at a dilution of 1/2, 1/5 and 1/10 (v/v) in HBSS. After 4 h of treatment, the cytotoxic effect of samples on Caco-2 cells was evaluated using the sulforhodamine B (SRB) assay as described in Longo-Sorbello et al. (2006). For the SRB assay, differentiated cells were first fixed by the addition of 50  $\mu$ L of 50 % TCA (trichloroacetic acid in Milli-Q water) and kept at 4 °C for 45 min. The plates were rinsed with tap water and air-dried. Afterward, the cells were stained with 70  $\mu$ L SRB solution (0.4% in 1% glacial acetic acid) and left for 15 min. The plates were then rinsed with 1% glacial acetic acid in Milli-Q water, air-dried and the stain was resuspended in 200  $\mu$ L of 10 mM Tris-buffer. Thereafter, the absorbance was determined at 490 nm, subtracting the background measurement at 620 nm.

### 6.3.8 Transport experiment in CaCo-2 cells

Transport experiment was carried out according to Wu et al. (2017). Briefly, the medium in the transwells was changed to HBSS and preincubated for 1 h and then removed. BF used for the Caco-2 experiments was diluted 1:5 (v:v) with HBSS, since cell viability after 4 h of exposure to the samples in such conditions, assessed by SRB assay, was higher than 85–90%. Incubation was performed at 37 °C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 4 h. During incubation, 200  $\mu$ L samples were collected from both the apical and basolateral compartments every 2 h, after which 200  $\mu$ L of HBSS was added to adjust the volume of the media. TEER value of the cells was detected before treatment and immediately after the last sampling to ensure the integrity of monolayer. Then the HBSS was replaced by growth medium, and the monolayers were incubated for another 20 h to measure irreversible damage to the cell monolayer. Samples were stored at -80 °C until further analysis.

## 6.3.9 Identification and quantification of flavonoids by UPLC

The method for determination of flavonoids by UPLC was adapted from Ozkan et al. (2021) with minor modifications. Briefly, samples (unprocessed flavonols and microparticles) were passed through 0.20 µm membrane filters and injected into a UPLC (Agilent 1290 Infinity II, Germany). The UPLC system is equipped with a binary pump with vacuum degasser, autosampler, photodiode array detector and a column oven. A Phenomenex Luna C18(2) analytical column (250\*4.6 mm, 5 µm) with a C18 guard column (Phenomenex, Torrance, CA) was used for the separation. A mobile phase consisting of TFA/MQ water (trifluoroacetic acid in Milli-Q water) (1 mL/L; eluent A) and TFA/acetonitrile (1 mL/L; eluent B) was used. The linear gradient was as follows: 0 min, 5% B; 0-6.48 min, 35% B; 6.48-6.77 min, 100% B; 6.77-8.00 min, 100% B; 8.00-8.10 min, 5% B. The injection volume was 10 µL, the flow rate was 0.6 mL/min and spectral measurements were at 369 and 257 nm for quercetin and rutin, respectively. For calibration curves, chromatographic peak area of the standards versus nominal concentrations was plotted. All samples were measured in triplicates and results were expressed as milligrams per g sample.

### 6.3.10 Statistical analysis

Experiments were conducted at least in triplicate. Results were reported as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. Error bars on figures represented standard deviations. Statistical analysis was applied using SPSS software (version 20.0, SPSS Inc. Chicago, IL, USA). Treatments were compared using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by a Tukey post hoc test (p < 0.05).

### 6.4 Results and Discussion

### 6.4.1 In vitro bioaccessibility of bioactives

The use of polyphenols is currently limited due to its relatively low water solubility, chemical instability in the GI tract, and thus, reduced oral bioavailability (2–20% absorption) (Chen et al., 2016; Hu, 2007; Zou et al., 2014). Therefore, it is essential to investigate the effects of digestion on their stability to reveal the mechanism of absorption and metabolism. It was assumed that the bioaccessible fraction of a compound incorporated within the micelles would be available for adsorption by epithelial cells in the small intestine (Pool et al., 2013). For these reasons, effects of models on the bioaccessibility were studied. Bioaccessibility was quantified by measuring the amount of quercetin/rutin within the micelle phase collected at the end of the simulated small intestine phase.

Quercetin had a low bioaccessibility value of  $0.21\pm0.09$  % when simply suspended in hydrophilic food simulant, which can be related to its low solubility and crystalline state in water (Figure 6.1). Moreover, there was no triacylglycerol present that could be digested and form mixed micelles to solubilize the hydrophobic component. According to the literature, quercetin was chemically unstable because of hydroxyl groups and the unstable pyrone structure (Lv et al., 2017). The degradation of quercetin was found to be sensitive to medium pH, especially at alkaline pH values (pH > 7). Increasing the medium pH value from 6.0 to 6.8 or 7.5 increased the k values by 2and 12-fold, respectively (Wang & Zhao, 2016). On the other hand, the bioaccessibility of quercetin in Q-PVP microparticles was found to be significantly higher (19.8±2.02 %) than that of unprocessed one (p < 0.05). These results suggest that the use of PVP could achieve an amorphization and increased water solubility; thus enhanced bioaccessibility. Concerning increasing quercetin bioaccessibility, different attempts have been conducted. Aditya et al. (2014) obtained 60% bioaccessibility of quercetin within nanostructured lipid carriers and lipid nanoemulsions, and 35% with solid lipid nanoparticles, which were much higher than free quercetin solution ( $\sim 7$  %). Similarly, the quercetin bioaccessibility was increased from <5 % in bulk water to 53 % within the nanoemulsion (Pool et al., 2013). Ni et al. (2015) reported a bioaccessibility of 33.6% for quercetin in nanostructured lipid carriers, which was higher than that obtained in water (<2 %). Additionally, Eudragit, an anionic copolymer based on methacrylic acid and ethyl acrylate, based delivery system was also used to increase the stability and solubility of quercetin in the GI tract. After the simulated GI digestion, quercetin release was enhanced from 7% (for free quercetin dispersed in water) to 22% for quercetin loaded polymeric nanoparticles (Pool et al., 2012). Besides, Chen et al. (2020) reported the bioaccessibility of quercetin as 12.7% by incorporating it into the rice bran protein-stabilized nanoemulsions, whereas the bioaccessibility of free quercetin was found to be 1.40%.



Figure 6.1 : The bioaccessibility of unprocessed and SAS processed quercetin or rutin using PVP in two different food stimulants.

As for the acidic food model, while a lower bioaccessibility value  $(1.91\pm0.13\%)$  was obtained with unprocessed quercetin, there was a significant improvement (p < 0.05) in quercetin within Q-PVP microparticles (24.03±0.44 %). Strong acidic conditions may result in the degradation of quercetin to phenolic acids (e.g., protocatechuic acid) and losing the skeleton structure of quercetin (Wang et al., 2016). It can be deduced

from the results that the PVP matrix could protect the bioactive compound in acidic conditions which was selected as the worst-case scenario in which the release was expected to be faster due to the quick swelling or even dissolution of the polymeric matrices in acidic conditions (Atay et al., 2018).

The bioaccessibility of rutin in hydrophilic food model was obtained as  $8.38\pm0.10$  %. It has been reported that phenolics are highly sensitive to alkaline conditions and may degrade during gastrointestinal digestion (Bermúdez-Soto et al., 2007). On the other hand, the recovery of rutin was statistically enhanced (p < 0.05) to  $62.1\pm2.66$ % when it was coprecipitated with PVP. These results are in agreement with Bermúdez-Soto et al. (2007) who showed that rutin exhibited a high bioaccessibility (3% loss) after pancreatic digestion. In line with the results of the rutin bioaccessibility in acidic food model, recovery of unprocessed rutin was increased from  $37.1\pm0.84$  and  $59.4\pm2.45$ %. Results indicated a protective effect of PVP matrix for rutin in both hydrophilic and acidic conditions during *in vitro* digestion due to its pH-stable properties (Franco & De Marco, 2020). It can also be deduced from the results that the stability of rutin in both free and microparticle form was found to be higher than that of quercetin ones. Indeed, previous studies have noticed a stronger stability of rutin rather than quercetin in hydrophilic conditions, indicating stabilization effect of glycoside linkage present in rutin (Dechene, 1951).

### 6.4.2 Changes in the *in vitro* antioxidant capacity during digestion

Changes in antioxidant capacity of the samples in different food models, measured by both CUPRAC and DPPH assays, during the *in vitro* GI digestion are shown in Table 6.1.

From the results, bioactive-free microparticles (PVP matrix) showed almost no antioxidant capacity (data not shown) in all conditions. In line with the antioxidant capacity results obtained for unprocessed bioactives after *in vitro* digestion, values of CUPRAC antioxidant capacity were found to be quite lower than that of PVP microparticles in all food models due to crystalline structure of these compounds under these conditions. Therefore, findings indicated preservative and supportive effects of SAS process on the antioxidant capacities of bioactives. In CUPRAC assay, Cu(II) is reduced to Cu(I) through the action of electron-donating (ET) antioxidants (Apak et

al., 2004). It could be stated that the use of PVP as a carrier has favored the electrondonating ability of the bioactive loaded PVP-based microparticles (higher reducing power) when compared with unprocessed ones. Samborska et al. (2019) indicated that CUPRAC antioxidant activities of spray-dried honey powders were increased by the use of maltodextrin as a carrier. CUPRAC method has superiority over other ET–based assays in terms of working pH (Apak et al., 2007). Thus, it could be deduced from the results that the decrease in CUPRAC values in hydrophilic and acidic food simulants may arise from the reduced stability of bioactives in those conditions.

	Defense	Hydro	ophilic	Acidic					
Sample	digestion	After digestion	Increase (fold)	After digestion	Increase (fold)				
Cupric ion reducing antioxidant capacity (CUPRAC)									
Quercetin	n								
Q	$17.2 \pm 1.64^{a}$	0.10±0.02°		4.63±0.63 <sup>b</sup>	0.27				
Q-PVP	$321 \pm 8.87^{a}$	205±16.7 <sup>b</sup>	0.64	206±23.6b	0.64				
Rutin									
R	11.3±1.32ª	0.66±0.12°	/ / /	$4.32 \pm 0.28^{b}$	0.38				
R-PVP	$147 \pm 2.75^{a}$	61.8±3.61 <sup>b</sup>	0.42	59.3±6.61 <sup>b</sup>	0.40				
2,2-Diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH)									
Quercetin	1								
Q	$6.28{\pm}0.07^{a}$	$0.1 \pm 0.00^{\circ}$		$0.76 \pm 0.32^{b}$	0.12				
Q-PVP	6.40±0.27°	58.6±5.20ª	9.16	$37.1 \pm 4.78^{b}$	5.80				
Rutin									
R	$2.41{\pm}0.16^{a}$	$0.60{\pm}0.05^{\circ}$	0.25	$1.10{\pm}0.31^{b}$	0.46				
R-PVP	2.59±0.26°	18.1±0.56ª	6.99	12.3±1.97 <sup>b</sup>	4.75				

Table 6.1 : Changes in the antioxidant activities of the samples during GI digestion<sup>\*</sup>.

\*The data presented in this table consist of average values  $\pm$  standard deviation of three independent batches. Different small letters in the same rows represent statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) between quercetin and rutin samples, individually. Total antioxidant capacity is expressed as mmol trolox equilavent/g sample.

Similarly, DPPH radical scavenging capacity of bioactives within PVP matrix were found to be much higher than that of unprocessed ones. In addition to this, antioxidant activities of unprocessed quercetin and rutin decreased after digestion (p < 0.05), whereas it was increased for SAS processed Q-PVP and R-PVP microparticles in all food models (p < 0.05). DPPH is a mixed mode assay which attributed to the scavenging of a radical by antioxidants with both hydrogen atom transfer and electron transfer based mechanisms (Capanoglu et al., 2017). It is well known that the radical scavenging capacity of polyphenols is strongly pH-dependent. Higher pH values lead to enhancement in this capacity. The increase in the radical scavenging capacity based on the deprotonation of the hydroxyl moieties present on the aromatic rings of the phenolic compounds (Mukai et al., 1997; Tyrakowska et al., 1999). The transition from the stomach to the intestinal environment may induce structural changes in the phenolic molecules by ionization of the hydroxyl groups (Tagliazucchi et al., 2010). Similar results were also obtained by Tagliazucchi et al. (2010). It was found that radical scavenging activity of gallic acid, caffeic acid, catechin, quercetin and resveratrol were ascended after pancreatic digestion.

Regarding the effect of food models on the antioxidant capacity of the samples after *in vitro* digestion, there was a significant change (p < 0.05) in the DPPH antiradical scavenging abilities of the samples. The results present that statistically higher antioxidant capacity of bioactives in PVP matrix is obtained in hydrophilic media. Similar to the results obtained in the present work, Pekal & Pyrzynska (2015) found that there was a significant variation in DPPH inhibition of tea infusions in the measuring system in buffered (methanol with acetate buffer at pH 5.5) and non-buffered reagent (methanol). Indeed, higher antioxidant capacity of tea infusions was determined in less acidic media.

## 6.4.3 Determination of the cytotoxicity in Caco-2 cells

Before transport experiments, it is necessary to determine the maximum non-toxic sample concentration by a cytotoxicity test. Thus, SRB assay has been subjected to determine the cellular viability based on cellular protein content. Cells were allowed to differentiate for 14 days after confluency. Then, Caco-2 cells were treated with bioactive free and bioactive containing digests at different dilution ratios. 1/5 dilution ratios of the digests with Q, Q/PVP, R or R/PVP did not result in a major (i.e. biologically relevant) cytotoxic effect (cell viability was never < 85%), indicating no cell release from the monolayer. Therefore, dilution of 1/5 was used in further Caco-2 transport experiments.

### **6.4.4 Transport experiments**

The TEER values before and after 4 and 24 h of treatment for all tested digests have been monitored. Before treatment, TEER values of all conditions were found to be higher than 300  $\Omega$ cm<sup>2</sup>. TEER values did not change more than 10% of the original values (not shown) after 4 and 24 h, which are considerably above the recommended minimum level (200  $\Omega$ cm<sup>2</sup>) needed for monolayer integrity (Palm et al., 1996). Therefore, we conclude that the monolayer integrity was not irreversibly damaged during transport experiments in the presence of a 1/5 diluted digestive matrix and paracellular transport was not affected, which could influence bioavailability calculations.

One of the aims of this study was to determine the effect of SAS process and different food models on the transport dynamics of quercetin and rutin, in the form of free or bioactive-loaded PVP microparticles, in the human digestive system using a recognized cell-based assay. Although there have been a series of studies conducted related with the absorption of bioactive compounds, the effects of food models with different pH and SAS process on uptake of phenolic compounds are largely unknown. In the present research, the combined *in vitro* digestion/Caco-2 cell culture system was used to screen the transport of bioactives – quercetin and rutin – across the gut epithelium.

The digests of quercetin and rutin in the form of free or bioactive-loaded PVP microparticles from different food simulants were added to the apical (top) side of the Caco-2 cells growing in transwells. After, samples were collected from the apical compartment after 0, 2 and 4 h and from the basolateral (bottom) compartment after 2 and 4 h of incubation. At the end of 2 and 4 h exposure, recoveries on the apical and basolateral sides were quantified for bioactives, as a percentage of the amount of bioactives loaded to the apical side at 0 h (Table 6.2).

According to the results, free quercetin from hydrophilic or acidic food simulants could not be detected at the apical or basolateral sides. After *in vitro* gastrointestinal digestion, quite lower amount of unprocessed quercetin was detected in the both hydrophilic and acidic food models as described above. Before the cell culture study, digests were diluted with HBSS at a pH of 7.8. Due to the fact that intact quercetin in the digests may be degraded at this pH. Considering the recoveries of quercetin within PVP matrix in the apical compartment after 2 h of exposure were found be 66 and 81 % for hydrophilic and acidic food simulants, respectively. Furthermore, after 4 h of treatment with the samples, apical recovery of quercetin was decreased to 61 and 65% for hydrophilic and acidic food simulants, respectively. While the basolateral side recovery of intact quercetin was found to be 0.98 and 1.38% after 2 h of treatment,

after 4 h, the amount of compounds transported to the basolateral compartment increased to 1.93 and 3.89 %, for hydrophilic and acidic food models, respectively. The basolateral side recovery (indicating transport) was corrected for the apical side recovery (indicating stability), defining as transport efficiency (Toydemir et al., 2013). The transport efficiency of quercetin in the acidic food model was greater than that of from hydrophilic food model, indicating higher retention. What has become evident from this research is that the basolateral recovery and transportation of quercetin is altered in a positive manner with SAS processing. While quercetin in free form could not be detected in the basolateral compartment after 2 or 4 h exposure, relatively higher transportation could be achieved with quercetin in the form of PVP-based microparticles.

As for transportation of rutin in both free or microparticle forms, while apical recoveries (t = 4 h) in hydrophilic food simulants were statistically higher than that of acidic food simulant, basolateral recoveries (t = 4 h) in acidic food simulant were statictically higher than hydrophilic ones. The major outcome of this work was that transport of the rutin was enhanced by SAS processing. In detail, after 4 h exposure, transport efficiency (t = 4 h) was found to be 1.2 and 1.5 times higher for the rutin within PVP matrix from hydrophilic and acidic food models, respectively, compared to the unprocessed ones.

The reason for greater retention of bioactive compounds within PVP matrix could be explained by the physical state of the bioactives. Amorphous structure for both bioactives have been achieved by SAS coprecipitation (Ozkan et al., 2019) and, thereby, enhanced water solubility resulted in an increased bioavailability.

The transepithelial transport of quercetin and rutin have been studied before using Caco-2 cells. In the small intestine, most flavonoid glycosides –like rutin – degraded to their corresponding aglycone by deglycosylation using luminal lactase phloridzin hydrolase (LPH) or  $\beta$ -glucosidase (Németh et al., 2003). Thereafter, flavonoid aglycones, such as quercetin, enter enterocytes and transepithelial flux originate from passive diffusion followed by various conjugation reactions including sulphation and glucuronidation (Erdman et al., 2000). Moreover, methylation was also obtained as the main metabolism of quercetin in buckwheat samples after intestinal transport through Caco-2/HepG2 coculture models (Yao et al., 2020). Similar to the results obtained

here, it was reported that 0.3–6.4% of the quercetin and its conjugates have been detected after the consumption of quercetin-rich foods such as apples, onions, buchwheat and tomato products (Kahle et al., 2011; Manach et al., 2005). The results of this study were in line with *in vivo* studies conducted with volunteers, in which the fate of the flavonols in lightly fried onions has been investigated (Mullen et al., 2006). According to the results, about 4% recovery of the ingested flavonol glucosides as metabolites were present in plasma and urine samples. Besides, rutin metabolites in urine collected from healthy human subjects were studied after the consumption of tomato juice fortified with rutin (quercetin-3-*O*-rutinoside). It was reported that excretion of the metabolites ranged from 0.02% to 2.8% of intake (Jaganath et al., 2006).

### **6.5** Conclusion

The aim of this study was to investigate the effect of SAS processing on the absorption of flavonoids, namely quercetin and rutin, in the human digestive system using a recognized combined gastrointestinal digestion/cell-based assay. Moreover, aqueous hydrophilic and acidic conditions were simulated to analyze food-related factors that could have an impact on the transport of these compounds across the gut epithelium. SAS processing enhanced the recovery of the quercetin (94 and 13 times in hydrophilic and acidic conditions, respectively) and rutin (7 and 2 times in hydrophilic and acidic conditions, respectively) after in vitro digestion. Besides, transepithelial transportation of these flavonoids were also affected positively. Thereby, it can be deduced from the results that SAS processing can be a useful tool in the pharmaceutical and nutraceutical applications with high stability, bioaccessibility, bioavailability and thus enhanced nutritional value. On the other hand, current studies could be enriched with colonic fermentation in order to examine the fate of bioactives in an entire approach. Because, majority of the phenolic substances reach the colon and are consecutively metabolized by colonic microbiota. Furthermore, owing to the significant effects on the transport of the bioactive compounds across the gut epithelium, food-related factors like matrix effect could be also included in future studies.

	t= 2h				t=4h			
Food model <sup>A</sup>	Apical side recovery (%) <sup>B</sup>	Basolateral side recovery (%) <sup>C</sup>	Transport efficiency <sup>D</sup>	Apical side recovery (%) <sup>B</sup>	Basolateral side recovery (%) <sup>C</sup>	Transport efficiency <sup>D</sup>		
Quercetin								
Hydrophilic	n.d.	n.d.	-	n.d.	n.d.	-		
Acidic	n.d.	n.d.	-	n.d.	n.d.	-		
Quercetin loaded PVP based microparticles								
Hydrophilic	66±7.69 <sup>b</sup>	$0.98{\pm}0.03^{\circ}$	$0.015 \pm 0.004^{\circ}$	61±9.96 <sup>b</sup>	$1.93 \pm 0.71^{b}$	$0.032{\pm}0.008^{b}$		
Acidic	81±5.71ª	$1.38 \pm 0.36^{bc}$	$0.017 \pm 0.005^{\circ}$	65±2.63 <sup>b</sup>	$3.89{\pm}0.38^{a}$	$0.060 \pm 0.006^{a}$		
Rutin								
Hydrophilic	73.2±3.21°	$1.17 \pm 0.00^{\circ}$	$0.010 \pm 0.000^{\circ}$	$69.0 \pm 2.944^{\circ}$	$3.52 \pm 0.77^{b}$	0.011±0.001°		
Acidic	$88.4{\pm}4.10^{ab}$	0.72±0.01°	$0.013 {\pm} 0.000^{\circ}$	$85{\pm}5.00^{ m b}$	$0.74{\pm}0.77^{\circ}$	$0.016 \pm 0.000^{\circ}$		
Rutin loaded PVP based microparticles								
Hydrophilic	$87.8 {\pm} 2.91^{ab}$	1.42±0.03°	$0.014 \pm 0.000^{\circ}$	$82.5 \pm 3.49^{b}$	$4.65 \pm 0.67^{a}$	$0.048 {\pm} 0.006^{b}$		
Acidic	$89{\pm}4.56^{a}$	1.21±0.17°	$0.017 \pm 0.002^{\circ}$	$87 \pm 2.26^{ab}$	1.35±0.67°	$0.058{\pm}0.005^{a}$		

Table 6.2 : Apical and basolateral side recovery and transport efficiency of bioactives in free and microparticle forms.

<sup>A</sup>The data presented in this table consist of average values  $\pm$  standard deviation of three independent batches. Different small letters represent statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) between quercetin or rutin samples, individually. n.d.: not detected. <sup>B</sup>Apical side recovery percentages were calculated as (bioactive concentration at the apical side after transport)/(bioactive concentration at the apical side at 0 h of incubation) × 100. <sup>C</sup>Basolateral side recovery percentages were calculated as (bioactive concentration at the apical side at 0 h of incubation) × 100. <sup>D</sup>Transport efficiency was calculated as (basolateral side recovery, %)/(apical side recovery, %).


## 7. GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

### 7.1 Status and Main Outcomes of This Thesis

# 7.1.1 Fate of the polyphenols after application of novel non-thermal food processing techniques

Novel non-thermal technologies such as HHP and PEF provide high physico-chemical quality of food products with the retention of the freshness equivalent. Considering the studies conducted to highlight the high pressure treatments, it is obviously seen that HPP is a superior processing technique rather than conventional thermal food processing techniques due to the production of "fresh-like" products. Additionally, the application of PEF also results in a higher juice yield as well as higher retention of bioactive compounds when compared to the thermal treatments. Hence, PEF processing can promote the cellular antioxidant defence system against oxidative stress.

The first step in evaluating the effect of non-thermal food processing on the bioactive potential of polyphenols from agricultural sources is the characterization of the bioactive target. Accordingly, as a start of this thesis, polyphenols from cranberrybush have been characterized. The polyphenol profile of the cranberrybush used in the experimental chapters (*Chapters 3 and 4*) of this thesis was consistent. Three flavan-3-ols; catechin, epicatechin, epi(catechin) hexoside; three proanthocyanidins; procyanidin dimer, procyanidin trimer, procyanidin dimer monoglycoside, six flavonols; quercetin, quercetin-deoxyhexose, quercetin-*3-O*-glucoside, quercetin pentoside hexoside, rutin, isorhamnetin-*3-O*-rutinoside, a flavone; diosmetin-rhamnosylglucoside, four phenolic acids; caffeic acid, chlorogenic acid, coumaric acid and coumaroyl-quinic acid as well as three anthocyanis (cyanidin-3-glucoside, cyanidin-3-rutinoside and cyanidin-3-xylosyl-rutinoside) were detected in cranberrybush samples.

Later, the effect of high pressure processing and pulsed electric field treatment on physicochemical properties, bioactive compounds, antioxidant capacities and polyphenol oxidase activity of cranberrybush samples were evaluated immediately after processing. Furthermore, due to the fact that chlorogenic acid is the major compound of *V. opulus*, in order to screen the effects of HPP and PEF treatments on the individual phenolic compounds, chlorogenic acid content was investigated. It was found that chlorogenic acid content was increased at elevated pressure levels and extended treatment times for HPP; and increasing the specific energy input for PEF.

On the other hand, the selection of HHP process parameters including pressure, temperature and duration as well as PEF process parameters such as electric field strength, treatment time, number and type of pulse waveform, their width and frequency should be optimized for each product individually according to the composition of the product of interest. Besides, more researches should be needed to operate large scale production systems and adapted to various food processes. More research is still necessary to carefully evaluate the advantages and disadvantages, as well as the efficiency of these novel methods to fully understand their effect and action of mechanism on the antioxidants of foods.

At the second step (*Chapter 4*), final absorption and metabolism of cranberrybush antioxidants were assessed to obtain the full picture on the effects of non-thermal treatments. In this contenxt, the in vitro digestion/Caco-2 cell system was conducted to study the effect of HPP and PEF treatments on the transportation of cranberrybush polyphenols across the gut epithelium. We observed that catechin and epicatechin were detected at the basoletaral compartment of all samples, whereas none of the oligometric procyanidins could be detected. As for flavonoids, while quercetin-deoxyhexose and quercetin-3-O-glucoside were found in the basolateral compartment of all the samples, other flavonoids present in the cranberrybush purée could not be detected. On the other hand, none of the anthocyanins could be detected in the basolateral compartment after 4 h exposure. This finding may be related to the low anthocyanin amount of the samples and chemical instability in the alkali conditions. Majority of the phenolic acids, namely, caffeic acid, chlorogenic acid and coumaric acid were detected at the basolateral compartment of all the samples. Addition to these, quinic acid was also detected due to possible degradation of chlorogenic acid, present in the cranberrybush, by the cleavage of the chlorogenic acid moiety into quinic acid and caffeic acid by small intestine mucosal esterases (Dupas et al., 2006a). It could be concluded that the cranberrybush derived phenolic acids are relatively stable in the small intestine. Moreover, a glance at the results revealed that both HPP and PEF enhanced or did not have negative effect on the recovery of the bioactives. To conclude, the results of these part of the thesis provided promising perspectives for the use of HPP and PEF as novel non-thermal treatments to enhance nutritional quality of cranberrybush polyphenols.

### 7.1.2 Effects of encapsulation on the food phenolics

In line with the outcomes of previous studies, it was reported that some of the phenolic compounds could not be detected at the basolateral compartment of Caco2 cells after transport experiments with cranberrybush samples. Therefore, encapsulation technology was used to improve the stability and to enhance the bioavailability of polyphenols during digestion.

Effects of microencapsulation techniques on food antioxidants including the changes in the antioxidant capacity, stability, solubility and retention of bioactive compounds should be evaluated together with the advantages, disadvantages and potential applications of each method. Based on the effects of encapsulation on the food antioxidant, it may be concluded that:

- The protection of the bioactive compounds to be encapsulated or coprecipitated could be improved in the case of using carrier agents.
- In fact, the technique and wall material (type, hydrophilicity, ratio between active and wall material etc.) have a great impact on the encapsulation characteristics including core retention, stability, solubility and the antioxidant power of the processed food antioxidants.
- Thermal stability of the polymer matrix is also effective on the bioactivities of core material against detrimental conditions.
- The parameters related with the physico-chemical functions of encapsulated material should be optimized for each encapsulation technique, core and wall material; thus enables to obtain narrower size distributions and that prevents high product loss and allows enhanced nutritional value.
- Each method has several advantages and disadvantages on different aspects. However, selection of the microencapsulation process is mainly related with the thermosensitivity and solubility of the active compounds.

- It should be taken into consideration while implementing the microencapsulation technique that whether the post-encapsulation steps such as separation, solvent removal or purification are necessary for the resulting product.
- More comprehensive studies on the precipitation, co-precipitation and encapsulation of food antioxidants, assessing the effects of process parameters on the antioxidant activities via different assays should be performed. Besides investigating the effects on antioxidant properties, the chemical, physical and sensory quality of the products should also be considered during the application of these techniques.

Considering the above, optimum conditions for supercritical antisolvent process in terms of the type of solvent, operating pressure, overall concentration and polymer/flavonoid ratio for the formation of spherical composite microparticles were determined (*Chapter 5*). In this part of the thesis, we demonstrated that it is possible to coprecipitate the poorly water soluble flavonoid compounds with PVP as the polymeric carrier by using the SAS technique. Flavonol-entrapped microparticles in amorphous structure were obtained with the solute concentrations greater than 20 mg/mL and high polymer/flavonoid ratios.

One of the main aspect of microencapsulation is to improve the bioavailability of food antioxidants. Thus, to get better approach about the final absorption of SAS processed antioxidant substances, *in vitro* digestion/Caco-2 cell system was carried out (*Chapter 6*). Besides, aqueous hydrophilic and acidic conditions were also simulated to analyze food-related factors that could have an impact on the transport of these compounds across the gut epithelium. SAS processing enhanced the recovery of the quercetin and rutin after *in vitro* gastrointestinal digestion as well as affect transepithelial transportation of these flavonoids positively. It could be deduced from the results that SAS processing can be a useful tool in the pharmaceutical and nutraceutical applications with high stability, bioaccessibility, bioavailability and thus enhanced nutritional value of the bioactives.

As a future aspect, it could be suggested that more sophisticated *in vitro* as well as *in vivo* tests should be conducted to stimulate the physicochemical change and digestion process of the formulation in the entire digestive tract. The bioaccessibility and

bioavailability of many dietary phenolic compounds are not well defined. The potential biological activity of each compound and their metabolites should be investigated and compared to get a better approach to assess the effects of encapsulated bioactives on the human digestive system.

### 7.1.3 Interactions of phenolics and food matrix

The increase or decrease in the bioaccessibility or bioavailability may vary by a number of factors such as the concentration of the substances in the food matrix, temperature, pH, type of substances, and hydrophilic/hydrophobic characteristics. Increasing number of *in vitro* and particularly *in vivo* studies on the bioavailability of phenolic substances in contact with various food matrixes will guide the design of functional foods enriched with phenolic substances.

In particular, in *Chapter 4*, effect of milk food matrix on the bioavailability of the cranberybush juice polyphenols were investigated. We observed that among other flavonoids, quercetin-deoxyhexose and quercetin-3-O-glucoside were transported to the the basolateral compartment for all the samples. On the other hand, catechin/epicatechin were transported through the Caco-2 cells in only cranberrybush juice+water samples. Besides, none of the oligomeric procyanidins could be detected. Most of the phenolic acids including caffeic acid, chlorogenic acid and coumaric acid were detected at the basolateral compartment of all the samples. Similar to the results of processing effect on the recovery of phenolic acids, quinic acid was also detected in all the juice samples. Unlike other flavonoids, none of the anthocyanins could be detected in the basolateral compartment after 4 h exposure. Particularly important from a food matrix perspective is that addition of milk appear to have a positive effect on transepithelial transportation of chlorogenic acid. On the other hand, majority of the polyphenols reach the colon and are consecutively metabolized by colonic microbiota, thus, future studies involving the combination of in vitro digestion models and Caco-2 cell culture studies could also be included with the colonic fermentation. In this regard, sulfated, glucuronidated, or methylated metabolites of polyphenols could also be evaluated to present overall consideration of the fate of the polyphenols to be released from the food matrix. Furthermore, it would be interesting to conduct advanced investigations on the transport dynamics of polyphenols from different food matrices that will be tretaed by non-thermal food processing methods.



#### REFERENCES

- Aaby, K., Grimsbo, I. H., Hovda, M. B., & Rode, T. M. (2018). Effect of high pressure and thermal processing on shelf life and quality of strawberry purée and juice. *Food Chemistry*, 260, 115-123.
- Abdullah, S. A., Lee, S. H., Cho, I. K., Li, Q. X., Jun, S., & Choi, W. (2013). Pasteurization of kava juice using novel continuous flow microwave heating technique. *Food Science and Biotechnology*, 22, 961-966.
- Abid, M., Jabbar, S., Hu, B., Hashim, M. M., Wu, T., Wu, Z., Khan, M. A., & Zeng, X. (2014). Synergistic impact of sonication and high hydrostatic pressure on microbial and enzymatic inactivation of apple juice. LWT-Food Science and Technology, 59(1), 70-76.
- Actis-Goretta, L., Lévèques, A., Rein, M., Teml, A., Schäfer, C., Hofmann, U., ... & Williamson, G. (2013). Intestinal absorption, metabolism, and excretion of (–)-epicatechin in healthy humans assessed by using an intestinal perfusion technique. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 98(4), 924-933.
- Adamczyk, B., Salminen, J. P., Smolander, A., & Kitunen, V. (2012). Precipitation of proteins by tannins: Effects of concentration, protein/tannin ratio and pH. *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 47(4), 875– 878.
- Aditya, N. P., Macedo, A. S., Doktorovova, S., Souto, E. B., Kim, S., Chang, P. S., & Ko, S. (2014). Development and evaluation of lipid nanocarriers for quercetin delivery: A comparative study of solid lipid nanoparticles (SLN), nanostructured lipid carriers (NLC), and lipid nanoemulsions (LNE). LWT Food Science and Technology, 59(1), 115–121.
- Agudelo, C., Barros, L., Santos-Buelga, C., Martínez-Navarrete, N., & Ferreira,
   I. C. (2017). Phytochemical content and antioxidant activity of grapefruit (Star Ruby): A comparison between fresh freeze-dried fruits and different powder formulations. *LWT-Food Science and Technology*, 80, 106-112.
- Ahmed, K., Li, Y., McClements, D. J., & Xiao, H. (2012). Nanoemulsion-and emulsion-based delivery systems for curcumin: Encapsulation and release properties. *Food Chemistry*, 132(2), 799-807.
- Ahmed, M. M., El-Rasoul, S. A., Auda, S. H., & Ibrahim, M. A. (2013). Emulsification/internal gelation as a method for preparation of diclofenac sodium-sodium alginate microparticles. Saudi Pharmaceutical Journal, 21(1), 61-69.
- Akyol, Ç., Alpas, H., & Bayındırlı, A. (2006). Inactivation of peroxidase and lipoxygenase in carrots, green beans and green peas by combination of

high hydrostatic pressure and mild heat treatment. *European Food Research and Technology*, 224(2), 171-176.

- Alencastre, J. B., Bentley, M. V. L. B., Garcia, F. S., Moragas, M. d., Viladot, J. L., & Marchetti, J. M. (2006). A study of the characteristics and *in vitro* permeation properties of CMC/chitosan microparticles as a skin delivery system for vitamin E. *Revista Brasileira de Ciências Farmacêuticas*, 42(1), 69-76.
- Alinezhad, H., Azimi, R., Zare, M., Ebrahimzadeh, M. A., Eslami, S., Nabavi, S. F., & Nabavi, S. M. (2013). Antioxidant and antihemolytic activities of ethanolic extract of flowers, leaves, and stems of Hyssopus officinalis L. Var. angustifolius. *International Journal of Food Properties*, 16(5), 1169-1178.
- Alminger, M., Aura, A. M., Bohn, T., Dufour, C., El, S. N., Gomes, A., ... & Santos, C. N. (2014). In vitro models for studying secondary plant metabolite digestion and bioaccessibility. Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety, 13(4), 413-436.
- Altun, M. L., Çitoğlu, G. S., Yilmaz, B. S., & Çoban, T. (2008). Antioxidant properties of Viburnum opulus and Viburnum lantana growing in Turkey. International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition, 59(3), 175–180.
- Alvarez-Suarez, J. M., Giampieri, F., Cordero, M., Gasparrini, M., Forbes-Hernández, T. Y., Mazzoni, L., Afrin, S., Beltrán-Ayala, P., González-Paramás, A. M., & Santos-Buelga, C. (2016). Activation of AMPK/Nrf2 signalling by Manuka honey protects human dermal fibroblasts against oxidative damage by improving antioxidant response and mitochondrial function promoting wound healing. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 25, 38-49.
- Al-Yafeai, A., & Böhm, V. (2018). In Vitro Bioaccessibility of Carotenoids and Vitamin e in Rosehip Products and Tomato Paste As Affected by Pectin Contents and Food Processing. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 66(15), 3801–3809.
- Anand, P., Kunnumakkara, A. B., Newman, R. A., & Aggarwal, B. B. (2007). Molecular bioavailability of curcumin: problems and promises. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 4, 807-818.
- Anandharamakrishnan, C., Rielly, C. D., & Stapley, A. G. (2010). Spray-freezedrying of whey proteins at sub-atmospheric pressures. *Dairy Science* and Technology, 90(2-3), 321-334.
- Andreatta, A. E., Florusse, L. J., Bottini, S. B., & Peters, C. J. (2007). Phase equilibria of dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO)+ carbon dioxide, and DMSO+ carbon dioxide+ water mixtures. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, 42(1), 60-68.
- Anwar, S. H., & Kunz, B. (2011). The influence of drying methods on the stabilization of fish oil microcapsules: Comparison of spray granulation, spray drying and freeze drying. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 105(2), 367-378.

- Apak, R., Güçlü, K., Demirata, B., Özyürek, M., Çelik, S. E., Bektaşoğlu, B., Berker, K. I., & Özyurt, D. (2007). Comparative evaluation of various total antioxidant capacity assays applied to phenolic compounds with the CUPRAC assay. *Molecules*, 12(7), 1496–1547.
- Apak, R., Güçlü, K., Özyürek, M., & Karademir, S. E. (2004). Novel total antioxidant capacity index for dietary polyphenols and vitamins C and E, using their cupric ion reducing capability in the presence of neocuproine: CUPRAC method. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 52(26), 7970-7981.
- Appeldoorn, M. M., Vincken, J. P., Gruppen, H., & Hollman, P. C. (2009). Procyanidin dimers A1, A2, and B2 are absorbed without conjugation or methylation from the small intestine of rats. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 139(8), 1469-1473.
- Araujo-Díaz, S., Leyva-Porras, C., Aguirre-Bañuelos, P., Álvarez-Salas, C., & Saavedra-Leos, Z. (2017). Evaluation of the physical properties and conservation of the antioxidants content, employing inulin and maltodextrin in the spray drying of blueberry juice. Carbohydrate Polymers, 167, 317-325.
- Arjmandi, M., Otón, M., Artés, F., Artés-Hernández, F., Gómez, P. A., & Aguayo, E. (2016). Semi-industrial microwave treatments positively affect the quality of orange-colored smoothies. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 53, 3695-3703.
- Aronsson, K., & Rönner, U. (2001). Influence of pH, water activity and temperature on the inactivation of Escherichia coli and Saccharomyces cerevisiae by pulsed electric fields. *Innovative Food Science & Emerging Technologies*, 2(2), 105-112.
- Artursson, P., Palm, K., & Luthman, K. (2001). Caco-2 monolayers in experimental and theoretical predictions of drug transport. *Advanced drug delivery reviews*, 46(1-3), 27-43.
- Asavasanti, S., Ristenpart, W., Stroeve, P., & Barrett, D. M. (2011). Permeabilization of plant tissues by monopolar pulsed electric fields: effect of frequency. *Journal of Food Science*, 76(1), 98-111.
- Asfour, M. H., & Mohsen, A. M. (2018). Formulation and evaluation of pH-sensitive rutin nanospheres against colon carcinoma using HCT-116 cell line. *Journal of Advanced Research*, *9*, 17-26.
- Astray, G., Gonzalez-Barreiro, C., Mejuto, J., Rial-Otero, R., & Simal-Gándara, J. (2009). A review on the use of cyclodextrins in foods. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 23(7), 1631-1640.
- Atay, E., Fabra, M. J., Martínez-Sanz, M., Gomez-Mascaraque, L. G., Altan, A., & Lopez-Rubio, A. (2018). Development and characterization of chitosan/gelatin electrosprayed microparticles as food grade delivery vehicles for anthocyanin extracts. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 77, 699–710.
- Augustin, M. A., Abeywardena, M. Y., Patten, G., Head, R., Lockett, T., De Luca, A., & Sanguansri, L. (2011). Effects of microencapsulation on the gastrointestinal transit and tissue distribution of a bioactive mixture of

fish oil, tributyrin and resveratrol. *Journal of Functional Foods*, *3*(1), 25-37.

- Awad, T., Moharram, H., Shaltout, O., Asker, D., & Youssef, M. (2012). Applications of ultrasound in analysis, processing and quality control of food: A review. *Food Research International*, 48, 410-427.
- Bae, K., Chong, H., Kim, D., Choi, Y., Kim, Y., & Kim, Y. (2010). Compounds from *Viburnum sargentii* Koehne and Evaluation of Their Cytotoxic Effects on Human Cancer Cell Lines. *Molecules*, 15(7), 4599-4609.
- **Bahrami, M., & Ranjbarian, S.** (2007). Production of micro-and nano-composite particles by supercritical carbon dioxide. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, 40(2), 263-283.
- Balasubramaniam, V., Farkas, D., & Turek, E. J. (2008). Preserving foods through high-pressure processing. *Food Technology*, 62(11), 32-38.
- Baldino, L., Cardea, S., & Reverchon, E. (2014). Supercritical assisted enzymatic membranes preparation, for active packaging applications. *Journal of Membrane Science*, 453, 409-418.
- Baldino, L., Cardea, S., & Reverchon, E. (2016). Interpenetration of natural polymer aerogels by supercritical drying. *Polymers*, 8(4), 106.
- Baldino, L., Concilio, S., Cardea, S., De Marco, I., & Reverchon, E. (2015). Complete glutaraldehyde elimination during chitosan hydrogel drying by SC-CO 2 processing. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, *103*, 70-76.
- Baldwin, E. A., Hagenmaier, R., & Bai, J. (2011). Edible coatings and films to improve food quality. CRC Press.
- Ballesteros, L. F., Ramirez, M. J., Orrego, C. E., Teixeira, J. A., & Mussatto, S. I. (2017). Encapsulation of antioxidant phenolic compounds extracted from spent coffee grounds by freeze-drying and spray-drying using different coating materials. *Food Chemistry*, 237, 623-631.
- Bao, C., Jiang, P., Chai, J., Jiang, Y., Li, D., Bao, W., ... & Li, Y. (2019). The delivery of sensitive food bioactive ingredients: Absorption mechanisms, influencing factors, encapsulation techniques and evaluation models. *Food Research International*, 120, 130-140.
- Barak, T. H., Celep, E., İnan, Y., & Yesilada, E. (2019). Influence of *in vitro* human digestion on the bioavailability of phenolic content and antioxidant activity of *Viburnum opulus* L.(European cranberry) fruit extracts. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 131, 62-69.
- Barba, F. J., Brianceau, S., Turk, M., Boussetta, N., & Vorobiev, E. (2015a). Effect of alternative physical treatments (ultrasounds, pulsed electric fields and high-voltage electrical discharges) on selective recovery of biocompounds from fermented grape pomace. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, 8, 1139-1148.
- Barba, F. J., Esteve, M. J., & Frígola, A. (2012b). High pressure treatment effect on physicochemical and nutritional properties of fluid foods during storage: a review. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, 11, 307-322.

- Barba, F. J., Parniakov, O., Pereira, S. A., Wiktor, A., Grimi, N., Boussetta, N., Saraiva, J. A., Raso, J., Martin-Belloso, O., & Witrowa-Rajchert, D. (2015b). Current applications and new opportunities for the use of pulsed electric fields in food science and industry. *Food Research International*, 77, 773-798.
- Barba, F. J., Terefe, N. S., Buckow, R., Knorr, D., & Orlien, V. (2015c). New opportunities and perspectives of high pressure treatment to improve health and safety attributes of foods. A Review. *Food Research International*, 77, 725-742.
- Barba, F., Jäger, H., Meneses, N., Esteve, M., Frígola, A., & Knorr, D. (2012a). Evaluation of quality changes of blueberry juice during refrigerated storage after high-pressure and pulsed electric fields processing. *Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies*, 14, 18-24.
- Barbosa, J. A. P., Santana, M. A. N., Leite, T. C. C., de Oliveira, T. B., Mota, F. V. B., Bastos, I. V. G. A., ... & da Silva, T. G. (2019). Gastroprotective effect of ethyl acetate extract from Avicennia schaueriana Stapf & Leechman and underlying mechanisms. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, 112, 108582.
- Barbosa-Cánovas, G., Góngora-Nieto, M., Rodriguez, J., & Swanson, B. (2005). Nonthermal Processing of Foods and Emerging Technologies. Food Engineering. Encyclopaedia of Life Support Sciences. EOLSS Publishers/UNESCO, Paris, 575-593.
- Bates, R. P., Morris, J. R., & Crandall, P. G. (2001). Principles and practices of small-and medium-scale fruit juice processing, Food and Agriculture Org., Chief Publising, Rome.
- Bazaria, B., & Kumar, P. (2016). Optimization of spray drying parameters for beetroot juice powder using response surface methodology (RSM). *Journal of the Saudi Society of Agricultural Sciences*, 17(4), 408-415.
- Behrens, I., Stenberg, P., Artursson, P., & Kissel, T. (2001). Transport of lipophilic drug molecules in a new mucus-secreting cell culture model based on HT29-MTX cells. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 18(8), 1138-1145.
- Belščak-Cvitanović, A., Bušić, A., Barišić, L., Vrsaljko, D., Karlović, S., Špoljarić, I., Vojvodić, A., Mršić, G., & Komes, D. (2016). Emulsion templated microencapsulation of dandelion (Taraxacum officinale L.) polyphenols and β-carotene by ionotropic gelation of alginate and pectin. Food Hydrocolloids, 57, 139-152.
- Ben Hlel, T., Borges, T., Rueda, A., Smaali, I., Marzouki, M. N., & Seiquer, I. (2019). Polyphenols bioaccessibility and bioavailability assessment in ipecac infusion using a combined assay of simulated *in vitro* digestion and Caco-2 cell model. *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 54(5), 1566–1575.
- Bengtsson, N. E., & Ohlsson, T. (1974). Microwave heating in the food industry. *Proceedings of the IEEE*, 62, 44-55.
- Benlloch-Tinoco, M., Kaulmann, A., Corte-Real, J., Rodrigo, D., Martínez-Navarrete, N., & Bohn, T. (2015). Chlorophylls and carotenoids of

kiwifruit puree are affected similarly or less by microwave than by conventional heat processing and storage. *Food Chemistry*, 187, 254-262.

- Bermúdez-Soto, M. J., Tomás-Barberán, F. A., & García-Conesa, M. T. (2007). Stability of polyphenols in chokeberry (*Aronia melanocarpa*) subjected to *in vitro* gastric and pancreatic digestion. *Food Chemistry*, 102(3), 865–874.
- Bevilacqua, A., Petruzzi, L., Perricone, M., Speranza, B., Campaniello, D., Sinigaglia, M., & Corbo, M. R. (2018). Nonthermal Technologies for Fruit and Vegetable Juices and Beverages: Overview and Advances. Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety, 17(1), 2–62.
- Bhandari, B. R., Datta, N., & Howes, T. (1997). Problems associated with spray drying of sugar-rich foods. *Drying Technology*, 15(2), 671-684.
- Bhat, R., Kamaruddin, N. S. B. C., Min-Tze, L., & Karim, A. (2011). Sonication improves kasturi lime (*Citrus microcarpa*) juice quality. *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, 18, 1295-1300.
- Bi, X., Liu, F., Rao, L., Li, J., Liu, B., Liao, X., & Wu, J. (2013). Effects of electric field strength and pulse rise time on physicochemical and sensory properties of apple juice by pulsed electric field. *Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies*, 17, 85-92.
- **Bingöl, G.** (2015). Novel Thermal and Nonthermal Processing Technologies. Handbook of Vegetable Preservation and Processing, Second Edition, CRC Press.
- Bircan, C., & Barringer, S. A. (2002). Determination of protein denaturation of muscle foods using the dielectric properties. *Journal of Food Science*, 67, 202-205.
- Bitsch, R., Netzel, M., Frank, T., Strass, G., & Bitsch, I. (2004). Bioavailability and biokinetics of anthocyanins from red grape juice and red wine. *Journal* of Biomedicine and Biotechnology, 2004(5), 293.
- Blaszczak, W., Amarowicz, R., & Górecki, A. R. (2017). Antioxidant capacity, phenolic composition and microbial stability of aronia juice subjected to high hydrostatic pressure processing. *Innovative Food Science & Emerging Technologies*, 39, 141-147.
- Bohn, T. (2014). Dietary factors affecting polyphenol bioavailability. *Nutrition Reviews*, 72(7), 429-452.
- Bouras, M., Grimi, N., Bals, O., & Vorobiev, E. (2016). Impact of pulsed electric fields on polyphenols extraction from Norway spruce bark. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 80, 50-58.
- Böhm, H., Boeing, H., Hempel, J., Raab, B., & Kroke, A. (1998). Flavonols, flavone and anthocyanins as natural antioxidants of food and their possible role in the prevention of chronic diseases. Zeitschrift Fur Ernahrungswissenschaft, 37(2), 147–163.
- Brand, W., Padilla, B., van Bladeren, P. J., Williamson, G., & Rietjens, I. M. (2010). The effect of co-administered flavonoids on the metabolism of

hesperetin and the disposition of its metabolites in Caco-2 cell monolayers. *Molecular Nutrition and Food Research*, 54(6), 851-860.

- Brglez Mojzer, E., Knez Hrnčič, M., Škerget, M., Knez, Ž., & Bren, U. (2016). Polyphenols: Extraction methods, antioxidative action, bioavailability and anticarcinogenic effects. *Molecules*, 21(7), 901.
- Brodkorb, A., Egger, L., Alminger, M., Alvito, P., Assunção, R., Ballance, S., ...
   & Recio, I. (2019). INFOGEST static *in vitro* simulation of gastrointestinal food digestion. *Nature Protocols*, 14(4), 991-1014.
- Bukhari, S. B., Memon, S., Mahroof-Tahir, M., & Bhanger, M. I. (2009). Synthesis, characterization and antioxidant activity copper-quercetin complex. *Spectrochimica Acta Part A: Molecular and Biomolecular Spectroscopy*, 71(5), 1901-1906.
- Buniowska, M., Carbonell-Capella, J. M., Frigola, A., & Esteve, M. J. (2017). Bioaccessibility of bioactive compounds after non-thermal processing of an exotic fruit juice blend sweetened with *Stevia rebaudiana*. Food Chemistry, 221, 1834-1842.
- Cai, K., & Bennick, A. (2006). Effect of salivary proteins on the transport of tannin and quercetin across intestinal epithelial cells in culture. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 72(8), 974-980.
- Cam, Mustafa and Hişil, Y. (2007). Comparison of chemical characteristics of fresh and pasteurised juice of gilaburu (*Viburnum opulus* L.). Acta Alimentaria, 36(3), 381-385.
- Caminiti, I. M., Noci, F., Muñoz, A., Whyte, P., Morgan, D. J., Cronin, D. A., & Lyng, J. G. (2011). Impact of selected combinations of non-thermal processing technologies on the quality of an apple and cranberry juice blend. *Food Chemistry*, 124(4), 1387-1392.
- **Campardelli, R., & Reverchon, E.** (2015). α-Tocopherol nanosuspensions produced using a supercritical assisted process. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 149, 131-136.
- Cansino, N., Carrera, G., Rojas, Q., Olivares, L., García, E., & Moreno, E. (2013). Ultrasound processing on green cactus pear (*Opuntia ficus* Indica) juice: physical, microbiological and antioxidant properties. *Journal of Food Processing & Technology*, 4(9), 1-6.
- Cañumir, J. A., Celis, J. E., De Bruijn, J., & Vidal, L. V. (2002). Pasteurisation of apple juice by using microwaves. *LWT-Food Science and Technology*, *35*, 389-392.
- Cao, X., Zhang, Y., Zhang, F., Wang, Y., Yi, J., & Liao, X. (2011). Effects of high hydrostatic pressure on enzymes, phenolic compounds, anthocyanins, polymeric color and color of strawberry pulps. *Journal of the Science* of Food and Agriculture, 91(5), 877-885.
- Capanoglu, E., Kamiloglu, S., Ozkan, G., & Apak, R. (2018). Evaluation of antioxidant activity/capacity measurement methods for food products. *Measurement of Antioxidant Activity and Capacity: Recent Trends and Applications.* R. Apak, E. Capanoglu, & F. Shahidi, Editors., Chicester, United Kingdom: John Wiley & Sons Ltd, 273-286.

- Carbonell-Capella, J. M., Barba, F. J., Esteve, M. J., & Frígola, A. (2013). High pressure processing of fruit juice mixture sweetened with Stevia rebaudiana Bertoni: Optimal retention of physical and nutritional quality. *Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies*, 18, 48-56.
- Carbonell-Capella, J. M., Buniowska, M., Barba, F. J., Esteve, M. J., & Frígola, A. (2014). Analytical methods for determining bioavailability and bioaccessibility of bioactive compounds from fruits and vegetables: A review. Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety, 13(2), 155-171.
- Cardello, A. V., Schutz, H. G., & Lesher, L. L. (2007). Consumer perceptions of foods processed by innovative and emerging technologies: A conjoint analytic study. *Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies*, 8, 73-83.
- Carocho, M., Morales, P., & Ferreira, I. C. (2017). Antioxidants: Reviewing the chemistry, food applications, legislation and role as preservatives. *Trends in Food Science and Technology*, *71*, 107-120.
- Castro, I., Teixeira, J., Salengke, S., Sastry, S., & Vicente, A. (2004). Ohmic heating of strawberry products: electrical conductivity measurements and ascorbic acid degradation kinetics. *Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies*, *5*, 27-36.
- Catterall, F., Souquet, J. M., Cheynier, V., de Pascual-Teresa, S., Santos-Buelga, C., Clifford, M. N., & Ioannides, C. (2000). Differential modulation of the genotoxicity of food carcinogens by naturally occurring monomeric and dimeric polyphenolics. *Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis*, 35(2), 86-98.
- Cazarolli, L. H., Zanatta, L., Alberton, E. H., Bonorino Figueiredo, M. S. R., Folador, P., Damazio, R. G., ... & Barreto Silva, F. R. M. (2008). Flavonoids: prospective drug candidates. *Mini Reviews in Medicinal Chemistry*, 8(13), 1429-1440.
- Cebeci, F., & Şahin-Yeşilçubuk, N. (2014). The matrix effect of blueberry, oat meal and milk on polyphenols, antioxidant activity and potential bioavailability. *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition*, 65(1), 69-78.
- **Chakraborty, S., Basu, S., Lahiri, A., & Basak, S.** (2010). Inclusion of chrysin in βcyclodextrin nanocavity and its effect on antioxidant potential of chrysin: A spectroscopic and molecular modeling approach. *Journal of Molecular Structure*, *977*(1), 180-188.
- Chakraborty, S., Kaushik, N., Rao, P. S., & Mishra, H. (2014). High-pressure inactivation of enzymes: a review on its recent applications on fruit purees and juices. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, 13, 578-596.
- Chemat, F., & Khan, M. K. (2011). Applications of ultrasound in food technology: processing, preservation and extraction. *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, 18, 813-835.

- Chemat, F., Rombaut, N., Meullemiestre, A., Turk, M., Perino, S., Fabiano-Tixier, A.-S., & Abert-Vian, M. (2017a). Review of Green Food Processing techniques. Preservation, transformation and extraction. Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies, 41, 357-377.
- Chemat, F., Rombaut, N., Sicaire, A. G., Meullemiestre, A., Fabiano-Tixier, A. S., & Abert-Vian, M. (2017b). Ultrasound assisted extraction of food and natural products. Mechanisms, techniques, combinations, protocols and applications. A review. Ultrasonics Sonochemistry, 34, 540-560.
- Chemat, F., Vian, M. A., & Cravotto, G. (2012). Green extraction of natural products: concept and principles. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 13, 8615-8627.
- Chen, B. Q., Kankala, R. K., Wang, S. B., & Chen, A. Z. (2018). Continuous nanonization of lonidamine by modified-rapid expansion of supercritical solution process. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, 133, 486-493.
- Chen, C., Wang, L., Chen, Z., Luo, X., Li, Y., Wang, R., ... & Wu, J. (2019). Effects of Milk Proteins on the Bioaccessibility and Antioxidant Activity of Oat Phenolics During *In Vitro* Digestion. *Journal of Food Science*, 84(4), 895-903.
- Chen, D., Pang, X., Zhao, J., Gao, L., Liao, X., Wu, J., & Li, Q. (2015a). Comparing the effects of high hydrostatic pressure and high temperature short time on papaya beverage. *Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies*, 32, 16-28.
- Chen, D., Xi, H., Guo, X., Qin, Z., Pang, X., Hu, X., ... & Wu, J. (2013). Comparative study of quality of cloudy pomegranate juice treated by high hydrostatic pressure and high temperature short time. *Innovative Food Science & Emerging Technologies*, 19, 85-94.
- Chen, J., Zheng, J., Decker, E. A., McClements, D. J., & Xiao, H. (2015c). Improving nutraceutical bioavailability using mixed colloidal delivery systems: lipid nanoparticles increase tangeretin bioaccessibility and absorption from tangeretin-loaded zein nanoparticles. *RSC Advances*, 5(90), 73892-73900.
- Chen, X., McClements, D. J., Wang, J., Zou, L., Deng, S., Liu, W., ... & Liu, C. (2018). Coencapsulation of (-)-Epigallocatechin-3-gallate and quercetin in particle-stabilized W/O/W emulsion gels: Controlled release and bioaccessibility. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 66(14), 3691-3699.
- Chen, X., Qin, W., Ma, L., Xu, F., Jin, P., & Zheng, Y. (2015b). Effect of high pressure processing and thermal treatment on physicochemical parameters, antioxidant activity and volatile compounds of green asparagus juice. *LWT-Food Science and Technology*, 62, 927-933.
- Chen, X., Zou, L., Liu, W., & McClements, D. J. (2016). Potential of Excipient Emulsions for Improving Quercetin Bioaccessibility and Antioxidant Activity: An *in Vitro* Study. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 64(18), 3653–3660.

- Chen, W., Ju, X., Aluko, R. E., Zou, Y., Wang, Z., Liu, M., & He, R. (2020). Rice bran protein-based nanoemulsion carrier for improving stability and bioavailability of quercetin. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *108*(March), 106042.
- **Cheng, Y. S., Lu, P. M., Huang, C. Y., & Wu, J. J.** (2017). Encapsulation of lycopene with lecithin and α-tocopherol by supercritical antisolvent process for stability enhancement. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, *130*, 246-252.
- Chinnarasu, C., Montes, A., Fernandez-Ponce, M., Casas, L., Mantell, C., Pereyra, C., & de la Ossa, E. M. (2015). Precipitation of antioxidant fine particles from Olea europaea leaves using supercritical antisolvent process. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, 97, 125-132.
- Chitchumroonchokchai, C., Riedl, K. M., Suksumrarn, S., Clinton, S. K., Kinghorn, A. D., & Failla, M. L. (2012). Xanthones in mangosteen juice are absorbed and partially conjugated by healthy adults. *The Journal of Nutrition*, *142*(4), 675-680.
- Ciolino, H. P., Daschner, P. J., & Yeh, G. C. (1999). Dietary flavonols quercetin and kaempferol are ligands of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor that affect CYP1A1 transcription differentially. *Biochemical Journal*, 340(3), 715-722.
- Ciolino, H. P., Wang, T. T., & Yeh, G. C. (1998). Diosmin and diosmetin are agonists of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor that differentially affect cytochrome P450 1A1 activity. *Cancer Research*, 58(13), 2754-2760.
- Clare, D., Bang, W., Cartwright, G., Drake, M., Coronel, P., & Simunovic, J. (2005). Comparison of sensory, microbiological and biochemical parameters of microwave versus indirect UHT fluid skim milk during storage. *Journal of Dairy Science*, *88*, 4172-4182.
- Clark, J. P. (2006). High-pressure processing research continues. Food *Technology*, 60, 63.
- Cokgezme, O. F., Sabanci, S., Cevik, M., Yildiz, H., & Icier, F. (2017). Performance analyses for evaporation of pomegranate juice in ohmic heating assisted vacuum system. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 207, 1-9.
- Comunian, T. A., Thomazini, M., Alves, A. J. G., de Matos Junior, F. E., de Carvalho Balieiro, J. C., & Favaro-Trindade, C. S. (2013). Microencapsulation of ascorbic acid by complex coacervation: Protection and controlled release. *Food Research International*, 52(1), 373-379.
- Concilio, S., Iannelli, P., Sessa, L., Olivieri, R., Porta, A., De Santis, F., ... & Piotto, S. (2015). Biodegradable antimicrobial films based on poly (lactic acid) matrices and active azo compounds. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, 132(33).
- Conradi, R. A., Wilkinson, K. F., Rush, B. D., Hilgers, A. R., Ruwart, M. J., & Burton, P. S. (1993). In vitro/in vivo models for peptide oral absorption: Comparison of Caco-2 cell permeability with rat intestinal absorption of renin inhibitory peptides. In Pharmaceutical Research, 10(12), 1790–1792.

- Content, F. (2004). Nutrient Metabolism—Research Communication. *The Journal of Nutrition, 134*, 1508-1511.
- Coronel, P., Truong, V. D., Simunovic, J., Sandeep, K. P., & Cartwright, G. D. (2005). Aseptic processing of sweetpotato purees using a continuous flow microwave system. *Journal of Food Science*, 70(9), 531-536.
- **Correia, R., Grace, M. H., Esposito, D., & Lila, M. A.** (2017). Wild blueberry polyphenol-protein food ingredients produced by three drying methods: Comparative physico-chemical properties, phytochemical content and stability during storage. *Food Chemistry*, 235, 76-85.
- da Costa, E. M., Barbosa Filho, J. M., do Nascimento, T. G., & Macêdo, R. O. (2002). Thermal characterization of the quercetin and rutin flavonoids. *Thermochimica Acta*, 392, 79-84.
- da Rosa, C. G., Borges, C. D., Zambiazi, R. C., Nunes, M. R., Benvenutti, E. V., da Luz, S. R., D'Avila, R. F., & Rutz, J. K. (2013). Microencapsulation of gallic acid in chitosan, β-cyclodextrin and xanthan. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 46, 138-146.
- da Silva Malheiros, P., Daroit, D. J., & Brandelli, A. (2010). Food applications of liposome-encapsulated antimicrobial peptides. *Trends in Food Science and Technology*, 21(6), 284-292.
- Dag, D., & Oztop, M. H. (2017). Formation and Characterization of Green Tea Extract Loaded Liposomes. *Journal of Food Science*, 82(2), 463-470.
- Dalmadi, I., Rapeanu, G., Van Loey, A. N. N., Smout, C., & Hendrickx, M. (2006). Characterization and inactivation by thermal and pressure processing of strawberry (*Fragaria ananassa*) polyphenol oxidase: a kinetic study. *Journal of Food Biochemistry*, 30(1), 56-76.
- Dalmoro, A., Barba, A. A., Lamberti, G., & d'Amore, M. (2012). Intensifying the microencapsulation process: Ultrasonic atomization as an innovative approach. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 80(3), 471-477.
- Darvishi, H., Khostaghaza, M. H., & Najafi, G. (2013). Ohmic heating of pomegranate juice: Electrical conductivity and pH change. *Journal of* the Saudi Society of Agricultural Sciences, 12, 101-108.
- Datta, A. K., & Davidson, P. M. (2000). Microwave and radio frequency processing. Journal of Food Science, 65, 32-41.
- **Davarcı, F., Turan, D., Ozcelik, B., & Poncelet, D.** (2017). The influence of solution viscosities and surface tension on calcium-alginate microbead formation using dripping technique. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *62*, 119-127.
- Davey, M. W., Montagu, M. V., Inze, D., Sanmartin, M., Kanellis, A., Smirnoff, N., & Fletcher, J. (2000). Plant L-ascorbic acid: chemistry, function, metabolism, bioavailability and effects of processing. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 80(7), 825-860.
- **De Marco, I., & Reverchon, E.** (2011). Nanostructured cellulose acetate filaments produced by supercritical antisolvent precipitation. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, 55(3), 1095-1103.

- De Marco, I., & Reverchon, E. (2017). Starch aerogel loaded with poorly watersoluble vitamins through supercritical CO 2 adsorption. *Chemical Engineering Research and Design*, 119, 221-230.
- De Marco, I., Prosapio, V., Cice, F., & Reverchon, E. (2013). Use of solvent mixtures in supercritical antisolvent process to modify precipitates morphology: Cellulose acetate microparticles. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, 83, 153-160.
- De Marco, I., Rossmann, M., Prosapio, V., Reverchon, E., & Braeuer, A. (2015). Control of particle size, at micrometric and nanometric range, using supercritical antisolvent precipitation from solvent mixtures: Application to PVP. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 273, 344-352.
- de Paz, E., Martín, Á., Duarte, C. M., & Cocero, M. J. (2012). Formulation of βcarotene with poly-(ε-caprolactones) by PGSS process. *Powder Technology*, 217, 77-83.
- De Vries, K., Strydom, M., & Steenkamp, V. (2018). Bioavailability of resveratrol: Possibilities for enhancement. *Journal of Herbal Medicine*, 11, 71-77.
- **Debenedetti, P. G., Tom, J. W., Sang Do, Y., & Gio Bin, L.** (1993). Application of supercritical fluids for the production of sustained delivery devices. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 24(1-3), 27-44.
- **Dechene, E. B.** (1951). The relative stability of rutin and quercetin in alkaline solution. Journal of the American Pharmaceutical Association. *American Pharmaceutical Association*, 40(10), 495–497.
- **Dede, S., Alpas, H., & Bayindirli, A.** (2007). High hydrostatic pressure treatment and storage of carrot and tomato juices: Antioxidant activity and microbial safety. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, *87*, 773-782.
- Dei Cas, M., & Ghidoni, R. (2019). Dietary curcumin: correlation between bioavailability and health potential. *Nutrients*, 11(9), 2147.
- Dellarosa, N., Tappi, S., Ragni, L., Laghi, L., Rocculi, P., & Dalla Rosa, M. (2016). Metabolic response of fresh-cut apples induced by pulsed electric fields. *Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies*, 38, 356-364.
- Delsart, C., Ghidossi, R., Poupot, C., Cholet, C., Grimi, N., Vorobiev, E., Milisic, V., & Peuchot, M. M. (2012). Enhanced extraction of phenolic compounds from Merlot grapes by pulsed electric field treatment. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture*, 63(2), 205-211.
- Desai, K. G. H., & Jin Park, H. (2005). Recent developments in microencapsulation of food ingredients. *Drying Technology*, 23(7), 1361-1394.
- **Dewanto, V., Wu, X., Adom, K. K., & Liu, R. H.** (2002). Thermal processing enhances the nutritional value of tomatoes by increasing total antioxidant activity. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 50(10), 3010-3014.
- **Dewanto, V., Xianzhong, W., Adom, K. K., & Liu, R. H.** (2002). Thermal processing enhances the nutritional value of tomatoes by increasing total antioxidant activity. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 50(10), 3010–3014.

- Díaz, D. I., Beristain, C. I., Azuara, E., Luna, G., & Jimenez, M. (2015). Effect of wall material on the antioxidant activity and physicochemical properties of Rubus fruticosus juice microcapsules. *Journal of Microencapsulation*, 32(3), 247-254.
- Dienaitė, L., Pukalskienė, M., Pereira, C. V., Matias, A. A., & Venskutonis, P. R. (2020). Valorization of European cranberry bush (*Viburnum opulus* L.) berry pomace extracts isolated with pressurized ethanol and water by assessing their phytochemical composition, antioxidant and antiproliferative activities. *Foods*, 9(10), 1413.
- **Donsì, F., Ferrari, G., & Pataro, G.** (2010). Applications of pulsed electric field treatments for the enhancement of mass transfer from vegetable tissue. *Food Engineering Reviews*, *2*, 109-130.
- Doost, A. S., Kassozi, V., Grootaert, C., Claeys, M., Dewettinck, K., Van Camp, J., & Van der Meeren, P. (2019). Self-assembly, functionality, and invitro properties of quercetin loaded nanoparticles based on shellacalmond gum biological macromolecules. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 129, 1024-1033.
- Draijer, R., van Dorsten, F., Zebregs, Y., Hollebrands, B., Peters, S., Duchateau, G., & Grün, C. (2016). Impact of proteins on the uptake, distribution and excretion of phenolics in the human body. *Nutrients*, 8(12), 814.
- D'Souza, A. J. M., Schowen, R. L., & Topp, E. M. (2004). Polyvinylpyrrolidone– drug conjugate: synthesis and release mechanism. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 94(1), 91-100.
- Duarte, G. S., & Farah, A. (2011). Effect of simultaneous consumption of milk and coffee on chlorogenic acids' bioavailability in humans. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 59(14), 7925-7931.
- **Dubey, R.** (2009). Microencapsulation technology and applications. *Defence Science Journal*, 59(1), 82.
- Dugo, P., Presti, M. Lo, Öhman, M., Fazio, A., Dugo, G., & Mondello, L. (2005). Determination of flavonoids in citrus juices by micro-HPLC-ESI/MS. *Journal of Separation Science*, 28(11), 1149–1156.
- **Dunn, J.** (2001). Pulsed electric field processing: an overview. Pulsed electric fields in food processing: fundamental aspects and applications. Technomic Publishing Co., Lancaster, Pa, 1-30.
- Dunnick, J. K., & Halley, J. R. (1992). Toxicity and carcinogenicity studies of quercetin, a natural component of foods. *Toxicological Sciences*, 19(3), 423-431.
- Dupas, C. J., Marsset-Baglieri, A. C., Ordonaud, C. S., Ducept, F. M., & Maillard, M. N. (2006a). Coffee antioxidant properties: effects of milk addition and processing conditions. *Journal of Food Science*, 71(3), S253-S258.
- Dupas, C., Baglieri, A. M., Ordonaud, C., Tomè, D., & Maillard, M. N. (2006b). Chlorogenic acid is poorly absorbed, independently of the food matrix: A Caco-2 cells and rat chronic absorption study. *Molecular Nutrition* and Food Research, 50(11), 1053–1060.

- Edelman, R., Engelberg, S., Fahoum, L., Meyron-Holtz, E. G., & Livney, Y. D. (2019). Potato protein-based carriers for enhancing bioavailability of astaxanthin. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *96*, 72-80.
- El Darra, N., Grimi, N., Vorobiev, E., Louka, N., & Maroun, R. (2013). Extraction of polyphenols from red grape pomace assisted by pulsed ohmic heating. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, *6*, 1281-1289.
- Elez-Martínez, P., Soliva-Fortuny, R. C., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2006). Comparative study on shelf life of orange juice processed by high intensity pulsed electric fields or heat treatment. *European Food Research and Technology*, 222, 321.
- Empl, M. T., Cai, H., Wang, S., Junginger, J., Kostka, T., Hewicker-Trautwein, M., Brown, K., Gescher, A. J., & Steinberg, P. (2018). Effects of a Grapevine Shoot Extract Containing Resveratrol and Resveratrol Oligomers on Intestinal Adenoma Development in Mice : *In Vitro* and *In Vivo* Studies. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, 62(2), 170, 1– 7.
- Engelen, L., Fontijn-Tekamp, A., & van der Bilt, A. (2005). The influence of product and oral characteristics on swallowing. Archives of Oral Biology, 50(8), 739-746.
- Erdman, J., Wills, J., & Finley, D. (2000). Chocolate: Modern Science Investigates an Ancient Medicine. Foreword. *Journal of Nutrition*, 130(8), 2073– 2085.
- Erfanian, A., Mirhosseini, H., Abd Manap, M. Y., Rasti, B., & Bejo, M. H. (2014). Influence of nano-size reduction on absorption and bioavailability of calcium from fortified milk powder in rats. *Food Research International*, 66, 1-11.
- Ersoy, N., Ercisli, S., & Gundogdu, M. (2017). Evaluation of European Cranberrybush (*Viburnum opulus* L.) genotypes for agromorphological, biochemical and bioactive characteristics in Turkey. *Folia Horticulturae*, 29(2), 181-188.
- Esfanjani, A. F., Assadpour, E., & Jafari, S. M. (2018). Improving the bioavailability of phenolic compounds by loading them within lipidbased nanocarriers. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 76, 56-66.
- Ezhilarasi, P., Indrani, D., Jena, B., & Anandharamakrishnan, C. (2013a). Freeze drying technique for microencapsulation of Garcinia fruit extract and its effect on bread quality. *Journal of Food Engineering*, *117*(4), 513-520.
- Ezhilarasi, P., Karthik, P., Chhanwal, N., & Anandharamakrishnan, C. (2013b). Nanoencapsulation techniques for food bioactive components: a review. Food and Bioprocess Technology, 6(3), 628-647.
- Fahim, T. K., Zaidul, I. S. M., Bakar, M. A., Salim, U. M., Awang, M. B., Sahena, F., ... & Sohrab, M. H. (2014). Particle formation and micronization using non-conventional techniques-review. *Chemical Engineering and Processing: Process Intensification*, 86, 47-52.

- Falé, P. L., Ascensão, L., & Serralheiro, M. L. (2013). Effect of luteolin and apigenin on rosmarinic acid bioavailability in Caco-2 cell monolayers. *Food and Function*, 4(3), 426-431.
- Fathi, M., Mozafari, M. R., & Mohebbi, M. (2012). Nanoencapsulation of food ingredients using lipid based delivery systems. *Trends in Food Science* & *Technology*, 23(1), 13-27.
- Fatnassi, M., Tourné-Péteilh, C., Peralta, P., Cacciaguerra, T., Dieudonné, P., Devoisselle, J. M., & Alonso, B. (2013). Encapsulation of complementary model drugs in spray-dried nanostructured materials. *Journal of Sol-Gel Science and Technology*, 68(2), 307-316.
- Fazaeli, M., Hojjatpanah, G., & Emam-Djomeh, Z. (2013). Effects of heating method and conditions on the evaporation rate and quality attributes of black mulberry (Morus nigra) juice concentrate. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 50, 35-43.
- Fellows, P. (2000). Dielectric, ohmic and infrared heating. Food Processing Technology Principles and Practice, 96, 743-748.
- Feng, H., Tang, J., & Cavalieri, R. P. (2002). Dielectric properties of dehydrated apples as affected by moisture and temperature. *Transactions of the* ASAE, 45, 129.
- Fernandes, M., Dias, A., Carvalho, R., Souza, C., & Oliveira, W. (2014). Antioxidant and antimicrobial activities of Psidium guajava L. spray dried extracts. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 60, 39-44.
- Fernández-García, E., Carvajal-Lérida, I., & Pérez-Gálvez, A. (2009). In vitro bioaccessibility assessment as a prediction tool of nutritional efficiency. Nutrition Research, 29(11), 751-760.
- Fernández-Ponce, M. T., Masmoudi, Y., Djerafi, R., Casas, L., Mantell, C., de La Ossa, E. M., & Badens, E. (2015). Particle design applied to quercetin using supercritical anti-solvent techniques. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, 105, 119-127.
- Ferruzza, S., Rossi, C., Scarino, M. L., & Sambuy, Y. (2012). A protocol for differentiation of human intestinal Caco-2 cells in asymmetric serumcontaining medium. *Toxicology in Vitro*, 26(8), 1252-1255.
- Fischer, C., Speth, V., Fleig-Eberenz, S., & Neuhaus, G. (1997). Induction of zygotic polyembryos in wheat: influence of auxin polar transport. *The Plant Cell*, 9(10), 1767-1780.
- Fito, P., Chiralt, A., & Martin, M. (2005). Current state of microwave applications to food processing. *Novel Food Processing Technologies*, 525-537.
- Fontijn-Tekamp, F. A., Slagter, A. P., Van Der Bilt, A., Van'T Hof, M. A., Witter, D. J., Kalk, W. J. J. A., & Jansen, J. A. (2000). Biting and chewing in overdentures, full dentures, and natural dentitions. *Journal of Dental Research*, 79(7), 1519-1524.
- **Food and Drug Administration.** (2000). Kinetics of microbial inactivation for alternative food processing technologies. FDA Center for Food Safety and Applied Nutrition report–A report of the IFT for the FDA of the US Department of Health and Human Services. June, 2.

- **Food and Drug Administration.** (2016). Kinetics of microbial inactivation for alternative food processing technologies—ohmic and inductive heating.
- Fraile, M., Buratto, R., Gómez, B., Martin, A., & Cocero, M. J. (2014). Enhanced delivery of quercetin by encapsulation in poloxamers by supercritical antisolvent process. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research*, 53(11), 4318-4327.
- Franco, A. P., Yamamoto, L. Y., Tadini, C. C., & Gut, J. A. (2015). Dielectric properties of green coconut water relevant to microwave processing: Effect of temperature and field frequency. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 155, 69-78.
- Franco, P., & De Marco, I. (2020). The use of poly(N-vinyl pyrrolidone) in the delivery of drugs: A review. *Polymers*, 12(5), 18–21.
- Franco, P., Aliakbarian, B., Perego, P., Reverchon, E., & De Marco, I. (2018). Supercritical adsorption of quercetin on aerogels for active packaging applications. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research*, 57(44), 15105-15113.
- Franco, P., Reverchon, E., & De Marco, I. (2018). PVP/ketoprofen coprecipitation using supercritical antisolvent process. *Powder Technology*, 340, 1-7.
- Franco, P., Reverchon, E., & De Marco, I. (2019). Production of zein/antibiotic microparticles by supercritical antisolvent coprecipitation. *The Journal* of Supercritical Fluids, 145, 31-38.
- Fu, S., Augustin, M. A., Sanguansri, L., Shen, Z., Ng, K., & Ajlouni, S. (2016). Enhanced bioaccessibility of curcuminoids in buttermilk yogurt in comparison to curcuminoids in aqueous dispersions. *Journal of Food Science*, 81(3), 769-776.
- Fu, Y. C. (2004). Fundamentals and industrial applications of microwave and radio frequency in food processing. *Food Processing: Principles and Applications*, 6, 79-100.
- Fujita, T., Sezik, E., Tabata, M., Yesilada, E., Honda, G., Takeda, Y., Tanaka, T.,
  & Takaishi, Y. (1995). Traditional medicine in Turkey VII. Folk medicine in middle and west Black Sea regions. *Economic Botany*, 49(4), 406.
- Funami, T., Fang, Y., Noda, S., Ishihara, S., Nakauma, M., Draget, K. I., Nishinari, K., & Phillips, G. O. (2009). Rheological properties of sodium alginate in an aqueous system during gelation in relation to supermolecular structures and Ca 2+ binding. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 23(7), 1746-1755.
- Galano, A., Mazzone, G., Alvarez-Diduk, R., Marino, T., Alvarez-Idaboy, J. R.,
   & Russo, N. (2016). Food antioxidants: chemical insights at the molecular level. *Annual Review of Food Science and Technology*, 7, 335-352.
- Gallego-Juárez, J. A., Rodriguez, G., Acosta, V., & Riera, E. (2010). Power ultrasonic transducers with extensive radiators for industrial processing. *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, 17, 953-964.

- Gamboa, J. M., & Leong, K. W. (2013). In vitro and in vivo models for the study of oral delivery of nanoparticles. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 65(6), 800-810.
- Gao, Z., Gao, W., Zeng, S. L., Li, P., & Liu, E. H. (2018). Chemical structures, bioactivities and molecular mechanisms of citrus polymethoxyflavones. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 40, 498-509.
- Gaonkar, A. G., Vasisht, N., Khare, A. R., & Sobel, R. (2014). Microencapsulation in the Food Industry: A Practical Implementation Guide, Academic Press.
- García-Casas, I., Montes, A., Pereyra, C., & de La Ossa, E. M. (2017). Generation of quercetin/cellulose acetate phthalate systems for delivery by supercritical antisolvent process. *European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 100, 79-86.
- Garcia-Noguera, J., Oliveira, F. I., Gallão, M. I., Weller, C. L., Rodrigues, S., & Fernandes, F. A. (2010). Ultrasound-assisted osmotic dehydration of strawberries: Effect of pretreatment time and ultrasonic frequency. Drying Technology, 28, 294-303.
- Garcia-Palazon, A., Suthanthangjai, W., Kajda, P., & Zabetakis, I. (2004). The effects of high hydrostatic pressure on  $\beta$ -glucosidase, peroxidase and polyphenoloxidase in red raspberry (*Rubus idaeus*) and strawberry (*Fragaria × ananassa*). Food Chemistry, 88(1), 7-10.
- García-Salas, P., Gómez-Caravaca, A. M., Arráez-Román, D., Segura-Carretero, A., Guerra-Hernández, E., García-Villanova, B., & Fernández-Gutiérrez, A. (2013). Influence of technological processes on phenolic compounds, organic acids, furanic derivatives and antioxidant activity of whole-lemon powder. *Food Chemistry*, 141(2), 869-878.
- Gavahian, M., Farahnaky, A., Javidnia, K., & Majzoobi, M. (2012). Comparison of ohmic-assisted hydrodistillation with traditional hydrodistillation for the extraction of essential oils from Thymus vulgaris L. Innovative *Food Science and Emerging Technologies*, 14, 85-91.
- Gavahian, M., Farahnaky, A., Majzoobi, M., Javidnia, K., Saharkhiz, M. J., & Mesbahi, G. (2011). Ohmic-assisted hydrodistillation of essential oils from Zataria multiflora Boiss (Shirazi thyme). *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 46, 2619-2627.
- Gawande, S., Kale, A., & Kotwal, S. (2008). Effect of nutrient mixture and black grapes on the pharmacokinetics of orally administered (-) epigallocatechin-3-gallate from green tea extract: a human study. *Phytotherapy Research: An International Journal Devoted to Pharmacological and Toxicological Evaluation of Natural Product Derivatives*, 22(6), 802-808.
- Géczi, G., Horváth, M., Kaszab, T., & Alemany, G. G. (2013). No major differences found between the effects of microwave-based and conventional heat treatment methods on two different liquid foods. *Plos one*, *8*, 53720.

- Gentry, T., & Roberts, J. (2005). Design and evaluation of a continuous flow microwave pasteurization system for apple cider. *LWT-Food Science and Technology*, *38*, 227-238.
- Gharsallaoui, A., Roudaut, G., Chambin, O., Voilley, A., & Saurel, R. (2007). Applications of spray-drying in microencapsulation of food ingredients: An overview. *Food Research International*, 40(9), 1107-1121.
- Giampieri, F., Alvarez-Suarez, J. M., Mazzoni, L., Romandini, S., Bompadre, S., Diamanti, J., Capocasa, F., Mezzetti, B., Quiles, J. L., & Ferreiro, M. S. (2013). The potential impact of strawberry on human health. Natural product research, 27(4-5), 448-455.
- Giner, J., Gimeno, V., Barbosa-Cánovas, G. V., & Martín, O. (2001). Effects of pulsed electric field processing on apple and pear polyphenoloxidases. *Food Science and Technology International*, 7(4), 339-345.
- Giusti, M. M., & Wrolstad, R. E. (2001). Characterization and measurement of anthocyanins by UV-visible spectroscopy. *Current Protocols in Food Analytical Chemistry*, (1), F1-2.
- Gomez-Estaca, J., Comunian, T., Montero, P., Ferro-Furtado, R., & Favaro-Trindade, C. (2016). Encapsulation of an astaxanthin-containing lipid extract from shrimp waste by complex coacervation using a novel gelatin–cashew gum complex. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *61*, 155-162.
- Gong, P., Zhang, L., Han, X., Shigwedha, N., Song, W., Yi, H., Du, M., & Cao, C. (2014). Injury mechanisms of lactic acid bacteria starter cultures during spray drying: A review. *Drying Technology*, 32(7), 793-800.
- Góngora-Nieto, M., Sepúlveda, D., Pedrow, P., Barbosa-Cánovas, G., & Swanson,
   B. (2002). Food processing by pulsed electric fields: treatment delivery, inactivation level and regulatory aspects. *LWT-Food Science and Technology*, 35, 375-388.
- Gonnet, M., Lethuaut, L., & Boury, F. (2010). New trends in encapsulation of liposoluble vitamins. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 146(3), 276-290.
- Gonzales, G. B., Raes, K., Coelus, S., Struijs, K., Smagghe, G., & Van Camp, J. (2014). Ultra (high)-pressure liquid chromatography-electrospray ionization-time-of-flight-ion mobility-high definition mass spectrometry for the rapid identification and structural characterization of flavonoid glycosides from cauliflower waste. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 1323, 39-48.
- González-Arenzana, L., Portu, J., López, R., López, N., Santamaría, P., Garde-Cerdán, T., & López-Alfaro, I. (2015). Inactivation of wineassociated microbiota by continuous pulsed electric field treatments. Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies, 29, 187-192.
- Gorelik, S., Kanner, J., Schurr, D., & Kohen, R. (2013). A rational approach to prevent postprandial modification of LDL by dietary polyphenols. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 5(1), 163-169.
- Gouin, S. (2004). Microencapsulation: industrial appraisal of existing technologies and trends. *Trends in Food Science and Technology*, 15(7), 330-347.

- Green, R. J., Murphy, A. S., Schulz, B., Watkins, B. A., & Ferruzzi, M. G. (2007). Common tea formulations modulate *in vitro* digestive recovery of green tea catechins. *Molecular Nutrition and Food Research*, *51*(9), 1152-1162.
- Grunovaitė, L., Pukalskienė, M., Pukalskas, A., & Venskutonis, P. R. (2016). Fractionation of black chokeberry pomace into functional ingredients using high pressure extraction methods and evaluation of their antioxidant capacity and chemical composition. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 24, 85-96.
- Guerra, A., Etienne-Mesmin, L., Livrelli, V., Denis, S., Blanquet-Diot, S., & Alric, M. (2012). Relevance and challenges in modeling human gastric and small intestinal digestion. *Trends in Biotechnology*, 30(11), 591-600.
- Gula, A., Ren, L., Zhou, Z., Lu, D., & Wang, S. (2013). Design and evaluation of biodegradable enteric microcapsules of amifostine for oral delivery. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 453(2), 441-447.
- Guo, Y., Mah, E., Davis, C. G., Jalili, T., Ferruzzi, M. G., Chun, O. K., & Bruno, R. S. (2013). Dietary fat increases quercetin bioavailability in overweight adults. *Molecular Nutrition and Food Research*, 57(5), 896-905.
- Gupta, M., & Leong, E. W. W. (2008). *Microwaves and Metals, John Wiley and Sons.*
- Hagerman, A. E., & Butler, L. G. (1980). Determination of Protein in Tannin-Protein Precipitates. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 28(5), 944– 947.
- Harnly, J. M., Doherty, R. F., Beecher, G. R., Holden, J. M., Haytowitz, D. B., Bhagwat, S., & Gebhardt, S. (2006). Flavonoid content of US fruits, vegetables, and nuts. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 54(26), 9966-9977.
- He, Z., Tao, Y., Zeng, M., Zhang, S., Tao, G., Qin, F., & Chen, J. (2016). High pressure homogenization processing, thermal treatment and milk matrix affect *in vitro* bioaccessibility of phenolics in apple, grape and orange juice to different extents. *Food Chemistry*, 200, 107–116.
- Heaney, R. P. (2001). Factors influencing the measurement of bioavailability, taking calcium as a model. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 131(4), 1344-1348.
- Hebbar, H. U., & Rastogi, N. K. (2011). Microwave Heating of Fluid Foods, In: Novel thermal and non-thermal technologies for fluid foods, San Diego, USA: Academic Press.
- Hebbar, H. U., Nandini, K. E., Lakshmi, M. C., & Subramanian, R. (2003). Microwave and infrared heat processing of honey and its quality. *Food Science and Technology Research*, 9, 49-53.
- Helal, A., Tagliazucchi, D., Verzelloni, E., & Conte, A. (2014). Bioaccessibility of polyphenols and cinnamaldehyde in cinnamon beverages subjected to *in vitro* gastro-pancreatic digestion. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 7(1), 506–516.

- Hidalgo, I. J., Raub, T. J., & Borchardt, R. T. (1989). Characterization of the human colon carcinoma cell line (Caco-2) as a model system for intestinal epithelial permeability. *Gastroenterology*, *96*(2), 736-749.
- Ho, Y. C., Yu, H. T., & Su, N. W. (2012). Re-examination of chromogenic quantitative assays for determining flavonoid content. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 60(10), 2674-2681.
- Höller, U., Wolter, D., Hofmann, P., & Spitzer, V. (2003). Microwave-assisted rapid determination of vitamins A and E in beverages. *Journal of Agricultural* and Food Chemistry, 51, 1539-1542.
- Hollman, P. C., Cassidy, A., Comte, B., Heinonen, M., Richelle, M., Richling, E.,
  ... & Vidry, S. (2011). The biological relevance of direct antioxidant effects of polyphenols for cardiovascular health in humans is not established. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 141(5), 989S-1009S.
- Howard, L. R., Prior, R. L., Liyanage, R., & Lay, J. O. (2012). Processing and storage effect on berry polyphenols: challenges and implications for bioactive properties. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 60(27), 6678-6693.
- Hu, M. (2007). Commentary: Bioavailability of flavonoids and polyphenols: Call to arms. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 4(6), 803–806.
- Huang, J., Wang, Q., Li, T., Xia, N., & Xia, Q. (2017). Nanostructured lipid carrier (NLC) as a strategy for encapsulation of quercetin and linseed oil: Preparation and *in vitro* characterization studies. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 215, 1–12.
- Huang, K., & Wang, J. (2009). Designs of pulsed electric fields treatment chambers for liquid foods pasteurization process: A review. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 95, 227-239.
- Huang, K., Tian, H., Gai, L., & Wang, J. (2012). A review of kinetic models for inactivating microorganisms and enzymes by pulsed electric field processing. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 111(2), 191-207.
- Huang, R., Ye, M., Li, X., Ji, L., Karwe, M., & Chen, H. (2016). Evaluation of high hydrostatic pressure inactivation of human norovirus on strawberries, blueberries, raspberries and in their purees. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 223, 17-24.
- Huang, W., Feng, Z., Aila, R., Hou, Y., Carne, A., & Bekhit, A. E. D. A. (2019). Effect of pulsed electric fields (PEF) on physico-chemical properties, β-carotene and antioxidant activity of air-dried apricots. *Food Chemistry*, 291, 253-262.
- Hulle, N. R. S., Chakraborty, S., & Rao, P. S. (2017). Effect of high pressure thermal processing on the quality attributes of Aloe vera-litchi mixed beverage. *Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies*, 40, 68-77.
- Hurtado, A., Dolors Guàrdia, M., Picouet, P., Jofré, A., Bañón, S., & Ros, J. M. (2019). Shelf-life extension of multi-vegetables smoothies by highpressure processing compared with thermal treatment. Part I: Microbial and enzyme inhibition, antioxidant status and physical stability. *Journal* of Food Processing and Preservation, 43(10), e14139.

- Hwisa, N., Katakam, P., Chandu, B., & Adiki, S. (2013). Solvent evaporation techniques as promising advancement in microencapsulation. VRI Biological Medicinal Chemistry, 1, 8-22.
- Ichiura, H., Morikawa, M., & Fujiwara, K. (2005). Preparation of microcapsules that produce color in response to humidity for use in intelligent functional paper. *Journal of Materials Science*, 40(8), 1987-1991.
- Icier, F. (2012). Ohmic Heating Of Fluid Foods. In: Cullen, P. J., Tiwari, B. K., & Valdramidis, V. P. (eds.) *Novel Thermal and Non-Thermal Technologies for Fluid Foods*. San Diego, USA: Academic Press.
- Icier, F., & Ilicali, C. (2005). Temperature dependent electrical conductivities of fruit purees during ohmic heating. *Food Research International*, 38, 1135-1142.
- Icier, F., Yildiz, H., Sabanci, S., Cevik, M., & Cokgezme, O. F. (2017). Ohmic heating assisted vacuum evaporation of pomegranate juice: Electrical conductivity changes. *Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies*, 39, 241-246.
- Igual, M., García-Martínez, E., Camacho, M., & Martínez-Navarrete, N. (2010). Effect of thermal treatment and storage on the stability of organic acids and the functional value of grapefruit juice. *Food Chemistry*, 118, 291-299.
- Ilhan, M., Ergene, B., Süntar, I., Özbilgin, S., Saltan Çitoğlu, G., Demirel, M. A., Keleş, H., Altun, L., & Küpeli Akkol, E. (2014). Preclinical evaluation of antiurolithiatic activity of Viburnum opulus L. on sodium oxalate-induced urolithiasis rat model. Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine, 2014, 1-10.
- Isailović, B. D., Kostić, I. T., Zvonar, A., Đorđević, V. B., Gašperlin, M., Nedović, V. A., & Bugarski, B. M. (2013). Resveratrol loaded liposomes produced by different techniques. *Innovative Food Science & Emerging Technologies*, 19, 181-189.
- Jafari, S. M., & McClements, D. J. (2017). Nanotechnology approaches for increasing nutrient bioavailability. *Advances in Food and Nutrition Research*, 81, 1-30.
- Jafari, S. M., Ghalenoei, M. G., & Dehnad, D. (2017). Influence of spray drying on water solubility index, apparent density and anthocyanin content of pomegranate juice powder. *Powder Technology*, 311, 59-65.
- Jaganath, I. B., Mullen, W., Edwards, C. A., & Crozier, A. (2006). The relative contribution of the small and large intestine to the absorption and metabolism of rutin in man. *Free Radical Research*, 40(10), 1035–1046.
- Jailani, F., & Williamson, G. (2014). Effect of edible oils on quercetin, kaempferol and galangin transport and conjugation in the intestinal Caco-2/HT29-MTX co-culture model. *Food and Function*, 5(4), 653-662.
- Jain, A. K., Thanki, K., & Jain, S. (2013). Co-encapsulation of tamoxifen and quercetin in polymeric nanoparticles: implications on oral

bioavailability, antitumor efficacy, and drug-induced toxicity. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 10(9), 3459-3474.

- Jain, A., Thakur, D., Ghoshal, G., Katare, O., & Shivhare, U. (2015). Microencapsulation by complex coacervation using whey protein isolates and gum acacia: an approach to preserve the functionality and controlled release of  $\beta$ -carotene. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, 8(8), 1635-1644.
- Jain, A., Thakur, D., Ghoshal, G., Katare, O., & Shivhare, U. (2016). Characterization of microcapsulated β-carotene formed by complex coacervation using casein and gum tragacanth. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 87, 101-113.
- Jakobek, L. (2015). Interactions of polyphenols with carbohydrates, lipids and proteins. *Food Chemistry*, 175, 556-567.
- Jayachandran, L. E., Chakraborty, S., & Rao, P. S. (2015). Effect of high pressure processing on physicochemical properties and bioactive compounds in litchi based mixed fruit beverage. *Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies*, 28, 1-9.
- Jeyamkondan, S., Jayas, D., & Holley, R. (1999). Pulsed electric field processing of foods: a review. *Journal of Food Protection*, 62, 1088-1096.
- Jiménez-Sánchez, C., Lozano-Sánchez, J., Segura-Carretero, A., & Fernández-Gutiérrez, A. (2017). Alternatives to conventional thermal treatments in fruit-juice processing. Part 1: Techniques and applications. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 57, 501-523.
- Jofré, A., Aymerich, T., Bover-Cid, S., & Garriga, M. (2010). Inactivation and recovery of Listeria monocytogenes, *Salmonella enterica* and *Staphylococcus aureus* after high hydrostatic pressure treatments up to 900 MPa. *International Microbiology*, 13(3), 105-112.
- Juarez-Enriquez, E., Salmeron-Ochoa, I., Gutierrez-Mendez, N., Ramaswamy, H. S., & Ortega-Rivas, E. (2015). Shelf life studies on apple juice pasteurised by ultrahigh hydrostatic pressure. *LWT - Food Science and Technology*, 62(1), 915–919.
- Kahle, K., Kempf, M., Schreier, P., Scheppach, W., Schrenk, D., Kautenburger, T., Hecker, D., Huemmer, W., Ackermann, M., & Richling, E. (2011). Intestinal transit and systemic metabolism of apple polyphenols. *European Journal of Nutrition*, 50(7), 507–522.
- Kamiloglu, S. (2019). Effect of different freezing methods on the bioaccessibility of strawberry polyphenols. *International Journal of Food Science & Technology*, 54(8), 2652-2660.
- Kamiloglu, S., Grootaert, C., Capanoglu, E., Ozkan, C., Smagghe, G., Raes, K., & Van Camp, J. (2017). Anti-inflammatory potential of black carrot (Daucus carota L.) polyphenols in a co-culture model of intestinal Caco-2 and endothelial EA.hy926 cells. *Molecular Nutrition and Food Research*, 61(2), 1–11.
- Kamiloglu, S., Ozkan, G., Isik, H., Horoz, O., Van Camp, J., & Capanoglu, E. (2017). Black carrot pomace as a source of polyphenols for enhancing

the nutritional value of cake: An *in vitro* digestion study with a standardized static model. *LWT* - *Food Science and Technology*, *LWT*, 77, 475-481.

- Kamimura, J. A., Santos, E. H., Hill, L. E., & Gomes, C. L. (2014). Antimicrobial and antioxidant activities of carvacrol microencapsulated in hydroxypropyl-beta-cyclodextrin. *LWT-Food Science and Technology*, 57(2), 701-709.
- Kanakis, C. D., Tarantilis, P. A., Polissiou, M. G., Diamantoglou, S., & Tajmir-Riahi, H. A. (2005). DNA interaction with naturally occurring antioxidant flavonoids quercetin, kaempferol, and delphinidin. *Journal* of Biomolecular Structure and Dynamics, 22(6), 719-724.
- Karaçelik, A. A., Küçük, M., Iskefiyeli, Z., Aydemir, S., De Smet, S., Miserez, B., & Sandra, P. (2015). Antioxidant components of *Viburnum opulus* L. determined by on-line HPLC–UV–ABTS radical scavenging and LC– UV–ESI-MS methods. *Food Chemistry*, 175, 106-114.
- Karathanos, V. T., Mourtzinos, I., Yannakopoulou, K., & Andrikopoulos, N. K. (2007). Study of the solubility, antioxidant activity and structure of inclusion complex of vanillin with  $\beta$ -cyclodextrin. *Food Chemistry*, 101(2), 652-658.
- Keogh, J. B., McInerney, J., & Clifton, P. M. (2007). The effect of milk protein on the bioavailability of cocoa polyphenols. *Journal of Food Science*, 72(3), 230-233.
- Khan, M. K., Abert-Vian, M., Fabiano-Tixier, A. S., Dangles, O., & Chemat, F. (2010). Ultrasound-assisted extraction of polyphenols (flavanone glycosides) from orange (*Citrus sinensis* L.) peel. *Food Chemistry*, 119(2), 851-858.
- Khazaei, K. M., Jafari, S., Ghorbani, M., & Kakhki, A. H. (2014). Application of maltodextrin and gum Arabic in microencapsulation of saffron petal's anthocyanins and evaluating their storage stability and color. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 105, 57-62.
- Khurana, M., & Karwe, M. V. (2009). Numerical prediction of temperature distribution and measurement of temperature in a high hydrostatic pressure food processor. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, 2, 279-290.
- Kim, H., & Silva, F. (2016). Modeling the inactivation of Neosartorya fischeri ascospores in apple juice by high pressure, power ultrasound and thermal processing. *Food Control*, 59, 530-537.
- Kim, M. Y., Chung, I. M., Choi, D. C., & Park, H. J. (2009). Quantitative analysis of fustin and sulfuretin in the inner and outer heartwoods and stem bark of Rhus verniciflua. *Natural Product Sciences*, 15(4), 208-212.
- Kim, S. Y., Jeong, S. M., Jo, S. C., & Lee, S. C. (2006). Application of far-infrared irradiation in the manufacturing process of green tea. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 54, 9943-9947.
- Kinoshita, T., & Firman, K. (1996). Highly oxygenated flavonoids from Murraya paniculata. *Phytochemistry*, 42(4), 1207-1210.

- Klopotek, Y., Otto, K., & Böhm, V. (2005). Processing strawberries to different products alters contents of vitamin C, total phenolics, total anthocyanins and antioxidant capacity. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 53(14), 5640-5646.
- Kneifel, W., & Sommer, R. (1985). HPLC method for determination of vitamin C in milk, whey and whey beverages. Zeitschrift fur Lebensmittel-Untersuchung und-Forschung, 181(2), 107-110.
- Knekt, P., Kumpulainen, J., Järvinen, R., Rissanen, H., Heliövaara, M., Reunanen, A., Hakulinen, T., & Aromaa, A. (2002). Flavonoid intake and risk of chronic diseases. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 76(3), 560–568.
- Knirsch, M. C., Dos Santos, C. A., De Oliveira Soares, A. A. M., & Penna, T. C. V. (2010). Ohmic heating–a review. Trends in Food Science and Technology, 21, 436-441.
- Knorr, D., Froehling, A., Jaeger, H., Reineke, K., Schlueter, O., & Schoessler, K. (2011). Emerging technologies in food processing. *Annual Review of Food Science and Technology*, 2, 203-235.
- Konishi, Y., & Kobayashi, S. (2004). Transepithelial Transport of Chlorogenic Acid, Caffeic Acid, and Their Colonic Metabolites in Intestinal Caco-2 Cell Monolayers. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 52(9), 2518– 2526.
- Koolaji, N., Shammugasamy, B., Schindeler, A., Dong, Q., Dehghani, F., & Valtchev, P. (2020). Citrus peel flavonoids as potential cancer prevention agents. *Current Developments in Nutrition*, 4(5), nzaa025.
- Koontz, J. L., Marcy, J. E., O'Keefe, S. F., & Duncan, S. E. (2009). Cyclodextrin inclusion complex formation and solid-state characterization of the natural antioxidants α-tocopherol and quercetin. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 57(4), 1162-1171.
- Kosińska, A., & Andlauer, W. (2012). Cocoa polyphenols are absorbed in Caco-2 cell model of intestinal epithelium. *Food Chemistry*, 135(3), 999-1005.
- Krebbers, B., Matser, A. M., Hoogerwerf, S. W., Moezelaar, R., Tomassen, M. M., & Van Den Berg, R. W. (2003). Combined high-pressure and thermal treatments for processing of tomato puree: evaluation of microbial inactivation and quality parameters. *Innovative Food Science* and Emerging Technologies, 4, 377-385.
- Krishnamurthy, K., Jun, S., Irudayaraj, J., & Demirci, A. (2008a). Efficacy of infrared heat treatment for inactivation of staphylococcus aureus in milk. *Journal of Food Process Engineering*, 31, 798-816.
- Krishnamurthy, K., Khurana, H. K., Soojin, J., Irudayaraj, J., & Demirci, A. (2008b). Infrared heating in food processing: an overview. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, 7, 2-13.
- Kucki, M., Diener, L., Bohmer, N., Hirsch, C., Krug, H. F., Palermo, V., & Wick, P. (2017). Uptake of label-free graphene oxide by Caco-2 cells is dependent on the cell differentiation status. *Journal of Nanobiotechnology*, 15(1), 1-18.

- Kumar, P., Coronel, P., Simunovic, J., & Sandeep, K. (2007). Feasibility of Aseptic Processing of a Low-Acid Multiphase Food Product (salsa con queso) Using a Continuous Flow Microwave System. *Journal of Food Science*, 72(3), 121-124.
- Kumaran, A. (2006). Antioxidant and free radical scavenging activity of an aqueous extract of Coleus aromaticus. *Food Chemistry*, 97(1), 109-114.
- Kumari, A., Yadav, S. K., Pakade, Y. B., Singh, B., & Yadav, S. C. (2010). Development of biodegradable nanoparticles for delivery of quercetin. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 80(2), 184-192.
- Kümmerle, M., Scherer, S., & Seiler, H. (1998). Rapid and reliable identification of food-borne yeasts by Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy. *Applied* and Environmental Microbiology, 64, 2207-2214.
- Kundu, P., Dhankhar, J., & Sharma, A. (2018). Current Research in Nutrition and Food Science Development of Non Dairy Milk Alternative Using Soymilk and Almond Milk. Current Research in Nutrition and Food Science, 06(1), 203–210.
- Kurowska, E. M., Manthey, J. A., Casaschi, A., & Theriault, A. G. (2004). Modulation of HepG2 cell net apolipoprotein B secretion by the citrus polymethoxyflavone, tangeretin. *Lipids*, 39(2), 143-151.
- Kyle, J. A., Morrice, P. C., McNeill, G., & Duthie, G. G. (2007). Effects of infusion time and addition of milk on content and absorption of polyphenols from black tea. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 55(12), 4889-4894.
- Kyselova, Z. (2011). Toxicological aspects of the use of phenolic compounds in disease prevention. *Interdisciplinary Toxicology*, 4(4), 173.
- Lai, C. S., Li, S., Miyauchi, Y., Suzawa, M., Ho, C. T., & Pan, M. H. (2013). Potent anti-cancer effects of citrus peel flavonoids in human prostate xenograft tumors. *Food & Function*, 4(6), 944-949.
- Lakkakula, N. R., Lima, M., & Walker, T. (2004). Rice bran stabilization and rice bran oil extraction using ohmic heating. *Bioresource Technology*, 92, 157-161.
- Laksitorini, M., Prasasty, V. D., Kiptoo, P. K., & Siahaan, T. J. (2014). Pathways and progress in improving drug delivery through the intestinal mucosa and blood–brain barriers. *Therapeutic Delivery*, 5(10), 1143-1163.
- Lamanauskas, N., Bobinaite, R.,Satkauskas, S., Viskelis, P., Pataro, G., & Ferrari, G. (2015). Pulsed electric field-assisted juice extraction of frozen/thawed blueberries. *Zemdirbyste-Agriculture*, 102(1), 59-65.
- Laokuldilok, T., & Kanha, N. (2015). Effects of processing conditions on powder properties of black glutinous rice (Oryza sativa L.) bran anthocyanins produced by spray drying and freeze drying. *LWT-Food Science and Technology*, 64(1), 405-411.
- Larkin, T. A., Price, W. E., & Astheimer, L. B. (2007). Increased probiotic yogurt or resistant starch intake does not affect isoflavone bioavailability in subjects consuming a high soy diet. *Nutrition*, 23(10), 709-718.

- Ledet, G. A., Graves, R. A., Glotser, E. Y., Mandal, T. K., & Bostanian, L. A. (2015). Preparation and *in vitro* evaluation of hydrophilic fenretinide nanoparticles. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 479(2), 329-337.
- Lee, D. H., Sim, G. S., Kim, J. H., Lee, G. S., Pyo, H. B., & Lee, B. C. (2007). Preparation and characterization of quercetin-loaded polymethyl methacrylate microcapsules using a polyol-in-oil-in-polyol emulsion solvent evaporation method. *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology*, 59(12), 1611-1620.
- Lee, J. S., Kim, E.-J., Chung, D., & Lee, H. G. (2009). Characteristics and antioxidant activity of catechin-loaded calcium pectinate gel beads prepared by internal gelation. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 74(1), 17-22.
- Lee, S. C., Kim, S.-Y., Jeong, S. M., & Park, J. H. (2006). Effect of far-infrared irradiation on catechins and nitrite scavenging activity of green tea. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 54, 399-403.
- Lee, S. J., & Wong, M. (2014). Nano-and Microencapsulation of Phytochemicals. Nano-and Microencapsulation for Foods, 117-165.
- Lengsfeld, C. S., Delplanque, J. P., Barocas, V. H., & Randolph, T. W. (2000). Mechanism governing microparticle morphology during precipitation by a compressed antisolvent: atomization vs nucleation and growth. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry B*, 104(12), 2725-2735.
- Leonelli, C., & Mason, T. J. (2010). Microwave and ultrasonic processing: now a realistic option for industry. *Chemical Engineering and Processing: Process Intensification*, 49, 885-900.
- Leong, J. Y., Lam, W. H., Ho, K. W., Voo, W. P., Lee, M. F. X., Lim, H. P., Lim, S. L., Tey, B. T., Poncelet, D., & Chan, E. S. (2016). Advances in fabricating spherical alginate hydrogels with controlled particle designs by ionotropic gelation as encapsulation systems. *Particuology*, 24, 44-60.
- Leong, S. Y., Burritt, D. J., & Oey, I. (2016a). Evaluation of the anthocyanin release and health-promoting properties of Pinot Noir grape juices after pulsed electric fields. *Food Chemistry*, 196, 833-841.
- Leong, S. Y., Burritt, D. J., & Oey, I. (2016b). Effect of combining pulsed electric fields with maceration time on Merlot grapes in protecting Caco-2 cells from oxidative stress. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, 9(1), 147-160.
- Leong, S. Y., Oey, I., Clapperton, D., Aganovic, K., & Toepfl, S. (2015). Chilling prior to low intensity pulsed electric field processing improved vitamin C stability of carrot purée (Daucus carota cv. Nantes). International *Journal of Food Science & Technology*, 50(8), 1757-1763.
- Lesuffleur, T., Barbat, A., Dussaulx, E., & Zweibaum, A. (1990). Growth adaptation to methotrexate of HT-29 human colon carcinoma cells is associated with their ability to differentiate into columnar absorptive and mucus-secreting cells. *Cancer Research*, *50*(19), 6334-6343.

- Li, B., & Sun, D. W. (2002). Novel methods for rapid freezing and thawing of foods– A Review. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 54, 175-182.
- Li, J., Ye, A., Lee, S. J., & Singh, H. (2013). Physicochemical behaviour of WPIstabilized emulsions in *in vitro* gastric and intestinal conditions. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 111, 80-87.
- Li, S., Lo, C. Y., & Ho, C. T. (2006). Hydroxylated polymethoxyflavones and methylated flavonoids in sweet orange (Citrus sinensis) peel. *Journal* of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 54(12), 4176-4185.
- Li, X., & McGuffin, V. L. (2007). Thermodynamics and Kinetics of Chiral Separations with β-Cyclodextrin Stationary Phase: I. Effect of Mobile Phase Composition. *Journal of Liquid Chromatography and Related Technologies*, 30(5-7), 937-964.
- Lim, J. S., Lee, Y. Y., & Chun, H. S. (1994). Phase equilibria for carbon dioxideethanol-water system at elevated pressures. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, 7(4), 219-230.
- Lima, M., & Sastry, S. K. (1999). The effects of ohmic heating frequency on hot-air drying rate and juice yield. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 41, 115-119.
- Lima, M., Heskitt, B. F., & Sastry, S. K. (2001). Diffusion of Beet Dye During Electrical and Conventional Heating at Steady-State Temperature. *Journal of Food Process Engineering*, 24, 331-340.
- Liu, C., Cheng, F., & Yang, X. (2017). Fabrication of a soybean bowman-birk inhibitor (bbi) nanodelivery carrier to improve bioavailability of curcumin. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 65(11), 2426-2434.
- Liu, D., Vorobiev, E., Savoire, R., & Lanoisellé, J. L. (2011). Extraction of polyphenols from grape seeds by unconventional methods and extract concentration through polymeric membrane. 11th International Congress on Engineering and Food, ICEF 11. On-CD, Vol III; p. 1939-1940.
- Liu, F., Wang, Y., Li, R., Bi, X., & Liao, X. (2014). Effects of high hydrostatic pressure and high temperature short time on antioxidant activity, antioxidant compounds and color of mango nectars. *Innovative Food Science & Emerging Technologies*, 21, 35-43.
- Liu, X., Bi, J., Xiao, H., & McClements, D. J. (2016). Enhancement of nutraceutical bioavailability using excipient nanoemulsions: Role of lipid digestion products on bioaccessibility of carotenoids and phenolics from mangoes. *Journal of Food Science*, 81(3), 754-761.
- Livney, Y. D. (2008). Complexes and conjugates of biopolymers for delivery of bioactive ingredients via food. *Delivery and Controlled Release of bioactives in Foods and Nutraceuticals*, 1, 234-250.
- Longo-Sorbello, G. S. A., Saydam, G., Banerjee, D., & Bertino, J. R. (2006). Cytotoxicity and cell growth assays. *Cell Biology*, 4(1), 315–324.
- López-Córdoba, A., Deladino, L., & Martino, M. (2014). Release of yerba mate antioxidants from corn starch–alginate capsules as affected by structure. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 99, 150-157.

- Lorenz, M., Jochmann, N., von Krosigk, A., Martus, P., Baumann, G., Stangl, K., & Stangl, V. (2007). Addition of milk prevents vascular protective effects of tea. *European Heart Journal*, 28(2), 219-223.
- Loypimai, P., Moonggarm, A., & Chottanom, P. (2009). Effects of ohmic heating on lipase activity, bioactive compounds and antioxidant activity of rice bran. Australian Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences, 3, 3642-3652.
- Loypimai, P., Moongngarm, A., Chottanom, P., & Moontree, T. (2015). Ohmic heating-assisted extraction of anthocyanins from black rice bran to prepare a natural food colourant. *Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies*, 27, 102-110.
- Lu, X., Li, C., & Huang, Q. (2019). Combining *in vitro* digestion model with cell culture model: Assessment of encapsulation and delivery of curcumin in milled starch particle stabilized Pickering emulsions. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 139, 917-924.
- Lupo, B., Maestro, A., Gutiérrez, J. M., & González, C. (2015). Characterization of alginate beads with encapsulated cocoa extract to prepare functional food: comparison of two gelation mechanisms. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 49, 25-34.
- Lupo, B., Maestro, A., Porras, M., Gutiérrez, J. M., & González, C. (2014). Preparation of alginate microspheres by emulsification/internal gelation to encapsulate cocoa polyphenols. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 38, 56-65.
- Lv, X., Liu, T., Ma, H., Tian, Y., Li, L., Li, Z., Gao, M., Zhang, J., & Tang, Z. (2017). Preparation of Essential Oil-Based Microemulsions for Improving the Solubility, pH Stability, Photostability, and Skin Permeation of Quercetin. AAPS PharmSciTech, 18(8), 3097–3104.
- Mahnič-Kalamiza, S., Vorobiev, E., & Miklavčič, D. (2014). Electroporation in food processing and biorefinery. *The Journal of Membrane Biology*, 247, 1279-1304.
- Maldonado-Valderrama, J., Gunning, A. P., Wilde, P. J., & Morris, V. J. (2010). In vitro gastric digestion of interfacial protein structures: visualisation by AFM. Soft Matter, 6(19), 4908-4915.
- Manach, C., Morand, C., Demigné, C., Texier, O., Régérat, F., & Rémésy, C. (1997). Bioavailability of rutin and quercetin in rats. *FEBS Letters*, 409(1), 12-16.
- Manach, C., Williamson, G., Morand, C., Scalbert, A., & Rémésy, C. (2005). Bioavailability and bioefficacy of polyphenols in humans. I. Review of 97 bioavailability studies. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 81(1 Suppl), 230–242.
- Manthey, J. A., Cesar, T. B., Jackson, E., & Mertens-Talcott, S. (2011). Pharmacokinetic study of nobiletin and tangeretin in rat serum by highperformance liquid chromatography– electrospray ionization– mass spectrometry. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 59(1), 145-151.
- Mao, L., & Miao, S. (2015). Structuring food emulsions to improve nutrient delivery during digestion. *Food Engineering Reviews*, 7(4), 439-451.

- Marian, M. J. (2017). Dietary supplements commonly used by cancer survivors: are there any benefits?. *Nutrition in Clinical Practice*, *32*(5), 607-627.
- Marques, H. M. C. (2010). A review on cyclodextrin encapsulation of essential oils and volatiles. *Flavour and Fragrance Journal*, 25(5), 313-326.
- Marszałek, K., Mitek, M., & Skąpska, S. (2015). The effect of thermal pasteurization and high pressure processing at cold and mild temperatures on the chemical composition, microbial and enzyme activity in strawberry purée. *Innovative Food Science & Emerging Technologies*, 27, 48-56.
- Martín, A., Mattea, F., Gutiérrez, L., Miguel, F., & Cocero, M. J. (2007). Coprecipitation of carotenoids and bio-polymers with the supercritical anti-solvent process. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, 41(1), 138-147.
- Martinez, M. V., & Whitaker, J. R. (1995). The biochemistry and control of enzymatic browning. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 6(6), 195-200.
- Martínez-Huélamo, M., Vallverdú-Queralt, A., Di Lecce, G., Valderas-Martínez, P., Tulipani, S., Jáuregui, O., ... & Lamuela-Raventós, R. M. (2016). Bioavailability of tomato polyphenols is enhanced by processing and fat addition: Evidence from a randomized feeding trial. *Molecular Nutrition and Food Research*, 60(7), 1578-1589.
- Mason, T. J., & Peters, D. (2002). Practical sonochemistry: Power Ultrasound Uses and Applications, Woodhead Publishing.
- Math, R., Nagender, A., Sameera Nayani, A., & Satyanarayana, A. (2014). Continuous microwave processing and preservation of acidic and non acidic juice blends. *International Journal of Agriculture and Food Science Technology*, 5, 81-90.
- Mathiowitz, E. (1999). Encyclopedia of Controlled Drug Delivery, Wiley.
- Matsui, K. N., Gut, J. A. W., De Oliveira, P. V., & Tadini, C. C. (2008). Inactivation kinetics of polyphenol oxidase and peroxidase in green coconut water by microwave processing. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 88, 169-176.
- Mattea, F., Martín, Á., & Cocero, M. J. (2009). Carotenoid processing with supercritical fluids. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 93(3), 255-265.
- Matthews, K. R. (2006). Microorganisms associated with fruits and vegetables. Microbiology of fresh produce. *American Society of Microbiology*, 1-19.
- Mattson, M. L. G., Corfield, R., Bajda, L., Pérez, O. E., Schebor, C., & Salvatori,
   D. (2021). Potential bioactive ingredient from elderberry fruit: Process optimization for a maximum phenolic recovery, physicochemical characterization and bioaccesibility. *Journal of Berry Research*, 11(1), 51-68.
- McClements, D. J., & Li, Y. (2010). Structured emulsion-based delivery systems: Controlling the digestion and release of lipophilic food components. *Advances in Colloid and Interface Science*, 159(2), 213-228.

- McClements, D. J., Decker, E. A., Park, Y., & Weiss, J. (2009). Structural design principles for delivery of bioactive components in nutraceuticals and functional foods. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 49(6), 577-606.
- Mcinerney, J. K., Seccafien, C. A., Stewart, C. M., & Bird, A. R. (2007). Effects of high pressure processing on antioxidant activity and total carotenoid content and availability, in vegetables. *Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies*, *8*, 543-548.
- Medina-Meza, I. G., Boioli, P., & Barbosa-Cánovas, G. V. (2016). Assessment of the effects of ultrasonics and pulsed electric fields on nutritional and rheological properties of raspberry and blueberry purées. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, 9(3), 520-531.
- Meneses, N., Saldaña, G., Jaeger, H., Raso, J., Álvarez, I., Cebrián, G., & Knorr, D. (2013). Modelling of polyphenoloxidase inactivation by pulsed electric fields considering coupled effects of temperature and electric field. *Innovative Food Science & Emerging Technologies*, 20, 126-132.
- Mennen, L. I., Walker, R., Bennetau-Pelissero, C., & Scalbert, A. (2005). Risks and safety of polyphenol consumption. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 81(1), 326-329.
- Mercali, G. D., Schwartz, S., Marczak, L. D. F., Tessaro, I. C., & Sastry, S. (2014). Ascorbic acid degradation and color changes in acerola pulp during ohmic heating: Effect of electric field frequency. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 123, 1-7.
- Mezzomo, N., Oliveira, D., Comim, S., & Ferreira, S. (2016). Encapsulation of extract from winery industry residue using the supercritical anti-solvent technique. *Brazilian Journal of Chemical Engineering*, 33(3), 589-598.
- Min, S., Jin, Z. T., & Zhang, Q. H. (2003). Commercial scale pulsed electric field processing of tomato juice. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 51(11), 3338-3344.
- Mishra, P., Mishra, S., & Mahanta, C. L. (2014). Effect of maltodextrin concentration and inlet temperature during spray drying on physicochemical and antioxidant properties of amla (*Emblica officinalis*) juice powder. *Food and Bioproducts Processing*, 92(3), 252-258.
- Mollov, P., Mihalev, K., Shikov, V., Yoncheva, N., & Karagyozov, V. (2007). Colour stability improvement of strawberry beverage by fortification with polyphenolic copigments naturally occurring in rose petals. *Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies*, *8*, 318-321.
- Molyneux, P. (2004). The use of the stable free radical diphenylpicrylhydrazyl (DPPH) for estimating antioxidant activity. *Songklanakarin Journal of Science and Technology*, *26*(2), 211-219.
- Monagas, M., Urpi-Sarda, M., Sánchez-Patán, F., Llorach, R., Garrido, I., Gómez-Cordovés, C., ... & Bartolomé, B. (2010). Insights into the metabolism and microbial biotransformation of dietary flavan-3-ols and the bioactivity of their metabolites. *Food & Function*, 1(3), 233-253.
- Monente, C., Ludwig, I. A., Stalmach, A., De Peña, M. P., Cid, C., & Crozier, A. (2015). *In vitro* studies on the stability in the proximal gastrointestinal tract and bioaccessibility in Caco-2 cells of chlorogenic acids from spent coffee grounds. *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition*, 66(6), 657–664.
- Mónica Giusti, M., & Wrolstad, R. E. (2005). Characterization and Measurement of Anthocyanins by UV-visible Spectroscopy. *Handbook of Food Analytical Chemistry*, 2(2), 19–31.
- Montes, A., Wehner, L., Pereyra, C., & De La Ossa, E. M. (2016). Precipitation of submicron particles of rutin using supercritical antisolvent process. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, *118*, 1-10.
- Mosqueda-Melgar, J., Elez-Martinez, P., Raybaudi-Massilia, R. M., & Martin-Belloso, O. (2008). Effects of pulsed electric fields on pathogenic microorganisms of major concern in fluid foods: a review. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 48, 747-759.
- Mota, M. J., Lopes, R. P., Delgadillo, I., & Saraiva, J. A. (2013). Microorganisms under high pressure—Adaptation, growth and biotechnological potential. *Biotechnology Advances*, *31*, 1426-1434.
- Moussa-Ayoub, T. E., Jaeger, H., Youssef, K., Knorr, D., El-Samahy, S., Kroh, L. W., & Rohn, S. (2016). Technological characteristics and selected bioactive compounds of Opuntia dillenii cactus fruit juice following the impact of pulsed electric field pre-treatment. *Food Chemistry*, 210, 249-261.
- Moussa-Ayoub, T. E., Jäger, H., Knorr, D., El-Samahy, S. K., Kroh, L. W., & Rohn, S. (2017). Impact of pulsed electric fields, high hydrostatic pressure and thermal pasteurization on selected characteristics of Opuntia dillenii cactus juice. *LWT-Food Science and Technology*, 79, 534-542.
- Mueller, D., Jung, K., Winter, M., Rogoll, D., Melcher, R., Kulozik, U., ... & Richling, E. (2018). Encapsulation of anthocyanins from bilberries– Effects on bioavailability and intestinal accessibility in humans. Food Chemistry, 248, 217-224.
- Mukai, K., Oka, W., Watanabe, K., Egawa, Y., Nagaoka, S. I., & Terao, J. (1997). Kinetic study of free-radical-scavenging action of flavonoids in homogeneous and aqueous triton X-100 micellar solutions. *Journal of Physical Chemistry A*, 101(20), 3746–3753.
- Mullen, W., Edwards, C. A., & Crozier, A. (2006). Absorption, excretion and metabolite profiling of methyl-, glucuronyl-, glucosyl- and sulphoconjugates of quercetin in human plasma and urine after ingestion of onions. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 96(01), 107.
- Munin, A., & Edwards-Lévy, F. (2011). Encapsulation of natural polyphenolic compounds; a review. *Pharmaceutics*, 3(4), 793-829.
- Muthukumaran, A., Orsat, V., & Raghavan, G. S. (2011). Physicochemical Property Changes of Foods during Microwave-Assisted Thermal

Processing. In: Devahastin, S. (ed.) *Physicochemical Aspects of Food Engineering and Processing*. CRC Press.

- Muthurajan, T., Rammanohar, P., Rajendran, N. P., Sethuraman, S., & Krishnan, U. M. (2015). Evaluation of a quercetin–gadolinium complex as an efficient positive contrast enhancer for magnetic resonance imaging. *RSC Advances*, 5(106), 86967-86979.
- Naczk, M., & Shahidi, F. (2004). Extraction and analysis of phenolics in food. Journal of Chromatography A, 1054(1-2), 95-111.
- Nallamuthu, I., Devi, A., & Khanum, F. (2015). Chlorogenic acid loaded chitosan nanoparticles with sustained release property, retained antioxidant activity and enhanced bioavailability. *Asian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 10(3), 203-211.
- Natolino, A., Da Porto, C., Rodríguez-Rojo, S., Moreno, T., & Cocero, M. J. (2016). Supercritical antisolvent precipitation of polyphenols from grape marc extract. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, *118*, 54-63.
- Neilson, A. P., George, J. C., Janle, E. M., Mattes, R. D., Rudolph, R., Matusheski, N. V., & Ferruzzi, M. G. (2009). Influence of chocolate matrix composition on cocoa flavan-3-ol bioaccessibility in vitro and bioavailability in humans. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 57(20), 9418-9426.
- Németh, K., Plumb, G. W., Berrin, J. G., Juge, N., Jacob, R., Naim, H. Y., Williamson, G., Swallow, D. M., & Kroon, P. A. (2003).
   Deglycosylation by small intestinal epithelial cell β-glucosidases is a critical step in the absorption and metabolism of dietary flavonoid glycosides in humans. *European Journal of Nutrition*, 42(1), 29–42.
- Ni, S., Sun, R., Zhao, G., & Xia, Q. (2015). Quercetin loaded nanostructured lipid carrier for food fortification: Preparation, characterization and *in vitro* study. *Journal of Food Process Engineering*, *38*(1), 93–106.
- Nikitina, V.V. *Dlja Vas Ssadovody*, 1st ed; Kostroma RIO: Kostroma, Russia, 1998; pp. 301–316
- Ning, F., Wang, X., Zheng, H., Zhang, K., Bai, C., Peng, H., ... & Xiong, H. (2019). Improving the bioaccessibility and *in vitro* absorption of 5demethylnobiletin from chenpi by se-enriched peanut protein nanoparticles-stabilized pickering emulsion. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 55, 76-85.
- Nizamova, A., Ziyatdinova, G., & Budnikov, G. (2011). Electrogenerated bromine as a coulometric reagent for the estimation of the bioavailability of polyphenols. *Journal of Analytical Chemistry*, 66(3), 301-309.
- Noci, F., Riener, J., Walkling-Ribeiro, M., Cronin, D. A., Morgan, D. J., & Lyng, J. G. (2008). Ultraviolet irradiation and pulsed electric fields (PEF) in a hurdle strategy for the preservation of fresh apple juice. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 85(1), 141-146.
- Norton, I., Fryer, P., & Moore, S. (2006). Product/Process Integration in Food Manufacture: Engineering Sustained Health. *American Institute of Chemical Engineers*, 52(5), 1632–1640.

- Norton, T., & Sun, D. W. (2008). Recent advances in the use of high pressure as an effective processing technique in the food industry. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, 1, 2-34.
- Odriozola-Serrano, I., Aguiló-Aguayo, I., Soliva-Fortuny, R., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2013). Pulsed electric fields processing effects on quality and health-related constituents of plant-based foods. *Trends in Food Science and Technology*, 29, 98-107.
- Odriozola-Serrano, I., Soliva-Fortuny, R., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2008). Phenolic acids, flavonoids, vitamin C and antioxidant capacity of strawberry juices processed by high-intensity pulsed electric fields or heat treatments. *European Food Research and Technology*, 228(2), 239.
- Oey, I., Lille, M., Van Loey, A., & Hendrickx, M. (2008). Effect of high-pressure processing on colour, texture and flavour of fruit-and vegetable-based food products: a review. *Trends in Food Science and Technology*, 19, 320-328.
- Oksuz, T., Tacer-Caba, Z., Nilufer-Erdil, D., & Boyacioglu, D. (2019). Changes in bioavailability of sour cherry (Prunus cerasus L.) phenolics and anthocyanins when consumed with dairy food matrices. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 56(9), 4177–4188.
- Ortega, N., Macià, A., Romero, M. P., Reguant, J., & Motilva, M. J. (2011). Matrix composition effect on the digestibility of carob flour phenols by an invitro digestion model. *Food Chemistry*, 124(1), 65-71.
- Ortiz-Basurto, R., Rubio-Ibarra, M., Ragazzo-Sanchez, J., Beristain, C., & Jiménez-Fernández, M. (2017). Microencapsulation of Eugenia uniflora L. juice by spray drying using fructans with different degrees of polymerisation. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 175, 603-609.
- **Ortuño, C., Duong, T., Balaban, M., & Benedito, J.** (2013). Combined high hydrostatic pressure and carbon dioxide inactivation of pectin methylesterase, polyphenol oxidase and peroxidase in feijoa purée. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, *82*, 56-62.
- Otálora, M. C., Carriazo, J. G., Iturriaga, L., Osorio, C., & Nazareno, M. A. (2016). Encapsulating betalains from Opuntia ficus-indica fruits by ionic gelation: Pigment chemical stability during storage of beads. *Food Chemistry*, 202, 373-382.
- Otero, L., & Sanz, P. D. (2003). Modelling heat transfer in high pressure food processing: a review. *Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies*, 4, 121-134.
- **Oth, M. P., & Moës, A. J.** (1985). Enhanced *in vitro* release of indomethacin from non-aqueous suspensions using indomethacin-polyvinylpyrrolidone coprecipitate. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 24(2-3), 275-286.
- Ozdal, T., Capanoglu, E., & Altay, F. (2013). A review on protein-phenolic interactions and associated changes. *Food Research International*, 51(2), 954-970.

- Ozkan, G., Franco, P., Capanoglu, E., & De Marco, I. (2019). PVP/flavonoid coprecipitation by supercritical antisolvent process. *Chemical Engineering and Processing Process Intensification*, 146, 107689.
- Ozkan, G., Franco, P., De Marco, I., Xiao, J., & Capanoglu, E. (2019). A review of microencapsulation methods for food antioxidants: Principles, advantages, drawbacks and applications. *Food Chemistry*, 272, 494-506.
- Ozkan, G., Guldiken, B., & Capanoglu, E. (2019). Effect of Novel Food Processing Technologies on Beverage Antioxidants. In *Processing and Sustainability of Beverages* (pp. 413-449). Woodhead Publishing.
- Ozkan, G., Kostka, T., Esatbeyoglu, T., & Capanoglu, E. (2020). Effects of Lipid-Based Encapsulation on the Bioaccessibility and Bioavailability of Phenolic Compounds. *Molecules*, 25(23), 5545.
- Ozkan, G., Stübler, A. S., Aganovic, K., Draeger, G., Esatbeyoglu, T., & Capanoglu, E. (2021). Retention of polyphenols and vitamin C in cranberrybush purée (*Viburnum opulus*) by means of non-thermal treatments. *Food Chemistry*, 129918.
- Pagington, J. (1986). Beta-cyclodextrin and its uses in the flavour industry. *Applied Science Publishers*, 131-150.
- Paini, M., Daly, S. R., Aliakbarian, B., Fathi, A., Tehrany, E. A., Perego, P., Dehghani, F., & Valtchev, P. (2015). An efficient liposome based method for antioxidants encapsulation. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 136, 1067-1072.
- Palm, K., Luthman, K., Ungell, A. L., Strandlund, G., & Artursson, P. (1996). Correlation of drug absorption with molecular surface properties. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 85(1), 32–39.
- Paniwnyk, L. (2017). Applications of ultrasound in processing of liquid foods: A review. Ultrasonics Sonochemistry, 38, 794-806.
- Pannu, N., & Bhatnagar, A. (2019). Resveratrol: From enhanced biosynthesis and bioavailability to multitargeting chronic diseases. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, 109, 2237-2251.
- Paques, J. P., Sagis, L. M., van Rijn, C. J., & van der Linden, E. (2014). Nanospheres of alginate prepared through w/o emulsification and internal gelation with nanoparticles of CaCO 3. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 40, 182-188.
- Parada, J., & Aguilera, J. M. (2007). Food microstructure affects the bioavailability of several nutrients. *Journal of Food Science*, 72(2), 21-32.
- Park, J. H., Lee, J. M., Cho, Y. J., Kim, C. T., Kim, C. J., Nam, K. C., & Lee, S. C. (2009). Effect of Far-Infrared Heater on The Physicochemical Characteristics of Green Tea During Processing. *Journal of Food Biochemistry*, 33, 149-162.
- Pasrija, D., Ezhilarasi, P., Indrani, D., & Anandharamakrishnan, C. (2015). Microencapsulation of green tea polyphenols and its effect on incorporated bread quality. *LWT-Food Science and Technology*, 64(1), 289-296.

- Pataro, G., Ferrari, G., & Donsì, G. (2011). Mass transfer enhancement by means of electroporation. *Mass Transfer in Chemical Engineering Processes*, 151-176.
- Patnaik, P., & Dean, J. A. (2004). Dean's Analytical Chemistry Handbook, McGraw-Hill.
- Patras, A., Brunton, N. P., Da Pieve, S., & Butler, F. (2009). Impact of high pressure processing on total antioxidant activity, phenolic, ascorbic acid, anthocyanin content and colour of strawberry and blackberry purées. *Innovative Food Science & Emerging Technologies*, 10(3), 308-313.
- Patterson, M. (2005). Microbiology of pressure-treated foods. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 98, 1400-1409.
- Pekal, A., & Pyrzynska, K. (2015). Effect of pH and metal ions on DPPH radical scavenging activity of tea. *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition*, 66(1), 58–62.
- Peng, H. H., Hong, D. X., Guan, Y. X., & Yao, S. J. (2019). Preparation of pHresponsive DOX-loaded chitosan nanoparticles using supercritical assisted atomization with an enhanced mixer. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 558(September 2018), 82–90.
- Peng, S., Li, Z., Zou, L., Liu, W., Liu, C., & McClements, D. J. (2018). Enhancement of curcumin bioavailability by encapsulation in sophorolipid-coated nanoparticles: An *in vitro* and *in vivo* study. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 66(6), 1488-1497.
- Pereira, R., & Vicente, A. (2010). Environmental impact of novel thermal and nonthermal technologies in food processing. *Food Research International*, 43, 1936-1943.
- Pérez-Jiménez, J., Serrano, J., Tabernero, M., Arranz, S., Díaz-Rubio, M. E., García-Diz, L., ... & Saura-Calixto, F. (2009). Bioavailability of phenolic antioxidants associated with dietary fiber: plasma antioxidant capacity after acute and long-term intake in humans. *Plant Foods for Human Nutrition*, 64(2), 102-107.
- Perignon, C., Ongmayeb, G., Neufeld, R., Frere, Y., & Poncelet, D. (2015). Microencapsulation by interfacial polymerisation: membrane formation and structure. *Journal of Microencapsulation*, 32(1), 1-15.
- Perova, I. B., Zhogova, A. A., Cherkashin, A. V., Éller, K. I., Ramenskaya, G. V., & Samylina, I. A. (2014). Biologically active substances from European guelder berry fruits. *Pharmaceutical Chemistry Journal*, 48(5), 332-339.
- Peter, H., Pavel, T., & Marie, S. (2002). Flavonoids-potent and versatile biologically active compounds interacting with cytochrome P450. *Chemico-Biological Interactions*, 139, 1-12.
- Peters, C. M., Green, R. J., Janle, E. M., & Ferruzzi, M. G. (2010). Formulation with ascorbic acid and sucrose modulates catechin bioavailability from green tea. *Food Research International*, 43(1), 95-102.

- Peukert, W., Schwarzer, H. C., & Stenger, F. (2005). Control of aggregation in production and handling of nanoparticles. *Chemical Engineering and Processing: Process Intensification*, 44(2), 245-252.
- Piazza, C., Privitera, M. G., Melilli, B., Incognito, T., Marano, M. R., Leggio, G. M., ... & Drago, F. (2007). Influence of inulin on plasma isoflavone concentrations in healthy postmenopausal women. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 86(3), 775-780.
- Pillai, D. S., Prabhasankar, P., Jena, B., & Anandharamakrishnan, C. (2012). Microencapsulation of Garcinia cowa fruit extract and effect of its use on pasta process and quality. *International Journal of Food Properties*, 15(3), 590-604.
- Piyasena, P., Mohareb, E., & Mckellar, R. (2003). Inactivation of microbes using ultrasound: a review. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 87, 207-216.
- Podsędek, A., Sosnowska, D., & Anders, B. (2003). Antioxidative capacity of tomato products. *European Food Research and Technology*, 217, 296-300.
- Polydera, A., Stoforos, N., & Taoukis, P. (2005). Effect of high hydrostatic pressure treatment on post processing antioxidant activity of fresh Navel orange juice. *Food Chemistry*, 91, 495-503.
- **Poncelet, D.** (2006). Microencapsulation: fundamentals, methods and applications. Surface Chemistry in Biomedical and Environmental Science, 23-34.
- Poojary, M., Roohinejad, S., Koubaa, M., Barba, F., Passamonti, P., Jambrak, A. R., Oey, I., & Greiner, R. (2016). Impact of pulsed electric fields on enzymes. In *Handbook of Electroporation* (pp. 1 – 21). Springer International Publishing.
- Pool, H., Mendoza, S., Xiao, H., & McClements, D. J. (2013). Encapsulation and release of hydrophobic bioactive components in nanoemulsion-based delivery systems: Impact of physical form on quercetin bioaccessibility. *Food and Function*, 4(1), 162–174.
- Pool, H., Quintanar, D., de Dios Figueroa, J., Bechara, J. E. H., McClements, D. J., & Mendoza, S. (2012). Polymeric nanoparticles as oral delivery systems for encapsulation and release of polyphenolic compounds: impact on quercetin antioxidant activity & bioaccessibility. Food Biophysics, 7(3), 276-288.
- Poquet, L., Clifford, M. N., & Williamson, G. (2010). Bioavailability of flavanols and phenolic acids. *Plant Phenolics and Human Health: Biochemistry*, *Nutrition and Pharmacology*, 51-90.
- Praporscic, I., Lebovka, N. I., Ghnimi, S., & Vorobiev, E. (2006). Ohmically heated, enhanced expression of juice from apple and potato tissues. *Biosystems Engineering*, 93(2), 199-204.
- **Praveena, A., Prabu, S., & Rajamohan, R.** (2017). Encapsulation of quercetin in βcyclodextrin and (2-hydroxypropyl)-β-cyclodextrin cavity: In-vitro cytotoxic evaluation. *Journal of Macromolecular Science, Part* A, 54(12), 894-901.

- Prior, R. L., Sintara, M., & Chang, T. (2016). Multi-radical (ORAC MR5) antioxidant capacity of selected berries and effects of food processing. *Journal of Berry Research*, 6(2), 159-173.
- Prosapio, V., De Marco, I., & Reverchon, E. (2018). Supercritical antisolvent coprecipitation mechanisms. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, 138, 247-258.
- Prosapio, V., De Marco, I., Scognamiglio, M., & Reverchon, E. (2015). Folic acid– PVP nanostructured composite microparticles by supercritical antisolvent precipitation. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 277, 286-294.
- **Prosapio, V., Reverchon, E., & De Marco, I.** (2017). Incorporation of liposoluble vitamins within PVP microparticles using supercritical antisolvent precipitation. *Journal of CO<sub>2</sub> Utilization, 19*, 230-237.
- Puértolas, E., Luengo, E., Álvarez, I., & Raso, J. (2012). Improving mass transfer to soften tissues by pulsed electric fields: fundamentals and applications. *Annual Review of Food Science And Technology*, 3, 263-282.
- Puértolas, E., Saldaña, G., Condón, S., Álvarez, I., & Raso, J. (2010). Evolution of polyphenolic compounds in red wine from Cabernet Sauvignon grapes processed by pulsed electric fields during aging in bottle. *Food Chemistry*, 119, 1063-1070.
- Qin, B. L., Zhang, Q., Barbosa-Canovas, G. V., Swanson, B. G., & Pedrow, P. D. (1994). Inactivation of microorganisms by pulsed electric fields of different voltage waveforms. *IEEE Transactions on Dielectrics and Electrical Insulation*, *1*, 1047-1057.
- Qiu, C., Wang, B., Wang, Y., & Teng, Y. (2017). Effects of colloidal complexes formation between resveratrol and deamidated gliadin on the bioaccessibility and lipid oxidative stability. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 69, 466-472.
- Quan, W., Tao, Y., Qie, X., Zeng, M., Qin, F., Chen, J., & He, Z. (2020). Effects of high-pressure homogenization, thermal processing, and milk matrix on the *in vitro* bioaccessibility of phenolic compounds in pomelo and kiwi juices. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 64(September 2019), 103633.
- Quintero-Flórez, A., Sánchez-Ortiz, A., Gaforio Martínez, J. J., Jiménez Márquez, A., & Beltrán Maza, G. (2015). Interaction between extra virgin olive oil phenolic compounds and mucin. *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology*, 117(10), 1569-1577.
- Qv, X. Y., Zeng, Z. P., & Jiang, J. G. (2011). Preparation of lutein microencapsulation by complex coacervation method and its physicochemical properties and stability. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 25(6), 1596-1603.
- Rajha, H. N., Abi-Khattar, A. M., El Kantar, S., Boussetta, N., Lebovka, N., Maroun, R. G., Louka, N., & Vorobiev, E. (2019). Comparison of aqueous extraction efficiency and biological activities of polyphenols from pomegranate peels assisted by infrared, ultrasound, pulsed electric

fields and high-voltage electrical discharges. *Innovative Food Science* & *Emerging Technologies*, 58, 102212.

- Ramaswamy, H., & Tang, J. (2008). Microwave and radio frequency heating. *Revista de Agaroquimica y Tecnologia de Alimentos*, 14, 423-427.
- Ramirez, R., Saraiva, J., Lamela, C. P., & Torres, J. A. (2009). Reaction kinetics analysis of chemical changes in pressure-assisted thermal processing. *Food Engineering Reviews*, 1, 16-30.
- Ranjit, K., & Baquee, A. A. (2013). Nanoparticle: An overview of preparation, characterization and application. *International Research Journal of Pharmacy*, 4(4), 47-57.
- Rasanayagam, V., Balasubramaniam, V., Ting, E., Sizer, C., Bush, C., & Anderson, C. (2003). Compression heating of selected fatty food materials during high-pressure processing. *Journal of Food Science*, 68, 254-259.
- Rashad, M. M., Mahmoud, A. E., Ali, M. M., Nooman, M. U., & Al-Kashef, A. S. (2015). Antioxidant and anticancer agents produced from pineapple waste by solid state fermentation. *International Journal of Toxicological and Pharmacological Research*, 7(6), 287–296.
- Rastogi, N. K. (2012). Infrared heating of fluid foods. In Cullen, P. J., Tiwari, B. K.,
  & Valdramidis, V. P. (eds.). Novel thermal and non-thermal technologies for fluid foods (pp. 411-432). San Diego, CA, USA: Academic Press.
- Rastogi, N. K., & Knorr, D. (2013). Recent Developments in High Pressure Processing of Foods, Springer.
- Rattes, A. L. R., & Oliveira, W. P. (2007). Spray drying conditions and encapsulating composition effects on formation and properties of sodium diclofenac microparticles. *Powder Technology*, 171(1), 7-14.
- Record, I. R., & Lane, J. M. (2001). Simulated intestinal digestion of green and black teas. *Food Chemistry*, 73(4), 481–486.
- Renouf, M., Marmet, C., Guy, P., Fraering, A.-L., Longet, K., Moulin, J., & Dionisi, F. (2009). Nondairy creamer, but not milk, delays the appearance of coffee phenolic acid equivalents in human plasma. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 140(2), 259-263.
- Reverchon, E., & De Marco, I. (2011). Mechanisms controlling supercritical antisolvent precipitate morphology. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 169(1-3), 358-370.
- Reverchon, E., & Adami, R. (2006). Nanomaterials and supercritical fluids. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, 37(1), 1-22.
- Reverchon, E., Cardea, S., & Rappo, E. S. (2008). Membranes formation of a hydrosoluble biopolymer (PVA) using a supercritical CO<sub>2</sub>-expanded liquid. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, 45(3), 356-364.
- Reverchon, E., De Marco, I., & Della Porta, G. (2002). Tailoring of nano-and microparticles of some superconductor precursors by supercritical antisolvent precipitation. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, 23(1), 81-87.

- Reza Mozafari, M., Johnson, C., Hatziantoniou, S., & Demetzos, C. (2008). Nanoliposomes and their applications in food nanotechnology. *Journal* of Liposome Research, 18(4), 309-327.
- Ribas-Agustí, A., Martín-Belloso, O., Soliva-Fortuny, R., & Elez-Martínez, P. (2019). Influence of pulsed electric fields processing on the bioaccessible and non-bioaccessible fractions of apple phenolic compounds. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 59(March), 206–214.
- Ribnicky, D. M., Roopchand, D. E., Oren, A., Grace, M., Poulev, A., Lila, M. A., & Raskin, I. (2014). Effects of a high fat meal matrix and protein complexation on the bioaccessibility of blueberry anthocyanins using the TNO gastrointestinal model (TIM-1). *Food Chemistry*, 142, 349-357.
- Rice-Evans, C. (2001). Flavonoid antioxidants. Current Medicinal Chemistry, 8(7), 797-807.
- Rode, T. M., Hovda, M. B., & Rotabakk, B. T. (2015). Favourable effects of soluble gas stabilisation and modified atmosphere for supressing regrowth of high pressure treated Listeria innocua. *Food Control*, *51*, 108-113.
- Rodrigues, S., Gomes, M. C., Gallão, M. I., & Fernandes, F. A. (2009). Effect of ultrasound-assisted osmotic dehydration on cell structure of sapotas. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, *89*, 665-670.
- Rodriguez-Mateos, A., Feliciano, R. P., Cifuentes-Gomez, T., & Spencer, J. P. (2016). Bioavailability of wild blueberry (poly) phenols at different levels of intake. *Journal of Berry Research*, 6(2), 137-148.
- Rodríguez-Roque, M. J., de Ancos, B., Sánchez-Moreno, C., Cano, M. P., Elez-Martínez, P., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2015). Impact of food matrix and processing on the *in vitro* bioaccessibility of vitamin C, phenolic compounds and hydrophilic antioxidant activity from fruit juice-based beverages. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 14, 33-43.
- Rodríguez-Roque, M. J., Rojas-Graü, M. A., Elez-Martínez, P., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2014a). *In vitro* bioaccessibility of health-related compounds as affected by the formulation of fruit juice- and milk-based beverages. *Food Research International*, 62, 771–778.
- Rodríguez-Roque, M. J., Rojas-Graü, M. A., Elez-Martínez, P., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2014b). *In vitro* bioaccessibility of health-related compounds from a blended fruit juice-soymilk beverage: Influence of the food matrix. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 7(1), 161–169.
- Roowi, S., Mullen, W., Edwards, C. A., & Crozier, A. (2009). Yoghurt impacts on the excretion of phenolic acids derived from colonic breakdown of orange juice flavanones in humans. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, 53(S1), S68-S75.
- Roshanak, S., Rahimmalek, M., & Goli, S. A. H. (2016). Evaluation of seven different drying treatments in respect to total flavonoid, phenolic, vitamin C content, chlorophyll, antioxidant activity and color of green tea (Camellia sinensis or C. assamica) leaves. *Journal of Food Science* and Technology, 53, 721-729.

- Rossmann, M., Braeuer, A., & Schluecker, E. (2014). Supercritical antisolvent micronization of PVP and ibuprofen sodium towards tailored solid dispersions. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, 89, 16-27.
- Roura, E., & rés-Lacueva, C., Estruch, R., Mata-Bilbao, M. L., Izquierdo-Pulido, M., Waterhouse, A. L., & Lamuela-Raventós, R. M. (2007). Milk does not affect the bioavailability of cocoa powder flavonoid in healthy human. *Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism*, 51(6), 493-498.
- Rubió, L., Farràs, M., de La Torre, R., Macià, A., Romero, M.-P., Valls, R. M., ...
  & Motilva, M. J. (2014). Metabolite profiling of olive oil and thyme phenols after a sustained intake of two phenol-enriched olive oils by humans: Identification of compliance markers. *Food Research International*, 65, 59-68.
- **Rubio-Aliaga, I.** (2012). Model organisms in molecular nutrition research. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, *56*(6), 844-853.
- Russo, M., Spagnuolo, C., Tedesco, I., Bilotto, S., & Russo, G. L. (2012). The flavonoid quercetin in disease prevention and therapy: Facts and fancies. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 83(1), 6–15.
- Rutz, J. K., Borges, C. D., Zambiazi, R. C., da Rosa, C. G., & da Silva, M. M. (2016). Elaboration of microparticles of carotenoids from natural and synthetic sources for applications in food. *Food Chemistry*, 202, 324-333.
- Sabanci, S., & Icier, F. (2017). Applicability of ohmic heating assisted vacuum evaporation for concentration of sour cherry juice. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 212, 262-270.
- Sabliov, C. M., Boldor, D., Coronel, P., & Sanders, T. H. (2008). Continuous microwave processing of peanut beverages. *Journal of Food Processing and Preservation*, 32, 935-945.
- Sagdic, O., Aksoy, A., & Ozkan, G. (2006). Evaluation of the antibacterial and antioxidant potentials of cranberry (gilaburu, *Viburnum opulus* L.) fruit extract. *Acta Alimentaria*, 35(4), 487-492.
- Salazar-González, C., San Martín-González, M. F., López-Malo, A., & Sosa-Morales, M. E. (2012). Recent studies related to microwave processing of fluid foods. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, 5, 31-46.
- Saldaña, G., Álvarez, I., Condón, S., & Raso, J. (2014). Microbiological aspects related to the feasibility of PEF technology for food pasteurization. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 54, 1415-1426.
- Samborska, K., Jedlińska, A., Wiktor, A., Derewiaka, D., Wołosiak, R., Matwijczuk, A., Jamróz, W., Skwarczyńska-Maj, K., Kiełczewski, D., Błażowski, Ł., Tułodziecki, M., & Witrowa-Rajchert, D. (2019). The Effect of Low-Temperature Spray Drying with Dehumidified Air on Phenolic Compounds, Antioxidant Activity, and Aroma Compounds of Rapeseed Honey Powders. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, 919– 932.
- Sánchez, F., García, F., Calvo, P., Bernalte, M., & González-Gómez, D. (2016). Optimization of broccoli microencapsulation process by complex

coacervation using response surface methodology. *Innovative Food* Science and Emerging Technologies, 34, 243-249.

- Sanchez, V., Baeza, R., & Chirife, J. (2015). Comparison of monomeric anthocyanins and colour stability of fresh, concentrate and freeze-dried encapsulated cherry juice stored at 38 C. *Journal of Berry Research*, 5(4), 243-251.
- Sánchez-Moreno, C., Plaza, L., Elez-Martínez, P., De Ancos, B., Martín-Belloso, O., & Cano, M. P. (2005). İmpact of high pressure and pulsed electric fields on bioactive compounds and antioxidant activity of orange juice in comparison with traditional thermal processing. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 53(11), 4403-4409.
- Sánchez-Vega, R., Elez-Martínez, P., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2015). Influence of high-intensity pulsed electric field processing parameters on antioxidant compounds of broccoli juice. *Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies*, 29, 70-77.
- Santos, D. T., & Meireles, M. A. (2010). Carotenoid pigments encapsulation: fundamentals, techniques and recent trends. Open Chemical Engineering Journal, 4(1), 42-50.
- Santos, D. T., Albarelli, J. Q., Beppu, M. M., & Meireles, M. A. A. (2013). Stabilization of anthocyanin extract from jabuticaba skins by encapsulation using supercritical CO<sub>2</sub> as solvent. *Food Research International*, 50(2), 617-624.
- Sarkari, M., Darrat, I., & Knutson, B. L. (2000). Generation of microparticles using CO2 and CO2-philic antisolvents. *AIChE Journal*, 46(9), 1850-1859.
- Sarkis, J. R., Jaeschke, D. P., Tessaro, I. C., & Marczak, L. D. (2013). Effects of ohmic and conventional heating on anthocyanin degradation during the processing of blueberry pulp. *LWT-Food Science and Technology*, 51, 79-85.
- Sastry, S. (2008). Ohmic heating and moderate electric field processing. *Revista de Agaroquimica y Tecnologia de Alimentos*, 14, 419-422.
- Saucedo-Reyes, D., Marco-Celdrán, A., Pina-Pérez, M. C., Rodrigo, D., & Martínez-López, A. (2009). Modeling survival of high hydrostatic pressure treated stationary-and exponential-phase Listeria innocua cells. *Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies*, 10, 135-141.
- Saura-Calixto, F., & Díaz-Rubio, M. E. (2007). Polyphenols associated with dietary fibre in wine: a wine polyphenols gap? *Food Research International*, 40(5), 613-619.
- Saura-Calixto, F., Serrano, J., & Goñi, I. (2007). Intake and bioaccessibility of total polyphenols in a whole diet. *Food Chemistry*, 101(2), 492-501.
- Savic, I. M., Nikolic, V. D., Savic-Gajic, I., Nikolic, L. B., Radovanovic, B. C., & Mladenovic, J. D. (2015). Investigation of properties and structural characterization of the quercetin inclusion complex with (2hydroxypropyl)-β-cyclodextrin. *Journal of Inclusion Phenomena and Macrocyclic Chemistry*, 82(3-4), 383-394.

- Schafroth, N., Arpagaus, C., Jadhav, U. Y., Makne, S., & Douroumis, D. (2012). Nano and microparticle engineering of water insoluble drugs using a novel spray-drying process. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 90, 8-15.
- Schoubben, A., Blasi, P., Giovagnoli, S., Rossi, C., & Ricci, M. (2010). Development of a scalable procedure for fine calcium alginate particle preparation. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, *160*(1), 363-369.
- Scolari, G., Zacconi, C., Busconi, M., & Lambri, M. (2015). Effect of the combined treatments of high hydrostatic pressure and temperature on Zygosaccharomyces bailii and Listeria monocytogenes in smoothies. Food Control, 47, 166-174.
- Sengul, H., Surek, E., & Nilufer-Erdil, D. (2014). Investigating the effects of food matrix and food components on bioaccessibility of pomegranate (Punica granatum) phenolics and anthocyanins using an in-vitro gastrointestinal digestion model. *Food Research International*, 62, 1069-1079.
- Seo, J., Lee, H. S., Ryoo, S., Seo, J. H., Min, B. S., & Lee, J. H. (2011). Tangeretin, a citrus flavonoid, inhibits PGDF-BB-induced proliferation and migration of aortic smooth muscle cells by blocking AKT activation. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 673(1-3), 56-64.
- Serafini, M., Testa, M. F., Villaño, D., Pecorari, M., Van Wieren, K., Azzini, E., ... & Maiani, G. (2009). Antioxidant activity of blueberry fruit is impaired by association with milk. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 46(6), 769-774.
- Sergent, T., Dupont, I., Van Der Heiden, E., Scippo, M. L., Pussemier, L., Larondelle, Y., & Schneider, Y. J. (2009). CYP1A1 and CYP3A4 modulation by dietary flavonoids in human intestinal Caco-2 cells. *Toxicology Letters*, 191(2-3), 216-222.
- Serra, A., MacI, A., Romero, M. P., Valls, J., Bladé, C., Arola, L., & Motilva, M. J. (2010). Bioavailability of procyanidin dimers and trimers and matrix food effects in *in vitro* and *in vivo* models. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 103(7), 944–952.
- Sessa, M., Balestrieri, M. L., Ferrari, G., Servillo, L., Castaldo, D., D'Onofrio, N., ... & Tsao, R. (2014). Bioavailability of encapsulated resveratrol into nanoemulsion-based delivery systems. *Food Chemistry*, 147, 42-50.
- Sessa, M., Tsao, R., Liu, R., Ferrari, G., & Donsì, F. (2011). Evaluation of the stability and antioxidant activity of nanoencapsulated resveratrol during *in vitro* digestion. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 59(23), 12352–12360.
- Shabana, M. M., El Sayed, A. M., Yousif, M. F., El Sayed, A. M., & Sleem, A. A. (2011). Bioactive constituents from *Harpephyllum caffrum* Bernh., & *Rhus coriaria* L. *Pharmacognosy Magazine*, 7(28), 298.
- Shaddel, R., Hesari, J., Azadmard-Damirchi, S. Hamishehkar, H., Fathi-Achachlouei, B., & Huang, Q. (2017a). Double emulsion followed by

complex coacervation as a promising method for protection of black raspberry anthocyanins. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 77, 803-816.

- Shaddel, R., Hesari, J., Azadmard-Damirchi, S., Hamishehkar, H., Fathi-Achachlouei, B., & Huang, Q. (2017b). Use of gelatin and gum Arabic for encapsulation of black raspberry anthocyanins by complex coacervation. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 107, 1800-1810.
- Shahidi, F., & Ambigaipalan, P. (2015). Phenolics and polyphenolics in foods, beverages and spices: Antioxidant activity and health effects–A review. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 18, 820-897.
- Shoji, T., Masumoto, S., Moriichi, N., Akiyama, H., Kanda, T., Ohtake, Y., & Goda, Y. (2006). Apple procyanidin oligomers absorption in rats after oral administration: analysis of procyanidins in plasma using the porter method and high-performance liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 54(3), 884-892.
- Siguemoto, E. S., & Gut, J. A. W. (2017). Validation of spectrophotometric microplate methods for polyphenol oxidase and peroxidase activities analysis in fruits and vegetables. *Food Science and Technology*, *37*, 148-153.
- Silva, D., Favaro-Trindade, C., Rocha, G., & Thomazini, M. (2012). Microencapsulation of lycopene by gelatin-pectin complex coacervation. Journal of Food Processing and Preservation, 36(2), 185-190.
- Singh, H., & Sarkar, A. (2011). Behaviour of protein-stabilised emulsions under various physiological conditions. Advances in Colloid and Interface Science, 165(1), 47-57.
- Singleton, V. L., & Rossi, J. A. (1965). Colorimetry of Total Phenolics with Phosphomolybdic-Phosphotungstic Acid Reagents. *American Society* for Enology and Viticulture, 16, 144–158.
- Slingerland, M., Guchelaar, H. J., & Gelderblom, H. (2012). Liposomal drug formulations in cancer therapy: 15 years along the road. Drug Discovery Today, 17(3), 160-166.
- Snyder, R. D., & Gillies, P. J. (2002). Evaluation of the clastogenic, DNA intercalative, and topoisomerase II-interactive properties of bioflavonoids in Chinese hamster V79 cells. *Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis*, 40(4), 266-276.
- Soliva-Fortuny, R., Balasa, A., Knorr, D., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2009). Effects of pulsed electric fields on bioactive compounds in foods: a review. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 20(11-12), 544-556.
- Sormoli, M. E., & Langrish, T. A. (2016). Spray drying bioactive orange-peel extracts produced by Soxhlet extraction: use of WPI, antioxidant activity and moisture sorption isotherms. *LWT-Food Science and Technology*, 72, 1-8.

- Sosa, M., Rodríguez-Rojo, S., Mattea, F., Cismondi, M., & Cocero, M. (2011). Green tea encapsulation by means of high pressure antisolvent coprecipitation. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, 56(3), 304-311.
- Sotelo, K. A., Hamid, N., Oey, I., Pook, C., Gutierrez-Maddox, N., Ma, Q., Leong, S. Y., & Lu, J. (2018). Red cherries (*Prunus avium var.* Stella) processed by pulsed electric field–Physical, chemical and microbiological analyses. *Food Chemistry*, 240, 926-934.
- Spencer, J. P., Schroeter, H., Shenoy, B., Srai, S. K. S., Debnam, E. S., & Rice-Evans, C. (2001). Epicatechin is the primary bioavailable form of the procyanidin dimers B2 and B5 after transfer across the small intestine. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 285(3), 588-593.
- Stalmach, A., Steiling, H., Williamson, G., & Crozier, A. (2010). Bioavailability of chlorogenic acids following acute ingestion of coffee by humans with an ileostomy. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 501(1), 98– 105.
- Sterr, J., Fleckenstein, B. S., & Langowski, H. C. (2015). The effect of high-pressure processing on tray packages with modified atmosphere. *Food Engineering Reviews*, 7, 209-221.
- Stinco, C. M., Szczepańska, J., Marszałek, K., Pinto, C. A., Inácio, R. S., Mapelli-Brahm, P., Barba, F. J., Lorenzo, J. M., Saraiva, J. A., & Meléndez-Martínez, A. J. (2019). Effect of high-pressure processing on carotenoids profile, colour, microbial and enzymatic stability of cloudy carrot juice. Food Chemistry, 299, 125112.
- Stratakos, A. C., Delgado-Pando, G., Linton, M., Patterson, M. F., & Koidis, A. (2016). Industrial scale microwave processing of tomato juice using a novel continuous microwave system. *Food Chemistry*, 190, 622-628.
- Sun, D. W. (2007). Computational fluid dynamics in food processing, CRC Press.
- Sun, H., Chow, E. C., Liu, S., Du, Y., & Pang, K. S. (2008). The Caco-2 cell monolayer: usefulness and limitations. *Expert Opinion on Drug Metabolism & Toxicology*, 4(4), 395-411.
- Sundaram, R., Shanthi, P., & Sachdanandam, P. (2014). Effect of tangeretin, a polymethoxylated flavone on glucose metabolism in streptozotocininduced diabetic rats. *Phytomedicine*, 21(6), 793-799.
- Sun-Waterhouse, D., Melton, L. D., O'Connor, C. J., Kilmartin, P. A., & Smith, B. G. (2008). Effect of apple cell walls and their extracts on the activity of dietary antioxidants. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 56(1), 289–295.
- Suthanthangjai, W., Kajda, P., & Zabetakis, I. (2005). The effect of high hydrostatic pressure on the anthocyanins of raspberry (*Rubus idaeus*). *Food Chemistry*, 90(1-2), 193-197.
- Tabernero, A., del Valle, E. M. M., & Galán, M. A. (2012). Supercritical fluids for pharmaceutical particle engineering: Methods, basic fundamentals and modelling. *Chemical Engineering and Processing: Process Intensification*, 60, 9-25.

- Tagliazucchi, D., Verzelloni, E., Bertolini, D., & Conte, A. (2010). In vitro bioaccessibility and antioxidant activity of grape polyphenols. Food Chemistry, 120(2), 599–606.
- Tajchakavit, S., & Ramaswamy, H. (1997). Thermalvs. Microwave Inactivation Kinetics of Pectin Methylesterase in Orange Juice Under Batch Mode Heating Conditions. LWT-Food Science and Technology, 30, 85-93.
- Tamura, M., Iwami, T., Hirayama, K., & Itoh, K. (2009). High fiber diet supplemented with rice bran hemicellulose may reduce daidzein absorption in mice. *Food Science and Technology Research*, 15(2), 141-146.
- Tamura, M., Nakagawa, H., Tsushida, T., Hirayama, K., & Itoh, K. (2007). Effect of pectin enhancement on plasma quercetin and fecal flora in rutinsupplemented mice. *Journal of Food Science*, 72(9), 648-651.
- Tan, C., Xue, J., Abbas, S., Feng, B., Zhang, X., & Xia, S. (2014). Liposome as a delivery system for carotenoids: comparative antioxidant activity of carotenoids as measured by ferric reducing antioxidant power, DPPH assay and lipid peroxidation. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 62(28), 6726-6735.
- Tan, H. W., & Misran, M. (2013). Polysaccharide-anchored fatty acid liposome. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 441(1), 414-423.
- Taneja, A., & Singh, H. (2012). Challenges for the delivery of long-chain n-3 fatty acids in functional foods. Annual Review of Food Science and Technology, 3, 105-123.
- Tang, J., Dunshea, F. R., & Suleria, H. A. (2020). Lc-esi-qtof/ms characterization of phenolic compounds from medicinal plants (hops and juniper berries) and their antioxidant activity. *Foods*, 9(1), 7.
- Tang, J., Wang, Y., & Chan, T. (2005). Radio frequency heating in food processing. Novel Food Processing Technologies. New York, NY: Marcel Dekker, 501-524.
- Teissie, J., Golzio, M., & Rols, M. (2005). Mechanisms of cell membrane electropermeabilization: a minireview of our present knowledge. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-General Subjects*, 1724, 270-280.
- **Tewari, G.** (2007). Microwave and Radio-Frequency Heating. Advances in Thermal and Non-thermal Food Preservation, 91-98.
- Thakur, B., & Nelson, P. (1998). High-pressure processing and preservation of food. *Food Reviews International*, 14, 427-447.
- **Thostenson, E., & Chou, T. W.** (1999). Microwave processing: fundamentals and applications. *Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing*, *30*, 1055-1071.
- Tichy, H. V., Bruhs, A., & Palisch, A. (2020). Development of Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction Systems for the Detection of So-Called "Superfoods" Chia and Quinoa in Commercial Food Products. *Journal* of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 68(49), 14334-14342.

- Timmermans, R. A. H., Mastwijk, H. C., Knol, J. J., Quataert, M. C. J., Vervoort, L., Van der Plancken, I., Hendrickx, M. E., & Matser, A. M. (2011). Comparing equivalent thermal, high pressure and pulsed electric field processes for mild pasteurization of orange juice. Part I: Impact on overall quality attributes. *Innovative Food Science & Emerging Technologies*, 12(3), 235-243.
- Ting, Y., Jiang, Y., Lan, Y., Xia, C., Lin, Z., Rogers, M. A., & Huang, Q. (2015). Viscoelastic emulsion improved the bioaccessibility and oral bioavailability of crystalline compound: A mechanistic study using *in vitro* and *in vivo* models. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 12(7), 2229-2236.
- Ting, Y., Li, C. C., Wang, Y., Ho, C. T., & Huang, Q. (2015). Influence of processing parameters on morphology of polymethoxyflavone in emulsions. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 63(2), 652-659.
- Tiwari, B., Muthukumarappan, K., O'donnell, C., & Cullen, P. (2008). Effects of sonication on the kinetics of orange juice quality parameters. *Journal* of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 56, 2423-2428.
- Tiwari, B., O'donnell, C., & Cullen, P. (2009). Effect of sonication on retention of anthocyanins in blackberry juice. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 93, 166-171.
- Tiwari, S., & Verma, P. (2011). Microencapsulation technique by solvent evaporation method (Study of effect of process variables). *International Journal of Pharmacy and Life Sciences*, 2(8). 998-1005.
- **Toepfl, S., Mathys, A., Heinz, V., & Knorr, D.** (2006). Potential of high hydrostatic pressure and pulsed electric fields for energy efficient and environmentally friendly food processing. *Food Reviews International*, 22, 405-423.
- Tomas, M., Beekwilder, J., Hall, R. D., Diez Simon, C., Sagdic, O., & Capanoglu, E. (2018). Effect of dietary fiber (inulin) addition on phenolics and *in vitro* bioaccessibility of tomato sauce. *Food Research International*, 106, 129–135.
- Torregrosa, F., Esteve, M., Frígola, A., & Cortés, C. (2006). Ascorbic acid stability during refrigerated storage of orange–carrot juice treated by high pulsed electric field and comparison with pasteurized juice. *Journal of Food Engineering*, *73*, 339-345.
- Torres, J. A., & Velazquez, G. (2005). Commercial opportunities and research challenges in the high pressure processing of foods. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 67, 95-112.
- Toydemir, G., Boyacioglu, D., Capanoglu, E., Van Der Meer, I. M., Tomassen, M. M. M., Hall, R. D., Mes, J. J., & Beekwilder, J. (2013). Investigating the transport dynamics of anthocyanins from unprocessed fruit and processed fruit juice from sour cherry (Prunus cerasus L.) across intestinal epithelial cells. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 61(47), 11434–11441.

- Tran, T. H., Guo, Y., Song, D., Bruno, R. S., & Lu, X. (2014). Quercetin-containing self-nanoemulsifying drug delivery system for improving oral bioavailability. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 103(3), 840-852.
- Trucillo, P., Campardelli, R., & Reverchon, E. (2018). Production of liposomes loaded with antioxidants using a supercritical CO<sub>2</sub> assisted process. *Powder Technology*, 323, 155-162.
- Tsamo, C. V. P., Herent, M. F., Tomekpe, K., Emaga, T. H., Quetin-Leclercq, J., Rogez, H., Larondelle, Y., & Andre, C. M. (2015). Effect of boiling on phenolic profiles determined using HPLC/ESI-LTQ-Orbitrap-MS, physico-chemical parameters of six plantain banana cultivars (*Musa* sp). Journal of Food Composition and Analysis, 44, 158-169.
- **Tsong, T. Y.** (1991). Electroporation of cell membranes. *Biophysical Journal*, 60, 297-306.
- Tulipani, S., Huelamo, M. M., Ribalta, M. R., Estruch, R., Ferrer, E. E., & res-Lacueva, C., & Lamuela-Raventós, R. M. (2012). Oil matrix effects on plasma exposure and urinary excretion of phenolic compounds from tomato sauces: Evidence from a human pilot study. *Food Chemistry*, 130(3), 581-590.
- Turgeon, S., Schmidt, C., & Sanchez, C. (2007). Complex coacervation of proteins and anionic polysaccharides. *Current Opinion in Colloids and Interface Science*, 12, 196-205.
- Tyagi, V., Kaushik, S., Tyagi, S., & Akiyama, T. (2011). Development of phase change materials based microencapsulated technology for buildings: a review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 15(2), 1373-1391.
- Tylewicz, U., Aganovic, K., Vannini, M., Toepfl, S., Bortolotti, V., Dalla Rosa, M., Oey, I., & Heinz, V. (2016). Effect of pulsed electric field treatment on water distribution of freeze-dried apple tissue evaluated with DSC and TD-NMR techniques. *Innovative Food Science & Emerging Technologies*, 37, 352-358.
- Tyrakowska, B., Soffers, A. E. M. F., Szymusiak, H., Boeren, S., Boersma, M. G., Lemańska, K., Vervoort, J., & Rietjens, I. M. C. M. (1999). TEAC antioxidant activity of 4-hydroxybenzoates. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 27(11–12), 1427–1436.
- **Üner, M.** (2006). Preparation, characterization and physico-chemical properties of solid lipid nanoparticles (SLN) and nanostructured lipid carriers (NLC): their benefits as colloidal drug carrier systems. *Die Pharmazie-an International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, *61*(5), 375-386.
- Vadivambal, R., & Jayas, D. (2010). Non-uniform temperature distribution during microwave heating of food materials—A review. Food and Bioprocess Technology, 3, 161-171.
- Valero, E., Villamiel, M., Sanz, J., & Martinez-Castro, I. (2000). Chemical and sensorial changes in milk pasteurised by microwave and conventional systems during cold storage. *Food Chemistry*, 70, 77-81.

- Valero, M., Recrosio, N., Saura, D., Muñoz, N., Martí, N., & Lizama, V. (2007). Effects of ultrasonic treatments in orange juice processing. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 80, 509-516.
- Van Loey, A., Verachtert, B., & Hendrickx, M. (2001). Effects of high electric field pulses on enzymes. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 12(3-4), 94-102.
- Varela-Santos, E., Ochoa-Martinez, A., Tabilo-Munizaga, G., Reyes, J. E., Pérez-Won, M., Briones-Labarca, V., & Morales-Castro, J. (2012). Effect of high hydrostatic pressure (HHP) processing on physicochemical properties, bioactive compounds and shelf-life of pomegranate juice. *Innovative Food Science & Emerging Technologies*, 13, 13-22.
- Varma, S., Karwe, M. V., & Lee, T. C. (2010). Effect of high hydrostatic pressure processing on lycopene isomers. *International Journal of Food Engineering*, 6(5).
- Vasilenko, V. (2001). The pasteurization effect of laser infrared irradiation on beer. Technical Quarterly-Master Brewers Association of the Americas, 38, 211-214.
- Velderrain-Rodriguez, G., Quiros-Sauceda, A., Mercado-Mercado, G., AYALA-ZAVALA, J. F., Astiazaran-Garcia, H., Robles-Sánchez, R. M., & González-Aguilar, G. A. (2016). Effect of dietary fiber on the bioaccessibility of phenolic compounds of mango, papaya and pineapple fruits by an *in vitro* digestion model. *Food Science and Technology*, 36(2), 188-194.
- Velioglu, Y., Ekici, L., & Poyrazoglu, E. S. (2006). Phenolic composition of European cranberrybush (*Viburnum opulus* L.) berries and astringency removal of its commercial juice. *International Journal of Food Science* & Technology, 41(9), 1011-1015.
- Venkatesh, M., & Raghavan, G. (2005). An overview of dielectric properties measuring techniques. *Canadian Biosystems Engineering*, 47, 15-30.
- Vicente, A., & Castro, I. A. (2007). Novel thermal processing technologies. Advances in Thermal and Non-Thermal Food Preservation, 99-130.
- Vikram, V., Ramesh, M., & Prapulla, S. (2005). Thermal degradation kinetics of nutrients in orange juice heated by electromagnetic and conventional methods. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 69, 31-40.
- Villamiel, M., Castillo, M., Martín, C. S., & Corzo, N. (1998). Assessment of the thermal treatment of orange juice during continuous microwave and conventional heating. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 78, 196-200.
- Villamiel, M., Van Hamersveld, E., & De Jong, P. (1999). Effect of ultrasound processing on the quality of dairy products. *Milchwissenschaft*, 54, 69-73.
- Villanueva-Bermejo, D., Zahran, F., Troconis, D., Villalva, M., Reglero, G., & Fornari, T. (2017). Selective precipitation of phenolic compounds from Achillea millefolium L. extracts by supercritical anti-solvent technique. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, 120, 52-58.

- Visentin, A., Rodríguez-Rojo, S., Navarrete, A., Maestri, D., & Cocero, M. J. (2012). Precipitation and encapsulation of rosemary antioxidants by supercritical antisolvent process. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 109(1), 9-15.
- Vitaglione, P., Barone Lumaga, R., Ferracane, R., Radetsky, I., Mennella, I., Schettino, R., ... & Fogliano, V. (2012). Curcumin bioavailability from enriched bread: the effect of microencapsulated ingredients. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 60(13), 3357-3366.
- Vitaglione, P., Lumaga, R. B., Ferracane, R., Sellitto, S., Morelló, J. R., Miranda, J. R., ... & Fogliano, V. (2013). Human bioavailability of flavanols and phenolic acids from cocoa-nut creams enriched with free or microencapsulated cocoa polyphenols. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 109(10), 1832-1843.
- Vorobiev, E., & Lebovka, N. (2010). Enhanced extraction from solid foods and biosuspensions by pulsed electrical energy. *Food Engineering Reviews*, 2, 95-108.
- Vorobiev, E., & Lebovka, N. I. (2012). New and promising applications of pulsed electric field treatments in bio & food processing. In *Proceedings of the International Conference Bio & Food Electrotechnologies*, Salerno, Italy (pp. 26-28).
- Voynikov, Y., Gevrenova, R., Balabanova, V., Doytchinova, I., Nedialkov, P., & Zheleva-Dimitrova, D. (2019). LC-MS analysis of phenolic compounds and oleraceins in aerial parts of *Portulaca oleracea* L. *Journal of Applied Botany and Food Quality*, 92, 298-312.
- Walle, T., Vincent, T. S., & Walle, U. K. (2003). Evidence of covalent binding of the dietary flavonoid quercetin to DNA and protein in human intestinal and hepatic cells. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 65(10), 1603-1610.
- Wang, C. Y., Huang, H. W., Hsu, C. P., & Yang, B. B. (2016). Recent advances in food processing using high hydrostatic pressure technology. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 56, 527-540.
- Wang, J., & Zhao, Xi. H. (2016). Degradation kinetics of fisetin and quercetin in solutions affected by medium pH, temperature and co-existing proteins. *Journal of the Serbian Chemical Society*, 81(3), 243–253.
- Wang, L., Boussetta, N., Lebovka, N., & Vorobiev, E. (2020). Cell disintegration of apple peels induced by pulsed electric field and efficiency of biocompound extraction. *Food and Bioproducts Processing*, 122, 13-21.
- Wang, S., Su, R., Nie, S., Sun, M., Zhang, J., Wu, D., & Moustaid-Moussa, N. (2014). Application of nanotechnology in improving bioavailability and bioactivity of diet-derived phytochemicals. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 25(4), 363-376.
- Wang, W. C., & Sastry, S. K. (2002). Effects of moderate electrothermal treatments on juice yield from cellular tissue. *Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies*, 3, 371-377.
- Wang, W., Sun, C., Mao, L., Ma, P., Liu, F., Yang, J., & Gao, Y. (2016). The biological activities, chemical stability, metabolism and delivery

systems of quercetin: A review. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 56, 21-38.

- Wechtersbach, L., Ulrih, N. P., & Cigić, B. (2012). Liposomal stabilization of ascorbic acid in model systems and in food matrices. LWT-Food Science and Technology, 45(1), 43-49.
- Weiskirchen, S., & Weiskirchen, R. (2016). Resveratrol: how much wine do you have to drink to stay healthy?. *Advances in Nutrition*, 7(4), 706-718.
- Wen, X., & Walle, T. (2006a). Methylated flavonoids have greatly improved intestinal absorption and metabolic stability. *Drug Metabolism and Disposition*, 34(10), 1786-1792.
- Wen, X., & Walle, T. (2006b). Methylation protects dietary flavonoids from rapid hepatic metabolism. *Xenobiotica*, 36(5), 387-397.
- Wetters, S., Horn, T., & Nick, P. (2018). Goji who? Morphological and DNA based authentication of a "superfood". *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 9, 1859.
- Wiczkowski, W., Romaszko, J., Bucinski, A., Szawara-Nowak, D., Honke, J., Zielinski, H., & Piskula, M. K. (2008). Quercetin from shallots (*Allium cepa* L. var. aggregatum) is more bioavailable than its glucosides. *The Journal of nutrition*, 138(5), 885-888.
- Wijaya, W., Zheng, H., Zheng, T., Su, S., Patel, A. R., Van der Meeren, P., & Huang, Q. (2020). Improved bioaccessibility of polymethoxyflavones loaded into high internal phase emulsions stabilized by biopolymeric complexes: A dynamic digestion study via TNO's gastrointestinal model. *Current Research in Food Science*, 2, 11-19.
- Wilkowska, A., Ambroziak, W., Czyżowska, A., & Adamiec, J. (2016). Effect of microencapsulation by spray-drying and freeze-drying technique on the antioxidant properties of blueberry (*Vaccinium myrtillus*) juice polyphenolic compounds. *Polish Journal of Food and Nutrition Sciences*, 66(1), 11-16.
- Williamson, G., & Manach, C. (2005). Bioavailability and bioefficacy of polyphenols in humans. II. Review of 93 intervention studies. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 81(1), 243-255.
- Wouters, P. C., Alvarez, I., & Raso, J. (2001). Critical factors determining inactivation kinetics by pulsed electric field food processing. *Trends in Food Science and Technology*, 12, 112-121.
- Wu, T., Grootaert, C., Voorspoels, S., Jacobs, G., Pitart, J., Kamiloglu, S., Possemiers, S., Heinonen, M., Kardum, N., Glibetic, M., Smagghe, G., Raes, K., & Van Camp, J. (2017). Aronia (Aronia melanocarpa) phenolics bioavailability in a combined in vitro digestion/Caco-2 cell model is structure and colon region dependent. Journal of Functional Foods, 38, 128–139.
- Xiao, H., Yang, C. S., Li, S., Jin, H., Ho, C. T., & Patel, T. (2009). Monodemethylated polymethoxyflavones from sweet orange (Citrus sinensis) peel inhibit growth of human lung cancer cells by apoptosis. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, 53(3), 398-406.

- Xiao, J. X., Huang, G. Q., Wang, S. Q., & Sun, Y. T. (2014). Microencapsulation of capsanthin by soybean protein isolate-chitosan coacervation and microcapsule stability evaluation. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, 131(1), 1-7.
- Xiao, Z., Liu, W., Zhu, G., Zhou, R., & Niu, Y. (2014). A review of the preparation and application of flavour and essential oils microcapsules based on complex coacervation technology. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 94(8), 1482-1494.
- Xu, H., Jiao, Q., Yuan, F., & Gao, Y. (2015). In vitro binding capacities and physicochemical properties of soluble fiber prepared by microfluidization pretreatment and cellulase hydrolysis of peach pomace. LWT - Food Science and Technology, 63(1), 677–684.
- Xu, J., & Luo, K. Q. (2014). Enhancing the solubility and bioavailability of isoflavone by particle size reduction using a supercritical carbon dioxide-based precipitation process. *Chemical Engineering Research and Design*, 92(11), 2542-2549.
- Yamashita, C., Chung, M. M. S., dos Santos, C., Mayer, C. R. M., Moraes, I. C. F., & Branco, I. G. (2017). Microencapsulation of an anthocyanin-rich blackberry (*Rubus* spp.) by-product extract by freeze-drying. *LWT*-Food Science and Technology, 84, 256-262.
- Yang, C. S., Sang, S., Lambert, J. D., & Lee, M. J. (2008). Bioavailability issues in studying the health effects of plant polyphenolic compounds. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, 52(S1), S139-S151.
- Yang, M., I. Koo, S., O. Song, W., & K. Chun, O. (2011). Food Matrix Affecting Anthocyanin Bioavailability: Review. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 18(2), 291–300.
- Yang, N., Huang, K., Lyu, C., & Wang, J. (2016). Pulsed electric field technology in the manufacturing processes of wine, beer and rice wine: A review. Food Control, 61, 28-38.
- Yang, Y., & McClements, D. J. (2013). Vitamin E bioaccessibility: Influence of carrier oil type on digestion and release of emulsified α-tocopherol acetate. *Food Chemistry*, 141(1), 473-481.
- Yao, L. H., Jiang, Y. M., Shi, J., Tomás-Barberán, F. A., Datta, N., Singanusong, R., & Chen, S. S. (2004). Flavonoids in food and their health benefits. *Plant Foods for Human Nutrition*, 59(3), 113–122.
- Yao, Y., Xu, F., Ju, X., Li, Z., & Wang, L. (2020). Lipid-Lowering Effects and Intestinal Transport of Polyphenol Extract from Digested Buckwheat in Caco-2/HepG2 Coculture Models. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 68(14), 4205–4214.
- Yee, S. (1997). *In vitro* permeability across Caco-2 cells (colonic) can predict *in vivo* (small intestinal) absorption in man—fact or myth. *Pharmaceutical Research*, *14*(6), 763-766.

- Yeo, Y., Baek, N., & Park, K. (2001). Microencapsulation methods for delivery of protein drugs. *Biotechnology and Bioprocess Engineering*, 6(4), 213-230.
- Yi, J., Kebede, B. T., Grauwet, T., Van Loey, A., Hu, X., & Hendrickx, M. (2016). Comparing the impact of high-pressure processing and thermal processing on quality of "Hayward" and "Jintao" kiwifruit purée: Untargeted headspace fingerprinting and targeted approaches. *Food* and Bioprocess Technology, 9(12), 2059-2069.
- Young, S., Sarda, X., & Rosenberg, M. (1993). Microencapsulating properties of whey proteins. 1. Microencapsulation of anhydrous milk fat. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 76(10), 2868-2877.
- Yu, H., & Huang, Q. (2012). Improving the oral bioavailability of curcumin using novel organogel-based nanoemulsions. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 60(21), 5373-5379.
- Yuan, B., Danao, M. G. C., Stratton, J. E., Weier, S. A., Weller, C. L., & Lu, M. (2018). High pressure processing (HPP) of aronia berry purée: Effects on physicochemical properties, microbial counts, bioactive compounds and antioxidant capacities. *Innovative Food Science & Emerging Technologies*, 47, 249-255.
- Yurkiv, K., & Grytsyk, A. (2017). HPLC-analysis of phenolic compounds of European cranberry bush fruits (*Viburnum opulus* L.). *The Pharma Innovation Journal*, 6, 526-529.
- Zabetakis, I., Leclerc, D., & Kajda, P. (2000). The effect of high hydrostatic pressure on the strawberry anthocyanins. Journal of Agricultural and *Food Chemistry*, 48, 2749-2754.
- Zafra-Rojas, Q. Y., Cruz-Cansino, N., Ramírez-Moreno, E., Delgado-Olivares, L., Villanueva-Sánchez, J., & Alanís-García, E. (2013). Effects of ultrasound treatment in purple cactus pear (*Opuntia ficus-indica*) juice. *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, 20, 1283-1288.
- Zahran, F., Cabañas, A., Cheda, J. A., Renuncio, J. A., & Pando, C. (2014). Dissolution rate enhancement of the anti-inflammatory drug diflunisal by coprecipitation with a biocompatible polymer using carbon dioxide as a supercritical fluid antisolvent. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, 88, 56-65.
- Zhang, H., Zheng, J., Liu, X., Ding, Q., Jiang, L., Guo, H., & Ren, F. (2012). Milk protein and fat play different roles in affecting the bioavailability and the antioxidant activity of jujube juice phenolics in rats. *Molecular Nutrition and Food Research*, 56(10), 1511-1519.
- Zhang, Y., Li, Z., Zhang, K., Yang, G., Wang, Z., Zhao, J., ... & Feng, N. (2016). Ethyl oleate-containing nanostructured lipid carriers improve oral bioavailability of trans-ferulic acid ascompared with conventional solid lipid nanoparticles. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 511(1), 57-64.
- Zhang, Y., Liu, X., Wang, Y., Zhao, F., Sun, Z., & Liao, X. (2016). Quality comparison of carrot juices processed by high-pressure processing and

high-temperature short-time processing. *Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies*, 33, 135-144.

- Zhao, L., Temelli, F., & Chen, L. (2017). Encapsulation of anthocyanin in liposomes using supercritical carbon dioxide: Effects of anthocyanin and sterol concentrations. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 34, 159-167.
- Zhao, X., Zhang, Q., Xu, L., Liu, L., & Li, W. (2010). A study on characteristics of polyphenol oxidase in *Saimaiti apricot*. *Xinjiang Agricultural Sciences*, 47(4), 715-718.
- Zhao, Y., Flugstad, B., Kolbe, E., Park, J. W., & Wells, J. H. (2000). Using capacitive (radio frequency) dielectric heating in food processing and preservation–a review. *Journal of Food Process Engineering*, 23, 25-55.
- Zheng, L., Ding, Z., Zhang, M., & Sun, J. (2011). Microencapsulation of bayberry polyphenols by ethyl cellulose: Preparation and characterization. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 104(1), 89-95.
- Zhu, C., Shoji, Y., McCray, S., Burke, M., Hartman, C. E., Chichester, J. A., Breit, J., Yusibov, V., Chen, D., & Lal, M. (2014). Stabilization of HAC1 influenza vaccine by spray drying: formulation development and process scale-up. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 31(11), 3006-3018.
- Zimmermann, U. (1986). Electrical breakdown, electropermeabilization and electrofusion. *Reviews of Physiology, Biochemistry and Pharmacology,* 105, 175-256.
- Zou, L. qiang, Peng, S. feng, Liu, W., Gan, L., Liu, W. lin, Liang, R. hong, Liu, C. mei, Niu, J., Cao, Y. lin, Liu, Z., & Chen, X. (2014). Improved *in vitro* digestion stability of (-)-epigallocatechin gallate through nanoliposome encapsulation. *Food Research International*, 64, 492– 499.
- Zuanon, L. A. C., Malacrida, C. R., & Telis, V. R. N. (2013). Production of turmeric oleoresin microcapsules by complex coacervation with gelatin–gum Arabic. *Journal of Food Process Engineering*, 36(3), 364-373.
- Zuluaga, C., Martínez, A., Fernández, J., López-Baldó, J., Quiles, A., & Rodrigo, D. (2016). Effect of high pressure processing on carotenoid and phenolic compounds, antioxidant capacity and microbial counts of beepollen paste and bee-pollen-based beverage. *Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies*, 37, 10-17.



## **CURRICULUM VITAE**

Name Surname	: Gülay ÖZKAN
EDUCATION	:
• B.Sc.	: 2011, Ege University, Engineering Faculty, Food
	Engineering Department
• B.Sc.	: 2014, Ege University, Engineering Faculty,
	Bioengineering Department
• M.Sc.	: 2014, Ege University, Engineering Faculty, Food
	Engineering Department
• Ph.D.	: 2021, Istanbul Technical University, Chemical and
	Metallurgical Faculty, Food Engineering Department

#### **PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE AND REWARDS:**

- 2019-... Lecturer, Istanbul Technical University
- 2015-2019 Research Assistant, Istanbul Technical University
- 2019-2020 Visiting Scientist, Leibniz University Hannover (7 months)
- 2013, 2017, 2019 Visiting Scientist, Salerno University (7 months)

#### PUBLICATIONS, PRESENTATIONS AND PATENTS ON THE THESIS:

- Ozkan, G., Guldiken, B., and Capanoglu, E. (2019). Effect of Novel Food Processing Technologies on Beverage Antioxidants. *Processing and Sustainability of Beverages: Volume:2*, Woodhead Publishing, 413-449. (Published)
- Ozkan, G., Franco, P., De Marco, I., Xiao, J., and Capanoglu, E. (2019). A review of microencapsulation methods for food antioxidants: Principles, advantages, drawbacks and applications. *Food Chemistry*, 272, 494-506. (Published)
- Ozkan, G., Franco, P., Capanoglu, E., and De Marco, I. (2019). PVP/flavonoid coprecipitation by supercritical antisolvent process. *Chemical Engineering and Processing-Process Intensification*, 146, 107689. (Published)
- **Ozkan, G.**, Capanoglu, E., Stübler, A. S., Aganovic, K., & Esatbeyoglu, T. (2020). High pressure processing (HPP) of cranberrybush "*Viburnum opulus*" puree: Effects on microbiological quality, bioactive compounds and antioxidant capacities. *Lebensmittelchemie*, 74, S2-037. (Poster presentation)

- Ozkan, G., Kostka, T., Esatbeyoglu, T., & Capanoglu, E. (2020). Effects of Lipid-Based Encapsulation on the Bioaccessibility and Bioavailability of Phenolic Compounds. *Molecules*, 25(23), 5545. (Published)
- Pinarli, B., Simge Karliga, E., **Ozkan, G.**, & Capanoglu, E. (2020). Interaction of phenolics with food matrix: *In vitro* and *in vivo* approaches. *Mediterranean Journal of Nutrition and Metabolism*, 13(1), 63-74. (Published)
- Ozkan, G., Franco, P., Capanoglu, E., and De Marco, I. (2020). PVP/quercetin coprecipitation by supercritical antisolvent (SAS) process: preparation, characterization and *in vitro* study. 4th International Symposium on Phytochemicals in Medicine and Food (4-ISPMF), November 30-December 5, 2020, Xi'an, China. (Oral presentation)
- Ozkan, G., Stübler, A. S., Aganovic, K., Draeger, G., Esatbeyoglu, T., and Capanoglu, E. (2021). Retention of polyphenols and vitamin C in cranberrybush purée (*Viburnum opulus*) by means of non-thermal treatments. *Food Chemistry*, 129918. (Published)
- **Ozkan, G.**, Kostka, T., Draeger, G., Capanoglu, E., and Esatbeyoglu, T. (2021). Effects of food matrix and non-thermal processing on the bioaccessibility and transport dynamics of cranberrybush (*Viburnum opulus*) polyphenols in a combined *in vitro* digestion/Caco-2 cell culture model. (Submitted)
- Ozkan, G., Franco, P., De Marco, I., Capanoglu, E., and Esatbeyoglu, T. Combining *in vitro* digestion/Caco-2 cell culture model: Evaluation of the supercritical antisolvent process and food models on antioxidative effects, bioaccessibility and transport dynamics of flavonol-loaded microparticles. (Submitted).

# OTHER PUBLICATIONS, PRESENTATIONS AND PATENTS:

### **International Articles:**

- Eraslan, E., Tanyeli, A., Bozhuyuk, M.R., Güler, M.C., Toktay, E., Kurt, N., **Ozkan, G.** & Capanoglu, E. (2021). Gastroprotective Effects Of Pear (Pyrus Communis L.) Extract On Ethanol Induced Gastric Ulcer In Rats. International *Journal of Academic Medicine And Pharmacy*, 3(1), 1-6.
- Güler, M. C., Tanyeli, A., Eraslan, E., Bozhüyük, M. R., Ekinci Akdemir, F. N., Toktay, E., ... & Özkan, G. (2021). Persimmon (*Diospyros Kaki L.*) Alleviates Ethanol-Induced Gastric Ulcer in Rats. *Southern Clinics of Istanbul Eurasia*, 32(1), 1-8.
- Bayram, B., **Ozkan, G.**, Kostka, T., Capanoglu, E., & Esatbeyoglu, T. (2021). Valorization and Application of Fruit and Vegetable Wastes and By-Products for Food Packaging Materials. *Molecules*, *26*(13), 4031.
- Guldiken, B., **Ozkan, G.**, Catalkaya, G., Ceylan, F. D., Yalcinkaya, I. E., & Capanoglu, E. (2018). Phytochemicals of herbs and spices: Health versus toxicological effects. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, *119*, 37-49.

- Kamiloglu, S., **Ozkan, G.**, Isik, H., Horoz, O., Van Camp, J., & Capanoglu, E. (2017). Black carrot pomace as a source of polyphenols for enhancing the nutritional value of cake: An in vitro digestion study with a standardized static model. *LWT-Food Science and Technology*, 77, 475-481.
- Bilek, S. E., Yılmaz, F. M., & **Ozkan, G.** (2017). The effects of industrial production on black carrot concentrate quality and encapsulation of anthocyanins in whey protein hydrogels. *Food and Bioproducts Processing*, *102*, 72-80.
- Ozkan, G., Kamiloglu, S., Ozdal, T., Boyacioglu, D., & Capanoglu, E. (2016). Potential use of turkish medicinal plants in the treatment of various diseases. *Molecules*, *21*(3), 257.
- Ozkan, G. and Ersus Bilek, S. (2015). Enzyme-assisted extraction of stabilized chlorophyll from spinach, *Food Chemistry*, *176*, 152-157.
- Ozkan, G. and Ersus Bilek, S. (2014). Microencapsulation of natural food colourants, *International Journal of Nutrition and Food Sciences*, 3(3), 145-156.

#### **Book Chapters:**

- Guldiken, B., Catalkaya, G., **Ozkan, G.**, Ceylan, F. D., & Capanoglu, E. (2021). Toxicological effects of commonly used herbs and spices. In *Toxicology* (pp. 201-213). Academic Press.
- Catalkaya, G., Ceylan, F. D., Ozkan, G., Guldiken, B., & Capanoglu, E. Consumption, Bioaccessibility, Bioavailability of Anthocyanins and Their Interactions with Gut Microbiota. (2020). In *Anthocyanins: Antioxidant Properties, Sources and Health Benefits* (pp. 107-140). Nova Science Publishers, Inc., New York, USA.
- Toydemir, G., Cekic, S. D., Ozkan, G., Uzunboy, S., Avan, A. N., Capanoglu, E., & Apak, R. (2020). Nanosensors for foods. In *Nano-food Engineering* (pp. 327-375). Springer, Cham.
- Ozkan, G., Kamiloglu, S., Capanoglu, E., Hizal, J., & Apak, R. (2018). Use of Nanotechnological Methods for the Analysis and Stability of Food Antioxidants. In *Impact of Nanoscience in the Food Industry* (pp. 311-350). Academic Press.
- Capanoglu, E., Kamiloglu, S., **Ozkan, G.**, & Apak, R. (2018). Evaluation of antioxidant activity/capacity measurement methods for food products. *Measurement of Antioxidant Activity and Capacity: Recent Trends and Applications*, 273. Wiley, Oxford, UK.

#### **National Articles:**

- Bilek, S. E., & Özkan, G. (2018). Encapsulation of zinc-chlorophyll derivatives in whey protein matrix by emulsion/cold-set gelation. *Food*, *43*, 174-183.
- Ersus Bilek, S., Özkan, G. (2012). Gıda İşleme ve Depolamanın Karotenoidler Üzerine Etkisi, *Akademik Gıda*, *10*(2), 84-88.

- İçier, F., Baysal, T., Rayman, A., Özkan, G., Eroğlu, S., Aydın, A. (2013). Domates Suyu Üretiminde Ilımlı Elektrik Uygulamasının Kullanımı-1. İşlem koşullarının belirlenmesi, *Akademik Gıda*, *11*(1), 34-39.
- İçier, F., Baysal, T., Taştan, Ö., Özkan, G. (2014). Microwave Drying Of Black Olive Slices: Effects On Total Phenolic Contents And Colour, *Gida*, 39 (6), 323-330.

### **International Congress and Conference Papers:**

- Türkoğlu, E., Doğru, N., Kaplan, Ş., Özkan, G., Çapanoğlu Güven, E. 2017. Investigating total phenolics and total flavonoids content, antioxidant capacity and in-vitro bioavailability of several herbal tea infusions, International Symposium on Biodiversity and Edible Wild Species, Antalya, Turkey, 3-5 April 2017. (Poster presentation)
- Ozkan, G., Kurnaz, M., Capanoglu, E. 2016. Encapsulation Of Black Carrot Extract In Pectin And/Or Na-Alginat Beads By External Cold Gelation, 1st Black Sea Association of Food science and Technology, Ohrid, Macedonia, 22-24 September 2016. (Poster presentation)
- Ozkan, G., Bilek, S. 2015. Enzyme-assisted extraction of stabilized clorophyll from spinach. 2nd International Conference on Natural Products Utilization From Plants to Pharmacy Shelf (ICNPU 2015), 14-17 October 2015, Plovdiv, Bulgaria (Poster presentation).
- Kamiloglu, S., **Ozkan, G.**, Van Camp, J., Isik, H., Horoz, O., Capanoglu, E. 2015. Investigating the effect of black carrot pomace addition in cake formulations with respect to their antioxidant activity and bioavailability. 2nd International Conference on Natural Products Utilization From Plants to Pharmacy Shelf (ICNPU 2015), 14-17 October 2015, Plovdiv, BULGARIA (Poster presentation).

### National Congress and Conference Papers:

- Ongan, E., Özkan, G., Çapanoğlu, E. (2016). Investigation of Phenolic Material Profiles for Detection of Adulteration in Pomegranate Waters. Food, Metabolism & Health Bioactive Components and Natural Contributions Congress, November 28, 2016, Istanbul, Turkey.
- Yılmaz, F.M., Özkan, G., Sarılgan, E., Demir, Z., Bilek, S. (2015). Endüstriyel işleme aşamalarının siyah havuç konsantresi üretiminde kalite üzerine etkileri, 2. Tarım ve Gıda Kongres, 28-30 Nisan 2015, Nevşehir.
- Ersus Bilek, S., Özkan, G., Arslan, E., Yaygaz, A., 2013. Toz Kırmızı Biberden Isıl İşleme Dayanıklı Jel Yapısında Yeni Ürün Geliştirilmesi, TGDF Gıda Kongresi, 12-14 Kasım 2013, Side, Antalya.
- Manarga, P., Özkan, G., Ersus Bilek, S., Sargın, S., 2012. Dondurulmuş Taze Fasulye Üretiminde Haşlama İşleminin Enzimler ve Askorbik Asit Üzerine Etkileri, 10-12 Ekim 2012, Hatay.

• Özkan, G., Işık, D., Ersus Bilek, S., 2012. Kivi Meyvesinin Berrak Meyve Suyu ve Nektar Üretimine Uygunluğunun Araştırılması, 10-12 Ekim 2012, Hatay.

## Projects:

- Investigating the Effects of New Technologies on Antioxidant Properties, Protein-Phenolic Interactions and Metabolites of Various Plants. Istanbul Technical University, Scientific Research Projects (BAP) Unit [project number MDK-2018-41359], 06.07.2018 – 06.07.2021. (Researcher)
- COST Action FA1403-POSITIVe (Interindividual variation in response to consumption of plant food bioactives and determinants involved), COST, 11/12/2014 - 10/12/2018. (Researcher)
- Research Center for Food Additives / Auxiliaries from Local Resources and Wastes, Ministry of Development Turkey, 11/12/2014 10/12/2018. (Researcher)
- Microencapsulation of spinach-extracted zinc chlorophyll derivatives by emulsion cold gelation method. The Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (TUBITAK) with project number 112 O 930. 01.01.2013 – 31.12.2013. (Researcher)